
                                                                                                                                     

 
P.O. Box 281 

Walter M. Gardner, Jr. – Mayor                                                                                 Warrenton, NC  27589-0281 
Robert Davie - Town Administrator                                            (252) 257-1122   Fax (252)2579219 

www.warrenton.nc.gov 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS REGULAR MEETING  
7:00 PM Board Meeting 

December 8, 2025 
AGENDA 

Regular Meeting 
1. Call to Order, Pledge of Allegiance and Moment of Silence 
2. Conflict of Interest Statement  
3. Proposed Agenda 
4. Public Comments 
5. Minutes of Board Meeting from November 10, 2025 
6. Swearing in of Newly Elected Commissioners 
7. Commissioners’ Committee Assignments 
8. Appointment of Mayor Pro Tem 
9. Consent Agenda 

a. Mission and Goals 
b. Year-to-Date Revenue and Expenditure Reports (Budget vs. Actual) 
c. Monthly Checks Report 
d. Public Works Monthly Reports 
e. WWTP Monthly Report 
f. Police Activity Reports 
g. Action Items from Prior BOC Meeting 
h. Status of Grants 
i. Response Letter to Dr. Jerman 

10. Committee Reports 
a. Finance and Administration (Ms. Hunter) 
b. Public Works (Mr. Blalock) 
c. Public Safety (Mr. Ayscue) 
d. Human Resources/Information Technology (Mr. White)  
e. Revitalization/Historic District Commission (Mr. Coffman) 
f. Beautification/Facilities (Ms. Sourelis) 
g. Planning/Zoning/Annexation (Mr. Young) 

11. Old Business 
a. Recognition of Woody King’s 15 Years of Service to Town  
b. Social District Ordinance Draft – for discussion and consideration 
c. Water-Sewer Ordinance Update – for discussion and consideration 

12. New Business 
a. Appointments of Officers, Committee members – for consideration 
b. Duke Energy Underground Power Line Cost for EV Station versus Duke Energy Rebate – for 

discussion and consideration 
13. Announcements 

a. Christmas Parade on December 13th 
14. Adjournment 



Conflict of Interest Disclaimer 

 “Members of the Town of Warrenton Board of Commissioners are advised, hereby, of 
their duty under the State Government Ethics Act to avoid conflicts of interest and the 
appearance of such conflict; and, further, are instructed to refrain from participating in any 
matter coming before this Town Board of Commissioners with respect to which there is a 
conflict of interest or appearance of such conflict”. 
 

 In accordance with the State Government Ethics Act, it is the duty of every Board member to 
avoid both conflicts of interest and appearances of conflict. 

 Does any Board member have any known conflict of interest or appearance of conflict  
with respect to any matter coming before this Board tonight?     If so, please identify the conflict and 
refrain from any undue participation in the particular matter involved. 
 

 
 

Citizen Comments 
Rules for Citizen Comments 

 

 Please sign up to speak. 

 The maximum time allotted to each speaker will be five (5) minutes;    The Town 
Administrator  will keep time. 

 Any group of people who support or oppose the same position should  
designate a spokesperson. 

 Please address only those items which might not have been addressed by a  
previous speaker. 

 This is not a question and answer session.  If response from the Administrator, Mayor,  
and/or Board is desired, please leave a copy of your comment(s) with the Town 
Administrator. 

 After the Citizen Comments period, comments from the audience are not appropriate 
unless recognized by the Mayor or placed as an agenda item. 

 Order and decorum will be maintained.   
 
Town of Warrenton  
Board of Commissioners 



                                                                                                                                  

 
P.O. Box 281 

Walter M. Gardner, Jr. – Mayor                                                                 Warrenton, NC  27589-0281 
Robert F. Davie, Jr. – Town Administrator                                (252) 257-1122   Fax (252) 257-9219 

www.warrenton.nc.gov 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
     

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS REGULAR MONTHLY MEETING 
November 10, 2025 

7:00 P.M. 
Minutes 

 
Those in attendance were:      

Mayor Walter Gardner  Commissioner Mary Hunter   
Commissioner Nat White  Commissioner Dian Sourelis 
Commissioner Michael Coffman Commissioner John Blalock 
Commissioner Jason Young  Robert Davie, Town Administrator

 Meredith Valentine, Finance Director 
Bill Perkinson, Public Works Director 
Brandon Elliott, Public Works Director 
David Elliott, Chief of Police 
Tracy Stevenson, Minute Taker 

   
 
Call to Order – Pledge of Allegiance and Moment of Silence 
Mayor Walter Gardner called the regular monthly meeting of the Town of Warrenton Board of 
Commissioners to order on Monday, November 10, 2025, at 7:00 p.m.  A Moment of Silence 
was held for all who are sick, suffering, and in need.  The Pledge of Allegiance was led by 
Commissioner Sourelis.   
 
Conflict of Interest Statement and Proposed Agenda 
The Conflict-of-Interest statement was reviewed.  The Proposed Agenda was presented.  
Commissioner Coffman made a motion to approve the proposed agenda as presented, with a 
second by Commissioner Hunter.  The motion was approved by unanimous vote.  
 
Public Comments 
Cliff Jackson addressed the Board, representing the Preservation Warrenton Board of Directors, 
He stated that he and Preservation Warrenton are against fines and penalties being waived for 
individuals that do not follow the Historic District guidelines, and it is useless to have guidelines 
in place if no consequences are imposed when the guidelines are blatantly ignored. 
 
Dr. Delores German, with the Warren County Chapter of the NAACP, addressed the Board in 
reference to a letter that was submitted from the NAACP chapter in April 2024 that a response 



has yet to be received in reference to the unfair treatment by former police Sgt. M. Oakley.  She 
further requested a response to the letter and that all members of the Board and management 
render their resignations due to their failure to act when complaints were received on the 
alleged racial discrimination committed by Sgt. Oakley.   
 
Mark Wethington invited the Board to the National Registry ceremony for All Saints Episcopal 
Church on December 2, 2025, at 3:00 P.M. at the church.  All Saints was recently placed on the 
National Registry of Historic Places.  He thanked the Board for their work in getting All Saints on 
the National Registry.    
 
Minutes  
The minutes of the October 13, 2025, Board of Commissioners meeting and Public Hearing 
were presented.  Commissioner Coffman made a motion to approve the minutes, with a second 
by Commissioner Young.  The motion was approved by unanimous vote.  
 
Consent Agenda 

(a) Mission and Goals 
(b) Year-to-date Revenue and Expenditure Reports (Budget vs. Actual) 
(c) Monthly Checks Report 
(d) Public Works Monthly Report 
(e) WWTP Monthly Report 
(f) Police Activity Report 
(g) Action Items from Prior BOC Meeting 
(h) Status of Grants 

 
Commissioner Young made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda as presented, with a 
second by Commissioner White.  The motion was approved by unanimous vote.  
 
Committee Reports  

(a) Finance and Administration – Commissioner Hunter stated that the Town’s auditor 
will present the annual audit report.  Shelton Ennis, with the auditing firm of Joyce 
and Company, presented the 2024-2025 Audit report to the Board.  Mr. Ennis 
informed the Board that the Town was in sound financial condition.  He stated that 
the Management letter contained items the auditing firm felt would enhance 
internal controls, to include Utility Billing be done on an Accrual basis rather than a 
Cash basis currently used by the Town.   

(b) Public Works – Commissioner Blalock had no additional report other than agenda 
items.  

(c) Public Safety – Commissioner Ayscue was not in attendance.  Chief David Elliott 
presented the monthly report to the Board.   

(d) Human Resources – Information Technology – Commissioner White had no 
additional report other than agenda items.    

(e) Revitalization/Historic District Commission – Commissioner Coffman stated that the 
Historic District Commission approved two Certificate of Appropriateness 
applications this month.  He presented Statements of Interest to Serve from Jennifer 
Jordan, Jake Twisdale, and Sheree Nelson for the Revitalization Committee.  
Commissioner White made a motion to approve the appointment of all three 



applicants to the Revitalization Committee as presented, with a second by 
Commissioner Sourelis.  The motion was approved by unanimous vote.   

(f) Beautification/Facilities – Ms. Sourelis presented a quote from Mosca Designs for 
lighting and snowflake decorations in the amount of $28,296.75.  She feels that after 
viewing the existing wreaths that nothing more could be done with them and there 
would be no sense in wasting additional money on the wreaths.  Commissioner 
White questioned where the money would come from.  The Board agreed to use the 
existing wreaths this year and look into the new decorations in January when they 
may discounted.   

(g) Planning/Zoning/Annexation – Commissioner Young had no additional report other 
than agenda items.    
 

Old Business 
 

a) Social District Additional Information – for discussion and consideration – Town 
Administrator, Robert Davie presented additional information pertaining to Social District 
Registration and NCLM Updated Laws on Social Districts.  Mr. Davie stated that the social 
district would be for the two festivals sponsored by the Town of Warrenton and not 
include other events.  Commissioner Blalock made a motion to allow Town Administrator, 
Robert Davie to adapt the ordinance and present it at the next Board of Commissioners 
meeting, with a second by Commissioner White.  The motion was approved by unanimous 
vote.    

b) Frontier Warren update  – for information – Town Administrator, Robert Davie informed 
the Board of two tenants have vacated the Frontier Warren building resulting in a 
significant loss in revenue.  He further stated that the rent from the grocery store is 
several months past due, but that the tenant has promised to get caught up shortly.  The 
Town’s leases on the two buildings end on May 14, 2026, and will not be renewed.  
   

New Business 
 

(a) Closing of S. Main Street from Macon to Franklin for festivals – for consideration -  
Town Administrator, Robert Davie presented the request from the Revitalization 
Committee to close S. Main Street from Macon to Franklin Streets for the Town’s two 
annual festivals.  Commissioner Sourelis questioned whether business owners in the 
area would have an issue with the closure.  Mr. Davie stated that the area would not 
include Milano’s or Pete Smith Tire and Auto, who have had issues in the past with road 
closures in this area.  Commissioner Young made a motion to approve the closure as 
presented, with a second by Commissioner Hunter.  The motion was approved by 
unanimous vote.    

(b) Recognition of Woody King as Santa Claus – for discussion and consideration – Town 
Administrator, Robert Davie requested recognition for Mr. King’s years of continued 
service as Santa Claus, to be acknowledged with a Mayoral Proclamation and a small 
monetary gift for his service.  Commissioner Sourelis made a motion to approve the 
request, with a second by Commissioner White.  The motion was approved by 
unanimous vote.   

(c) Forgiveness of HDC Penalty Assessment – for discussion and consideration – Town 
Administrator, Robert Davie presented a request from Chris Privette for cancellation of 
accumulating fees which resulted from work done in the Historic District without the 



appropriate COA approval from the Historic District Commission.  Mr. Privette 
addressed the Board stating that, as a licensed contractor, he did not feel that altering 
an existing window and making a doorway was considered major work.  He further 
stated that he has worked with the Historic District Commission and the Town and 
received permits for previous  jobs. Mr. Privette did not feel he should have to pay the 
fine of $100 dollars a day and would only agree to pay the original $100 civil penalty.  He 
further stated that he would like the Historic District to produce a list of approved 
materials to be used.  Town Administrator, Robert Davie stated that he felt the actions 
of Mr. Privette were particularly egregious as he already had a Certificate of 
Appropriateness application submitted and still altered another building without the 
required application.  Several Commissioners questioned Mr. Privette on previous jobs 
that he had done without the proper approval.  After further discussion, Commissioner 
Sourelis made a motion to halt the accrual of the fines as of today’s date and send the 
matter back to the Historic District Commission for a recommendation, with a second by 
Commissioner Young.  The motion was approved by unanimous vote. 

(d) Personnel Manual Update (recommended by insurer) – for discussion and 
consideration – Town Administrator, Robert Davie presented a Town Vehicle Use Policy 
recommended by the Town’s insurance company.  Commissioner Blalock made a 
motion to approve the update as presented, with a second by Commissioner Young.  
The motion was approved by unanimous vote.   

(e) Underground Utilities Engineering Estimate – for discussion – Town Administrator, 
Robert Davie presented an estimate from Pennoni for relocation of utilities to improve 
the visual appearance of Main Street for discussion.  Commissioner Coffman stated that 
this study would make for a stronger grant application if one ever became available.   

(f) Employee Assistance Agreement (Police Dept, subject to legal review) – for discussion 
and consideration – Chief David Elliott presented an agreement with Bree Health to 
implement software designed to support health, wellness, and personal resilience, to 
reduce potential legal liability and promote overall employee well-being for police 
officers.  The agreement can be cancelled with a sixty-day notice at a cost of $5.00 per 
month per employee in the Police Department.  Chief Elliott stated that the funds could 
be used from the medical line used for drug screening.  Commissioner White made a 
motion to approve the agreement as presented, with a second by Commissioner Young.  
The motion was approved by unanimous vote. 

(g) Debris Site Agreement Renewal – for discussion and consideration – Town 
Administrator, Robert Davie presented a lease agreement with James C. Harris for land 
used to hold the Town’s leaves and storm debris.  The Town had a previous 10-year 
lease agreement with Mr. Harris that expired on October 31, 2025.  Commissioner 
White made a motion to approve the new 10-year lease agreement as presented, with a 
second by Commissioner Sourelis.  The motion was approved by unanimous vote.   

(h) Legal Retainer Agreement – for discussion and consideration – Town Administrator, 
Robert Davie presented a legal retainer agreement with Teague, Campbell, Dennis, & 
Gorham, L.L.P. for consideration.  Mr. Davie stated that the agreement was a suggestion 
from Town Attorney, Mitch Styers.  Commissioner Blalock made a motion to approve 
the agreement as presented, with a second by Commissioner Sourelis.  The motion was 
approved by unanimous vote.   
 
 



Announcements – Mayor Gardner announced that the Christmas Parade will be held on 
December 13, 2025  
 

Closed Session per NC GS § 143-318.11 (a.) (5) to discuss contract – Commissioner Blalock 
made a motion to go into closed session, with a second by Commissioner Young.  The motion 
was approved by unanimous vote. 
 
Commissioner Blalock motioned to return to open session with a second by Commissioner 
Sourelis.  The motion was approved by unanimous vote.   
 
With no further business, the meeting was adjourned.   



     

 
                                                                            P.O. Box 281 / 113 S Bragg St. 

                    Warrenton, NC  27589-0281 
Walter M. Gardner, Jr. – Mayor                 (252) 257-1122   Fax (252) 257-9219 
Robert F. Davie, Jr. - Town Administrator                                       www.warrenton.nc.gov 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Mayor's Committee Appointments for 2025-2027 

Finance/Administration -    Mary Hunter, Chairperson 

(Budgeting/Tax Collection)                                               John Blalock                

(Long Range Planning) (Facilities)                     Jason Young 

Public Safety -                         Aaron Ayscue, Chairperson 

(Police/Fire)    (Fire Inspections)                                             John Blalock 

                        Dian Sourelis 
 

Beautification/Museum -  Dian Sourelis, Chairperson 

(Streetscape) (Quilters Lane ) (Tourism)      Michael Coffman 

(Plummer Hook & Ladder Co. Museum)                 Aaron Ayscue 
 

Public Works -                          John Blalock, Chairperson                                              

(Streets/Sanitation/Water/Sewer/                                                 Michael Coffman 

  Waste Water Treatment)                                                           Dian Sourelis                           
 

Human Resources/ -               Nat White, Chairperson 

 Information Technology  Mary Hunter 

(Personnel)     (Information Technology)                    Aaron Ayscue 
 

Planning/Zoning/Cemetery -       Jason Young, Chairperson 

(Planning Board & Board of Adjustment)                 Nat White 

(Warrenton Cemetery)   (Annexation)                                Mary Hunter 
 

Revitalization/Historical -            Michael Coffman, Chairperson 

 (Revitalization Committee)                           Jason Young 

(Historical District Commission)           Nat White 
(Small Town Main Street Program) 

 

 

Rev. 11-20-2025 







MTD QTD

34 FRONTIER WARREN

Description Budget Encumbrance YTD Variance Percent

Revenues

13,333 0.00 0.00 (13,333.00)34-335-340 State Econ & Infra Dev Grant FW 
Rev

0.000.00

41,850 4,547.00 10,937.00 (30,913.00) 26%34-351-422 Rent Paid to Town Frontier 
Warren

1,547.000.00

1,988 0.00 0.00 (1,988.00)34-381-037 Transfer in from GF 0.000.00

0.00 1,547.00 10,937.00Revenues Totals: 19%57,171 4,547.00 (46,234.00)Revenues

Expenses

300 0.00 34.26 265.74 11%34-405-203 Supplies 0.000.00

3,000 338.20 1,091.76 825.00 73%34-405-250 Lights/Heat/Security 146.951,083.24

2,900 396.80 1,279.60 95.60 97%34-405-251 Telephone/Internet 198.401,524.80

2,800 995.00 1,282.00 23.00 99%34-405-255 Bldg Maint/Clean Srvs 945.001,495.00

38 0.00 0.00 38.0034-405-400 Liability Insurance 0.000.00

34,500 6,000.00 18,000.00 1,500.00 96%34-405-422 Rent Paid by Town 3,000.0015,000.00

300 0.00 0.00 300.0034-405-499 Miscellaneous 0.000.00

43,838 7,730.00 21,687.62 3,047.34Totals:Non-Departmental 93%4,290.3519,103.04

13,333 0.00 13,333.33 (0.33) 100%34-432-701 State Econ & Infra Dev Grant FW 
Exp

0.000.00

13,333 0.00 13,333.33 (0.33)Totals: 100%0.000.00

19,103.04 4,290.35 35,020.95Expenses Totals: 95%57,171 7,730.00 3,047.01Expenses

34 FRONTIER WARREN Revenues Over/(Under) Expenses: (24,083.95)(3,183.00)(2,743.35)

Page Of1 15

Budget vs Actual

12/3/2025 1:18:41 PM

Town of Warrenton

Period Ending 11/30/2025



MTD QTD

37 GENERAL FUND

Description Budget Encumbrance YTD Variance Percent

Revenues

620,784 105,109.97 87,044.57 (533,739.43) 14%37-302-301 Ad Valorem Taxes - Current 33,204.330.00

5,000 2,700.30 3,608.86 (1,391.14) 72%37-302-302 Ad Valorem Taxes - Prior Year 1,107.320.00

2,000 0.00 (310.57) (2,310.57) -16%37-302-303 Ad Valorem Taxes - all other prior 
years

0.000.00

2,200 270.96 961.88 (1,238.12) 44%37-302-304 Ad Valorem Taxes - Penalties & 
Interest

126.640.00

41,054 9,165.64 20,776.10 (20,277.90) 51%37-307-310 Motor Vehicles - Current 5,030.970.00

377,000 66,785.45 70,834.06 (306,165.94) 19%37-320-320 Local Option Sales Tax Monthly 31,400.810.00

0 0.00 37,665.00 37,665.0037-320-321 Annual Refund of Sales Tax the 
Town paid

0.000.00

88,600 0.00 345.53 (88,254.47) 0%37-325-325 Utility Franchise Tax Quarterly 0.000.00

1,000 99.94 211.95 (788.05) 21%37-325-328 Refund of Gas Tax paid monthly 0.000.00

600 165.12 315.68 (284.32) 53%37-325-330 Solid Waste Disposal Tax Qrly 165.120.00

33,916 0.00 16,785.32 (17,130.68) 49%37-335-335 Powell Bill 0.000.00

200 25.00 50.00 (150.00) 25%37-345-344 Historic District Comm Fees 25.000.00

1,800 400.00 1,950.00 150.00 108%37-345-345 Zone Board of Adj 0.000.00

3,500 1,125.00 1,725.00 (1,775.00) 49%37-345-346 Code Enforcement 225.000.00

208,926 34,989.30 88,387.56 (120,538.44) 42%37-351-353 Landfill Fees Residential 17,279.130.00

700 0.00 0.00 (700.00)37-351-355 Cemetery Fees 0.000.00

50 0.00 0.00 (50.00)37-351-356 Police Rpt Fees 0.000.00

200 9.00 18.00 (182.00) 9%37-351-357 Court Fees 0.000.00

64,680 5,929.00 8,085.00 (56,595.00) 13%37-351-360 Cell Tower Rent 2,964.500.00

100 0.00 0.00 (100.00)37-351-361 Parking/Ordinance Collections 
PD

0.000.00

100 0.00 0.00 (100.00)37-351-401 Debt Setoff Landfill 0.000.00

60 5.12 22.16 (37.84) 37%37-365-001 Interest Income 2.820.00

500 0.00 0.00 (500.00)37-365-002 NCCMT Debt Setoff 
Disbursement

(99.02)0.00

15,000 5,000.00 7,260.00 (7,740.00) 48%37-365-034 Storefront Beautification Rev 0.000.00

Page Of2 15

Budget vs Actual

12/3/2025 1:18:41 PM

Town of Warrenton

Period Ending 11/30/2025



MTD QTD

37 GENERAL FUND

Description Budget Encumbrance YTD Variance Percent

25,000 921.18 5,701.18 (19,298.82) 23%37-365-351 Revitalization Comm 0.000.00

750 0.00 0.00 (750.00)37-365-354 Quilters Lane Revenue 0.000.00

1,000 0.00 0.00 (1,000.00)37-365-358 Branded Merchandise for Sale 0.000.00

64,057 5,104.16 21,288.72 (42,768.28) 33%37-365-370 WWTP 25% of GF Exp 0.000.00

122,255 8,917.89 42,552.94 (79,702.06) 35%37-365-371 WS 25% of GF Exp 0.000.00

7,478 1,216.00 7,477.55 0.00 100%37-365-374 Insurance Proceeds GF 0.000.00

100 0.00 0.00 (100.00)37-365-401 Mis/Revenue/License Tags 0.000.00

24,000 2,069.13 8,391.77 (15,608.23) 35%37-365-410 Interest Investment NCCMT 0.000.00

0.00 91,432.62 431,148.26Revenues Totals: 25%1,712,610 250,008.16 (1,281,461.29)Revenues

Expenses

181,117 29,044.72 75,488.60 105,628.40 42%37-401-010 Salary - Full Time 14,522.360.00

56,039 8,537.60 23,478.40 32,560.60 42%37-401-012 Salary - Adm Assistant 4,268.800.00

13,856 2,220.96 5,772.24 8,083.76 42%37-401-020 ER-FICA Taxes 1,110.480.00

4,287 652.16 1,793.44 2,493.56 42%37-401-021 ER-FICA Taxes - Adm Assistant 326.080.00

49,257 7,967.44 20,980.97 28,276.03 43%37-401-030 ER-Retirement - Orbit 3,983.720.00

35,000 5,356.10 12,707.81 19,789.75 43%37-401-040 ER-Health Insurance 2,608.592,502.44

570 46.50 232.50 12.00 98%37-401-050 ER-Life Insurance 0.00325.50

400 (5.84) 256.48 5.84 99%37-401-060 ER-Workman's Comp (5.84)137.68

2,000 95.20 95.20 1,504.80 25%37-401-200 Travel Expense 95.20400.00

5,000 994.36 1,421.10 3,389.39 32%37-401-203 Supplies 358.77189.51

8,500 440.53 2,046.70 2,762.00 68%37-401-250 Light, Heat & Security 208.683,691.30

4,000 555.96 1,240.95 1,119.90 72%37-401-251 Telephone & Postage 192.351,639.15

22,278 3,409.94 12,677.59 7,143.03 68%37-401-255 Bldg. Maint/ Clean SVS 1,047.312,457.58

3,750 600.00 1,500.00 2,250.00 40%37-401-256 Bank Fees/ Petty Cash 300.000.00

5,000 0.00 340.00 4,660.00 7%37-401-295 Training 0.000.00

9,000 1,548.10 4,011.36 10.27 100%37-401-301 Computer Maint 769.504,978.37

1,000 71.96 438.61 273.55 73%37-401-302 Software Support 35.98287.84

800 0.00 412.50 387.50 52%37-401-304 Website 0.000.00

1,000 0.00 0.00 928.83 7%37-401-305 Technology Upgrades 0.0071.17

Page Of3 15

Budget vs Actual

12/3/2025 1:18:41 PM

Town of Warrenton

Period Ending 11/30/2025



MTD QTD

37 GENERAL FUND

Description Budget Encumbrance YTD Variance Percent

500 0.00 500.00 0.00 100%37-401-306 Awning 25% Fund 0.000.00

2,500 139.23 249.23 1,148.75 54%37-401-307 Special Events 114.231,102.02

2,270 295.45 295.45 1,974.55 13%37-401-309 Advertising 0.000.00

4,000 0.00 2,068.15 1,505.85 62%37-401-310 Dues & Subscriptions 0.00426.00

2,000 381.84 1,551.95 9.89 100%37-401-325 NC Sales/Use Tax Paid (No Tax) 0.00438.16

7,800 1,607.65 1,607.65 6,119.90 22%37-401-400 Liability Insurance 1,607.6572.45

8,000 1,626.59 1,900.15 6,099.85 24%37-401-401 County Tax Collection Svs 521.940.00

13,117 0.00 9,062.50 417.00 97%37-401-405 Audit Expense 0.003,637.50

8,500 0.00 0.00 8,500.0037-401-410 Election Cost 0.000.00

352 83.97 352.05 0.03 100%37-401-415 Economic Development 0.000.00

3,500 0.00 1,200.00 1,100.00 69%37-401-420 Attorney Fees 0.001,200.00

0 4,922.82 12,878.18 (12,878.18)37-401-497 Sales & Uses Tax Expense 2,855.900.00

1,648 400.00 430.00 1,217.92 26%37-401-499 Miscellaneous Expense 400.000.00

10,576 0.00 5,218.99 5,357.01 49%37-401-802 Truist Parking Lot Loan Principal 0.000.00

5,667 0.00 2,902.01 2,764.99 51%37-401-832 Truist Parking Lot Loan Interest 0.000.00

5,000 0.00 0.00 5,000.0037-401-998 Contingency 0.000.00

478,284 70,993.24 205,110.76 249,616.77Totals:General Government 48%35,321.7023,556.67

1,500 250.00 625.00 875.00 42%37-402-014 Mayor Part Time Salary 125.000.00

115 19.12 47.80 67.20 42%37-402-020 ER - FICA TAXES 9.560.00

70 0.00 48.29 0.00 100%37-402-060 Workers Comp Mayor & Council 0.0021.71

300 0.00 0.00 300.0037-402-200 Travel Expense 0.000.00

1,500 60.00 60.00 1,440.00 4%37-402-295 Training 60.000.00

200 0.00 0.00 200.0037-402-402 Commission offsite meetings 0.000.00

3,685 329.12 781.09 2,882.20Totals:Governing Body 22%194.5621.71

7,500 162.00 7,040.00 460.00 94%37-405-345 Zoning/Ordinances 121.800.00

1,000 0.00 0.00 1,000.0037-405-407 Branded Clothing Sales 0.000.00

1,250 0.00 1,090.00 160.00 87%37-405-423 Quilters Lane 0.000.00

220 181.43 181.43 38.57 82%37-405-430 Historic District Comm 0.000.00

15,000 917.44 417.44 13,837.90 8%37-405-434 Storefront Beautification Exp (130.00)744.66

Page Of4 15

Budget vs Actual

12/3/2025 1:18:41 PM

Town of Warrenton

Period Ending 11/30/2025



MTD QTD

37 GENERAL FUND

Description Budget Encumbrance YTD Variance Percent

25,000 3,506.10 3,853.22 20,826.78 17%37-405-450 Revitalization Comm 94.20320.00

1,500 0.00 0.00 1,500.0037-405-470 Small Town Maint St 0.000.00

51,470 4,766.97 12,582.09 37,823.25Totals:Non-Departmental 27%86.001,064.66

300,156 41,261.00 110,338.54 189,206.84 37%37-501-010 SALARY FULL TIME 20,959.62610.16

5,000 1,170.00 6,570.00 (1,570.00) 131%37-501-014 Salary - Part Time 600.000.00

15,000 2,171.88 5,429.70 9,570.30 36%37-501-015 Salary-LEO Separation Allowance 1,085.940.00

43,827 6,659.20 18,312.80 25,514.20 42%37-501-016 Salary - Admin Assistant 3,329.600.00

10,000 34.74 1,850.88 8,149.12 19%37-501-019 Salary - Over-Time 34.740.00

26,431 3,884.21 10,796.79 15,634.21 41%37-501-020 ER-FICA Taxes 1,969.760.00

78,982 10,880.89 29,607.41 49,374.59 37%37-501-030 ER - Retirement  Orbit 5,519.890.00

15,084 2,064.79 5,609.48 15.18 100%37-501-031 ER - 401K 5% 1,049.729,459.34

55,982 6,546.99 15,201.83 39,244.92 30%37-501-040 ER - Health Insurance 3,183.121,535.25

1,152 77.50 387.50 222.00 81%37-501-050 ER - Life Insurance 0.00542.50

6,525 (194.12) 6,331.34 194.12 97%37-501-060 ER - Workman's Comp (194.12)0.00

1,500 124.49 124.49 700.00 53%37-501-200 Travel Expense 0.00675.51

5,000 869.99 2,015.12 2,145.17 57%37-501-203 Supplies 240.56839.71

5,000 666.95 730.21 3,174.31 37%37-501-204 Uniforms 0.001,095.48

4,000 177.99 633.26 2,769.58 31%37-501-205 Equipment & Material 69.99597.16

420 0.00 0.00 420.0037-501-206 Ammunition 0.000.00

9,000 440.52 2,046.69 3,262.00 64%37-501-250 Light, Heat & Security 208.673,691.31

8,106 550.78 2,506.70 451.44 94%37-501-251 Telephone & Postage 206.185,147.90

15,000 2,964.23 5,782.86 0.00 100%37-501-252 Fuel 1,316.499,217.14

8,711 2,193.93 6,946.70 0.38 100%37-501-255 Bldg Maint/Clean Svs 1,047.301,763.92

2,000 330.00 1,976.38 23.62 99%37-501-295 Training 0.000.00

9,532 1,646.28 4,317.63 89.28 99%37-501-301 Computer Maint 677.745,125.09

9,337 779.98 7,892.78 0.00 100%37-501-302 Software Support 519.991,444.22

250 0.00 0.00 250.0037-501-318 Freight Charges 0.000.00

4,000 0.00 1,196.00 2,804.00 30%37-501-351 Maint & Repair Equip 0.000.00

1,500 266.41 343.47 1,000.00 33%37-501-370 2019 Dodge Car 100 266.41156.53

Page Of5 15

Budget vs Actual

12/3/2025 1:18:41 PM

Town of Warrenton

Period Ending 11/30/2025



MTD QTD

37 GENERAL FUND

Description Budget Encumbrance YTD Variance Percent

1,500 262.70 379.72 882.98 41%37-501-371 2017 Dodge Car 200 0.00237.30

1,500 102.73 647.96 147.27 90%37-501-372 2016 Dodge Car 300 0.00704.77

1,300 0.00 0.00 800.00 38%37-501-373 2017 Dodge Car 400 0.00500.00

1,500 197.71 197.71 1,000.00 33%37-501-376 2019 Dodge Car 700 0.00302.29

1,500 708.84 708.84 791.16 47%37-501-377 2023 Dodge Car 125 0.000.00

1,500 231.58 231.58 893.25 40%37-501-378 2023 Dodge Car 225 106.75375.17

23,797 5,714.55 5,714.55 18,010.00 24%37-501-400 Liability Insurance 5,714.5572.45

3,000 0.00 0.00 3,000.0037-501-415 Medical 0.000.00

12,500 0.00 0.00 5,750.00 54%37-501-420 Attorney Fees 0.006,750.00

3,000 294.61 (123.23) 2,939.20 2%37-501-433 COP Program 184.44184.03

857 355.94 355.94 501.02 42%37-501-499 Miscellaneous 0.000.00

5,268 5,114.59 5,114.59 153.41 97%37-501-804 Police 2019 Cars Loan Principal 
(USDA)

5,114.590.00

7,651 0.00 0.00 7,651.0037-501-805 Police 2023 Cars Loan Principle 
(USDA)

0.000.00

158 311.41 311.41 (153.41) 197%37-501-834 Police 2019 Cars Loan Interest 
(UDSA)

311.410.00

1,327 0.00 0.00 1,327.0037-501-835 Police 2023 Cars Loan Interest 
(USDA)

0.000.00

707,853 98,863.29 260,487.63 396,338.14Totals:Police Department 44%53,523.3451,027.23

2,682 630.40 1,512.96 1,169.04 56%37-601-014 Salary - Part Time Code 
Enforcement

252.160.00

230 48.24 115.78 114.22 50%37-601-020 ER-FICA Taxes 19.300.00

660 (24.05) 569.36 24.05 96%37-601-060 Workers Comp (24.05)66.59

456 0.00 0.00 456.0037-601-252 Fuel/Truck Expense/Insurance 0.000.00

200 0.00 0.00 200.0037-601-352 Vehicle Maintenance 0.000.00

87,600 14,600.00 36,500.00 51,100.00 42%37-601-437 Contract Srvs Fire Protection 7,300.000.00

1,550 0.00 0.00 1,550.0037-601-475 Donation to Town Fire 0.000.00

550 90.00 90.00 460.00 16%37-601-476 Code Enforcement Exp 0.000.00

93,928 15,344.59 38,788.10 55,073.31Totals:Fire 41%7,547.4166.59

Page Of6 15

Budget vs Actual

12/3/2025 1:18:41 PM

Town of Warrenton

Period Ending 11/30/2025



MTD QTD

37 GENERAL FUND

Description Budget Encumbrance YTD Variance Percent

1,750 103.96 103.96 206.04 88%37-651-330 Christmas Lights/Santa House 103.961,440.00

785 0.00 0.00 785.0037-651-331 Haley Haywood Park 0.000.00

2,000 0.00 182.48 1,817.52 9%37-651-332 Signs below $5,000 0.000.00

4,000 917.70 1,546.09 2,453.91 39%37-651-333 Street Beautification - Below 
$5,000

0.000.00

32,000 5,239.19 12,983.11 1,000.00 97%37-651-335 Street Lighting Electric Bill 2,658.7118,016.89

40,535 6,260.85 14,815.64 6,262.47Totals:Signs and Lights 85%2,762.6719,456.89

86,007 12,955.80 32,354.30 53,652.70 38%37-701-010 Salary - Full Time 6,477.900.00

1,026 75.33 75.33 950.67 7%37-701-019 Over-Time 75.330.00

6,693 990.73 2,473.19 4,219.81 37%37-701-020 ER-FICA Taxes 498.250.00

18,171 2,762.61 6,858.80 11,312.20 38%37-701-030 ER - Retirement - Orbit 1,389.290.00

24,036 1,601.92 4,312.64 19,105.80 21%37-701-040 ER-Health Insurance 760.99617.56

391 48.51 143.35 69.28 82%37-701-050 ER-Life Insurance 0.00178.37

1,856 (59.13) 1,796.37 59.63 97%37-701-060 ER-Workman's Comp (59.13)0.00

5,500 1,128.89 3,166.67 822.51 85%37-701-203 Supplies 391.511,510.82

3,400 794.22 1,330.38 0.00 100%37-701-204 Uniforms 443.742,069.62

540 114.09 279.14 9.00 98%37-701-251 Telephone & Postage 58.21251.86

10,000 757.57 2,206.04 1,059.08 89%37-701-252 Fuel 20.866,734.88

3,600 3,600.00 3,600.00 0.00 100%37-701-312 Tree Removal 0.000.00

6,507 0.00 2,164.82 4,342.18 33%37-701-351 Maint & Repair Equip 0.000.00

6,629 1,327.40 3,586.40 865.62 87%37-701-352 Vehicle Maintenance 541.982,176.60

9,795 2,303.11 2,303.11 7,491.89 24%37-701-400 Liability Insurance 2,303.110.00

4,500 2,280.00 2,280.00 2,220.00 51%37-701-431 Street Debris Disposal 2,280.000.00

2,070 0.00 2,069.50 0.50 100%37-701-500 Capital Outlay over $5000 0.000.00

(16,000) (2,666.00) (6,665.00) (9,335.00) 42%37-701-895 Mowing (1,333.00)0.00

174,721 28,015.05 64,335.04 96,845.87Totals:Streets 45%13,849.0413,539.71

15,000 0.00 1,100.00 9,900.00 34%37-710-361 Maint & Repair POWELL BILL 0.004,000.00

100 0.00 100.00 0.00 100%37-710-405 Audit Expense POWELL BILL 0.000.00

15,100 0.00 1,200.00 9,900.00Totals:Powell Bill 34%0.004,000.00

Page Of7 15

Budget vs Actual

12/3/2025 1:18:41 PM

Town of Warrenton

Period Ending 11/30/2025



MTD QTD

37 GENERAL FUND

Description Budget Encumbrance YTD Variance Percent

58,089 9,311.12 22,385.71 35,703.29 39%37-801-010 Salary - Full Time Sanitation 4,655.560.00

620 510.75 510.75 109.25 82%37-801-019 Salary - Over Time Sanitation 0.000.00

4,503 744.26 1,738.17 2,764.83 39%37-801-020 ER - FICA Sanitation 352.600.00

12,225 2,082.24 3,830.39 8,394.61 31%37-801-030 ER - Retirement - Orbit Sanitation 986.980.00

15,273 2,911.56 3,706.52 11,504.95 25%37-801-040 ER - Health Insurance 1,843.6561.53

251 4.96 24.80 191.48 24%37-801-050 ER - Life Insurance 0.0034.72

3,665 (69.31) 2,232.57 69.31 98%37-801-060 Workman's Compensation (69.31)1,363.12

350 0.00 214.90 0.00 100%37-801-203 Supplies 0.00135.10

1,976 923.26 1,268.51 0.00 100%37-801-204 Uniforms 646.56707.49

500 65.95 160.88 2.30 100%37-801-251 Telephone & Postage 33.35336.82

4,000 185.11 847.50 900.00 78%37-801-252 Fuel 0.002,252.50

23,112 3,492.75 6,974.47 112.00 100%37-801-350 Landfull Fees 1,563.7516,025.53

2,499 280.92 1,393.56 32.41 99%37-801-352 Vehicle Maintenance 215.971,072.76

5,720 1,302.07 1,302.07 4,417.93 23%37-801-400 Liability Insurance 1,302.070.00

132,783 21,745.64 46,590.80 64,202.36Totals:Sanitation 52%11,531.1821,989.57

1,988 0.00 0.00 1,988.0037-901-034 Transfer Out to Frontier Warren 0.000.00

7,281 0.00 0.00 7,281.0037-901-038 Transfer Out to WS for USDA 
Loan

0.000.00

2,813 2,813.00 2,813.00 0.00 100%37-901-079 Transfer out to USDA Leaf 
Machine Grant

0.000.00

2,169 0.00 0.00 2,169.0037-901-889 Transfer Out to USDA Loan 
Reserve 

0.000.00

14,251 2,813.00 2,813.00 11,438.00Totals:Transfers Out 20%0.000.00

134,723.03 124,815.90 647,504.15Expenses Totals: 46%1,712,610 249,131.75 930,382.37Expenses

37 GENERAL FUND Revenues Over/(Under) Expenses: (216,355.89)876.41(33,383.28)

Page Of8 15

Budget vs Actual

12/3/2025 1:18:41 PM

Town of Warrenton

Period Ending 11/30/2025



MTD QTD

38 WATER / SEWER

Description Budget Encumbrance YTD Variance Percent

Revenues

911,133 157,678.46 350,513.79 (560,619.21) 38%38-351-401 Water Sales 74,668.550.00

53 25.58 25.58 (27.42) 48%38-351-402 Debt Setoff WATER 25.580.00

717,364 117,758.64 267,547.90 (449,816.10) 37%38-351-404 Sewer Services 57,363.770.00

42 18.44 18.44 (23.56) 44%38-351-407 Debt Setoff SEWER 18.440.00

22,000 1,927.01 5,701.30 (16,298.70) 26%38-351-408 Town Taps/Connection Fee 47.480.00

9,960 941.20 3,213.92 (6,746.08) 32%38-351-416 Dis/Reconnection Fee 365.380.00

2,620 699.00 1,611.60 (1,008.40) 62%38-351-417 Fire Sprinkler 349.500.00

20,972 3,231.21 7,693.33 (13,278.67) 37%38-351-418 Late Fees/Penalty/Cut Off 1,173.310.00

987 280.00 520.00 (467.00) 53%38-351-419 Returned Check Fee 70.000.00

25 55.00 55.00 30.00 220%38-351-420 Debt Setoff Late 
Fees/Penalty/Cut Off

55.000.00

13,628 1,033.89 4,193.22 (9,434.78) 31%38-365-410 Interest/investment  Income 
NCCMT

0.000.00

2,925 550.00 1,500.00 (1,425.00) 51%38-365-421 Account Activation Fee 175.000.00

0 382.40 382.40 382.4038-365-851 Misc Revenue WATER 0.000.00

7,281 0.00 0.00 (7,281.00)38-381-037 Transfer In From GF 0.000.00

60,310 0.00 0.00 (60,310.00)38-395-396 Apropriated Fund Balance 
(Budget Only)

0.000.00

0.00 134,312.01 642,976.48Revenues Totals: 36%1,769,300 284,580.83 (1,126,323.52)Revenues

Expenses

124,185 17,246.71 44,659.07 79,525.93 36%38-851-010 Salary Full Time 9,371.910.00

12,876 2,028.28 5,552.72 7,323.28 43%38-851-014 Salary - Part Time 1,074.070.00

7,987 308.14 966.10 7,020.90 12%38-851-019 Salary Over-Time 91.300.00

11,096 1,492.85 3,899.62 7,196.38 35%38-851-020 ER-FICA Taxes 803.460.00

25,633 3,164.37 8,063.70 17,569.30 31%38-851-030 ER - Retirement Orbit 1,727.570.00

24,997 3,050.11 7,254.83 17,267.40 31%38-851-040 ER - Health Insurance WATER 1,412.16474.77

382 33.65 165.91 6.16 98%38-851-050 ER - Life Insurance 0.00209.93

1,112 (76.40) 730.96 76.40 93%38-851-060 ER - Workman's Comp (76.40)304.64

Page Of9 15

Budget vs Actual

12/3/2025 1:18:41 PM

Town of Warrenton

Period Ending 11/30/2025



MTD QTD

38 WATER / SEWER

Description Budget Encumbrance YTD Variance Percent

215 0.00 0.00 215.0038-851-200 Travel Expense 0.000.00

35,000 14,211.18 20,010.06 5,648.54 84%38-851-203 Supplies 9,005.759,341.40

3,120 1,012.63 1,497.22 0.00 100%38-851-204 Uniforms 578.831,622.78

6,090 594.96 1,489.94 1,366.98 78%38-851-250 Light & Heat & Security 251.533,233.08

10,896 1,847.54 4,071.05 48.45 100%38-851-251 Telephone & Postage 932.876,776.50

10,000 731.56 1,993.48 1,880.29 81%38-851-252 Fuel 204.986,126.23

5,113 1,454.46 4,051.20 56.42 99%38-851-255 Bldg. Maint/Clean Svs 881.151,005.38

3,401 384.18 797.74 851.00 75%38-851-260 Electric Tank/Pumps 121.631,752.26

1,300 350.00 350.00 470.00 64%38-851-296 Continuing Education 350.00480.00

5,319 908.28 2,309.39 (401.93) 108%38-851-301 Computer Mantenance 391.383,411.54

9,300 93.25 8,649.80 526.74 94%38-851-302 Software Support 39.96123.46

2,250 0.00 0.00 2,214.42 2%38-851-305 Technology Upgrades 0.0035.58

265 102.03 102.03 162.97 39%38-851-309 Advertising 0.000.00

880 25.00 219.17 573.33 35%38-851-310 Dues & Subscriptions 12.5087.50

1,331 0.00 1,151.00 0.00 100%38-851-313 State Permits 0.00180.00

21,061 5,265.04 10,530.08 0.84 100%38-851-345 Water Tank Contract 0.0010,530.08

1,200 320.00 460.00 200.00 83%38-851-347 Lab Analysis 70.00540.00

6,227 936.41 3,101.24 0.76 100%38-851-351 Maint. & Repair Equip 936.413,125.00

3,750 660.30 2,096.55 1,653.45 56%38-851-352 Vehicle Maintenance 546.350.00

13,253 3,042.75 3,042.75 10,174.03 23%38-851-400 Town Liability Insurance 3,042.7536.22

6,559 0.00 4,531.25 209.00 97%38-851-405 Audit Expense 0.001,818.75

31,292 0.00 19.00 31,273.00 0%38-851-434 WS grant expense 0.000.00

17,018 3,422.50 16,844.76 0.74 100%38-851-448 External Contract 702.50172.50

250,000 28,058.98 53,550.87 0.00 100%38-851-451 Water Purchase 0.00196,449.13

2,070 0.00 2,069.50 0.50 100%38-851-500 Capital Outlay $5000 and Above 0.000.00

6,109 0.00 0.00 6,109.0038-851-802 USDA Public Works Trucks - 
Princ Water

0.000.00

29,858 0.00 0.00 29,858.0038-851-803 USDA Town Hall/WS Loan 
Principal

0.000.00

Page Of10 15

Budget vs Actual

12/3/2025 1:18:41 PM

Town of Warrenton

Period Ending 11/30/2025



MTD QTD

38 WATER / SEWER

Description Budget Encumbrance YTD Variance Percent

14,502 0.00 0.00 14,502.0038-851-833 USDA Town Hall/WS Loan 
Interest

0.000.00

856 0.00 0.00 856.0038-851-836 USDA Public Works Trucks - Int 
Water

0.000.00

16,000 2,666.00 6,665.00 9,335.00 42%38-851-895 Grass Cutting Expense 1,333.000.00

59,399 4,458.94 21,276.46 38,122.54 36%38-851-896 WS 25% of GF Expense 0.000.00

2,868 0.00 0.00 2,868.0038-851-998 Contingency 0.000.00

784,770 97,793.70 242,172.45 294,760.82Totals:Water 62%33,805.66247,836.73

124,185 17,246.71 44,551.23 79,633.77 36%38-852-010 Salary - Full Time 9,371.910.00

12,876 2,028.28 5,552.55 7,323.45 43%38-852-014 Salary - Part Time 1,074.070.00

7,987 1,091.57 2,052.42 5,934.58 26%38-852-019 Salary - Over Time Sewer 488.250.00

11,096 1,556.98 3,985.54 7,110.46 36%38-852-020 ER - FICA Sewer 835.940.00

25,633 3,310.04 8,245.57 17,387.43 32%38-852-030 ER-Retirement Orbit 1,791.310.00

24,997 3,050.06 7,254.64 17,267.80 31%38-852-040 ER-Health Insurance SEWER 1,412.15474.56

382 33.64 165.89 6.16 98%38-852-050 ER-Life Insurance 0.00209.95

1,112 (76.40) 730.95 76.40 93%38-852-060 ER-Workman's Comp (76.40)304.65

215 0.00 0.00 215.0038-852-200 Travel Expense 0.000.00

33,624 13,070.44 23,581.88 543.23 98%38-852-203 Supplies 10,462.549,498.89

3,120 1,012.54 1,497.11 0.00 100%38-852-204 Uniforms 578.801,622.89

7,000 595.02 1,489.93 2,277.02 67%38-852-250 Light & Heat & Security 251.513,233.05

11,312 1,886.28 4,153.40 380.53 97%38-852-251 Telephone & Postage 979.076,778.07

10,000 731.54 1,993.47 1,880.29 81%38-852-252 Fuel 204.976,126.24

5,113 1,454.47 3,645.87 461.75 91%38-852-255 Bldg. Maint/Clean Svs 881.151,005.38

12,000 1,527.00 4,112.02 224.56 98%38-852-260 Electric Tank/Pumps 779.017,663.42

1,300 0.00 85.00 915.00 30%38-852-296 Continuing Education 0.00300.00

5,319 908.26 2,309.33 (401.81) 108%38-852-301 Computer Maint. 391.373,411.48

9,300 93.25 8,649.79 526.75 94%38-852-302 Software Support 39.96123.46

2,250 0.00 0.00 2,214.42 2%38-852-305 Technology Upgrades 0.0035.58

500 392.45 392.45 107.55 78%38-852-309 Advertising 0.000.00

Page Of11 15

Budget vs Actual

12/3/2025 1:18:41 PM

Town of Warrenton

Period Ending 11/30/2025



MTD QTD

38 WATER / SEWER

Description Budget Encumbrance YTD Variance Percent

880 25.00 219.17 573.33 35%38-852-310 Dues & Subscriptions 12.5087.50

1,500 0.00 0.00 1,235.00 18%38-852-313 State Permits 0.00265.00

6,227 936.41 3,101.23 0.77 100%38-852-351 Maint & Repair Equip 936.413,125.00

3,750 660.29 2,096.52 1,653.48 56%38-852-352 Vehicle Maintenance 546.340.00

7,228 1,688.52 1,688.52 5,503.25 24%38-852-400 Liability Insurance 1,688.5236.23

6,559 0.00 4,531.25 209.00 97%38-852-405 Audit Expense 0.001,818.75

15,000 0.00 19.00 14,981.00 0%38-852-434 WS Grant Expense 0.000.00

434,416 17,385.91 120,132.54 314,283.46 28%38-852-435 Purchase of Sewer Services 0.000.00

22,000 1,544.50 2,504.50 6,748.29 69%38-852-448 External Contract 402.5012,747.21

22,073 0.00 0.00 22,073.0038-852-473 WWTP Rehab Annual Payment 0.000.00

2,070 0.00 2,069.50 0.50 100%38-852-500 Capital Outlay $5000 and Above 0.000.00

6,109 0.00 0.00 6,109.0038-852-802 USDA Public Works Trucks - 
Princ Sewer

0.000.00

29,858 0.00 0.00 29,858.0038-852-803 USDA Town Hall/WS Loan 
Principal

0.000.00

14,388 0.00 0.00 14,388.0038-852-804 NCDEQ Unity, Bute & Battle 
Sewer Rehab Princ Only

0.000.00

1,000 0.00 0.00 1,000.0038-852-809 John Riggans Easement Pmt 0.000.00

13,750 0.00 0.00 0.00 100%38-852-811 NCDEQ Sewer Rehab Annual 
Loan- Principal

0.0013,750.00

14,502 0.00 0.00 14,502.0038-852-833 USDA Town Hall/WS Loan 
Interest

0.000.00

856 0.00 0.00 856.0038-852-836 USDA Public Works Trucks - Int 
Sewer

0.000.00

2,200 1,100.00 1,100.00 0.00 100%38-852-837 NCDEQ Sewer Rehab Annual 
Loan- Interest

0.001,100.00

59,399 4,458.95 21,276.48 38,122.52 36%38-852-896 WS 25% of GF Expense 0.000.00

1,884 0.00 0.00 1,884.0038-852-998 Contingency 0.000.00

974,970 77,711.71 283,187.75 618,064.94Totals:Sewer Expenses 37%33,051.8873,717.31

9,560 0.00 0.00 9,560.0038-901-889 Transfer Out to USDA Loan 
Reserve

0.000.00

Page Of12 15

Budget vs Actual

12/3/2025 1:18:41 PM

Town of Warrenton

Period Ending 11/30/2025



MTD QTD

38 WATER / SEWER

Description Budget Encumbrance YTD Variance Percent

Reserve

9,560 0.00 0.00 9,560.00Totals:Transfers Out 0.000.00

321,554.04 66,857.54 525,360.20Expenses Totals: 48%1,769,300 175,505.41 922,385.76Expenses

38 WATER / SEWER Revenues Over/(Under) Expenses: 117,616.28109,075.4267,454.47

Page Of13 15

Budget vs Actual

12/3/2025 1:18:41 PM

Town of Warrenton

Period Ending 11/30/2025



MTD QTD

39 WWTP

Description Budget Encumbrance YTD Variance Percent

Revenues

49,980 17,615.00 28,315.00 (21,665.00) 57%39-351-405 Septic Disposal Service 145.000.00

434,416 17,385.91 120,132.54 (314,283.46) 28%39-351-470 Town Sewer Revenues 0.000.00

316,092 12,650.43 87,411.50 (228,680.50) 28%39-351-471 Sewer Revenues - County 0.000.00

241,310 9,657.52 66,731.16 (174,578.84) 28%39-351-472 Sewer Rev Norlina 0.000.00

0 0.00 20.00 20.0039-365-861 Misc Revenue WWTP 0.000.00

0.00 145.00 302,610.20Revenues Totals: 29%1,041,798 57,308.86 (739,187.80)Revenues

Expenses

250,406 37,465.84 96,527.25 153,878.75 39%39-861-010 Salary - Full Time 20,239.660.00

9,455 1,443.75 3,981.25 5,473.75 42%39-861-014 Salary - Part Time 743.750.00

17,343 2,448.04 6,341.06 11,001.94 37%39-861-019 Over-Time 1,122.030.00

21,206 2,874.37 7,414.92 13,791.08 35%39-861-020 ER-FICA Taxes 1,544.660.00

53,582 7,732.79 19,723.08 33,858.92 37%39-861-030 ER - Retirment Orbit 4,162.150.00

46,714 6,544.27 15,049.36 30,710.22 34%39-861-040 ER- Health Insurance 3,200.88954.42

802 65.24 321.55 74.92 91%39-861-050 ER-Life Insurance 0.00405.53

1,584 (38.38) 1,508.91 38.38 98%39-861-060 ER-Workman's Comp (38.38)36.71

500 0.00 0.00 500.0039-861-200 Travel Expense 0.000.00

77,930 11,086.20 34,699.60 18,493.96 76%39-861-203 Supplies 5,006.9524,736.44

5,460 1,970.18 2,951.03 0.00 100%39-861-204 Uniforms 1,114.772,508.97

90,000 11,129.51 28,675.16 11,850.00 87%39-861-250 Light, Heat & Security 5,807.6949,474.84

6,787 1,131.58 2,715.17 0.80 100%39-861-251 Telephone & Postage 571.114,071.03

10,250 1,054.52 2,365.50 1,030.29 90%39-861-252 Fuel 320.106,854.21

1,500 0.00 0.00 1,380.00 8%39-861-296 Continuing Education 0.00120.00

9,289 1,454.88 3,782.46 (91.33) 101%39-861-301 Computer Maint. 669.615,597.87

3,699 2,453.91 3,225.53 0.01 100%39-861-302 Software Support 2,400.62473.46

2,000 0.00 0.00 2,000.0039-861-305 Technology Upgrades 0.000.00

1,000 527.63 527.63 472.37 53%39-861-309 Advertising 0.000.00

154 0.00 0.00 154.0039-861-310 Dues & Subscriptions 0.000.00

2,250 0.00 920.22 1,329.78 41%39-861-318 Freight Charges 0.000.00

Page Of14 15

Budget vs Actual

12/3/2025 1:18:41 PM

Town of Warrenton

Period Ending 11/30/2025



MTD QTD

39 WWTP

Description Budget Encumbrance YTD Variance Percent

120,000 27,134.57 62,017.06 38,574.47 68%39-861-342 Maint & Repair Plant 23,423.7519,408.47

72,000 0.00 17,881.50 0.00 100%39-861-344 Sludge Removal 0.0054,118.50

750 0.00 0.00 750.0039-861-345 Beaver Control 0.000.00

11,526 1,334.50 6,813.72 4,712.28 59%39-861-346 Lab Material & Supplies 209.350.00

27,225 5,277.00 12,369.00 0.00 100%39-861-347 Lab Analysis 2,106.0014,856.00

3,000 0.00 0.00 3,000.0039-861-348 Tar - Pamlico Dues 0.000.00

1,500 0.00 150.00 1,350.00 10%39-861-349 OSHAComp/Safety M&S 0.000.00

4,750 572.58 1,707.08 3,042.92 36%39-861-352 Vehicle Maintenance 420.830.00

25,068 5,428.83 5,428.83 19,566.72 22%39-861-400 Liability Insurance 5,428.8372.45

13,117 0.00 9,062.50 417.00 97%39-861-405 Audit Expense 0.003,637.50

30,000 0.00 0.00 30,000.0039-861-434 WWTP Grant Expenst 0.000.00

1,000 0.00 172.00 828.00 17%39-861-441 Certify Lab Services 0.000.00

15,674 1,650.00 9,686.08 0.92 100%39-861-444 Permits & Fees 825.005,987.00

7,044 1,205.45 2,977.11 0.00 100%39-861-446 Influent Debris Removal 608.204,066.89

2,070 0.00 2,069.49 0.51 100%39-861-500 Capital Outlay $5000 and Over 0.000.00

23,607 0.00 0.00 23,607.0039-861-810 NCDEQ WWTP Phase 2 Principal 0.000.00

64,003 5,104.16 21,288.72 42,714.28 33%39-861-897 WWTP 25% of GF Exp 0.000.00

7,553 0.00 0.00 7,553.0039-861-998 Contingency 0.000.00

1,041,798 137,051.42 382,352.77 462,064.94Totals:WWTP - Expenses 56%79,887.56197,380.29

197,380.29 79,887.56 382,352.77Expenses Totals: 56%1,041,798 137,051.42 462,064.94Expenses

39 WWTP Revenues Over/(Under) Expenses: (79,742.57)(79,742.56)(79,742.56)

Page Of15 15

Budget vs Actual

12/3/2025 1:18:41 PM

Town of Warrenton

Period Ending 11/30/2025



Check Listing

Date From: 11/1/2025  Date To: 11/30/2025

Vendor Range: 1 800 FLAGPOLE.COM - ZIMA CORPORATION

Town of Warrenton

12/03/2025 01:21 PM Page: 1 of 3

Date AmountCheck Number Bank Vendor

69365 30 DOCUMENT SYSTEMS, INC 11/04/2025 $194.48

69366 30 INTERPLAT SOLUTIONS, INC 11/04/2025 $500.00

69367 30 MERITECH INC 11/04/2025 $2,176.00

69368 30 PETE SMITH TIRE & QUICK LUBE, INC 11/04/2025 $121.46

69369 30 TAR HEEL TIRE SALES/SERVICE 11/04/2025 $2,017.97

69370 30 UNIFIRST CORPORATION 11/04/2025 $2,533.17

69371 30 USA Bluebook 11/04/2025 $635.75

69372 30 WILSON'S WATER SERVICES 11/04/2025 $825.00

69373 30 CAROLINA DIGITAL PHONE INC 11/06/2025 $316.00

69374 30 Cross Creek Outdoor Supplies 11/06/2025 $74.71

69375 30 DOCUMENT SYSTEMS, INC 11/06/2025 $362.11

69376 30 LINSTAR 11/06/2025 $12.80

69377 30 ULINE 11/06/2025 $391.25

69378 30 WRIGHT EXPRESS FSC 11/06/2025 $1,316.49

69379 30 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES, INC. 11/10/2025 $374.40

69380 30 BREEDLOVE ELECTRIC, INC 11/10/2025 $320.25

69381 30 DUKE ENERGY PROGRESS 11/10/2025 $134.56

69382 30 INVOICE CLOUD, INC. 11/10/2025 $171.40

69383 30 Mission Communications, LLC 11/10/2025 $805.00

69384 30 QUICK PRINT 11/10/2025 $64.05

69385 30 UNIFIRST CORPORATION 11/10/2025 $509.73

69386 30 USA Bluebook 11/10/2025 $385.37

69387 30 WOMACK PUBLISHING CO. INC. 11/10/2025 $121.80

69388 30 AAA GAS AND APPLIANCE CO. 11/14/2025 $57.59

69389 30 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES, INC. 11/14/2025 $133.64

69390 30 CHADWICK INSTRUMENT SERVICE 11/14/2025 $2,807.53

69391 30 Core & Main 11/14/2025 $17,638.41

69392 30 DUKE ENERGY PROGRESS 11/14/2025 $6,987.16

69393 30 GFL ENVIRONMENTAL 11/14/2025 $608.20

69394 30 GUPTON SERVICES, INC 11/14/2025 $130.00

69395 30 KATALYST NETWORK GROUP LLC 11/14/2025 $2,378.00

69396 30 LORD & COMPANY, INC 11/14/2025 $14,328.16



Check Listing

Date From: 11/1/2025  Date To: 11/30/2025

Vendor Range: 1 800 FLAGPOLE.COM - ZIMA CORPORATION

Town of Warrenton

12/03/2025 01:21 PM Page: 2 of 3

Date AmountCheck Number Bank Vendor

69397 30 PETE SMITH TIRE & QUICK LUBE, INC 11/14/2025 $504.58

69398 30 WARREN AUTO PARTS, INC. 11/14/2025 $100.56

69399 30 AHNER SECURITY INC. 11/18/2025 $448.00

69400 30 BRITTANY STROTHER 11/18/2025 $106.75

69401 30 KING'S FITNESS & NUTRITION CENTER 11/18/2025 $300.00

69402 30 PETE SMITH TIRE & QUICK LUBE, INC 11/18/2025 $284.24

69403 30 ROBERT DAVIE 11/18/2025 $95.20

69404 30 SOUTHERN SOFTWARE, INC. 11/18/2025 $378.54

69405 30 WOODY KING 11/18/2025 $100.00

69406 30 FIRST CITIZENS BANK 11/18/2025 $2,523.00

69407 30 A FULL CLEANING SERVICES LLC 11/19/2025 $945.00

69408 30 All American Welding & Machine, LLC 11/19/2025 $3,416.00

69409 30 BLUE RIDGE SPRINGS, INC 11/19/2025 $12.50

69410 30 CITIZENS INSURANCE & BONDING, 11/19/2025 $21,087.48

69411 30 DUKE ENERGY PROGRESS 11/19/2025 $2,576.74

69412 30 FRONTIER NATURAL GAS 11/19/2025 $24.71

69413 30 FRONTIER NATURAL GAS 11/19/2025 $12.39

69414 30 GUPTON SERVICES, INC 11/19/2025 $715.00

69415 30 HARRIS EQUIPMENT COMPANY 11/19/2025 $2,280.00

69416 30 HAWKINS, INC. 11/19/2025 $4,349.43

69417 30 NCDPS-CORRECTION ENTERPRISES 11/19/2025 $39.35

69418 30 NORTH CAROLINA 811, INC 11/19/2025 $25.00

69419 30 PETE SMITH TIRE & QUICK LUBE, INC 11/19/2025 $667.50

69420 30 SouthData, Inc 11/19/2025 $679.16

69421 30 UNIFIRST CORPORATION 11/19/2025 $386.51

69422 30 WARREN COUNTY PUBLIC WORKS 11/19/2025 $1,563.75

69423 30 Always N Bloom 11/21/2025 $18.98

69424 30 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES, INC. 11/21/2025 $406.68

69425 30 AT&T MOBILITY II LLC 11/21/2025 $803.28

69426 30 BLUE RIDGE SPRINGS, INC 11/21/2025 $12.50

69427 30 DUKE ENERGY PROGRESS 11/21/2025 $66.33

69428 30 GREGORY POOLE EQUIPMENT CO. 11/21/2025 $1,336.68



Check Listing

Date From: 11/1/2025  Date To: 11/30/2025

Vendor Range: 1 800 FLAGPOLE.COM - ZIMA CORPORATION

Town of Warrenton

12/03/2025 01:21 PM Page: 3 of 3

Date AmountCheck Number Bank Vendor

69429 30 INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY SERVICE 11/21/2025 $656.48

69430 30 Pete Smith Garage, Inc. 11/21/2025 $1,071.99

69431 30 Ron Eric Dawson 11/21/2025 $400.00

69432 30 SCOTT ERIC LILES 11/21/2025 $5,000.00

69433 30 TIME WARNER CABLE 11/21/2025 $190.00

69434 30 WARREN AUTO PARTS, INC. 11/21/2025 $24.63

69435 30 A FULL CLEANING SERVICES LLC 11/25/2025 $1,890.00

69436 30 All American Welding & Machine, LLC 11/25/2025 $668.53

69437 30 ANGELA  LEWIS 11/25/2025 $28.02

69438 30 CONNIE CALLOWAY 11/25/2025 $40.12

69439 30 FLEMING INVESTMENT COMPANY 11/25/2025 $3,000.00

69440 30 HOWARD L BURCHETTE 11/25/2025 $109.29

69441 30 HUMANA SPECIALTY BENEFITS 11/25/2025 $29.38

69442 30 KAREN E KELLEY 11/25/2025 $40.12

69443 30 KT TORNADO LLC 11/25/2025 $150.00

69444 30 PETE SMITH TIRE & QUICK LUBE, INC 11/25/2025 $724.93

69445 30 UNIFIRST CORPORATION 11/25/2025 $1,042.61

69446 30 VERIZON WIRELESS 11/25/2025 $320.12

69447 30 WARREN AUTO PARTS, INC. 11/25/2025 $23.35

83 Checks Totaling - $121,107.85

Totals By Fund
Checks Voids Total

34 $4,290.35 $4,290.35

36 $2,855.90 $2,855.90

37 $28,557.90 $28,557.90

38 $36,524.19 $36,524.19

39 $48,879.51 $48,879.51

Totals: $121,107.85 $121,107.85



 

Memo 
To: Town Commissioners 

From: Bill Perkinson 

CC: Mayor, Town Administrator 

Date: December 4, 2025 

Re: November 2025 Monthly Activity Report for Public Works 
 

 
Water and Sewer 

• Water and Sewer System Needs – Unfunded: (1) Install magnetic flow meter in 14-inch 
sewer force main where Town of Norlina’s and Warren County’s Sewer enters Town of 
Warrenton’s sewer system (meter would give us precise measurement of volume of sewer in 
route to the wastewater treatment plant from our partners thus helping to ensure accurate 
portioning of monthly wastewater treatment expense between the three partners…Estimated 
Cost - $75,000). (2) Purchase water main valve exercising equipment (Estimated Cost – 
$30,000). (3) Purchase spare pump for Riggans Sewer Lift Station – (Estimated Cost for pump 
- $29,000.00). (4) Purchase spare pump for F&M Sewer Lift Station and install emergency 
port – (Estimated Cost – $65,000). (5) Highway 158 Business East Water Customers…From 
Highway 58 to just past Red Hill Loop Road…Abandon old 2-inch galvanized water main and 
reconnect active services to 8-inch PVC water main (Estimated Cost - $50,000.00). 

 
• Completed Water and Sewer System Maintenance/Repair Related Information: (1) 

Preventative Maintenance – JCB Backhoe.  Replace 4 tires.  Shop: Tar Heel 
Tire…(Labor and Materials - $1,872.82). (2) Service Agreement – Multi-year 
agreement with Mission Communications.  SCADA service for 1 Elevated tank control. 
Contractor: Mission Communications…($805.00). (3) Repair – N. Main Street 
Elevated Tank.  Replaced pressure transducer.  Contractor: Breedlove 
Electric…(Labor-$300.00, Parts provided by Town). 

 
Total cost for Maintenance and Repair Equipment (Account No. 38-851-351 & 38-852- 
351) - $1,872.82 

 
Total cost for External Contract Maintenance and Repair (Account No. 38-851-448 & 38- 
852-448) - $1,105.00 

 
• Water System Fire Hydrants Out of Service: No change. We currently have 12 of 171 hydrants 

that are out of service for various reasons. A status report has been included in the board 
packet with details. 

 
• Unaccounted for Water %: Please note these statistics: 3-Month Average (September – 

November, 2025) Unaccounted for water is 23%. November 2025 unaccounted for 
water was 15%. (4,004,000 gallons purchased and 3,384,000 gallons sold).   Please see 
attached summary for full historical information. 

 

Town Of Warrenton - 
Public Works 



 
Streets and Sanitation 

• Current Tasks: Tree pruning. Street curb and gutter cleaning. Signs repair/replacement. 
Loose leaves/debris pick-up. Grass Cutting. Water and sewer line right of ways trimming and 
cutting.  Brick sidewalk power washing.  



 



 
 

Memo 
To: Town Commissioners 

From: Bill Perkinson 

CC: Mayor, Town Administrator, Warren County Director of Public Utilities, Norlina Director of Public 
Works 

Date: December 4, 2025 

Re: November 2025 Monthly Activity Report for WWTP 
 
 

• Pending Equipment Maintenance and Repairs: (1) Effluent filter controls – Safety issue - 
Replace cylinders and control mechanism for valves located in pit area of filter building. (2) Sand 
blast and refinish site metal structures. (Estimated Cost – Refinishing remaining 
structures - $58,000) (3) Replace Influent Pump 3 Double Mechanical Seal. (Estimated 
Parts and Labor Cost –$4,000) (4) WWTP Sewer Trunk Line – additional construction work 
to resolve drainage issues. (Estimated Cost –$12,500) (5) Oxidation Ditch 2 – integrate 
SCADA system for control of 4 existing mixers. (Estimated Cost –$21,000) (6) Replace 
Influent Pump 3 Impeller. (Estimated Parts and Labor Cost – Gathering Information) (7) 
Oxidation Ditch No. 2 - (4) mixers have been pulled and vegetation removed.  Shafts and impellers 
must be replaced. (Estimated Cost – $25,000) 
 

• Completed Plant Maintenance/Repair Related Information: (1) Emergency Repair – 
Oxidation Ditch 2.  Mixer 2 shaft repair.  Contractor: Liles Pump Company…(Labor and 
Parts - $5,000.00).   (2)  Repair – Digester 2.  Replaced two 8-inch Plug Valves.  Repaired 
Influent slide gates.  Removed stuck valve handle in chlorine contact basin. 
Contractor: All American Welding…(Labor and Materials - $3,895.25, 8-inch Valves 
provided by plant). (3) Annual Service Agreement – Plant SCADA system.  Contractor: Lord 
and Company, Inc…(Labor and Materials - $11,967.50). (4)  Preventative 
Maintenance – Calibrated effluent flow meter and serviced chlorine and sulfur dioxide gas 
dispensing systems.  Contractor: Chadwick Instrumentation Service…(Labor and 
Materials - $2,630.00).  

 
Total cost for Repairs (Account No. 39-861-342) - $23,423.75 
 

• Plant Discharge Quality: Our discharge quality remained good throughout the entire 
month with a total flow of 8.97 million gallons.   

 
 
 

Town Of Warrenton - 
WWTP 



Bulk Water Purchased From Warren County

FY 2011 - 2012 FY 2012 - 2013 FY 2013 - 2014 FY 2014 - 2015 FY 2015 - 2016 FY 2016 - 2017 FY 2017 - 2018 FY 2018 - 2019 FY 2019 - 2020 FY 2020 - 2021 FY 2021 - 2022 FY 2022 - 2023 FY 2023 - 2024 FY 2024 - 2025 FY 2025 - 2026

Gallons Gallons Gallons Gallons Gallons Gallons Gallons Gallons Gallons Gallons Gallons Gallons Gallons Gallons Gallons
Month Purchased Purchased Purchased Purchased Purchased Purchased Purchased Purchased Purchased Purchased Purchased Purchased Purchased Purchased Purchased
July 8,165,930 10,236,700 5,985,900 6,951,000 6,030,000 6,229,000 6,396,000 6,936,000 7,800,000 6,605,000 6,658,000 4,470,000 7,551,167 5,808,000 4,819,000
August 8,853,170 10,071,600 6,082,000 5,915,000 7,050,000 6,787,000 6,176,000 7,205,000 7,438,000 6,766,000 4,981,333 4,160,000 6,017,167 5,828,000 4,503,000
September 8,055,100 9,384,800 6,031,000 4,848,000 6,000,000 6,404,000 5,996,000 7,235,000 6,180,000 5,282,000 4,228,333 5,180,000 7,272,167 6,470,000 4,568,000
October 7,112,400 8,593,100 5,532,000 5,809,000 6,130,000 4,997,001 6,018,000 7,437,000 6,306,000 5,638,000 3,961,333 5,154,000 8,937,167 6,660,000 4,451,000
November 6,923,700 4,977,400 5,677,000 5,892,000 5,420,000 5,744,000 5,832,000 6,969,000 5,910,000 5,682,000 4,762,333 4,886,000 9,638,167 5,555,000 4,003,000
December 7,166,100 5,293,190 5,383,000 5,037,000 5,990,000 7,305,000 9,051,000 8,237,000 5,129,000 6,756,000 4,123,333 6,145,000 5,316,000 5,001,000
January 6,216,600 6,086,000 6,602,000 5,974,000 5,747,000 6,465,604 7,768,000 6,389,000 5,646,000 5,320,000 4,509,000 4,710,000 4,722,000 5,233,000
February 5,770,050 5,693,400 6,890,000 6,570,000 6,152,000 5,947,000 5,422,000 6,668,000 5,376,000 4,852,000 4,100,000 4,282,167 3,665,000 3,899,000
March 8,927,000 6,079,500 6,928,000 7,289,000 6,606,000 6,023,000 6,382,000 6,067,000 6,120,000 4,987,000 3,578,000 5,123,167 4,532,000 4,483,000
April 8,474,900 6,125,000 6,494,000 6,870,000 5,275,000 6,246,000 5,982,653 5,837,000 6,161,000 4,985,000 4,076,000 3,855,167 5,199,000 3,859,000
May 9,256,300 6,672,640 6,582,362 6,850,000 6,155,000 6,039,000 5,890,033 6,725,000 6,605,000 4,297,000 4,014,000 4,511,167 5,882,000 3,833,000
June 9,941,150 5,006,600 6,656,000 6,320,000 7,404,000 6,419,000 6,047,314 7,800,000 6,766,000 4,357,000 4,469,000 3,334,167 6,480,000 4,316,000

Total 94,862,400 84,219,930 74,843,262 74,325,000 73,959,000 74,605,605 76,961,000 83,505,000 75,437,000 65,527,000 53,460,667 55,810,835 75,211,835 60,945,000 22,344,000

Water Sales - Gallons Billed Out to Town Customers

FY 2011 - 2012 FY 2012 - 2013 FY 2013 - 2014 FY 2014 - 2015 FY 2015 - 2016 FY 2016 - 2017 FY 2017 - 2018 FY 2018 - 2019 FY 2019 - 2020 FY 2020 - 2021 FY 2021 - 2022 FY 2022 - 2023 FY 2023 - 2024 FY 2024 - 2025 FY 2025 - 2026

Gallons Gallons Gallons Gallons Gallons Gallons Gallons Gallons Gallons Gallons Gallons Gallons Gallons Gallons Gallons
Month Sold Sold Sold Sold Sold Sold Sold Sold Sold Sold Sold Sold Sold Sold Sold
July 5,044,040 4,746,009 3,983,000 4,987,000 3,955,000 4,478,000 3,656,000 4,588,000 6,318,006 4,692,003 3,760,000 3,360,000 3,711,000 3,447,000 3,265,000
August 6,226,031 5,874,014 4,779,000 5,304,000 5,914,000 3,956,000 5,043,004 4,266,000 6,810,003 4,553,003 3,793,000 3,458,000 3,261,000 3,105,000 3,326,000
September 5,175,024 4,242,015 4,735,000 4,478,000 5,627,000 5,082,000 3,994,000 4,369,000 5,412,004 4,302,001 3,658,000 3,355,000 3,419,000 3,318,000 3,401,000
October 4,602,016 3,859,012 4,270,000 3,592,000 3,875,000 3,815,000 3,772,000 4,110,000 7,454,004 3,772,000 3,445,000 3,516,000 3,496,000 2,931,000 3,191,000
November 5,403,028 3,849,010 4,041,000 4,466,000 4,851,000 4,790,000 4,557,000 4,020,000 4,716,004 4,041,000 3,510,000 3,266,000 3,253,000 3,179,000 3,384,000
December 4,149,021 4,348,014 3,852,000 4,597,000 4,237,000 3,317,000 3,837,000 3,764,000 4,592,004 3,293,007 3,703,000 3,016,000 3,737,100 3,011,000
January 4,187,013 3,934,009 4,773,000 3,708,000 4,028,000 3,543,000 4,613,000 4,417,000 3,769,003 3,500,000 3,962,000 3,422,000 3,219,100 3,017,000
February 4,785,012 4,690,010 4,540,000 4,529,000 4,437,000 4,440,000 4,374,000 3,829,005 4,379,008 3,751,000 3,717,000 2,982,000 3,131,000 3,687,000
March 4,159,011 4,315,013 5,012,000 5,543,000 4,362,000 3,883,000 3,811,000 3,622,004 3,480,004 3,280,000 3,280,006 2,992,000 2,784,000 2,796,000
April 4,201,009 3,687,003 4,321,000 4,965,000 4,010,000 3,797,000 4,041,000 5,713,009 3,809,003 3,650,000 4,248,000 3,367,000 3,072,000 3,170,000
May 3,987,008 3,938,003 3,893,000 4,056,000 4,384,000 4,494,000 4,286,000 5,192,007 3,787,003 3,988,000 3,547,000 3,576,000 3,270,000 3,198,000
June 5,473,014 5,039,000 4,096,000 5,871,000 4,650,000 4,882,000 3,843,000 3,707,007 4,378,003 4,190,000 3,765,000 3,571,000 3,808,000 3,387,000

Total 57,391,227 52,521,112 52,295,000 56,096,000 54,330,000 50,477,000 49,827,004 51,597,032 58,904,049 47,012,014 44,388,006 39,881,000 40,161,200 38,246,000 16,567,000

Unaccounted-For Water (%)

FY 2011 - 2012 FY 2012 - 2013 FY 2013 - 2014 FY 2014 - 2015 FY 2015 - 2016 FY 2016 - 2017 FY 2017 - 2018 FY 2018 - 2019 FY 2019 - 2020 FY 2020 - 2021 FY 2021 - 2022 FY 2022 - 2023 FY 2023 - 2024 FY 2024 - 2025 FY 2025 - 2026

Month % % % % % % %
July 38 54 33 28 34 28 43 34 19 29 44 25 51 41 32
August 30 42 21 10 16 42 18 41 8 33 24 17 46 47 26
September 36 55 21 8 6 21 33 40 12 19 13 35 53 49 26
October 35 55 23 38 37 24 37 45 33 13 32 61 56 28
November 22 23 29 24 10 17 22 42 20 29 26 33 66 43 15
December 42 18 28 9 29 55 58 54 10 51 10 51 30 40
January 33 35 28 38 30 45 41 31 33 34 12 27 32 42
February 17 18 34 31 28 25 19 43 19 23 9 30 15 5
March 53 29 28 24 34 36 40 40 43 34 8 42 39 38
April 50 40 33 28 24 39 32 2 38 27 13 41 18
May 57 41 41 41 29 26 27 23 43 7 12 21 44 17
June 45 -1 38 7 37 24 36 52 35 4 16 -7 41 22

Average 38 37 30 24 26 32 34 37 26 27 17 27 43 35 26



Hydrants Out of Service as of 12-4-25

Hydrant # Location Hydrant Brand Model Bury Depth Year
Description of Problem (vehicle 

damage, leaking, etc.) Parts Needed 

19 West Ridgeway & Spring St. MH #445310 ? 1974 No water coming out of hydrant.

47 Wilcox & Spring Clow Medallion 4 1/2 2013 Inadequate Flow 

31 220 Hayley St. MH #445310 4 1/2 1973 Hydrant assembly is seized. 

33 Across from 514 W Franklin St. WATEROUS W-67U ? ? Hydrant assembly is seized. 

52 End of Pluto St. Kennedy 150` ? 1974 Hydrant assembly is seized. 

66 209 Warren St. USP 855600 5 1/2 1984 Hydrant assembly is seized. 

72 204 Red Hill Loop Rd. USP 855600 5 1/2 1984 Flange is broken - hydrant leaks.

Orded flange repair kit from 
Consolidated Pipe 3-5-25 - 
5/7/25 - Supplier has not 
received repair kit.

80 On Right in front of Armory Mueller Centurion 4 1/2 1990 Hydrant will not cut off. Valve seat received.

82 Across from 318 N. Bute St. Mueller Centurion 4 1/2 ?
Vehicle damage - damage is beyond 
repair.

110 Left of Walgreens  E. Macon St. Mueller Centurion 4 1/2 1975 No water coming out of hydrant. Valve seat received.

139 Hall Street MH #445310 4 1/2 1974 Hydrant will not cut off 

91 S Main St & College St Mueller Centurion 4 1/2 1986 Hydrant or hydrant leg is leaking. Valve seat received.



Warrenton Police Department

DATE EVENT TYPE STATUS
11/6/2025 Larceny- Misdemeanor Inactive
11/7/2025 Simple Assault Closed

11/11/2025 Financial Transaction Card Theft Unfounded
11/18/2025 Call for Service Closed
11/20/2025 Larceny of Property or Goods >$1000 Unfounded
11/25/2025 Exploitation of an Older Adult or Disabled Adult Active
11/26/2025 1-Financial Transaction Card Theft/ 2- Larceny-Misdemeanor Unfounded

Board of Commissions Meeting - December 2025 (reporting period: November)



Activity Log Event Summary (Cumulative Totals)
Warrenton Police Department

(11/01/2025 - 11/30/2025)

<No Event Type Specified> 1 911 Hang-up 1

Accident 3 Alarm Activation 6

Animal Complaint 1 Assault-Physical 1

Assist Business Owner/Escort 1 Assist WC EMS 8

Assist WCSO 8 Civil Dispute 1

Complaint 4 Credit Card Theft/Fraud 1

Domestic 1 Escort 1

Follow up Investigation 1 Investigation and/or Interview 5

Larceny 2 Mental Patient 2

Open Door (Residence) 1 Other 7

Patrol 10 Property Check – Business 74

Property Check – Residential 16 Suspicious Person / Vehicle 2

Talk with Officer 15 Traffic Control 1

Traffic Stop 6

Total Number Of Events:  180

Date: 12/02/2025 -- Time:  11:48 Page 1



                                                                                                                                     

 
P.O. Box 281 

Walter M. Gardner, Jr. – Mayor                                                                 Warrenton, NC  27589-0281 
Robert F. Davie, Jr. – Town Administrator                                 (252) 257-1122   Fax (252) 257-9219 

www.warrenton.nc.gov 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
     

BOC Meeting November 2025 – Action Items Checklist 
 

1. Make changes to zoning map with Reynolds Tavern change. (cont.) 

2. Execute recombination deed with Mayor and submit to Mitch Styers for filing at Register 

of Deeds. 

✓ Awaiting a reply from Mitch Styers 

3. Investigate options to opt out of early voting and voting at one location on election day 

✓ Contacted Debbie Formyduval.  Will follow up when she returns from surgery. 

4. Adapt Social District ordinance with dates of festivals and leeway for other dates. 

✓ In BOC Packet 

5. Contact NCDOT about Main Street closures for Christmas Parade and town festivals. 

✓ Passed along to Chief 

6. Contact Woody King about attending December Board meeting. 

✓ Woody will be in attendance at Dec BOC meeting 

7. Refer to Historic District Commission the fines assessed to Chris Privett. 

✓ Done 

8. Update Personnel Manual with Vehicle Use Policy. 

✓ Done 

9. Execute agreement with Jimmy Harris for debris site. 

✓ Done 

10. Execute agreement for Employee Assistance Program. 

✓ Done 

11. Execute legal retainer agreement. 

✓ Done 



                                                                                                                                     

 
P.O. Box 281 

Walter M. Gardner, Jr. – Mayor                                                                 Warrenton, NC  27589-0281 
Robert F. Davie, Jr. – Town Administrator                                 (252) 257-1122   Fax (252) 257-9219 

www.warrenton.nc.gov 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
STATUS OF GRANTS   
 
NC DEQ Waste Water SRP-W-0224 

• Town awarded $1,000,000 for improvements to the town’s sewer lines.  (SRP projects 
limited to $3MM award every 5 years for both water and sewer.)  Engineering plans due 
to State by December 2025.  Possible project bid Spring 2026.   

 
NC DEQ WWTP SRP-W-0220 

• $2,000,000 awarded.  Project to replace 44-year-old rotors and clean out oxidation ditch 
#1, which are currently the most critical issues at the WWTP and bring oxidation ditch 
#2 online.  Engineering plans being developed, due to State by June 2026. 

 
NC DEQ Water Infrastructure Rehab SRF-D-2057 

• Town-Wide Water System Improvements: $1,564,600 (Received award notice.)  
Engineering plans have been submitted to the State for review.  Possible project bid in 
Winter 2025. 

 
NC DEQ Water AIA Stormwater Planning SRP-SW-0007 

• Town awarded $400,000 for stormwater planning.  Town has adopted resolution 
accepting award.  Awaiting further direction/meetings from Municipal Engineering. 

 
Golden Leaf Storm Water Grant 

• Town awarded $196,447.50 for stormwater repairs to Brehon Street. 

• Survey of affected area is complete.   

• Construction began on 5/5/2025.  Recently approved 220 feet stormwater piping 
connecting to the project area, will begin construction in November.    

 
FEMA Cybersecurity Grant: 

• State and Local Cybersecurity Grant awarded to the town of Warrenton in the amount 
of $48,982.  Sequentially implementing parts of grant project.     

 
 
 
 
 



 
FEMA Generator Grant: 

• Town on the list to receive funding to establish backup generators at Red Hill Loop and 
Ridgeway Warrenton pump stations totaling approximately $170,000.  During power 
outages this will keep user sewage flowing and reduce costs of pumping out sewage.     

 
NCDEQ: 

• NC Dept of Air Quality grant application for replacement of EV Charging Station in 
amount of approximately $141,000.  This 100% grant has been awarded to the Town of 
Warrenton.  Construction of the charging station to begin in November.  

 
NCDEQ: 

• Spring round of funding from NCDEQ has been preliminarily announced.  Warrenton has 
been approved grants to receive $3,000,000.  

 
USDA Community Facilities: 

• USDA has awarded the Town a grant/loan package for purchase of leaf machine.  
$93,000 total, requesting $50,000 in grant funding and $43,000 financed over 5 years 
with annual payment of $9898.  Awaiting delivery of leaf machine to hold closing.  USDA 
also closed due to federal government shutdown.      

 
NCLM Assistance Grant 

• Funded by ARP through NCLM, the League engaged the legal firm of Parker Poe to assist 
the Town in making changes, at no cost to the Town, to:  

o Compliance of zoning code with any updated requirements from state 
o Review of sign ordinances 
o Recommendations for driveway sizes 

Estimate items to be presented to Board in Fall 2025 
 



                                                                                                                                     

 
P.O. Box 281 

Walter M. Gardner, Jr. – Mayor                                                                 Warrenton, NC  27589-0281 
Robert F. Davie, Jr. – Town Administrator                                 (252) 257-1122   Fax (252) 257-9219 

www.warrenton.nc.gov 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
November 17, 2025 
 
 
 
Dr. Deloris L. Jerman 
President, Warren Country NAACP 
PO Box 604 Warrenton, NC 27589 
 
Dear Dr. Jerman: 
 
The purpose of this letter is to respond to your comments and written submission at the 
November 10, 2025 Board of Commissioners meeting for the Town of Warrenton. 
 
The Town of Warrenton takes these types of allegations very seriously but cannot comment on 
pending litigation.   
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Robert Davie 
Town Administrator 



 1 

PROPOSED NEW ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES CHAPTER INCLUDING SOCIAL DISTRICT ORDINANCE 
 
1. Amend Chapter 116 Sale of Alcoholic Beverages on Sundays  

To rename Chapter 116 “Sale of Alcoholic Beverages on Sundays” to “Alcoholic  
Beverages” 

 
2. Create new §§116.01 - §116.09 pertaining to Social Districts as follows: 
 

§116.01  Purpose 
A. Pursuant to the provisions of North Carolina General Statute 160A-205.4, et seq. 

and amended Chapter 18B  one or more social districts may be created within the 
town and the Town hereby creates and designates the following social district: an 
area along North and S. Main Streets from the intersection of Church Street to 
Franklin Street and excluding the courthouse square.  The Downtown Warrenton 
Social District which is designated as shown on a map dated ____________, such 
map available in the office of the Town Administrator, and signage and/or markings 
shall be posted clearly delineating the boundaries of the Social District. 

 
B. The Downtown Warrenton Social District shall be created, designated, and 

managed in accordance with the requirements contained in North Carolina 
General Statute 160A-205.4 and Chapter 18B. 

 
§116.02  Definitions. 
Social district means and refers to a defined outdoor area in which a citizen may 
consume alcoholic beverages sold by a permittee. This term does not include the 
permittee's licensed premises or an extended area allowed under North Carolina 
General Statute 18B-904(h). 
 
Permittee means and refers to a person holding any of the following ABC permits issued 
by the North Carolina Alcoholic Beverage Control Commission established under North 
Carolina General Statute 18B-200: 
 

1. An on-premises malt beverage permit issued pursuant to G.S. 18B-1001(1). 
2. An on-premises unfortified wine permit issued pursuant to G.S. 18B 1001(3). 
3. An on-premises fortified wine permit issued pursuant to G.S. 18B- 1001(5). 
4. A mixed beverages permit issued pursuant to G.S. 18B-1001(10). 
5. A distillery permit issued pursuant to G.S. 18B-1100(5). 

 
Person means and refers to an individual, firm, partnership, association, 
corporation, limited liability company, other organization or group, or other 
combination of individuals acting as a unit. 
 
Premises means and refers to a fixed permanent establishment, including all 
areas inside or outside the permitted establishment, where the permittee has 



 2 

control through a lease, deed, or other legal processes. 
§116.03  Application 

A. The provisions and terms contained in this Article shall be applicable between the 
hours of 10:00AM and 4:00PM on the fourth Saturday in April and second Saturday in 
October. At all other times, the provisions and terms contained in this Article are 
not in effect and all provisions of State and local laws concerning the possession 
and consumption of alcohol shall be in full force and effect. 

 
B. Any alcoholic beverage purchased for consumption in the Downtown Warrenton 

Social District shall (i) only be consumed in the Downtown Warrenton Social 
District and (ii) be disposed of before the person in possession of the alcoholic 
beverage exits the Downtown Warrenton Social District unless the person is 
reentering the licensed premises where the alcoholic beverage was purchased.  

 
§116.04  Requirements for Sale of Alcoholic Beverages 
A. A permittee located in or contiguous to the Downtown Warrenton Social District 

may sell alcoholic beverages for consumption within the Downtown Warrenton 
Social District if is located in or contiguous to the Social District  in accordance 
with the following requirements: 
 

1. The permittee shall only sell and serve alcoholic beverages on its licensed 
premises. 

 
2. The permittee shall only sell alcoholic beverages for consumption in 

the Downtown Warrenton Social District in a container that meets 
all of the following requirements  

a. The container clearly identifies the permittee from which the 
alcoholic beverage was purchased. 

b. The container clearly displays the Downtown Warrenton Social 
District logo. 

c. The container is not comprised of glass. 
d. The container displays, in no less than 12-point font, the statement, 

"Drink Responsibly - Be 21." 
e. The container shall not hold more than 16 fluid ounces. 

 
3. The permittee shall not allow a person to enter or reenter its 

licensed premises with an alcoholic beverage not sold by the 
permittee. 

 
§116.05  Requirements for Possession and Consumption of Alcoholic Beverages 
The possession and consumption of an alcoholic beverage in the Downtown 
Warrenton Social District are subject to all of the following requirements: 
 

1. Only alcoholic beverages purchased from a permittee located in or contiguous 



 3 

to the Downtown Warrenton Social District may be possessed and consumed. 
 

2. Alcoholic beverages shall only be in containers meeting the requirements set 
forth in this ordinance. 

 
3. Alcoholic beverages shall only be possessed and consumed during the days 

and hours set forth in this ordinance. 
 

4. Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed as authorizing the sale and delivery 
of alcoholic beverage drinks in excess of the limitation set forth in North Carolina 
General Statute 18B-1010. 

 
5. A person shall dispose of any alcoholic beverage in the person's possession prior 

to exiting the Downtown Warrenton Social District unless the person is 
reentering the licensed premises where the alcoholic beverage was purchased. 

 
§116.06  Exceptions. 
When a Special Event is held pursuant to the issuance of a Special Event Permit, the 
terms of the Special Event Permit supersede the provisions of this ordinance within 
the boundaries of the Special Event. Any alcohol purchased within the boundaries of 
the Special Event may not be taken outside of the Special Event, even if the alcohol is 
to be taken from the boundary of the Special Event into the boundary of the Social 
District.  
 
§116.07 Penalty 
Any person who violates the provisions of §§ 116.01-116.06 this Article shall be guilty of 
a Class 3 misdemeanor and subject to a fine of fifty dollars ($50), pursuant to G.S. 14-
4(a).  

 
§116.08  Severability. 
If any section, phrase, sentence or portion of this ordinance is held void, invalid, 
unconstitutional or unenforceable for any reason by any court of competent jurisdiction, 
such portion shall be deemed a separate, distinct, and independent provision; and such 
holding shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof. 
 
§116.09  Effective 
That this ordinance shall become effective __________. 
 
§116.10 - §116.14  Reserved 
 

3. Renumber §116.01 through §116.03 pertaining to Sunday Sales as § 116.15 through 

116.18  Severability. 
 
 



                                                                                                                                     

 
P.O. Box 281 

Walter M. Gardner, Jr. – Mayor                                                                 Warrenton, NC  27589-0281 
Robert F. Davie, Jr. – Town Administrator                                 (252) 257-1122   Fax (252) 257-9219 

www.warrenton.nc.gov 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
Water Sewer Ordinance Update  
 
First major update since 1985... two years in the making.  Town will need to appropriate funds 
from Fund Balance as they went unused in the previous FY and are not in the current FY budget.  
Amount to appropriate is to be determined. 
 
Adoption Instructions from attorney, Ginger Booker. 
 

Robert - Here is the whole package - Chapter 51 Water and Sewer, with 7 
sections/Articles as shown below.  When your Board is ready to adopt, they will adopt 
articles I-III and V.  These are the revised or new ordinances.  They do not have to act 
on sections/articles IV, or VI-VIII.  These have been renumbered but the text is the same. 

 
A red-letter version shows the Board can see what is changed. 
 

I. General Provisions Revised 
II. Connections, Meters and Extensions Revised 

III. Rates and Charges – Water and Sewer Revised 
IV. IV. Fire Sprinkler System and Required Fire Hydrants   No revision; renumbered 
V. Sewer Use New ordinance, per state recommended model 

VI. Cross Connection Control and Backflow Prevention 2023 ordinance inserted.  This is a 
separate chapter in town’s online ordinances.  Should be in Water & Sewer chapter 

VII. Grease Trap Ordinance Existing ordinance inserted (no date shown in current online 
text).  This is a separate chapter in the town’s online ordinances.  Should be in Water & 
Sewer chapter 

VIII. Water Shortage Response Plan Existing 2011 penalties ordinance inserted along with 
conservation measures readopted in 2023 

 
 



 

 1 

 
CHAPTER 51 WATER AND SEWER 

 
I.GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
 

II.CONNECTIONS, METERS AND EXTENSIONS 
 

 
III. RATES AND CHARGES – WATER AND SEWER 

 

 
IV.FIRE SPRINKLER SYSTEM AND REQUIRED FIRE HYDRANTS    
 

 
V. SEWER USE   

 
 
 

VI. CROSS CONNECTION CONTROL AND BACKFLOW PREVENTION   
 
VII.GREASE TRAP ORDINANCE   
 
 
VIII.WATER SHORTAGE RESPONSE PLAN  

 
 

 
 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 2 

ARTICLE I.  GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
§51.001 Scope of Provisions  
 
All pertinent provisions of this chapter are hereby made a part of the terms and conditions 
whereby the town furnishes water or sewer service to any person, or whereby the town 
makes any sewer or water connections or performs any work of any kind in connection with 
the furnishing of sewer or water service. (’63 Code, Ch. Q, Art. I, §1)  
 
§51.002   Incorporation of Agreement between Warren County and the Town for 
Operation and Maintenance of Water Lines  
 
The most recent agreement between the Town and Warren County dated February 4, 2002 
as adopted or hereafter amended, providing for operation and maintenance of water lines 
by the Town to serve specified areas of Warren County is hereby  incorporated by reference 
and made a part of this chapter as if fully set forth herein.    
 
§51.003 Laterals to Be Laid Only to Inside of Curb  
 
Water or sewer laterals laid as a part of any water or sewer main improvement shall be laid 
only to the inside of the curb unless in the resolution ordering the improvement the Board 
specifically directs otherwise.  (’63 Code, Ch. Q, Art. I, §2)  
 
§51.004 Extension of Laterals  
 
After laterals are laid from water or sewer mains to the inside of the curb, no such lateral 
shall be extended to the property line until the owner or occupant of the property to be 
served thereby applies therefore.  (’63 Code, Ch. Q, Art. I, §3)  
 
§ 51.005  Maintenance of System by Consumer 
 
The consumer of water and sewer service furnished by the town  shall maintain and keep 
in good repair all connections and pipes connected to the  town system.  
 
§51.006  Injury to Utility Lines and Fixtures Prohibited 
 
No person shall obstruct, break, remove or otherwise injure any portion of the public water 
or sewer system, manhole, flush-tanks or any part of the storm water collection system.   
(’63 Code, Ch. Q, Art. I, §14)  
 
§51.007 Prohibited Discharges into Sewers  
 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 3 

No person shall pour, throw or discharge any substance, either solid or liquid, into any 
sanitary or storm sewer at any manhole or at any opening therein other than a sewer 
connection; nor shall any person discharge into any sanitary or storm sewer any substance 
likely to obstruct or to cause undue injury to the same or any substance of such high 
causticity or of a sufficiently acid nature to interfere materially with the equipment used in 
connection therewith.   (’63 Code, Ch. Q, Art. I, §14)  
 
§51.008  Right of Entry. 
 
Authorized employees of the town bearing proper credentials and identification shall be 
permitted to enter upon all properties for the purposes of reading the water meter, 
inspection, observation, measurement, sampling, testing, disconnecting or connecting 
water in accordance with the provisions of this chapter. 
 
§51.009_ Limitation of liability.   
 
(A) It is expressly stipulated by and between the town and consumers of water that no 

claims shall be made against the town on account of the bursting or breaking of any 
main or service pipe, or any attachments to the town’s water system. 
 

(B) The town and its employees shall incur no liability  for turning off a customer’s water 
when provided for according to the procedures set out in this Chapter.   

 
§ 51. 010  Penalty for Ordinance Violation   

(A) Where another penalty is stated herein, a violation of any provision of this chapter may 
also  subject  the violator to a civil penalty in the amount of one hundred dollars ($100)  

(1) Written notice of the violation shall be served in person or sent by certified mail and 
shall require payment within thirty (30) days to the town clerk.   

 
(2) In the event of failure to pay within the time specified on the citation, a civil 

penalty shall be recovered by the town in a civil action in the nature of a debt.  
 
(B) Any action to recover a civil penalty may be joined in an action for appropriate equitable 

relief, including injunctions and orders of abatement and including an action to recover 
damages owing to the town by reason of expenses incurred by the town in abating, 
correcting, limiting and otherwise dealing with the harmful effects of the offending 
action.  
 

(C) As provided in this chapter, a customer is subject to disconnection of water service for 
failure to comply with provisions for deposit and payment for service.   

 
§§ 51.011-51.019  Reserved   



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 4 

ARTICLE II.  CONNECTIONS, METERS AND EXTENSIONS 
 
§51.020 Connection of Property to Water and Sewer within Corporate Limits Required  

 
(A) Developed Property, Connection Required - As provided in G.S. 160A-317, all owners of 

developed  property within the corporate limits shall connect their premises to a water  
line or sewer collection line  where such line is installed and ready for use.  
 

(B) New Lines, Connection Required  - Upon completion of any extension of a water main 
or sewer collection line within the town, the town shall send official written notice to 
owners of abutting property of the requirement to connect  to the system.  Owners shall 
thereafter make application for connection within 30 days of such notice.     

 
(C) Sewer Connection Exception, Capacity, Topography, Cost  - As  provided in G.S.160A-

317(a)(1), a property owner of developed property shall be exempt from the 
requirement to connect to the sanitary sewer line if the town has inadequate capacity 
to treat proposed new wastewater.  Also, a  property owner shall be exempt if the grade 
is such that a pump or other measures are  required to move wastewater to the sanitary 
sewer line, making the connection cost  greater than the costs of installing an on-site 
wastewater (septic) system, as determined by the professional standards set forth in 
the statute.   

(D) Water Connection Exceptions 
1. As provided in G.S. 160A-317 (a)(2) a property owner shall be exempt from this 

requirement if installing a larger meter and corresponding larger piping 
connection, or imposing an increased fee, is required to achieve adequate water 
pressure.  

 
2. Notwithstanding the above, as provided in G.S. 87-97.2, the town may not 

mandate connection to the water system if the owner has a functioning well that 
complies with the requirements of said statue including having a well permit for 
that property, and the well is compliant with county health department 
requirements and is in  use.   

 
§51.021  Connection to Be Made Only Upon Application  
 
No connection shall be made from a property to any sewer or water lateral except after the 
written application therefore has been approved by the Director of Public Works.  (’63 
Code, Ch. Q, Art. I, §6)  
 
§51.022  Application for New Connection 
 
(A) The owner shall complete the town’s tap application which  requires the name of the 

owner of the lot; the name of the street on which such lot is situated; the number of the 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 5 

house, if there is one on the lot, or, if not, a description of the location of the lot; the 
number and kind of connections desired, and any other information required by the 
town.  The application  shall be accompanied by proof of ownership. Every such 
application shall be signed by the person making the application.    

 
(B) Upon approval of any application for a sewer or water connection and payment by the 

customer of  costs billed to the customer ,  the town shall, do the excavating, lay the 
pipe, install a meter where necessary, make the connection to the main, fill the 
excavation and replace the surface of the street.    

 
§51.023  Separate Connection and Meter;  Options for Multi-Occupancy Property   
 
(A) Every house or building abutting any water or sewer main and requiring a water or 

sewer connection shall be separately and independently connected and metered, with 
exceptions allowed as provided below 

 
(B) Multi-Family Developments (condominiums, apartments with 3 or more units) - The 

developer shall have the option of installing individual meters for each unit, or providing 
for the installation of a master meter for each building with the landlord billed for actual 
water consumption plus the  availability rate user fee for each unit.  All such meters will 
be connected to public water lines on public easements. 
 

(C) Multi-Family Developments with 3 or fewer units – The developer shall provide one 
meter per unit 

 
(D) Townhome Developments  - The developer shall install individual meters per unit, 

consistent with the individual ownership of each unit and lot beneath the unit. 
 
(E) Manufactured Home Parks -The owner shall provide individual meters for each lot. 
 
(F) Office/commercial multi-occupancy - The developer shall have the option of installing 

individual meters for each unit, or installing a master meter for each building with the 
landlord billed for actual water consumption plus the  availability rate  user fee for each 
unit.  

 
§51.024  Connections Outside the Town  
 
(A) Individual Parcels - A property owner residing outside the Town limits within the Town’s 

Water District on a street or road where public water and/or  sewer lines abut the 
property and are ready for use  may submit an application for connection as provided in 
§51.022 to the Public Works Director.   All extensions shall comply with the Town’s and 
state design standards.  Upon submission of the application and approval of plans by 
the Town’s Public Work’s Director, the Town shall accept the  lines for maintenance.   



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 6 

 

(B) Subdivisions and PUDs - Developers of subdivisions and planned unit developments 
(PUDs) outside of town shall submit a petition for annexation at the time they apply for 
connection to town water and sewer.  Annexation by the Board of Commissioners is a 
requirement for extension of town water and sewer.  The Public Works Director shall 
approve all plans and specification s, and the development shall comply with 
applicable  development regulations and the Subdivision Ordinance before it is referred 
to the Board for action. .  
 

§51.025  Maintenance of Meters by Town 
 
(A) Whether inside or outside the corporate limits,  meters, meter boxes, pipes and other 

equipment supplied by the Town and paid for by the customer  in installing any water or 
sewer connections shall be and remain the property of the town. (’63 Code, Ch. Q, Art. 
I, §11) d    

 
(B) All meters attached to an active account shall be kept in good repair and working order 

by the town.          
 

§51.026 Tampering with or Obstruction of Meters Unlawful 
 
(A) It shall be unlawful for any person, not having authority to do so, to open any water 

hydrant or tamper with any meter or utility service furnished by the town to consumers, 
to obstruct the Town’s continuous access to any water meter, or to in any way molest, 
damage or trespass upon any equipment or premises belonging to the town connected 
with any utility service. Violators are subject to being charged with a Class 1 
misdemeanor with a fine of one hundred dollars ($100), or any other penalty provided 
for in G.S. 14-151.  

 
(B) The Town shall charge a Reset Fee set by the Board of Commissioners, plus repair and 

labor costs for reconnection of any meter, hydrant, or utility where damage or trespass 
has diverted, prevented or otherwise interfered with the provision of service.   (Ord. 
passed 1-09-2023)    

 
§51.027 Extension of Water Lines  
 
Water lines extended within or outside the town limits shall meet the following standards. 
 
(A) Size requirements.  

 

Service Connection Size 3⁄4 in. with 5⁄8 in. meter 
Minimum size line – Dead end or cul-de-sac not More than 
250 ft. long, nor more than 500 ft. from hydrant-maximum 
service – 10 residents  

4 in.  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 7 

Minimum size Main-Maximum length to dead end 1,000 ft. – 
Maximum length if fed from two Directions by 6 in. or larger 
main 1,600 ft.  

6 in.  

Main line size – Over 1,000 ft. not loped or feeding  
More than 3 6-inch or smaller lines  8 in.  

Trunk size  12 in. 
 
(B) Fire hydrants. Fire hydrants are required at all intersections and at distances of not 

more than 500 ft. in built-up areas, and not more than 1,000 ft. on other lines.  
 

(C) Valves. Valves may be at the intersections of mains or at spacing of not more than 1,000 ft.  
 

§51.028  Extension  of Sewer Lines - Policies        Any further sewer line extensions will be 
sized to serve the ultimate drainage area that they are in. Any future interceptors on 
Possum Quarter Branch or Horse Branch should be designed to serve as much of the 
industrial area north of the town along SR 1305 and east along SR 1325 as they can reach. 
(’63 Code, Ch. Q, Art. III,    
 
§51.029  Sewer Connections in Subdivisions    
 
(A) Each lot in a subdivision shall be provided with a connection to a public sanitary sewer 

system at the subdivider’s expense if the proposed development meets the distance 
thresholds according to the number of lots as outlined in the Subdivision Ordinance. 
Distance shall be measured from the closest point of the property to an existing gravity 
sewer main.   

 
(B) This requirement applies only when a gravity connection is possible or when there is a 

lift station for a new subdivision paid for by that subdivision and when the town  has 
sufficient capacity to serve the development. 

 
 
§§51.030-51.039  Reserve  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 8 

ARTICLE III.  RATES AND CHARGES – WATER AND SEWER 
 
§51.040 Charges for Utility Service; Tap Fees  
 
(A) User fee. Every customer’s bill will include a separate user fee for water service and  for 

sewer service, as applicable.  Such fee for each utility shall be a flat fee established by 
the Town Board of Commissioners from time to time.   
 
Revenues from user fees shall be applied to maintenance and repair of the systems.   
 
The user fee shall be the minimum charge for any water/sewer account, should there 
be no use of the service during a billing period.   
 

(B) Schedule of water and sewer  rates . Water and sewer rates based on usage will be 
determined, approved and published by the Town Board of Commissioners on a yearly 
basis. This will be accomplished during the budgeting process and will be adopted for 
the year or until amended  

 
(C) Tap fee. Water and sewer tap fees will be determined, approved and published by the 

Town Board of Commissioners on a yearly basis. This will be accomplished during the 
budgeting process and will be adopted for the year or until amended.  

 
§51.041  Service for Consumers Outside of Town  
 
Water and/or sewer shall be furnished to consumers outside the  town based on the user 
fee assessed for each connection and at  metered rates and under  terms and conditions  
established by the Board of Commissioners for outside customers  
 
§51.042   Customers Discharging Only Part of Their Water into Sewer System  
  
(A) Water customers of the town who discharge only a part, but not all, of the water 

furnished them through the town water system, may, if they so elect, install at their own 
expense meters, approved as to construction and installation by the Director of Public 
Works, to measure the amount of water that is used by them but is not emptied into the 
town sewer system,  and the sewage service charge shall be based only upon the 
amount of water purchased by such customers and emptied into the town sewer 
system, as determined by such meters. 
 

(B)  In cases in which such users do not elect to install such meters, an account holder 
may submit a request to the Public Works Office for a sewer adjustment to offset the 
sewer cost associated with increased water usage from pool filling, outdoor watering, 
or plumbing leaks. The criteria for a sewer adjustment and process for approval, if 
eligible, are provided for in the Town’s Public Works Utility Policies.   

 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 9 

§51.043 Opening A Utility Account; Deposit  
 
(A) Applications for a water account are available from the utility counter at Town Hall and 

online.  All applicants must be at least 18 years of age; must provide proof of identify;  
proof of ownership or occupancy (executed lease or rental agreement); and other 
information established by town policies.   

. 
(B) When any customer makes application for a  water account, the customer  will be 

required to make a deposit as hereinafter set out to guarantee payment of the monthly 
water bill. A deposit must be paid before service activation. 
 
For customers with multiple accounts , the deposit may be waived for additional 
accounts  if the customer has one account in good standing secured by a deposit.   
 
 

(C) Applications which are incomplete, which are made by applicants with an outstanding 
balance on another account, or  which apply to property with an unpaid balance from a 
previous owner, or which are not accompanied by the required deposit will be rejected 
until outstanding balances or discrepancies are resolved.   

 
 §51.044 Meter Reading on Accounts; Bills     
 
(A) Meters on accounts shall be read monthly, and Town of Warrenton bills therefor shall 

be payable on or before the 15th day of the month or the next business day if the 15th 
falls on a weekend or a holiday. 
 

(B) Bills for water use shall be based on the actual reading in 1,000 gallons increments of  
water used.  As provided in §51.040, should the meter accurately register no water use 
during the month, the bill shall be the water/sewer user fee. 

 
(C) If there is a defective meter and  the amount of water used is not registered,  the bill 

rendered shall be for the average amount  used by the premises served by such meter 
during the most recent preceding three months of normal regular use.   

 
§51.045  Billing in Multi-Occupancy Buildings 
 
(A) In office buildings with one main entrance and one employee bathroom facility, the 

landlord will be charged for the amount of water used plus 30% of the regular user fee 
for each business in the building.  
 

(B) In office buildings that have individual entrances  for each business and one water 
meter, the landlord will be billed  the amount of the user fee, plus consumption for 
each separate business. 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 10 

 
§51.046   Delinquent Water Accounts, Disconnection of Service, Closure of Account 
 
(A) Payment date – Payment for water bills shall be due  on the 15th of the month or the next 

business day if that date falls on a weekend.  Payment shall be considered delinquent if 
not received by the close of business on  the due date.    As of the 20th of the month, or 
the next business day if on a weekend, a late penalty set by the Board of 
Commissioners  will be applied to the account if payment is not received by close of 
business on that date.  . 
 

(B) Disconnection - Thereafter, if the bill is not paid within five (5) days, disconnection of 
service shall be initiated as early as the 26th of the month.  

 
When service has been disconnected, the Town will charge a disconnect fee to the 
account holder.   

 
(C) Closure of Account and Deposit - Upon disconnection and closure of an account, 

funds deposited for that account shall be applied to the deficit.  If the full outstanding 
balance is satisfied, any remainder of the deposit will be refunded to the customer.   

 
(D) Forced Closing of an Account - Utility accounts that remain unpaid for 60 days will 

result in forced closure of the account by the Town. To restore services under the same 
account holder, any outstanding balance must be paid in full, after which the account 
may be reestablished in accordance with new account procedures.  

 
§51.047  Restoration of Water Service 
 
All outstanding charges, including a disconnect fee for any account where service has 
been disconnected, must be paid before service is restored. 
 
§51.048  Request for Account Closure 
  
When a customer requests account closure, the customer shall , upon payment for all 
water use due, be entitled to the return of the deposit, or any balance thereof. 
 
§§ 51.049 – 51.059  Reserved 
  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 11 

ARTICLE IV.  FIRE SPRINKLER SYSTEM AND REQUIRED FIRE HYDRANTS 
 
§51.060 Rates for Connection of Private Sprinkler System To City Or County Mains  
 
Private fire protection by connecting a private sprinkler system to the mains of the city or 
county will be furnished at the following rates; provided, that plans are submitted to and 
approved by the director of the water distribution system in writing prior to the connection 
with the mains of the city or county.  

(A) For each 10,000 sq. ft. of floor space located inside the limits of the town, a 
charge shall be made of $3 monthly, with a minimum charge of $3 monthly.  
 

(B) For each 10,000 sq. ft. of floor space on property located outside the limits of 
the town, a charge of $6 shall be made monthly, with a minimum charge of $6 
monthly.  

 
(C) If the sprinkler system shall be served by an additional source of water which 

supplements that of the town or county waterworks, the above charges shall be 
reduced by one half.  

 
(D) If the property protected shall be larger than 200,000 sq. ft., the rate of charge 

per 10,000 sq. ft. on the area between 200,000 sq. ft. and 1,000,000 sq. ft. shall 
be $1.50 inside the limits of the town and $3 outside the limits of the town.  

 
(E) If the property protected is more than 1,000,000 sq. ft., the rate charged shall be 

$.075 ($35) per 10,000 sq. ft. of floor space protected (in excess of 1,000,000 sq. 
ft.) if inside the corporate limits and $1.50 if outside.  

 
(F) If a hydrant is required by town or country fire protection standards or is desired 

to serve a community, a private building or business fire protection on the 
property, it shall only be available in locations where the main is of sufficient 
size to furnish the required water. Approval for installing the hydrant may be 
obtained by applying to the town or county utility operations department 
agreeing to pay all installation costs. The location and construction/design 
standard . . .    Sentence to be completed.  It is not complete in the current Code.   

 
§51.061 No Meters Required for Certain Fire Lines. –  
 
The provisions of §51.060 Rates for Connection of Private Sprinkler System to City  Mains  
 shall not be applicable to, and no meters shall be required for, a private fire line, provided 
each and all of the following standards, requirements, and criteria are fully and 
continuously complied with:  
 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 12 

(a) The fire line shall be separate from any other service lines (from the town or county 
main throughout to its terminus) and shall only serve fire hydrants and sprinkler 
systems used for fire-fighting purposes only. All connections to the line for fire hydrants 
or sprinkler systems shall be approved in advance by the utility operations director, or 
his designee. The line shall be used for no other connections and for no other purposes, 
and it shall be illegal for anyone to make any other connection to the fire line or to tap 
the line for any other purpose other than fire- fighting at any point from the line’s 
connection to the town or county main until its terminus; any such illegal activity shall 
be deemed a continuous offense and each day that such illegal tap, connection, or use 
exists shall constitute a separate offense and shall be punishable as a separate 
misdemeanor.  
 

(b) The separate fire line shall contain a double detector check valve at the property line 
(constructed at property owner’s expense) and the separate fire line shall be 
constructed throughout of ductile iron or PVC (AWA C900, class water main pipe) from 
the town or county main through its terminus (including all appurtenances to the line 
and whether located on private or public property and whether located inside a private 
structure or outside of the same).  

 
(c) No hoses or pipes shall be connected to the fire hydrants to draw water from the same 

except for fire-fighting purposes, unless otherwise specifically authorized by the utility 
operations director (or his designee) for line flushing purposes.  
 

(d) By placing an unmetered fire line on the property, the developer and all property 
owners so served shall thereby grant to the town and the county a perpetual easement 
to come onto any private property (including inside any private structures or buildings) 
served by the fire lane for any purpose permitted under this section. The town or 
county, and any of its duly authorized agents, shall have the right to inspect the line and 
all appurtenances thereto (including all sprinkler systems, whether located inside or 
outside of private structures or building) at any time without notice to verify that the line 
is properly maintained and to verify that no illegal taps or connections have been made 
to the same to check for possible leaks.  

 
(e) Whenever any hydrant or sprinkler system on the unmetered fire line shall be used for 

testing or flushing or any purpose except emergency fire-fighting, the utility operations 
director shall be given 24 hours prior notice and he or his designee shall be present 
whenever the hydrant or sprinkler system is so used or tested.  

 
(f) The owner of the property on which the fire line is located agrees to promptly repair any 

leaks discovered in said fire line within ten consecutive calendar days after notice of 
the leaks; if the leaks are not promptly repaired, then the town or county shall have the 
right to take any such actions which it may deem expedient to uncover and expose the 
line so as to discover the location of the leak or suspected leak and repair the leak. The 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 13 

property owner shall reimburse the town or county for all of its costs, expenses and 
damages incurred in so uncovering the line and repairing the line 30 days after being 
billed for the line by the town or county, and shall hold the town or county (and its 
officers and agents) harmless for any liability by reason of the town’s or county’s 
actions under this section.  

 
(g) In addition to any other remedies available, the town or county reserves the right to cut 

off the water to any private unmetered fire line in the event all of the standards, 
requirements, and criteria set forth herein are not continuously met with respect 
thereto, the property owner agrees to hold the town or county (and its officers and 
agents) harmless from any liability or damages if the town or county so acts.  

 
(h) This section shall be applicable to all unmetered fire lines constructed from and after 

the date of the original passage of this section on July 1, 1996 provided, however, that 
any metered fire line constructed prior to the date of this can have the meter removed 
upon approval of the utility operations director (or his designee) and provided all the 
standards, requirements, and criteria herein set forth are continuously met thereafter.   
(Ord. passed 7-1-96)  

 
§§51.062 – 51.74  Reserved 
 
 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 14 

ARTICLE V.  SEWER USE 
 

DIVISION 1 - GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
§ 51.75.  Purpose and Policy 
 
(a) This ordinance sets forth uniform requirements as provided in North Carolina’s 2011 

Model Pretreatment Ordinance for direct and indirect contributors into the wastewater 
collection and treatment system for the Town of Warrenton, hereafter referred to as the 
Town, and enables the Town to comply with all applicable State and Federal laws, 
including the Clean Water Act (33 United States Code §1251 et seq.) and the General 
Pretreatment Regulations (40 CFR, Part 403).  

 
(b) The objectives of this ordinance are: 

1. To prevent the introduction of pollutants into the municipal wastewater system 
which will interfere with the operation of the system or contaminate the resulting 
sludge; 

2. To prevent the introduction of pollutants into the municipal wastewater system 
which will pass through the system, inadequately treated, into any waters of the 
State or otherwise be incompatible with the system; 

3. To promote reuse and recycling of industrial wastewater and sludges from the 
municipal system; 

4. To protect both municipal personnel who may be affected by sewage, sludge, and 
effluent in the course of their employment as well as protecting the general 
public;  

5. To provide for equitable distribution of the cost of operation, maintenance and 
improvement of the municipal wastewater system; and   

6. To ensure that the municipality complies with its NPDES or Non-discharge Permit 
conditions, sludge use and disposal requirements and any other Federal or State 
laws to which the municipal wastewater system is subject.  

 
(c) This ordinance provides for the regulation of direct and indirect contributors to the 

municipal wastewater system, through the issuance of permits to certain non-
domestic users and through enforcement of general requirements for the other users, 
authorizes monitoring and enforcement activities, requires user reporting and provides 
for the setting of fees for the equitable distribution of costs resulting from the program 
established herein.   

 
(d) This ordinance shall apply to users of the municipal wastewater system, as authorized 

by N.C.G.S. 160A-312.  The Town shall designate an administrator of the Publicly 
Owned Treatment Works or POTW and pretreatment program hereafter referred to as 
the Public Works Director.  Except as otherwise provided herein, the Public Works 
Director shall administer, implement, and enforce the provisions of this ordinance.  Any 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 15 

powers granted to or imposed upon the Director may be delegated by the Director to 
other Town personnel.   

 
(e) By discharging wastewater into the municipal wastewater system, governmental, 

private, or industrial users located outside the Town limits agree to comply with the 
terms and conditions established in this Ordinance, as well as any permits, 
enforcement actions, or orders issued hereunder. 

 
§ 51.76. -   Definitions And Abbreviations 
 
(a) Unless the context specifically indicates otherwise, the following terms and phrases, as 

used in this ordinance, shall have the meanings hereinafter designated: 
(1) Act or "the Act".  The Federal Water Pollution Control Act, also known as the 

Clean Water Act, as amended, 33 U.S.C. §1251, et seq. 
 

(2) Approval Authority.  The Director of the Division of Water Resources of the 
North Carolina Department of Environment and Natural Resources or his 
designee. 

 
(3) Authorized Representative of the Industrial User. 

(i) If the industrial user is a corporation, authorized representative shall 
mean: 
a. the president, secretary, or a vice-president of the corporation in 

charge of a principal business function, or any other person who 
performs similar policy or decision-making functions for the 
corporation, or 

b. the manager of one or more manufacturing, production, or operation 
facilities, provided, the manager is authorized to make management 
decisions which govern the operation of the regulated facility 
including having the explicit or implicit duty of making major capital 
investment recommendations, and initiate and direct 
comprehensive measures to assure long-term environmental 
compliance with environmental laws and regulations; can ensure 
that the necessary systems are established or actions taken to 
gather complete and accurate information for control mechanism 
requirements; and where authority to sign documents has been 
assigned or delegated to the manager in accordance with corporate 
procedures. 

(ii) If the industrial user is a partnership or sole proprietorship, an authorized 
representative shall mean a general partner or the proprietor, respectively. 

(iii) If the industrial user is a Federal, State or local government facility, an 
authorized representative shall mean a director or highest official 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 16 

appointed or designated to oversee the operation and performance of the 
activities of the government facility, or their designee. 

(iv) The individuals described in paragraphs i-iii above may designate another 
authorized representative if the authorization is in writing, the 
authorization specifies the individual or position responsible for the 
overall operation of the facility from which the discharge originates or 
having overall responsibility for environmental matters for the company, 
and the written authorization is submitted to the Town.  

(v) If the designation of an authorized representative is no longer accurate 
because a different individual or position has responsibility for the overall 
operation of the facility, or overall responsibility for environmental 
matters for the company, a new authorization satisfying the requirements 
of this § must be submitted to the Public Works Director prior to or 
together with any reports to be signed by an authorized representative.    

 
(4) Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD).  The quantity of oxygen utilized in the 

biochemical oxidation of organic matter under standard laboratory 
procedures for five (5) days at 20º centigrade, usually expressed as a 
concentration (e.g. mg/l). 

 
(5) Building Sewer.  A sewer conveying wastewater from the premises of a user 

to the POTW. 
 

(6) Bypass.  The intentional diversion of waste streams from any portion of a 
user's treatment facility. 
 

(7) Categorical Standards.  National Categorical Pretreatment Standards or 
Pretreatment Standards as defined by the U.S. EPA.  

 
(8) Control Authority.  Refers to the Town of Warrenton based on the Town’s 

approved Pretreatment Program under the provisions of 40 CFR 403.11. 
 

(9) Division.  The North Carolina Division of Water Resources. 
 

(10) Environmental Protection Agency, or EPA. The U.S. Environmental 
Protection Agency, or where appropriate the term may also be used as a 
designation for the Administrator or other duly authorized official of said 
agency. 
 

(11) Grab Sample.  A sample which is taken from a waste stream on a one-
time basis without regard to the flow in the waste stream and over a period of 
time not to exceed 15 minutes. 

 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 17 

(12) Holding Tank Waste.  Any waste from holding tanks, including but not 
limited to such holding tanks as vessels, chemical toilets, campers, trailers, 
septic tanks, and vacuum-pump tank trucks. 

 
(13) Indirect Discharge or Discharge.  The discharge or the introduction 

from any nondomestic source regulated under § 307(b), (c), or (d) of the Act, 
(33 U.S.C. 1317), into the POTW (including holding tank waste discharged 
into the system). 
 

(14) Industrial User or User.  Any industrial user of the Town’s wastewater 
system or any person/entity that is a source of indirect discharge. 

 
(15) Pretreatment standard or Categorical Standard. Any regulation containing 

pollutant discharge limits promulgated by the EPA in accordance with §s 307(b) 

and (c) of the Act (33 U.S.C. § 1317) which applies to a specific category of 

industrial users, and which appears in 40 CFR Interference. The inhibition, or 

disruption of the POTW, collection system, treatment processes, operations, or 

its sludge process, use, or disposal, which causes or contributes to a violation 

of any requirement of the control authority's NPDES, collection system, or Non-

discharge permit or prevents sewage sludge use or disposal in compliance with 

specified applicable State and Federal statutes, regulations, or permits. The 

term includes prevention of sewage sludge use or disposal by the POTW in 

accordance with § 405 of the Act, (33 U.S.C. 1345) or any criteria, guidelines, or 

regulations developed pursuant to the Solid Waste Disposal Act (SWDA)(42 

U.S.C. § 6901, et seq.), the Clean Air Act, the Toxic Substances Control Act, the 

Marine Protection Research and Sanctuary Act (MPRSA) or more stringent state 

criteria (including those contained in any State sludge management plan 

prepared pursuant to Title IV of SWDA) applicable to the method of disposal or 

use employed by the POTW. 
 

(16) Medical Waste.  Isolation wastes, infectious agents, human blood 
and blood products, pathological wastes, sharps, body parts, contaminated 
bedding, surgical wastes, potentially contaminated laboratory wastes, and 
dialysis wastes.  
 

(17) National Categorical Pretreatment Standard or Categorical Standard.  
Any regulation containing pollutant discharge limits promulgated by the EPA 
in accordance with §s 307(b) and (c) of the Act (33 U.S.C. §1317) which 
applies to a specific category of industrial users, and which appears in 40 
CFR Chapter 1, Subchapter N, Parts 405-471. 
  

(18) National Prohibitive Discharge Standard or Prohibitive Discharge 
Standard.  Absolute prohibitions against the discharge of certain 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 18 

substances; these prohibitions appear in § 51.121 of this ordinance and are 
developed under the authority of § 307(b) of the Act and 40 CFR, § 403.5. 
 

(19) New Source. 
(i) Any building, structure, facility, or installation from which there may be 

a discharge of pollutants, the construction of which commenced after 
the publication of proposed categorical pretreatment standards under 
§ 307(c) of the Act which will be applicable to such source if such 
standards are thereafter promulgated in accordance with § 307(c), 
provided that: 

a. the building, structure, facility, or installation is constructed at a 
site at which no other source is located; or 

b. the building, structure, facility, or installation totally replaces 
the process or production equipment that causes the discharge 
of pollutants at an existing source; or 

c. the production or wastewater generating processes of the 
building, structure, facility, or installation are substantially 
independent of an existing source at the same site. In 
determining whether these are substantially independent, 
factors such as the extent to which the new facility is integrated 
with the existing plant, and the extent to which the new facility is 
engaged in the same general type of activity as the existing 
source, should be considered. 

ii. Construction on a site at which an existing source is located results in 
a modification rather than a new source if the construction does not 
create a new building, structure, facility, or installation meeting the 
criteria of § (i) b. or c. above but otherwise alters, replaces, or adds to 
existing process or production equipment. 

iii. For purposes of this definition, construction of a new source has 
commenced if the owner or operator has: 
a. Begun, or caused to begin, as part of a continuous on-site 

construction program:   
1. Any placement, assembly, or installation of facilities or 

equipment; or 
2. Significant site preparation work including clearing, 

excavation, or removal of existing buildings, structures or 
facilities which is necessary for the placement, assembly, 
or installation of new source facilities or equipment; or 

b. Entered into a binding contractual obligation for the purchase of 
facilities or equipment which are intended to be used in its 
operation within a reasonable time.  Options to purchase or 
contracts which can be terminated or modified without 
substantial loss, and contracts for feasibility, engineering, and 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 19 

design studies do not constitute a contractual obligation under 
this definition. 

 
(20) Noncontact Cooling Water. Water used for cooling which does not 

come into direct contact with any raw material, intermediate product, waste 
product, or finished product. 
 

(21) National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System, or NPDES, Permit.  A 
permit issued pursuant to § 402 of the Act (33 U.S.C §1342), or pusurant to 
N.C.G.S. 143-215.1 by the State under delatation from EPA. 
 

(22) Non-discharge Permit. A permit issued by the State pursuant to 
N.C.G.S. 143-215.1.(d) for a waste which is not discharged directly to surface 
waters of the state or for a wastewater treatment works which does not 
discharge directly to surface waters of the State.   

 
(23) Pass Through.  A discharge which exits the POTW into waters of the 

State in quantities or concentrations which, alone or with discharges from 
other sources, causes a violation, including an increase in the magnitude or 
duration of a violation, of the Control Authority’s NPDES, collection system, 
or Non-discharge Permit.  

 
(24) Person.  Any individual, partnership, co-partnership, firm, company, 

corporation, association, joint stock company, trust, estate, governmental 
entity or any other legal entity, or their legal representatives, heirs, agents or 
assigns.  This definition includes all Federal, State, and local government 
entities.  
 

(25) pH.  A measure of the acidity or alkalinity of a substance, expressed as 
standard units, and calculated as the logarithm (base 10) of the reciprocal of 
the concentration of hydrogen ions expressed in grams per liter of solution. 
 

(26) Pollutant.  Any "waste" as defined in N.C.G.S. 143-213(18) and dredged 
spoil, solid waste, incinerator residue, sewage, garbage, sewage sludge, 
munitions, medical wastes, chemical wastes, biological materials, 
radioactive materials, heat, wrecked or discarded equipment, rock, sand, 
cellar dirt and industrial, municipal, and agricultural waste and certain 
characteristics of wastewater (e.g., pH, temperature, TSS, turbidity, color, 
BOD, COD, toxiTown, or odor) discharged into water. 

 
(27) POTW Director or Public Works Director or “Director”.  The Town 

administrator designated with the responsibility for the pretreatment program 
and enforcement of this Sewer Use Ordinance. 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 20 

 
(28) POTW Treatment Plant.  That portion of the POTW designed to provide 

treatment to wastewater.   
 

(29) Pretreatment or Treatment.  The reduction of the amount of pollutants, 
the elimination of pollutants, or the alteration of the nature of pollutant 
properties in wastewater prior to or in lieu of discharging or otherwise 
introducing such pollution into a POTW.  The reduction or alteration can be 
obtained by physical, chemical or biological processes, or process changes 
or other means, except by diluting the concentration of the pollutants unless 
allowed by an applicable pretreatment standard. 

 
(30) Pretreatment Program.  The program for the control of pollutants 

introduced into the POTW from non-domestic sources which was developed 
by the Town in compliance with 40 CFR 403.8 and approved by the Approval 
Authority as authorized by N.C.G.S. 143-215.3(a)(14) in accordance with 40 
CFR 403.11. 
 

(31) Pretreatment Requirements.  Any substantive or procedural 
requirement related to pretreatment, other than a pretreatment standard.  

 
(32) Pretreatment Standards. Any prohibited discharge standard, 

categorical standard,  or local limit which applies to an industrial user. 
 
(33) Publicly Owned Treatment Works (POTW) or Municipal Wastewater 

System.  A treatment works as defined by § 212 of the Act, (33 U.S.C. §1292) 
which is owned in this instance by the Town.  This definition includes any 
devices or systems used in the collection, storage, treatment, recycling, and 
reclamation of municipal sewage or industrial wastes of a liquid nature. It also 
includes sewers, pipes, and other conveyances only if they convey 
wastewater to the POTW treatment plant. For the purposes of this ordinance, 
"POTW" shall also include any sewers that convey wastewaters to the POTW 
from persons outside the Town who are, by contract or agreement with the 
Town, or in any other way, users of the POTW of the Town. 

 
(34) Severe Property Damage.  Substantial physical damage to property, 

damage to the user's treatment facilities which causes them to become 
inoperable, or substantial and permanent loss of natural resources which can 
reasonably be expected to occur in the absence of a bypass. Severe property 
damage does not mean economic loss caused by delays in production. 

 
(35) Significant Industrial User.  Any industrial user of the wastewater 

disposal system who  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 21 

a. has an average daily process wastewater flow of 25,000 gallons or more, 
or  

b. contributes more than 5% of any design or treatment capacity (i.e., 
allowable pollutant load) of the wastewater treatment plant receiving the 
indirect discharge, or  

c. is required to meet a National categorical pretreatment standard, or  
d. is found by the Town, the Division of Water Resources or the U.S. 

Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) to have the potential for impact, 
either singly or in combination with other contributing industrial users, on 
the wastewater treatment system, the quality of sludge, the system's 
effluent quality, or compliance with any pretreatment standards or 
requirements. 
 

e. Subject to Division approval under 15A NCAC 02H .0907(b), the Control 
Authority may determine that an Industrial User meeting the criteria in 
paragraphs a. and b. above has no reasonable potential for adversely 
affecting the POTW's operation or for violating any Pretreatment 
Standards or requirement, or for contributing to violations of the POTW’s 
effluent limitations and conditions in its NPDES or non-discharge permit, 
or for limiting the POTW’s sludge disposal options, and thus is not a 
Significant Industrial User.  

f. Subject to Division approval under 15A NCAC 02H .0907(b), the Control 
Authority may determine that an Industrial User meeting the criteria in 
paragraph (C) above meets the requirements of 40 CFR Part 403.3(v)(2) 
and thus is a Non-Significant Categorical Industrial User. 
 

g. Subject to Division approval under 15A NCAC 02H .0907(b), the Control 
Authority may determine that an Industrial User meeting the criteria in 
paragraph c. above meets the requirements of 40 CFR Part 403.12(e)(3) 
and thus is a Middle Tier Significant Industrial User.  Sampling and 
inspection requirements may be cut in half as per 40 CFR Parts 403.8 
(f)(2)(v)(C).and 403.12 (e)(3). 
 

(36) Significant Noncompliance or SNC is a status of noncompliance of a 
Significant Industrial User when one or more of the following criteria are met.  
Additionally, any Industrial User which meets the criteria in Subparagraph 
(a)(35), Parts c, d, or h shall be SNC.  

a. Chronic Violations of wastewater discharge limits, defined here as 
those in which sixty-six percent or more of all the measurements 
taken for the same pollutant parameter (not including flow) during a 
six-month period exceed (by any magnitude) a numeric 
Pretreatment Standard or Requirement including instantaneous 
limits, as defined by 40 CFR Part 403.3(1); 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 22 

b. Technical Review Criteria (TRC) violations.  Defined here as those 
in which thirty-three percent or more of all of the measurements 
taken for the same pollutant parameter during a six month period 
equal or exceed the product of the numeric Pretreatment 
Standard or Requirement including instantaneous limits, as 
defined by 40 CFR Part 403.3(1) multiplied by the applicable TRC 
(TRC = 1.4 for BOD, TSS, fats, oil and grease, 1.2 for all other 
pollutants (except flow and pH)). 

c. Any other violation of a Pretreatment Standard or Requirement as 
defined by 40 CFR Part 403.3(1) (daily maximum, long-term 
average, instantaneous limit, or narrative standard) that the 
control authority determines has caused, alone or in combination 
with other discharges, interference or pass-through; or 
endangered the health of the sewage treatment plant personnel or 
the public. 

d. Any discharge of a pollutant or wastewater that has caused 
imminent endangerment to human health, welfare, or to the 
environment or has resulted in the POTW's exercise of its emergency 
authority under 40 CFR Part 403.8(f)(1)(vi)(B) and  § 51.130(e) of this 
SUO to halt or prevent such a discharge. 

e. Violations of compliance schedule milestones, contained in a 
pretreatment permit or enforcement order, for starting 
construction, completing construction, and attaining final 
compliance by 90 days or more after the schedule date. 

f. Failure to provide reports for compliance schedule, self-monitoring 
data, baseline monitoring reports, 90-day compliance reports, and 
periodic compliance reports within 30 days from the due date. 

g. Failure to accurately report noncompliance. 
h. Any other violation or group of violations that the Control Authority 

and/or POTW  determines will adversely affect the operation or 
implementation of the local pretreatment program. 

 
(37) Slug Load or Discharge.  Any discharge at a flow rate or concentration 

which has a reasonable potential to cause Interference or Pass-Through, or in 
any other way violates the POTW’s regulations, local limits, or Industrial User 
Permit conditions.  This can include but is not limited to spills and other 
accidental discharges; discharges of a non-routine, episodic nature; a non-
customary batch discharge; or any other discharges that can cause a violation 
of the prohibited discharge standards in § 51.81 of this ordinance. 

 
(38) Standard Industrial Classification (SIC).  A classification pursuant to 

the Standard Industrial Classification Manual issued by the Executive Office 
of the President, Office of Management and Budget, 1987. 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 23 

 
(39) Stormwater. Any flow occurring during or following any form of natural 

precipitation and resulting therefrom. 
 

(40) Suspended Solids.  The total suspended matter that floats on the 
surface of, or is suspended in, water, wastewater or other liquids, and which 
is removable by laboratory filtering. 

 
(41) Upset.  An exceptional incident in which there is unintentional and 

temporary noncompliance with categorical pretreatment standards because 
of factors beyond the reasonable control of the user. An upset does not 
include noncompliance to the extent caused by operational error, improperly 
designed treatment facilities, inadequate treatment facilities, lack of 
preventive maintenance, or careless or improper operation. 

 
(42) Wastewater.  The liquid and water-carried industrial or domestic 

wastes from dwellings, commercial buildings, industrial facilities, mobile 
sources, treatment facilities and institutions, together with any groundwater, 
surface water, and storm water that may be present, whether treated or 
untreated, which are contributed into or permitted to enter the POTW. 

 
(43) Wastewater Permit.  As set forth in § 51.101 of this ordinance. 

 
(44) Waters of the State.  All streams, lakes, ponds, marshes, watercourse, 

waterways, wells, springs, reservoirs, aquifers, irrigation systems, drainage 
systems and all other bodies or accumulations of water, surface or 
underground, natural or artificial, public or private, which are contained 
within, flow through, or border upon the State or any portion thereof. 

 
(b) This ordinance is gender neutral and the masculine gender shall include the feminine 

and vice-versa. 
 

(c) Shall is mandatory; may is permissive or discretionary. 
 
(d) The use of the singular shall be construed to include the plural and the plural shall 

include the singular as indicated by the context of its use. 
 
(e) The following abbreviations when used in this ordinance shall have the designated 

meanings: 
 

(1)  BOD Biochemical Oxygen Demand 
(2)  CFR Code of Federal Regulations 
(3)  COD Chemical Oxygen Demand 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 24 

(4)  EPA Environmental Protection Agency 
(5)  gpd Gallons per day 
(6)  l Liter 
(7)  mg Milligrams 
(8)  mg/l Milligrams per liter 
(9)  N.C.G.S. North Carolina General Statutes 
(10)  NPDES National Pollution Discharge Elimination 

System 
(11)  O & M Operation and Maintenance 
(12)  POTW Publicly Owned Treatment Works 
(13)  RCRA Resource Conservation and Recovery Act 
(14)  SIC Standard Industrial Classification 
(15)  SWDA Solid Waste Disposal Act 
(16)  TSS Total Suspended Solids 
(17)  TKN Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen 
(18)  U.S.C United States Code. 

 
§§ 51.77—51.79. Reserved. 
 
DIVISION 2 - GENERAL SEWER USE REQUIREMENTS  
 
§ 51.81. - Prohibited Discharge Standards 
 
(a) General Prohibitions.  No user shall contribute or cause to be contributed into the POTW, 

directly or indirectly, any pollutant or wastewater which causes interference or pass 
through. These general prohibitions apply to all users of a POTW whether or not the user 
is a significant industrial user or subject to any National, State, or local pretreatment 
standards or requirements. 
 

(b) Specific Prohibitions.  No user shall contribute or cause to be contributed into the POTW 
the following pollutants, substances, or wastewater: 

 
(1) Pollutants which create a fire or explosive hazard in the POTW, including, but 

not limited to, waste streams with a closed cup flashpoint of less than 140ºF 
(60ºC) using the test methods specified in 40 CFR 261.21.   

 
(2) Solid or viscous substances in amounts which will cause obstruction of the 

flow in the POTW resulting in interference but in no case solids greater than 
one half inch (1/2") in any dimension. 

 
(3) Petroleum oil, nonbiodegradable cutting oil, or products of mineral oil origin, 

in amounts that will cause interference or pass through. 
 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 25 

(4) Any wastewater having a pH less than 5.0 or more than 11 or wastewater 
having any other corrosive property capable of causing damage to the POTW 
or equipment. 

 
(5) Any wastewater containing pollutants, including oxygen-demanding 

pollutants, (BOD, etc) in sufficient quantity, (flow or concentration) either 
singly or by interaction with other pollutants, to cause interference with the 
POTW. 

 
(6) Any wastewater having a temperature greater than 150º F (66º C), or which 

will inhibit biological activity in the POTW treatment plant resulting in 
Interference, but in no case wastewater which causes the temperature at the 
introduction into the treatment plant to exceed 104º F (40º C).  

 
(7) Any pollutants which result in the presence of toxic gases, vapors or fumes 

within the POTW in a quantity that may cause acute worker health and safety 
problems. 

 
(8) Any noxious or malodorous liquids, gases, or solids or other wastewater 

which, either singly or by interaction with other wastes, are sufficient to 
create a public nuisance or hazard to life or are sufficient to prevent entry 
into the sewers for maintenance and repair. 

 
(9) Any substance which may cause the POTW's effluent or any other product of 

the POTW such as residues, sludges, or scums, to be unsuitable for 
reclamation and reuse or to interfere with the reclamation process. In no 
case, shall a substance discharged to the POTW cause the POTW to be in 
noncompliance with sludge use or disposal regulations or permits issued 
under § 405 of the Act; the Solid Waste Disposal Act, the Clean Air Act, the 
Toxic Substances Control Act, or State criteria applicable to the sludge 
management method being used. 

 
(10) Any wastewater which imparts color which cannot be removed by the 

treatment process, including, but not limited to, dye wastes and vegetable 
tanning solutions, which consequently imparts sufficient color to the 
treatment plant's effluent to render the waters injurious to public health or 
secondary recreation or to aquatic life and wildlife or to adversely affect the 
palatability of fish or aesthetic quality or impair the receiving waters for any 
designated uses. 

 
(11) Any wastewater containing any radioactive wastes or isotopes except 

as specifically approved by the Public Works Director in compliance with 
applicable State or Federal regulations. 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 26 

 
(13) Storm water, surface water, ground water, artesian well water, roof 

runoff, subsurface drainage, swimming pool drainage, condensate, 
deionized water, noncontact cooling water and unpolluted industrial 
wastewater, unless specifically authorized by the Public Works Director. 

 
(14) Fats, oils, or greases of animal or vegetable origin in amounts that will 

cause obstruction to the flow in the POTW collection system, harm the 
collection system, and/or result in harm and/or interference at the POTW 
treatment plant.  (See Warrenton’s Fats, Oils and Grease .Policy) 

 
(15) Any sludges, screenings or other residues from the pretreatment of 

industrial wastes. 
 

(16) Any medical wastes, except as specifically authorized by the Public 
Works Director in a wastewater discharge permit.   

 
(17) Any material containing ammonia, ammonia salts, or other chelating 

agents, which will produce metallic complexes that interfere with the 
municipal wastewater system.  

 
(18) Any material that would be identified as hazardous waste according to 

40 CFR Part 261 if not disposed of in a sewer except as may be specifically 
authorized by the Public Works Director. 

 
(19) Any wastewater causing the treatment plant effluent to violate State 

Water Quality Standards for toxic substances as described in 15A NCAC 2B 
.0200. 

 
(20) Wastewater causing, alone or in conjunction with other sources, the 

treatment plant's effluent to fail a toxiTown test. 
 

(21) Recognizable portions of the human or animal anatomy. 
 

(22) Any wastes containing detergents, surface active agents, or other 
substances which may cause excessive foaming in the municipal wastewater 
system. 

 
(23) At no time, shall two successive readings on an explosion hazard 

meter, at the point of discharge into the system (or at any point in the system) 
be more than five percent (5%) nor any single reading over ten percent (10%) 
of the lower explosive limit (LEL) of the meter.   

 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 27 

Pollutants, substances, wastewater, or other wastes prohibited by this § shall not 
be processed or stored in such a manner that they could be discharged to the 
municipal wastewater system.  All floor drains located in process or materials 
storage areas must discharge to the industrial user's pretreatment facility before 
connecting with the system. 
 
When the Public Works Director determines that a user(s) is contributing to the 
POTW, any of the above enumerated substances in such amounts which may cause 
or contribute to interference of POTW operation or pass through, the Public Works 
Director shall: 

1) advise the user(s) of the potential impact of the contribution on the POTW 
in accordance with § 51.130; and 

2) take appropriate actions in accordance with Division 4 of this Article 
(Wastewater Discharge Permit Application and Issuance) for such user to 
protect the POTW from interference or pass through. 

 
§ 51.82. - National Categorical Pretreatment Standards 
 
Users subject to categorical pretreatment standards are required to comply with 
applicable standards as set out in 40 CFR Chapter 1, Subchapter N, Parts 405-471 and 
incorporated herein. 

(a) Where a categorical pretreatment standard is expressed only in terms of 
either the mass or the concentration of a pollutant in wastewater, the Public 
Works Director may impose equivalent concentration or mass limits in 
accordance with 40 CFR 403.6(c). 

(b) When wastewater subject to a categorical pretreatment standard is mixed 
with wastewater not regulated by the same standard, the Public Works 
Director shall impose an alternate limit using the combined waste stream 
formula in 40 CFR 403.6(e). 

(c) A user may obtain a variance from a categorical pretreatment standard if the 
user can prove, pursuant to the procedural and substantive provisions in 40 
CFR 403.13, that factors relating to its discharge are fundamentally different 
from the factors considered by EPA when developing the categorical 
pretreatment standard. 

(d) A user may obtain a net gross adjustment to a categorical standard in 
accordance with 40 CFR 403.15. 

 
§ 51.83. - Local Limits 
 
An industrial waste survey is required prior to a User discharging wastewater containing in 
excess of the following average discharge limits. 
 

BOD 300 mg/l 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 28 

TSS 150 mg/l 
NH3 25 mg/l 
Arsenic 0.003 mg/l 
Cadmium 0.003 mg/l 
Chromium 0.05 mg/l (total chromium) 
Copper 0.061 mg/l 
Cyanide 0.015 mg/l 
Lead 0.049 mg/l 
Mercury 0.0003 mg/l 
Nickel 0.021 mg/l 
Silver 0.005 mg/l 
Zinc 0.175 mg/l 
 

Industrial Waste Survey information will be used to develop user-specific local limits when 
necessary to ensure that the POTW's maximum allowable headworks loading are not 
exceeded for particular pollutants of concern.  User-specific local limits for appropriate 
pollutants of concern shall be included in wastewater permits.  The Public Works Director 
may impose mass-based limits in addition to, or in place of concentration based limits. 
  
§ 51.84. - State Requirements 
 
State requirements and limitations on discharges shall apply in any case where they are 
more stringent than Federal requirements and limitations or those in this ordinance. 
 
§ 51.85. - Right of Revision 
 
The Town reserves the right to establish limitations and requirements which are more 
stringent than those required by either State or Federal regulation if deemed necessary to 
comply with the objectives presented in § 51.75 of this ordinance or the general and 
specific prohibitions in § 51.81 of this ordinance, as is allowed by 40 CFR 403.4. 
 
§ 51.86. - Dilution 
 
No user shall ever increase the use of process water or, in any way, attempt to dilute a 
discharge as a partial or complete substitute for adequate treatment to achieve 
compliance with the limitations contained in the National categorical pretreatment 
standards, unless expressly authorized by an applicable pretreatment standard, or in any 
other pollutant-specific limitation developed by the Town or State.  
 
§ 51.87. - Pretreatment of Wastewater 
 
(a) Pretreatment Facilities 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 29 

Users shall provide wastewater treatment as necessary to comply with this 
ordinance and wastewater permits issued under § 51.101 of this ordinance and 
shall achieve compliance with all National categorical pretreatment standards, 
local limits, and the prohibitions set out in § 51.81 of this ordinance within the time 
limitations as specified by EPA, the State, or the Public Works Director, whichever is 
more stringent.  Any facilities necessary for compliance shall be provided, 
operated, and maintained at the user's expense.  Detailed plans showing the 
pretreatment facilities and operating procedures shall be submitted to the Town for 
review and shall be approved by the Public Works Director before construction of 
the facility.  The review of such plans and operating procedures shall in no way 
relieve the user from the responsibility of modifying the facility as necessary to 
produce an effluent acceptable to the Town under the provisions of this ordinance.  
Any subsequent changes in the pretreatment facilities or method of operation shall 
be reported to and be approved by the Public Works Director before the user's 
initiation of the changes. 

 
(b) Additional Pretreatment Measures 

1. Whenever deemed necessary, the Public Works Director may require 
users to restrict their discharge during peak flow periods, designate that 
certain wastewater be discharged only into specific sewers, relocate 
and/or consolidate points of discharge, separate sewage wastestreams 
from industrial wastestreams, and such other conditions as may be 
necessary to protect the POTW and determine the user’s compliance with 
the requirements of this ordinance. 

2. The Public Works Director may require any person discharging into the 
POTW to install and maintain, on their property and at their expense, a 
suitable storage and flow-control facility to ensure equalization of flow.  A 
wastewater discharge permit may be issued solely for flow equalization. 

3. Grease, oil, and sand interceptors shall be provided when, in the opinion 
of the Public Works Director, they are necessary for the proper handling of 
wastewater containing excessive amounts of grease and oil, or sand; 
except that such interceptors shall not be required for residential users.  
All interception units shall be of type and capacity approved by the Public 
Works Director and shall be so located to be easily accessible for cleaning 
and inspection.  Such interceptors shall be inspected, cleaned, and 
repaired regularly, as needed, by the user at their expense. 
 
Users with the potential to discharge flammable substances may be 
required to install and maintain an approved combustible gas detection 
meter.  
 

§ 51.88. - Accidental Discharge/Slug Control Plans  
 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 30 

(a) The Public Works Director shall evaluate whether each significant industrial user needs a 
plan or other action to control and prevent slug discharges and accidental discharges as 
defined in § 51.76(a)(37).  All SIUs must be evaluated within one year of being designated an 
SIU.  The Public Works Director may require any user to develop, submit for approval, and 
implement such a plan or other specific action.  Alternatively, the Public Works Director may 
develop such a plan for any user.   

 
(b) All SIUs are required to notify the POTW immediately of any changes at its facility 

affecting the potential for spills and other accidental discharge, discharge of a non-
routine, episodic nature, a non-customary batch discharge, or a slug load.  Also see 
§s 51.109 and 51.110. 

 
(c) An accidental discharge/slug control plan shall address, at a minimum, the 

following: 
(1) Description of discharge practices, including non-routine batch 

discharges; 
(2) Description of stored chemicals; 
(3) Procedures for immediately notifying the Public Works Director of any 

accidental or slug discharge, as required by § 51.110 of this ordinance; 
and 

(4) Procedures to prevent adverse impact from any accidental or slug 
discharge.  Such procedures include, but are not limited to, inspection 
and maintenance of storage areas, handling and transfer of materials, 
loading and unloading operations, control of plant site runoff, worker 
training, building of containment structures or equipment, measures for 
containing toxic organic pollutants, including solvents, and/or measures 
and equipment for emergency response. 

 
 
§§ 51.89 -- 51.94 Reserved. 
 
DIVISION 3 - FEES 
 
§ 51.95. - Purpose 
 
It is the purpose of this chapter to provide for the recovery of costs from users of the Town 
of Warrenton wastewater disposal system for the implementation of the program 
established herein.  The applicable charges or fees shall be set forth in a schedule of sewer 
use charges and fees by the Public Works Director and approved by the Board of 
Commissioners  A copy of these charges and fees will be made available from the Public 
Works Director, the Finance Department and other sources. 
 
§ 51.96. - User Charges 
 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 31 

A user charge shall be levied on all users including, but not limited to, persons, firms, 
corporations or governmental entities that discharge, cause or permit the discharge of 
sewage into the POTW. 

(a) The user charge shall reflect, at least, the cost of debt service, operation and 
maintenance (including replacement) of the POTW. 

(b) Each user shall pay its proportionate cost based on volume of flow. 
(c) The Manager of the Town shall review annually the sewage contributions of 

users, the total costs of debt service, operation and maintenance of the POTW 
and will make recommendations to the Town Board for adjustments in the 
schedule of charges and fees as necessary. 

(d) Charges for flow to the POTW not directly attributable to the users shall be 
distributed among all users of the POTW based upon the volume of flow of the 
users. 

 
§ 51.97. - Surcharges 
 
The amount of the surcharges will be based upon the volume of flow and the character and 
concentration of the constituents of the wastewater.   

(a) The volume of flow used in determining the total discharge of wastewater for 
payment of user charges and surcharges shall be based on the following: 

(1) Metered water consumption as shown in the records of meter readings 
maintained by the Town; or 

(2) If required by the Town, other flow monitoring devices, which measure 
the actual volume of wastewater discharged to the sewer, may be used.  
Such devices shall be accessible and safely located, and the measuring 
system shall be installed in accordance with plans approved by the 
Town. The metering system shall be installed and maintained at the users 
expense according to arrangements that may be made with the Town. 

(3) Where any user procures all or part of his or her water supply from 
sources other than the Town, the user shall install and maintain at his or 
her own expense a flow measuring device of a type approved by the 
Town. 

 
(b) The character and concentration of the constituents of the wastewater used in 

determining surcharges shall be determined by samples collected and analyzed 
by the Town.  Samples shall be collected in such a manner as to be 
representative of the actual discharge (following pretreatment and prior to 
blending) and shall be analyzed using procedures set forth in 40 CFR Part 136. 

 
(c) The determination of the character and concentration of the constituents of the 

wastewater discharge by the Public Works Director or his duly appointed 
representatives shall be binding as a basis for charges.  

 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 32 

§ 51.98. - Pretreatment Program Administration Charges 
 
The schedule of charges and fees adopted by the Town may include charges and fees for: 

(a) reimbursement of costs of setting up and operating the Pretreatment Program; 
(b) monitoring, inspections and surveillance procedures; 
(c) reviewing slug control plans, including accidental and/or slug load discharge 

procedures and construction plans and specifications; 
(d) permitting; 
(e) other fees as the Town may deem necessary to carry out the requirements of the 

Pretreatment Program. 
 
§ 51.99  Reserved 
 
DIVISION 4 - WASTEWATER DISCHARGE PERMIT APPLICATION AND ISSUANCE  
 
§ 51.100. - Wastewater Dischargers 
 
It shall be unlawful for any person to connect or discharge to the POTW without first 
obtaining the permission of the Town.  When requested by the Public Works Director, a 
user must submit information on the nature and characteristics of its wastewater within 
thirty (30) days of the request.  The Public Works Director is authorized to prepare a form 
for this purpose and may periodically require users to update this information. 
 
§ 51.101. - Wastewater Permits 
 
All significant industrial users shall obtain a significant industrial user permit prior to the 
commencement of discharge to the POTW.  Existing industrial users who are determined 
by the Public Works Director to be significant industrial users shall obtain a significant 
industrial user permit within 180 days of receiving notification of the POTW Director's 
determination.  Industrial users who do not fit the significant industrial user criteria may at 
the discretion of the Director of Public Works be required to obtain a wastewater discharge 
permit for non-significant industrial users. 

(a) Significant Industrial User Determination 
All persons proposing to discharge non-domestic wastewater or proposing to 
change the volume or characteristics of an existing discharge of non-domestic 
wastewater shall request from the Public Works Director a significant industrial 
user determination.  If the Public Works Director determines or suspects that the 
proposed discharge fits the significant industrial user criteria he will require that a 
significant industrial user permit application be filed. 

 
(b) Significant Industrial User Permit Application 

Users required to obtain a significant industrial user permit shall complete and file 
with the Town, an application in the form prescribed by the Public Works Director 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 33 

and accompanied by an application fee in the amount prescribed in the schedule of 
charges and fees.  Significant industrial users shall apply for a significant industrial 
user permit within 90 days after notification of the POTW Director's determination in 
§51.101(a) above.  In support of the application, the user shall submit, in units and 
terms appropriate for evaluation, the following information: 

(1) Name, address, and physical location, (if different from the address); 
(2) Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) codes for pretreatment, the 

industry as a whole, and any processes for which categorical pretreatment 
standards have been promulgated;  

(3) Analytical data on wastewater constituents and characteristics including 
but not limited to those mentioned in Division 2 of this ordinance, any of 
the priority pollutants (§ 307(a) of the Act) which the applicant knows or 
suspects are present in the discharge as determined by a reliable 
analytical laboratory, and any other pollutant of concern to the POTW; 
sampling and analysis shall be performed in accordance with procedures 
established by the EPA pursuant to § 304(g) of the Act and contained in 
40 CFR, Part 136, as amended and as required in § 51.109 and 51.110; 

(4) Time and duration of the indirect discharge; 
(5) Average daily and 30 minute peak wastewater flow rates, including daily, 

monthly and seasonal variations if any; 
(6) Site plans, floor plans, mechanical and plumbing plans and details to 

show all sewers, floor drains, sewer connections, direction of flow and 
appurtenances by the size, location and elevation; 

(7) Description of activities, facilities and plant processes on the premises 
including all materials which are or could be accidentally or intentionally 
discharged; 

(8) Where known, the nature and concentration of any pollutants in the 
discharge which are limited by any Town, State, or Federal Pretreatment 
Standards, and a statement regarding whether or not the pretreatment 
standards are being met on a consistent basis and if not, whether 
additional operation and maintenance (O&M) and/or additional 
pretreatment is required for the user to meet applicable pretreatment 
standards; 

(9) If additional pretreatment and/or O&M will be required to meet the 
pretreatment standards; the shortest schedule by which the user will 
provide such additional pretreatment.  The completion date in this 
schedule shall not be longer than the compliance date established for 
the applicable pretreatment standard.  The following conditions apply to 
this schedule: 

(i) The schedule shall contain progress increments in the form of dates 
for the commencement and completion of major events leading to the 
construction and operation of additional pretreatment required for the 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 34 

user to meet the applicable pretreatment standards.  No increment in 
the schedule shall exceed nine (9) months. 

(ii) No later than 14 days following each date in the schedule and the 
final date for compliance, the user shall submit a progress report to 
the Public Works Director including, at a minimum, whether or not it 
complied with the increment of progress, the reason for any delay, 
and if appropriate, the steps being taken by the user to return to the 
established schedule.  In no event shall more than nine (9) months 
elapse between such progress reports to the Director of Public Works 
Resources.  

(10) Each product produced by type, amount, process or processes and rate 
of production; 

(11) Type and amount of raw materials processed (average and maximum per 
day); 

(12) Number and type of employees, and hours of operation of plant and 
proposed or actual hours of operation of pretreatment system; 

(13) If subject to a categorical standard, a baseline monitoring report in 
accordance with 40 CFR 403.12(b) and 15A NCAC 2H .0908(a), as 
outlined in § 51.105 of this ordinance. 

(14)       Description of current and projected waste reduction activities in 
accordance with G.S. 143-215.1(g). 

(15) Any other information as may be deemed by the Public Works Director to 
be necessary to evaluate the permit application. 

 
(c) Application Signatories and Certification 

All wastewater discharge permit applications and user reports must be signed by 
the current authorized representative of the user on file with the Control Authority 
and/or Municipality as defined in § 51.76(a)(8) and contain the following 
certification statement: 

“I certify under penalty of law that this document and all attachments 
were prepared under my direction or supervision in accordance with a 
system designed to assure that qualified personnel properly gather 
and evaluate the information submitted.  Based on my inquiry of the 
person or persons who manage the system, or those persons directly 
responsible for gathering the information, the information submitted 
is, to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, accurate, and 
complete.  I am aware that there are significant penalties for 
submitting false information, including the possibility of fine and 
imprisonment for knowing violations.” 
 

(d) Application Review and Evaluation 
The Public Works Director will evaluate the data furnished by the user and may 
require additional information. 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 35 

(1) The Public Works Director is authorized to accept applications for the 
Town and shall refer all applications to the POTW staff for review and 
evaluation. 

(2) Within 30 days of receipt the Public Works Director shall acknowledge 
and accept the complete application; or if not complete, shall return the 
application to the applicant with a statement of what additional 
information is required. 

 
(e) Tentative Determination and Draft Permit 

(1) The POTW staff shall conduct a review of the application and an on-site 
inspection of the significant industrial user, including any pretreatment 
facilities, and shall prepare a written evaluation and tentative 
determination to issue or deny the significant industrial user permit. 

(2) If the staff's tentative determination in Paragraph (1) above is to issue the 
permit, the following additional determinations shall be made in writing: 
(i) proposed discharge limitations for those pollutants proposed to be 

limited; 
(ii) a proposed schedule of compliance, including interim dates and 

requirements, for meeting the proposed limitations; and 
(iii) a brief description of any other proposed special conditions which 

will have significant impact upon the discharge described in the 
application. 

(3) The staff shall organize the determinations made pursuant to Paragraphs 
(1) and (2) above and the general permit conditions of the Town into a 
significant industrial user permit. 

 
(f) Permit supporting documentation.  The Control Authority staff shall prepare the 

following documents for all Significant Industrial User permits. 
 
(1) An allocation table (AT) listing permit information for all Significant Industrial 

Users, including but not limited to permit limits, permit effective and expiration 
dates, and a comparison of total permitted flows and loads with Division 
approved maximum allowable loadings of the POTW, including flow, on forms 
or in a format approved by the Division.  The AT shall be updated as permits are 
issued or renewed, and as permits are modified where the permitted limits or 
other AT information is revised. 

(2) The basis, or rationale, for the pretreatment limitations, including the following: 
(i) documentation of categorical determination, including documentation of 

any calculations used in applying categorical pretreatment standards; and 
(ii) documentation of the rationale of any parameters for which monitoring has 

been waived under 40 CFR Part 403.12(e)(2). 
 

 (g) Final Action on Significant Industrial User Permit Applications 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 36 

(1) The Public Works Director shall take final action on all applications not later 
than 90 days following receipt of a complete application. 

(2) The Public Works Director is authorized to: 
(i) issue a significant industrial user permit containing such conditions as 

are necessary to effectuate the purposes of this ordinance and N.C.G.S. 
143-215.1; 

(ii) issue a significant industrial user permit containing time schedules for 
achieving compliance with applicable pretreatment standards and 
requirements; 

(iii) modify any permit upon not less than 60 days’ notice and pursuant to § 
51.101(9)(i) of this ordinance; 

(iv) revoke any permit pursuant to § 51.130 of this ordinance; 
(v) suspend a permit pursuant to § 51.130 of this Ordinance; 

(vi) deny a permit application when in the opinion of the Public Works 
Director such discharge may cause or contribute to pass-through or 
interference of the wastewater treatment plant or where necessary to 
effectuate the purposes of N.C.G.S. 143-215.1. 
 

(h) Hearings. The local government may conduct hearings in accordance with its regular 
hearing procedure. 

 
(1) Initial adjudicatory hearing. An applicant whose permit is denied, or is granted 

subject to conditions he deems unacceptable, a permittee/user assessed a civil 
penalty under § 51.131, or one issued an administrative order under § 51.130 shall 
have the right to an adjudicatory hearing before a hearing officer designated by the 
director of utilities upon making written demand, identifying the specific issues to 
be contested, to the director of utilities within thirty (30) days following receipt of 
the significant industrial user permit, civil penalty assessment, or administrative 
order. Unless such written demand is made within the time specified herein, the 
action shall be final and binding. The hearing officer shall make a final decision on 
the contested permit, penalty, or order within forty-five (45) days of the receipt of 
the written demand for a hearing. The director of utilities shall transmit a copy of 
the hearing officer's decision by registered or certified mail. 

 
a. New permits. Upon appeal, including judicial review in the general courts of 

justice, of the terms or conditions of a newly issued permit, the terms and 
conditions of the entire permit are stayed and the permit is not in effect until 
either the conclusion of judicial review or until the parties reach a mutual 
resolution. 
 

b. Renewed permits. Upon appeal, including judicial review in the general 
courts of justice, of the terms or conditions of a renewed permit, the terms 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 37 

and conditions of the existing permit remain in effect until either the 
conclusion of judicial review or until the parties reach a mutual resolution. 

 
(2) Final appeal hearing. Any decision of a hearing officer made as a result of an 

adjudicatory hearing held under § 51.140(h) above may be appealed, to the 
Board of Commissioners upon filing a written demand within ten (10) days of 
receipt of notice of the decision. Hearings held under this subdivision shall be 
conducted in accordance with the Board of Commissioners procedures for 
public hearings. Failure to make written demand within the time specified herein 
shall bar further appeal. The Board of Commissioners shall make a final 
decision on the appeal within ninety (90) days of the date the appeal was filed 
and shall transmit a written copy of its decision by registered or certified mail. 

 
(3) Official record. When a final decision is issued under § 51.101(h)(2) above, the 

Board of Commissioners shall prepare an official record of the case that 
includes: 
a. All notices, motions, and other like pleadings; 
b. A copy of all documentary evidence introduced; 
c. A certified transcript of all testimony taken, if testimony is transcribed. If 

testimony is taken and not transcribed, then a narrative summary of any 
testimony taken. 

d. A copy of the final decision of the Board of Commissioners serving the town. 
 
(4) Judicial review. Any person against whom a final order or decision of the Board 

of Commissioners is entered, pursuant to the hearing conducted § 51.101 (h)(2) 
above, may seek judicial review of the order or decision by filing a written 
petition within thirty (30) days after receipt of notice by registered or certified 
mail of the order or decision, but not thereafter, with the superior court of 
Warren County along with a copy to the town. Within thirty (30) days after receipt 
of the copy of the petition of judicial review, the Board of Commissioners shall 
transmit to the reviewing court the original or a certified copy of the official 
record.  

 
(i) Permit Modification 

(1) Modifications of permits shall be subject to the same procedural requirements 
as the issuance of permits except as listed below.  Any changes or new 
conditions in the permit shall include a reasonable time schedule for 
compliance 

(i) changes in the ownership of the discharge when no other change in the 
permit is indicated, 

(ii) a single modification of any compliance schedule not in excess of four 
months, 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 38 

(iii) modification of compliance schedules (construction schedules) in 
permits for new sources where the new source will not begin to discharge 
until control facilities are operational.   

(2) Within 9 months of the promulgation of a National categorical pretreatment 
standard, the wastewater discharge permit of users subject to such standards 
shall be revised to require compliance with such standard within the time 
frame prescribed by such standard.  Where a user, subject to a National 
categorical pretreatment standard, has not previously submitted an 
application for a wastewater discharge permit as required by § 51.101(b), the 
user shall apply for a wastewater discharge permit within 180 days after the 
promulgation of the applicable National categorical pretreatment standard. 

(3) A request for a modification by the permittee shall constitute a waiver of the 
60-day notice required by N.C.G.S. 143-215.1(b) for modifications. 

 
(j) Permit Conditions 

Wastewater Discharge Permits shall be expressly subject to all provisions of this 
Ordinance and all other ordinances, regulations, charges and fees established by 
the Town, State, or Federal authority.  The conditions of Wastewater Discharge 
Permits shall be uniformly enforced by the Town in accordance with this 
Ordinance, and applicable State and Federal regulations. 

(1) The Public Works Director shall have the authority to grant a permit with 
such conditions attached as he believes necessary to achieve the purpose 
of this ordinance and N.C.G.S. 143-215.1.  Wastewater permits shall 
contain, but are not limited to, the following: 

 
a. a statement of duration ( in no case more than five years); 
b. a statement of non-transferability; 
c. applicable effluent limits based on categorical standards or local limits 

or both; 
d. applicable monitoring, sampling, reporting, notification, and record 

keeping requirements.  These requirements shall include an 
identification of pollutants to be monitored, sampling location, sampling 
frequency, and sample type based on Federal, State and local law; 

e. requirements for notifying the POTW in the event of an accidental 
discharge or slug load as defined in § 51.76(a)(37);   

f. requirements to implement a Plan or other controls for prevention of 
accidental discharges and/or slug loads as defined in §51.76(a)(37), if 
determined by the Public Works Director to be necessary for the User  
and, 

g. requirements for immediately notifying the POTW of any changes at its 
facility affecting the potential for spills and other accidental discharges, 
or slug load as defined in § 51.76(a)(37).  Also see §51.109 and 51.110;   



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 39 

h. a statement of applicable civil and/or criminal penalties for violation of 
pretreatment standards and requirements and any applicable 
compliance scheduIn addition, permits may contain, but are not limited 
to, the following: 

 
a. Limits on the average and/or maximum rate of discharge, and/or 

requirements for flow regulation and equalization. 
b. Limits on the instantaneous, daily and/or monthly average and/or 

maximum concentration, mass, or other measure of identified 
wastewater pollutants or properties. 

c. Requirements for the installation of pretreatment technology or 
construction of appropriate containment devices, etc., designed to 
reduce, eliminate, or prevent the introduction of pollutants into the 
treatment works. 

d. Development and implementation of waste minimization plans to 
reduce the amount of pollutants discharged to the municipal 
wastewater system. 

e. The unit charge or schedule of user charges and fees for the 
management of the wastewater discharged to the system. 

f. Requirements for installation and maintenance of inspection and 
sampling facilities and equipment. 

g. Specifications for monitoring programs which may include sampling 
locations, frequency of sampling, number, types, and standards for 
tests, and reporting schedules. 

h. Requirements for immediate reporting of any instance of 
noncompliance and for automatic resampling and reporting within thirty 
(30) days where self-monitoring indicates a violation(s). 

i. Compliance schedules for meeting pretreatment standards and 
requirements. 

j. Requirements for submission of periodic self-monitoring or special 
notification reports. 

k. Requirements for maintaining and retaining plans and records relating to 
wastewater discharges as specified in § 51.117 and affording the Public 
Works Director, or his representatives, access thereto. 

l. Requirements for prior notification and approval by the Public Works 
Director of any new introduction of wastewater pollutants or of any 
significant change in the volume or character of the wastewater prior to 
introduction in the system. 

m. Requirements for the prior notification and approval by the Public Works 
Director of any change in the manufacturing and/or pretreatment 
process used by the permittee. 

n. A statement that compliance with the permit does not relieve the 
permittee of responsibility for compliance with all applicable Federal 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 40 

and State pretreatment standards, including those which become 
effective during the terms of the permit. 

o. Other conditions as deemed appropriate by the Public Works Director to 
ensure compliance with this ordinance, and State and Federal laws, 
rules, and regulations. 

 
(k) Permit Duration 

Permits shall be issued for a specified time period, not to exceed five (5) years.  
A permit may be issued for a period of less than a year or may be stated to 
expire on a specific date.   
 

(l) Permit Transfer 
Wastewater permits are issued to a specific user for a specific operation.  A 
wastewater discharge permit shall not be reassigned or transferred or sold to 
a new owner, new user, different premises, or a new or changed operation. 
 

(m) Permit Reissuance 
A significant industrial user shall apply for permit reissuance by submitting a 
complete permit application in accordance with § 51.101 a minimum of 180 days 
prior to the expiration of the existing permit. 

 
§§51.102 – 51.104. – Reserved 
 
DIVISION 5. - REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 
 
§ 51.105. - Baseline Monitoring Reports 
 
(a) Within either one hundred eighty (180) days after the effective date of a categorical 

pretreatment standard, or the final administrative decision on a category 
determination under 40 CFR 403.6(a)(4), whichever is later, existing categorical 
users currently discharging to or scheduled to discharge to the POTW shall submit to 
the Public Works Director a report which contains the information listed in paragraph 
(b), below.  At least ninety (90) days prior to commencement of their discharge, new 
sources, and sources that become categorical users subsequent to the 
promulgation of an applicable categorical standard, shall submit to the Public 
Works Director a report which contains the information listed in paragraph (b), 
below.  A new source shall report the method of pretreatment it intends to use to 
meet applicable categorical standards.  A new source also shall give estimates of its 
anticipated flow and quantity of pollutants to be discharged. 

 
(b) Users described above shall submit the information set forth below. 

(1) Identifying Information.  The name and address of the facility, including 
the name of the operator and owner. 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 41 

(2) Environmental Permits.  A list of any environmental control permits held 
by or for the facility. 

(3) Description of Operations.  A brief description of the nature, average rate 
of production, and standard industrial classifications of the operation(s) 
carried out by such user.  This description should include a schematic 
process diagram which indicates points of discharge to the POTW from 
the regulated processes. 

(4) Flow Measurement.  Information showing the measured average daily 
and maximum daily flow, in gallons per day, to the POTW from regulated 
process streams and other streams, as necessary, to allow use of the 
combined waste stream formula set out in 40 CFR 403.6(e). 

(5) Measurement of Pollutants. 
(i) The categorical pretreatment standards applicable to each 

regulated process. 
(ii) The results of sampling and analysis identifying the nature and 

concentration, and/or mass, where required by the standard or by 
the Public Works Director, of regulated pollutants in the discharge 
from each regulated process.  Instantaneous, daily maximum, and 
long-term average concentrations, or mass, where required, shall 
be reported.  The sample shall be representative of daily 
operations and shall be analyzed in accordance with procedures 
set out in § 51.114 of this ordinance. 

(iii) Sampling must be performed in accordance with procedures set 
out in § 51.115 of this ordinance and 40 CFR 403.12(b) and (g), 
including 40 CFR 403.12(g)(4). 

(6) Certification.  A statement, reviewed by the user’s current authorized 
representative as defined in § 51.76(a)(3) and certified by a qualified 
professional, indicating whether pretreatment standards are being met 
on a consistent basis, and, if not, whether additional operation and 
maintenance (O&M) and/or additional pretreatment is required to meet 
the pretreatment standards and requirements. 

(7)Schedule.  If additional pretreatment and/or O&M will be required to meet the 
pretreatment standards, the shortest schedule by which the user will 
provide such additional pretreatment and/or O&M.  The completion date in 
this schedule shall not be later than the compliance date established for 
the applicable pretreatment standard.  A compliance schedule pursuant to 
this section must meet the requirements set out in § 51.116(c ) of this 
ordinance. 

 (8) Signature and Certification.  All baseline monitoring reports must be 
signed and certified in accordance with § 51.101(c ) of this 
ordinance.aseline 

 
§ 51-106. - Compliance Schedule Progress Reports 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 42 

 
The following conditions shall apply to the compliance schedule required by § 51.105(b)(7) 
of this ordinance: 

(a) The schedule shall contain progress increments in the form of dates for the 
commencement and completion of major events leading to the construction 
and operation of additional pretreatment required for the user to meet the 
applicable pretreatment standards (such events include, but are not limited to, 
hiring an engineer, completing preliminary and final plans, executing contracts 
for major components, commencing and completing construction, and 
beginning and conducting routine operation); 

 
(b) No increment referred to above shall exceed nine (9) months; 

 
(c) The user shall submit a progress report to the Public Works Director no later 

than fourteen (14) days following each date in the schedule and the final date 
of compliance including, as a minimum, whether or not it complied with the 
increment of progress, the reason for any delay, and, if appropriate, the steps 
being taken by the user to return to the established schedule; and  

 
(d) In no event shall more than nine (9) months elapse between such progress 

reports to the Public Works Director. 
 
§ 51-107. - Reports on Compliance with Categorical Pretreatment Standard,   Deadline 
 
Within ninety (90) days following the date for final compliance with applicable categorical 
pretreatment standards, or in the case of a new source following commencement of the 
introduction of wastewater into the POTW, any user subject to such pretreatment 
standards and requirements shall submit to the Public Works Director a report containing 
the information described in § 51.105(b)(4-6) of this ordinance.  For users subject to 
equivalent mass or concentration limits established in accordance with the procedures in 
40 CFR 403.6(c), this report shall contain a reasonable measure of the user's long-term 
production rate.  For all other users subject to categorical pretreatment standards 
expressed in terms of allowable pollutant discharge per unit of production (or other 
measure of operation), this report shall include the user's actual production during the 
appropriate sampling period.  All compliance reports must be signed and certified in 
accordance with § 51.101(c) of this ordinance. 
 
§ 51.108. - Periodic Compliance Reports 
 
Municipalities may sample and analyze user discharges in lieu of requiring the users to 
conduct sampling and analysis. 

(a) All significant industrial users shall, at a frequency determined by the Public 
Works Director but in no case less than once every six months, submit a report 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 43 

indicating the nature and concentration of pollutants in the discharge which are 
limited by pretreatment standards and the applicable flows for the reporting 
period.  Sampling and analysis must be performed in accordance with 
procedures set out in § 51.114 and 51.115 of this Chapter.  All periodic 
compliance reports must be signed and certified in accordance with § 51.101(c) 
of this ordinance. 

(b) If a user subject to the reporting requirement in this § monitors any pollutant 
more frequently than required by the Public Works Director, using the 
procedures prescribed in § 51.114  and 51.115 of this ordinance, the results 
of this monitoring shall be included in the report. 

 
§ 51.109. - Reports of Changed Conditions 
 
Each user must notify the Public Works Director of any planned significant changes to the 
user's operations or system which might alter the nature, quality, or volume of its 
wastewater at least thirty (30) days before the change.  The permittee shall not begin the 
changes until receiving written approval from the Control Authority.  See § 51.110(d) for 
other reporting requirements. 

 
(a) The Public Works Director may require the user to submit such information 

as may be deemed necessary to evaluate the changed condition, including 
the submission of a wastewater discharge permit application under § 51.101 
of this ordinance. 

(b) The Public Works Director may issue a wastewater discharge permit under § 
51.101 of this ordinance or modify an existing wastewater discharge permit 
under § 51.101 of this ordinance in response to changed conditions or 
anticipated changed conditions. 

(c) For purposes of this requirement, significant changes include, but are not 
limited to, flow or pollutant increases of twenty percent (20%) or greater, and 
the discharge of any previously unreported pollutants. 

 
§ 51-110. - Reports of Potential Problems 
 
(a) In the case of any discharge, including, but not limited to, accidental discharges, 

discharges of a non-routine, episodic nature, a non-customary batch discharge, or a 
slug load as defined in § 51.76(a)(37), that may cause potential problems for the POTW, 
the user shall immediately telephone and notify the Public Works Director of the 
incident.  This notification shall include the location of the discharge, type of waste, 
concentration and volume, if known, and corrective actions taken by the user. 

 
(b) Within five (5) days following such discharge, the user shall, unless waived by the 

Public Works Director, submit a detailed written report describing the cause(s) of the 
discharge and the measures to be taken by the user to prevent similar future 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 44 

occurrences.  Such notification shall not relieve the user of any expense, loss, damage, 
or other liability which may be incurred as a result of damage to the POTW, natural 
resources, or any other damage to person or property; nor shall such notification 
relieve the user of any fines, penalties, or other liability which may be imposed 
pursuant to this ordinance. 

 
(c) A notice shall be permanently posted on the user's bulletin board or other prominent 

place advising employees whom to call in the event of a discharge described in 
paragraph (a), above.  Employers shall ensure that all employees, who may cause such 
a discharge to occur, are advised of the emergency notification procedure. 

 
(d) All SIUs are required to notify the POTW immediately of any changes at its facility 

affecting the potential for spills and other accidental discharge, discharge of a non-
routine, episodic nature, a non-customary batch discharge, or a slug load as defined in 
§ 51.76(a)(37). 

 
§ 51.111. - Reports from Unpermitted Users 
 
All users not required to obtain a wastewater discharge permit shall provide appropriate 
reports to the Public Works Director as the Public Works Director may require.  All users 
classified as Non-Significant Categorical Industrial Users under § 51.76(a)35(f) shall 
provide appropriate reports to the Public Works Director as the Public Works Director may 
require.  At a minimum, this shall include the Annual Certification of continuing to meet the 
Non-Significant Categorical Industrial User criteria as required under 40CFR403.12(q). 
 
§ 51.112 - Notice of Violation/Repeat Sampling and Reporting 
 
(a) If sampling performed by a user indicates a violation, the user must notify the Public 

Works Director within twenty-four (24) hours of becoming aware of the violation.  The 
user shall also repeat the sampling and analysis and submit the results of the repeat 
analysis to the Public Works Director within thirty (30) days after becoming aware of the 
violation.  If allowed by the Director of Public Works, the user is not required to 
resample: 

(1) if the Public Works Director monitors at the user's facility at least once a 
month;  or  

(2) if the Public Works Director samples between the user's initial sampling and 
when the user receives the results of this sampling. 
 

(b) If the Public Works Director does not require the user to perform any self-monitoring 
and the POTW sampling of the user indicates a violation, the Public Works Director 
shall repeat the sampling and obtain the results of the repeat analysis within thirty (30) 
days after becoming aware of the violations, unless one of the following occurs: 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 45 

(1) the Public Works Director monitors at the user's facility at least once a 
month;  or 

(2) the Public Works Director samples the user between their initial sampling 
and when the POTW receives the results of this initial sampling; or  

(3) the Public Works Director requires the user to perform sampling and submit 
the results to the Public Works Director within the 30 day deadline of the 
POTW becoming aware of the violation. 

 
§ 51.113. - Notification of the Discharge of Hazardous Waste 
 

The Town prohibits the discharge of any hazardous wastes without notification to and 
approval by the Public Works Director. 

 

(a) Any user who commences the discharge of hazardous waste shall notify the POTW, 
the EPA Regional Waste Management Division Director, and State hazardous waste 
authorities, in writing, of any discharge into the POTW of a substance which, if 
otherwise disposed of, would be a hazardous waste under 40 CFR Part 261.  Such 
notification must include the name of the hazardous waste as set forth in 40 CFR 
Part 261, the EPA hazardous waste number, and the type of discharge (continuous, 
batch, or other).  If the user discharges more than one hundred (100) kilograms of 
such waste per calendar month to the POTW, the notification also shall contain the 
following information to the extent such information is known and readily available 
to the user: an identification of the hazardous constituents contained in the wastes, 
an estimation of the mass and concentration of such constituents in the 
wastestream discharge during the calendar month, and an estimation of the mass 
and concentration of such constituents in the wastestream expected to be 
discharged during the following twelve (12) months.  All notifications must take 
place no later than one hundred and eighty (180) days after the discharge 
commences.  The user shall not begin the discharge until receiving written approval 
from the Town.  Any notification under this paragraph need be submitted only once 
for each hazardous waste discharge.  However, notifications of changed conditions 
must be submitted under § 51.109 of this ordinance.  The notification requirement 
in this Section does not apply to pollutants already reported by users subject to 
categorical pretreatment standards under the self-monitoring requirements of 
§§51.105, 51.107, and 51.108 of this Chapter. 

 
(b) Dischargers are exempt from the requirements of paragraph (a), above, 

during a calendar month in which they discharge no more than fifteen (15) 
kilograms of hazardous wastes, unless the wastes are acute hazardous 
wastes as specific in 40 CFR 261.30(d) and 261.33(e).  Discharge of more 
than fifteen (15) kilograms of nonacute hazardous wastes in a calendar 
month, or of any quantity of acute hazardous wastes as specified in 40 CFR 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 46 

261.30(d) and 261.33(e), requires a one-time notification.  Subsequent 
months during which the user discharges more than such quantities of any 
hazardous waste do not require additional notification. 

 
(c.) In the case of any new regulation under § 3001 of RCRA identifying additional 

characteristics of hazardous waste or listing any additional substance as a 
hazardous waste, the user must notify the Public Works Director, the EPA 
Regional Waste Management Waste Division Director, and State hazardous 
waste authorities of the discharge of such substance within ninety (90) days 
of the effective date of such regulations. 

 
(d) In the case of any notification made under this Section, the user shall certify 

that it has a program in place to reduce the volume and toxicity of hazardous 
wastes generated to the degree it has determined to be economically 
practical. 

 
(e) This provision does not create a right to discharge any substance not 

otherwise permitted to be discharged by this ordinance, a permit issued 
thereunder, or any applicable Federal or State law. 

 
§ 51.114. - Analytical Requirements 
 
All pollutant analyses, including sampling techniques, to be submitted as part of a 
wastewater discharge permit application or report shall be performed in accordance with 
the techniques prescribed in 40 CFR Part 136, unless otherwise specified in an applicable 
categorical pretreatment standard.  If 40 CFR Part 136 does not contain sampling or 
analytical techniques for the pollutant in question, sampling and analyses must be 
performed in accordance with procedures approved by EPA and the Town.  Analyses must 
be performed by a State certified lab for each parameter analyzed, if such certification 
exists for that parameter. 
 
§ 51.115. - Grab and Composite Sample Collection 
 
(a) All wastewater samples must be representative of the user's discharge.  

Wastewater monitoring and flow measurement facilities shall be properly operated, 
kept clean, and maintained in good working order at all times.  The failure of a user 
to keep its monitoring facility in good working order shall not be grounds for the user 
to claim that sample results are unrepresentative of its discharge. 

 
(b) Grab Samples must be used for pH, cyanide, total phenols, oil and grease, sulfide, 

volatile organic compounds, and any other pollutants as required by 40 CFR 136.  
The POTW shall determine the number of grabs necessary to be representative of 
the User’s discharge.  See 40 CFR 403.12(g)(5) for additional grab sample number 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 47 

requirements for BMR and 90 Day Compliance Reports.  Additionally, the Public 
Works Director may allow collection of multiple grabs during a 24-hour period 
which are composited prior to analysis as allowed under 40 CFR 136. 

 
(c) Composite Samples:  All wastewater composite samples shall be collected with a 

minimum of hourly aliquots or grabs for each hour that there is a discharge.  All 
wastewater composite samples shall be collected using flow proportional 
composite collection techniques, unless time-proportional composite sampling or 
grab sampling is authorized by the Public Works Director.  When authorizing time-
proportional composites or grabs, the samples must be representative and the 
decision to allow the alternative sampling must be documented. 

 
§ 51.116. - Timing 
 
Written reports will be deemed to have been submitted on the date postmarked.  For 
reports which are not mailed, postage prepaid, into a mail facility serviced by the United 
States Postal Service, the date of receipt of the report shall govern. 
 
§ 51.117. - Record Keeping 
 
Users subject to the reporting requirements of this ordinance shall retain, and make 
available for inspection and copying, all records of information obtained pursuant to any 
monitoring activities required by this ordinance and any additional records of information 
obtained pursuant to monitoring activities undertaken by the user independent of such 
requirements.  Records shall include the date, exact place, method, and time of sampling, 
and the name of the person(s) taking the samples; the dates analyses were performed; 
who performed the analyses; the analytical techniques or methods used; and the results 
of such analyses.  These records shall remain available for a period of at least three (3) 
years.  This period shall be automatically extended for the duration of any litigation 
concerning the user or the Town, or where the user has been specifically notified of a 
longer retention period by the Public Works Director. 
 
§ 51.118. - Electronic Reporting 
 
The Public Works Director may develop procedures for receipt of electronic reports for any 
reporting requirements of this Ordinance.  Such procedures shall comply with 40 CFR Part 
3.  These procedures shall be enforceable under Division 8 of this Ordinance. 
 
§ 51.119  Reserved 
 
DIVISION 6 - COMPLIANCE MONITORING 
 
§ 51.120. - Monitoring Facilities 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 48 

 
The Town requires the user to provide and operate at the user's own expense, monitoring 
facilities to allow inspection, sampling, and flow measurement of the building sewer 
and/or internal drainage systems. The monitoring facility should normally be situated on 
the user's premises, but the Town may, when such a location would be impractical or 
cause undue hardship on the user, allow the facility to be constructed in the public street 
or sidewalk area and located so that it will not be obstructed by landscaping or parked 
vehicles. 
 
There shall be ample room in or near such sampling manhole or facility to allow accurate 
sampling and preparation of samples for analysis.  The facility, sampling, and measuring 
equipment shall be maintained at all times in a safe and proper operating condition at the 
expense of the user. 
 
Whether constructed on public or private property, the sampling and monitoring facilities 
shall be provided in accordance with the requirements of the Town and all applicable local 
construction standards and specifications.  Construction shall be completed within 90 
days following written notification by the Town. 
 
§ 51.121. - Inspection and Sampling 
 
The Town will inspect the facilities of any user to ascertain whether the purpose of this 
ordinance is being met and all requirements are being complied with.  Persons or 
occupants of premises where wastewater is created or discharged shall allow the Town, 
approval authority and EPA or their representative ready access at all reasonable times to 
all parts of the premises for the purposes of inspection, sampling, records examination 
and copying or in the performance of any of their duties.  The Town, approval authority and 
EPA shall have the right to set up on the user's property such devices as are necessary to 
conduct sampling, inspection, compliance monitoring and/or metering operations.  Where 
a user has security measures in force which would require proper identification and 
clearance before entry into their premises, the user shall make necessary arrangements 
with their security guards so that upon presentation of suitable identification, personnel 
from the Town, approval authority and EPA will be permitted to enter, without delay, for the 
purposes of performing their specific responsibilities.  Denial of the Town’s, Approval 
Authority's, or EPA's access to the user's premises shall be a violation of this ordinance.  
Unreasonable delays may constitute denial of access. 
 
§ 51.122. - Search Warrants 
 
If the Town, approval authority, or EPA has been refused access to a building, structure, or 
property, or any part thereof, and is able to demonstrate probable cause to believe that 
there may be a violation of this ordinance, or that there is a need to inspect and/or sample 
as part of a routine inspection and sampling program of the Town designed to verify 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 49 

compliance with this ordinance or any permit or order issued hereunder, or to protect the 
overall public health, safety and welfare of the community, then the Public Works Director, 
approval authority, or EPA may seek issuance of a search warrant from a Judicial Official of 
the Court of Stokes County having jurisdiction within the Town. 
 
§§ 51.123.- 51.124 – Reserved. 
 
DIVISION 7 - CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION 
 
§ 51.125. – Confidential Information. 
 
(a) Information and data provided by an industrial user to the Public Works Director 

pursuant to this ordinance identifying the nature and frequency of a discharge, shall be 
available to the public without restriction.  All other information which may be so 
submitted by an industrial user to the Public Works Director in connection with any 
required reports shall also be available to the public unless the industrial user or other 
interested person specifically identifies the information as confidential upon 
submission and is able to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Public Works Director 
that the disclosure of such information or a particular part thereof to the general public 
would divulge methods or processes entitled to protection as trade secrets. 

 
(b) Information provided by an industrial user to the Public Works Director that is 

determined to be entitled to confidential treatment shall be made available upon 
written request to the Division of Water Quality or any state agency for uses related to 
the Pretreatment Program, the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 
(NPDES) Permit, collection system permit, stormwater permit, and/or Non-discharge 
permit, and for uses related to judicial review or enforcement proceedings involving the 
person furnishing the report. 

 
(c) Information and data received by the Division or other state agency under paragraph (b) 

above shall be subject to the processes set forth in G.S. 143-215.3C. 
 
§ 51.126. – 51.129.  Reserved. 
 
DIVISION 8 - ENFORCEMENT 
 
§ 51.130. - Administrative Remedies 
  
(a) Notification of Violation 

 
Whenever the Public Works Director finds that any industrial user has violated or is 
violating this Ordinance, wastewater permit, or any prohibition, limitation or 
requirements contained therein or any other pretreatment requirement the Public 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 50 

Works Director may serve upon such a person a written notice stating the nature of 
the violation.  Within 30 days from the date of this notice, an explanation for the 
violation and a plan for the satisfactory correction thereof shall be submitted to the 
Town by the user.  Submission of this plan does not relieve the discharger of liability 
for any violations occurring before or after receipt of the notice of violation. 
 

(b) Consent Orders 
 

The Public Works Director is hereby empowered to enter into consent orders, 
assurances of voluntary compliance, or other similar documents establishing an 
agreement with the person responsible for the noncompliance.  Such orders will 
include specific action to be taken by the discharger to correct the noncompliance 
within a show cause hearing under this § is not a prerequisite to the assessment of a 
civil penalty under § 51.131; nor is any action or inaction taken by the Public Works 
Director under this § subject to an administrative appeal under § 51.101(h). 

 
(d) Administrative Orders 

 
When the Public Works Director finds that an industrial user has violated or continues to 
violate this ordinance, permits or orders issued hereunder, or any other pretreatment 
requirement, the Public Works Director may issue an order to cease and desist all such 
violations and direct those persons in noncompliance to do any of the following: 

(1) Immediately comply with all requirements; 
(2) Comply in accordance with a compliance time schedule set forth in the order; 
(3) Take appropriate remedial or preventive action in the event of a continuing or 

threatened violation; 
(4) Disconnect unless adequate treatment facilities, devices or other related 

appurtenances are installed and properly operated within a specified time 
period. 

 
(e) Emergency Suspensions 

 
The Public Works Director may suspend the wastewater treatment service and/or 
wastewater permit when such suspension is necessary in order to stop an actual or 
threatened discharge which presents or may present an imminent or substantial 
endangerment to the health or welfare of persons or the environment, interferes with 
the POTW or causes the POTW to violate any condition of its NPDES or Non-discharge 
permit. 

 
Any user notified of a suspension of the wastewater treatment service and/or the 
wastewater permit shall immediately stop or eliminate the contribution.  A hearing will 
be held within 15 days of the notice of suspension to determine whether the 
suspension may be lifted or the user's waste discharge permit terminated.  In the event 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 51 

of a failure to comply voluntarily with the suspension order, the Public Works Director 
shall take such steps as deemed necessary including immediate severance of the 
sewer connection, to prevent or minimize damage to the POTW system or 
endangerment to any individuals.  The Public Works Director shall reinstate the 
wastewater permit and the wastewater treatment service upon proof of the elimination 
of the noncompliant discharge.  The industrial user shall submit a detailed written 
statement describing the causes of the harmful contribution and the measures taken to 
prevent any future occurrence to the Public Works Director prior to the date of the 
above-described hearing. 

 
(f) Termination of Permit or Permission to Discharge 

 
The Public Works Director may revoke a wastewater discharge permit or permission to 
discharge for good cause, including, but not limited to, the following reasons: 

(1) Failure to accurately report the wastewater constituents and 
characteristics of his discharge; 

(2) Failure to report significant changes in operations, or wastewater 
constituents and characteristics; 

(3) Refusal of reasonable access to the user's premises for the purpose of 
inspection or monitoring; or, 

(4) Violation of conditions of the permit or permission to discharge, 
conditions of this ordinance, or any applicable State and Federal 
regulations. 

 
Noncompliant industrial users will be notified of the proposed termination of their 
wastewater permit and will be offered an opportunity to show cause under § 51.130 of 
this ordinance why the proposed action should not be taken. 

 
§ 51.131. - Civil Penalties 
 
(a) Any user who is found to have failed to comply with any provision of this ordinance, or 

the orders, rules, regulations and permits issued hereunder, may be assessed a civil 
penalty up to twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000) per day per violation. 

(1) Penalties between $10,000 and $25,000 per day per violation may be assessed 
against a violator only if: 
(i) For any class of violation, only if a civil penalty has been imposed against the 

violator with in the five years preceding the violation, or 
(ii) In the case of failure to file, submit, or make available, as the case may be, 

any documents, data, or reports required by this ordinance, or the orders, 
rules, regulations and permits issued hereunder, only if the Public Works 
Director determines that the violation was intentional and a civil penalty has 
been imposed against the violator within the five years preceding the 
violation.   



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 52 

 
(b) In determining the amount of the civil penalty, the Public Works Director shall 

consider the following: 
(1) The degree and extent of the harm to the natural resources, to the public 

health, or to public or private property resulting from the violation; 
(2) The duration and gravity of the violation; 
(3) The effect on ground or surface water quantity or quality or on air quality; 
(4) The cost of rectifying the damage; 
(5) The amount of money saved by noncompliance; 
(6) Whether the violation was committed willfully or intentionally; 
(7) The prior record of the violator in complying or failing to comply with the 

pretreatment program; 
(8) The costs of enforcement to the Town. 
 

(c) Appeals of civil penalties assessed in accordance with this Section shall be as 
provided in § 51.140 Adjudicatory Hearings. 

 
§ 51.132. - Other Available Remedies 
 
Remedies, in addition to those previously mentioned in this ordinance, are available to the 
Public Works Director who may use any single one or combination against a noncompliant 
user.  Additional available remedies include, but are not limited to: 

 
(a) Criminal Violations. 

 
The District Attorney for the applicable Judicial District (District 19) may, at 
the request of the Town, prosecute noncompliant users who violate the 
provisions of N.C.G.S. 143-215.6B. [Note:  Under North Carolina law, it is a 
crime to negligently violate any term, condition, or requirement of a 
pretreatment permit, or negligently fail to apply for a pretreatment permit, 
issued by local governments (N.C.G.S. 143-215.6B(f)), to knowingly and 
willfully violate any term, condition, or requirement of a pretreatment permit, 
or knowingly and willfully fail to apply for a pretreatment permit, issued by 
local governments (N.C.G.S. 143-215.6B(g)), to knowingly violate any term, 
condition, or requirement of a pretreatment permit issued by local 
governments, or knowingly fail to apply for a pretreatment permit, knowing at 
the time that a person is placed in imminent danger of death or serious 
bodily injury, (N.C.G.S. 143-215.6B(h)), and to falsify information required 
under Article 21 of Chapter 143 of the General Statutes (N.C.G.S. 143-
215.6B(i)).] 
 

(b) Injunctive Relief 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 53 

Whenever a user is in violation of the provisions of this ordinance or an order 
or permit issued hereunder, the Public Works Director, through the Town 
Attorney, may petition Superior Court for the issuance of a restraining order 
or a preliminary and permanent injunction which restrains or compels the 
activities in question. 
 

(c) Water Supply Severance 
Whenever an industrial user is in violation of the provisions of this ordinance 
or an order or permit issued hereunder, water service to the industrial user 
may be severed and service will only recommence, at the user's expense, 
after it has satisfactorily demonstrated ability to comply. 
 

(d) Public Nuisances 
Any violation of the prohibitions or effluent limitations of this ordinance or of 
a permit or order issued hereunder, is hereby declared a public nuisance and 
shall be corrected or abated as directed by the Public Works Director.  Any 
person(s) creating a public nuisance shall be subject to the provisions of the 
appropriate ordinances of the Town governing such nuisances, including 
reimbursing the POTW for any costs incurred in removing, abating or 
remedying said nuisance. 

 
§ 51.133. - Remedies Nonexclusive 
 
The remedies provided for in this ordinance are not exclusive.  The Public Works Director 
may take any, all, or any combination of these actions against a noncompliant user.  
Enforcement of pretreatment violations will generally be in accordance with the Town of 
Warrenton’s enforcement response plan.  However, the Public Works Director may take 
other action against any user when the circumstances warrant.  Further, the Public Works 
Director is empowered to take more than one enforcement action against any 
noncompliant user. 
 
§. 51.134 Reserved 
 
DIVISION 9 - ANNUAL PUBLICATION OF SIGNIFICANT NONCOMPLIANCE  

 
§ 51.135. -  Annual publication of significant noncompliance. 
 
At least annually, the Public Works Director shall publish in the largest daily newspaper 
circulated in the service area, a list of those industrial users which were found to be in 
significant noncompliance, also referred to as reportable noncompliance in 15A NCAC 2H 
.0903(b)(34), with applicable pretreatment standards and requirements, during the 
previous 12 months. 
 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 54 

§. 51.136. – 51.139.  Reserved 
 
DIVISION 10 – AJUDICATORY HEARINGS 
 
§ 51.140. – Adjudicatory hearings. 
 
The local government may conduct hearings in accordance with its regular hearing 
procedure. 

 
(a) Initial Adjudicatory Hearing.  An applicant whose permit is denied, or is granted 

subject to conditions he deems unacceptable, a permittee/user assessed a civil 
penalty under § 51.131, or one issued an administrative order under § 51.130 
shall have the right to an adjudicatory hearing before the Town Manager or other 
appointed hearing officer upon making written demand, identifying the specific 
issues to be contested, to the Public Works Director within 30 days following 
receipt of the significant industrial user permit, civil penalty assessment, or 
administrative order.  Unless such written demand is made within the time 
specified herein, the action shall be final and binding and further appeal is 
barred. For modified permits, only those parts of the permits being modified 
may be adjudicated.  The hearing officer shall make a final decision on the 
contested permit, penalty, or order within 45 days of the receipt of the written 
demand for a hearing.  The Public Works Director shall transmit a copy of the 
hearing officer's decision by registered or certified mail as described in 
paragraph (b) below. The terms and conditions of a permit under appeal shall be 
as follows: 

(1) New Permits.  Upon appeal, including judicial review in the General 
Courts of Justice, of the terms or conditions of a newly issued permit, 
the terms and conditions of the entire permit are stayed and the 
permit is not in effect until either the conclusion of judicial review or 
until the parties reach a mutual resolution. 

(2) Renewed Permits.  Upon appeal, including judicial review in the 
General Courts of Justice, of the terms or conditions of a renewed 
permit, the terms and conditions of the existing permit remain in 
effect until either the conclusion of judicial review or until the parties 
reach a mutual resolution. 

(3)        Terminated Permits.  Upon appeal, including judicial review in the 
General Courts of Justice, of a terminated permit, no permit is in 
effect until either the conclusion of the judicial review or until the 
parties reach a mutual resolution. 

 
(b) Final Appeal Hearing.  Any decision of a hearing officer made as a result of an 

adjudicatory hearing held under paragraph (a) above may be appealed, to the 
Town Board upon filing a written demand within 10 days of receipt of notice of 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 55 

the decision.  Hearings held under this Subdivision shall be conducted in 
accordance with the Town Board’s normal procedures for public hearings.  
Failure to make written demand within the time specified herein shall bar further 
appeal.  The Town Board shall make a final decision on the appeal within 90 
days of the date the appeal was filed under paragraph (a) and shall transmit a 
written copy of its decision by registered or certified mail as described in 
paragraph (c) below  The decision is a final decision for the purposes of seeking 
judicial review. 

 
(c) Official record.  When a final decision is issued under paragraph (a) above, the 

Town Board shall prepare an official record of the case that includes: 
(1) All notices, motions, and other like pleadings; 
(2) A copy of all documentary evidence introduced; 
(3) A certified transcript of all testimony taken, if testimony is 

transcribed. If testimony is taken and not transcribed, then a narrative 
summary of any testimony taken. 

(4) A copy of the final decision of the Town Board. 
 

(d) Judicial Review.  Any person against whom a final order or decision of the  Board 
of Commissioners is entered, pursuant to the hearing conducted under 
paragraph (a) above, may seek judicial review of the order or decision by filing a 
written request for review by the Superior Court serving  Warren County within 
30 days after receipt of notice by registered or certified mail of the order or 
decision, but not thereafter, with the Superior Court serving Warren County 
along with a copy to the Town.  Within 30 days after receipt of the copy of the 
written request for review by the Court, the Board of Commissioners shall 
transmit to the reviewing court the original or a certified copy of the official 
record.  

 
Secs. 51.141 – 51.144.  Reserved 
 
DIVISION 11 - AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES TO DISCHARGE VIOLATIONS  
 
§ 51-145. -  Upset  
 
(a) An upset shall constitute an affirmative defense to an action brought for 

noncompliance with categorical pretreatment standards if the requirements of 
paragraph (b), below, are met. 

 
(b) A user who wishes to establish the affirmative defense of upset shall demonstrate, 

through properly signed, contemporaneous operating logs, or other relevant 
evidence that: 

(1) An upset occurred and the user can identify the cause(s) of the upset; 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 56 

(2) The facility was at the time being operated in a prudent and workman-like 
manner and in compliance with applicable operation and maintenance 
procedures; and 

(3) The user has submitted the following information to the Public Works 
Director within twenty-four (24) hours of becoming aware of the upset [if this 
information is provided orally, a written submission must be provided within 
five (5) days]: 

(i) A description of the indirect discharge and cause of 
noncompliance; 

(ii) The period of noncompliance, including exact dates and times 
or, if not corrected, the anticipated time the noncompliance is 
expected to continue; and 

(iii) Steps being taken and/or planned to reduce, eliminate, and 
prevent recurrence of the noncompliance. 

 
(c) In any enforcement proceeding, the user seeking to establish the occurrence of an 

upset shall have the burden of proof. 
 
(d) Users will have the opportunity for a judicial determination on any claim of upset 

only in an enforcement action brought for noncompliance with categorical 
pretreatment standards. 

 
(e) Users shall control production of all discharges to the extent necessary to maintain 

compliance with categorical pretreatment standards upon reduction, loss, or 
failure of its treatment facility until the facility is restored or an alternative method 
of treatment is provided.  This requirement applies in the situation where, among 
other things, the primary source of power of the treatment facility is reduced, lost, 
or fails. 

 
§ 51.146. - Prohibited Discharge Standards Defense 
 
A user shall have an affirmative defense to an enforcement action brought against it for 
noncompliance with the general prohibitions in § 51.81 (a) of this ordinance or the specific 
prohibitions in §§ 51.81 (b)(2), (3), and (5) – (7) and (9)-(23) of this ordinance if it can prove 
that it did not know, or have reason to know, that its discharge, alone or in conjunction with 
conjunction with discharge from other sources, would cause pass through or interference 
and that either: 

a. A local limit exists for each pollutant discharged and the user was in 
compliance with each limit directly prior to, and during, the pass through or 
interference; or 
 

b. No local limit exists, but the discharge did not change substantially in nature 
or constituents from the user's prior discharge when the Town was regularly 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 57 

in compliance with its NPDES permit, and in the case of interference, was in 
compliance with applicable sludge use or disposal requirements. 

 
§ 51.147. - Bypass 
 
(a) A user may allow any bypass to occur which does not cause pretreatment 

standards or requirements to be violated, but only if it also is for essential 
maintenance to assure efficient operation.  These bypasses are not subject to the 
provision of paragraphs (b) and (c) of this Section. 

 
(b) 

(1) If a user knows in advance of the need for a bypass, it shall submit prior 
notice to the Public Works Director, at least ten (10) days before the date 
of the bypass, if possible. 

 
(2) A user shall submit oral notice to the Public Works Director of an 

unanticipated bypass that exceeds applicable pretreatment standards 
within twenty-four (24) hours from the time it becomes aware of the 
bypass.  A written submission shall also be provided within five (5) days 
of this time the user becomes aware of the bypass.  The written 
submission shall contain a description of the bypass and its cause; the 
duration of the bypass, including exact dates and times, and, if the 
bypass has not been corrected, the anticipated time it is expected to 
continue; and steps taken or planned to reduce, eliminate, and prevent 
reoccurrence of the bypass.  The Public Works Director may waive the 
written report on a case-by-case basis if the oral report has been 
received within twenty-four (24) hours. 

(c) 
(1) Bypass is prohibited, and the Public Works Director may take an 

enforcement action against a user for a bypass, unless 
a. Bypass was unavoidable to prevent loss of life, personal injury, or 

severe property damage; 
b. There were no feasible alternatives to the bypass, such as the use 

of auxiliary treatment facilities, retention of untreated wastes, or 
maintenance during normal periods of equipment downtime.  This 
condition is not satisfied if adequate back-up equipment should 
have been installed in the exercise of reasonable engineering 
judgment to prevent a bypass which occurred during normal 
periods of equipment downtime or preventive maintenance; and  

c. The user submitted notices as required under paragraph (b) of this 
§. 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 58 

(2) The Public Works Director may approve an anticipated bypass, after considering 
its adverse effects, if the Public Works Director determines that it will meet the 
three conditions listed in paragraph (c)(1) of this §. 

 
§§51-148 – 51.159  Reserved. 

 
 
 

 

  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 59 

ARTICLE VI.  CROSS CONNECTION AND BACKFLOW PREVENTION 

§ 51-160  Purpose and Application 
 
(a)  The purpose of this cross connection control article is to define the authority of the 

Town of Warrenton as the water purveyor in the elimination of all cross connections 
within its public potable water supply.  
 

(b) This article shall apply to all users connected to the Town of Warrenton’s public 
potable water supply regardless of whether the user is located within the town limits or 
outside of the town limits.  

 
(c)  This article will comply with the Federal Safe Drinking Water Act (PL 93-523), the North 

Carolina State Administrative Code (15A NCAC 18C), and the North Carolina State 
Building Code (Volume II) as they pertain to cross connections with the public water 
supply.  

 
§ 51-162. Objectives of article  
 
The specific objectives of this cross connection control article for the Town of Warrenton 
are as follows:  

(1) To protect the public potable water supply of the Town of Warrenton against actual 
or potential contamination by isolating within the consumer's water system 
contaminants or pollutants which could, under adverse conditions, backflow 
through uncontrolled cross connections into the public water system.  

(2) To eliminate or control existing cross connections, actual or potential, between the 
consumer's potable water system and nonpotable or industrial piping system.  

(3) To provide a continuing inspection program of cross connection control which will 
systematically and effectively control all actual or potential cross connections 
which may be installed in the future.  

 
§ 51-163. Responsibilities  
 
(a) Health agency - The state department of environment and natural resources has the 

responsibility for promulgating and enforcing laws, rules, regulations, and policies to 
be followed in carrying out an effective cross connection control program. The state 
department of environment and natural resources also has the primary responsibility of 
insuring that the water purveyor operates the public potable water system free of 
actual or potential sanitary hazards, including unprotected cross connections. The 
state department of environment and natural resources has the further responsibility of 
insuring that the water purveyor provides an approved water supply at the service 
connection to the consumer's water system and, further, that he requires the 
installation, testing, and maintenance of an approved backflow prevention assembly 
on the service connection when required.  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 60 

(b) Water purveyor - Except as otherwise provided in this article, the water purveyor which 
is the Town of Warrenton’s responsibility to ensure a safe water supply begins at the 
source and includes all of the public water distribution system, including the service 
connection, and ends at the point of delivery to the consumer's water system. In 
addition, the water purveyor shall exercise reasonable vigilance to insure that the 
consumer has taken the proper steps to protect the public potable water system. To 
insure that the proper precautions are taken, the v is required to determine the degree 
of hazard or potential hazard to the public potable water system; to determine the 
degree of protection required; and to ensure proper containment protection through an 
on-going inspection program. When it is determined that a backflow prevention 
assembly is required for the protection of the public system, the v shall require the 
consumer, at the consumer's expense, to install an approved backflow prevention 
assembly at each service connection, to test immediately upon installation and 
thereafter at a frequency as determined by the water purveyor, to properly repair and 
maintain such assembly or assemblies and to keep adequate records of each test and 
subsequent maintenance and repair, including materials and/or replacement parts.  

 
(c) Plumbing inspection - The plumbing inspection departments have the responsibility to 

not only review building plans and inspect plumbing as it is installed; but, they have the 
explicit responsibility of preventing cross connections from being designed and built 
into the plumbing system within its jurisdiction. Where the review of building plans 
suggests or detects the potential for cross connections being made an integral part of 
the plumbing system, the plumbing inspector has the responsibility, under the state 
building code, for requiring that such cross connections be either eliminated or 
provided with backflow prevention equipment approved by the state building code. The 
plumbing inspector's responsibility begins at the point of delivery, downstream of the 
first installed backflow prevention assembly, and continues throughout the entire 
length of the consumer's water system. The plan inspector should inquire about the 
intended use of water at any point where it is suspected that a cross connection might 
be made or where one is actually called for by the plans. When such is discovered, it 
shall be mandatory that a suitable, approved backflow prevention assembly approved 
by the state building code be required by the plans and be properly installed. The 
primary protection assembly for containment purposes only shall have approval from 
the v, the state building code, and the state department of environment and natural 
resources.  

 
(d) Consumer - The consumer has the primary responsibility of preventing pollutants and 

contaminants from entering his potable water system or the public potable water 
system. The consumer's responsibility starts at the point of delivery from the public 
potable water system and includes all of his water system. The consumer, at his own 
expense, shall install, operate, test, and maintain approved backflow prevention 
assemblies as directed by the Town of Warrenton. The consumer shall maintain 
accurate records of tests and repairs made to backflow prevention assemblies and 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 61 

shall maintain such records for a minimum period of three years. The records shall be 
on forms approved by the Town of Warrenton and shall include the list of materials or 
replacement parts used. Following any repair, overhaul, repiping or relocation of an 
assembly, the consumer shall have it tested to insure that it is in good operating 
condition and will prevent backflow. Tests, maintenance and repairs of backflow 
prevention assemblies shall be made by a certified backflow prevention assembly 
tester.  

 
(e) Certified backflow prevention assembly testers -When employed by the consumer to 

test, repair, overhaul, or maintain backflow prevention assemblies, a backflow 
prevention assembly tester will have the following responsibilities: The tester will be 
responsible for making competent inspections and for repairing or overhauling 
backflow prevention assemblies and making reports of such repair to the consumer 
and responsible authorities on forms approved by the Town of Warrenton. The tester 
shall include the list of materials or replacement parts used. The tester shall be 
equipped with and be competent to use all the necessary tools, gauges, manometers 
and other equipment necessary to properly test, repair, and maintain backflow 
prevention assemblies. It will be the tester's responsibility to insure that original 
manufactured parts are used in the repair of or replacement of parts in a backflow 
prevention assembly. It will be the tester's further responsibility not to change the 
design, material or operational characteristics of an assembly during repair or 
maintenance without prior approval of the Town of Warrenton.  

 
A certified tester shall perform the work and be responsible for the competency and 
accuracy of all tests and reports. A certified tester shall provide a copy of all test and 
repair reports to the consumer and to the Town of Warrenton cross connection control 
department within ten business days of any completed test or repair work. A certified 
tester shall maintain such records for a minimum period of three years. All certified 
backflow prevention assembly testers must obtain and employ backflow prevention 
assembly test equipment which has been evaluated and/or approved by the Town of 
Warrenton. All test equipment shall be registered with the Town of Warrenton cross 
connection control department. All test equipment shall be checked for accuracy 
annually, at a minimum, calibrated, if necessary, and certified to the Town of 
Warrenton as to such calibration, employing an accuracy/calibration method 
acceptable to the Town of Warrenton. All certified backflow prevention assembly 
testers must become re-certified every two years through an approved backflow 
prevention certification program.  

 
§51-164. Definitions.  
 
The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the meanings 
ascribed to them in this §, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 62 

Air-gap separation - A physical separation between the free flowing discharge end of a 
potable water supply pipeline and an open or nonpressure receiving vessel. An approved 
air-gap separation shall be at least double the diameter of the supply pipe measured 
vertically above the overflow rim of the receiving vessel, in no case less than one inch (2.54 
cm).  
 
Approved – A water supply that has been approved by the state department of environment 
and natural resources; or, as used in reference to air-gap separation, a pressure vacuum 
breaker, a double check valve assembly, a double check detector assembly, a reduced 
pressure principle backflow prevention assembly, a reduced pressure principle detector 
assembly, or other backflow prevention assemblies or methods means an approval by the 
Town of Warrenton.  
 
Backflow - The undesirable reversal of flow of water or mixtures of water and other liquids, 
gases, or other substances into the distribution pipes of the consumer or public potable 
water system from any source or sources.  
 
Backflow prevention assembly, Approved - An assembly used for containment and/or 
isolation purposes that has been investigated and approved by the Town of Warrenton and 
has been shown to meet the design and performance standards of the American Society of 
Sanitary Engineers (ASSE), the American Water Works Association (AWWA), or the 
Foundation for Cross-Connection Control and Hydraulic Research of the University of 
Southern California. The approval of backflow prevention assemblies by the Town of 
Warrenton is based on a favorable report by the Foundation for Cross-Connection Control 
and Hydraulic Research of the University of Southern California, recommending such an 
approval. To be approved, an assembly must be readily accessible for in-line testing and 
maintenance. The Town of Warrenton reserves the right to evaluate any backflow 
prevention assembly though a field evaluation process for approval if necessary for a 
period of time established by the town.  
 
Backflow prevention assembly, Unapproved - An assembly that has been investigated by 
the Town of Warrenton and has been determined to be unacceptable for installation within 
the Town of Warrenton water system. Consideration for disapproval and removal from the 
"approved list" shall be based upon, but not limited to, the following criteria: (i) Due to poor 
performance standards (i.e., significant failure rate); (ii) lack of or unavailability of repair 
parts; and/or, (iii) poor service or response from assembly's factory representative.  
 
Backflow prevention assembly, Type -An assembly used to prevent backflow into a 
consumer or public potable water system. The type of assembly used should be based on 
the degree of hazard either existing or potential. The types are:  

(1) Double check valve assembly (DCVA). 
(2) Double check detector assembly (fire system) (DCDA). 
(3) Pressure vacuum breaker (PVB). 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 63 

(4) Atmospheric vacuum breaker (AVB) 
(5) Reduced pressure principle assembly (RP). 
(6) Reduced pressure principle detector assembly (fire system). (RPDA).  

 
Backflow prevention assembly tester, Certified - A person who has proven his competency 
to the satisfaction of the Town of Warrenton. Each person who is certified to make 
competent tests, or to repair, overhaul, and make reports on backflow prevention 
assemblies shall be knowledgeable of applicable laws, rules, and regulations, shall be a 
licensed plumber or have at least two years’ experience under and be employed by a state 
licensed plumber or plumbing contractor, or have equivalent qualifications acceptable to 
the Town of Warrenton, and must hold a certificate of completion from an approved 
training program in the testing and repair of backflow prevention assemblies. Backflow 
assembly testers who hold a certificate of completion from an approved training program 
shall be required to successfully complete a practical examination administered by the 
Town of Warrenton prior to conducting test and repair work on backflow prevention 
assemblies in the Town of Warrenton water system. Backflow assembly testers who hold a 
certificate of completion from a nonapproved training program shall be required to 
successfully complete a written and practical examination administered by the Town of 
Warrenton prior to conducting test and repair work on backflow prevention assemblies in 
the Town of Warrenton water system.  
 
Backflow prevention device, Approved - A device used for isolation purposes that has been 
shown to meet the design and performance standards of the American Society of Sanitary 
Engineers (ASSE) and the American Water Works Association (AWWA)  
 
Back-pressure backflow - Any elevation in the consumer water system, by pump, elevation 
of piping, or steam and/or air pressure, above the supply pressure at the point of delivery 
which would cause, or tend to cause, a reversal of the normal direction of flow.  
Back-siphonage backflow means a reversal of the normal direction of flow in the pipeline 
due to a negative pressure (vacuum) being created in the supply line with the backflow 
source subject to atmospheric pressure.  
 
Check valve, Approved – A check valve that is drip-tight in the normal direction of flow 
when the inlet pressure is at least one psi and the outlet pressure is zero. The check valve 
shall permit no leakage in a direction reverse to the normal flow. The closure element (e.g. 
clapper, poppet, or other design) shall be internally loaded to promote rapid and positive 
closure. An approved check valve is only one component of an approved backflow 
prevention assembly, i.e., pressure vacuum breaker, double check valve assembly, double 
check detector assembly, reduced pressure principal assembly, or reduced pressure 
detector assembly.  
 
Consumer - Any person, firm, or corporation using or receiving water from the Town of 
Warrenton water system.  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 64 

 
Consumer's potable water system - That portion of the privately owned potable water 
system lying between the point of delivery and point of use and/or isolation protection. This 
system will include all pipes, conduits, tanks, receptacles, fixtures, equipment, and 
appurtenances used to produce, convey, store, or use potable water.  
 
Consumer's water system - Any water system commencing at the point of delivery and 
continuing throughout the consumer's plumbing system, located on the consumer's 
premises, whether supplied by public potable water or an auxiliary water supply. The 
system or systems may be either a potable water system or an industrial piping system.  
Containment means preventing the impairment of the public potable water supply by 
installing an approved backflow prevention assembly at the service connection.  
Contamination means an impairment of the quality of the water which creates a potential 
or actual hazard to the public health through the introduction of hazardous or toxic 
substances or through the spread of disease by sewage, industrial fluids, or waste.  
 
Cross connection - Any unprotected actual or potential connection or structural 
arrangement between a public or a consumer's water system and any other source or 
system through which it is possible to introduce any contamination or pollution, other than 
the intended potable water with which the system is supplied. Bypass arrangements, 
jumper connections, removable sections, swivel or change-over devices, and other 
temporary or permanent devices through which or because of which "backflow" can or 
may occur are considered to be cross connections.  
 
Double check detector assembly - A specially designed assembly composed of a line-size 
approved double check valve assembly with a specific bypass water meter and a meter-
sized approved double check valve assembly. The meter shall register (in U.S. gallons or 
cubic feet) accurately for only very low rates of flow and shall show a registration for all 
rates of flow. This assembly shall only be used to protect against a nonhealth hazard (i.e., 
pollutant).  
 
Double check valve assembly- An assembly composed of two independently acting, 
approved check valves, including tightly closing shutoff valves attached at each end of the 
assembly and fitted with properly located test cocks. This assembly shall only be used to 
protect against a nonhealth hazard (i.e. pollutant).  
 
Hazard, Degree of – A term derived from the evaluation of conditions within a system which 
can be classified as either a "pollutional" (nonhealth) or a "contamination" (health) hazard.  
Hazard--Health. The term "health hazard" means an actual or potential threat of 
contamination of a physical, hazardous or toxic nature to the public or consumer's potable 
water system to such a degree or intensity that there would be a danger to health.  
 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 65 

Hazard, Nonhealth - An actual or potential threat to the quality of the public or the 
consumer's potable water system. A nonhealth hazard is one that, if introduced into the 
public water supply system, could be a nuisance to water customers, but would not 
adversely affect human health.  
 
Hazard, Pollutional - An actual or potential threat to the quality or the potability of the 
public or the consumer's potable water system but which would not constitute a health or 
a system hazard, as defined. The maximum degree or intensity of pollution to which the 
potable water system could be degraded under this definition would cause a nuisance or 
be aesthetically objectionable or could cause minor damage to the system or its 
appurtenances.  
 
Health agency - The state department of environment and natural resources.  
 
Industrial fluids -Any fluid or solution which may be chemically, biologically, or otherwise 
contaminated or polluted in a form or concentration such as would constitute a health or 
nonhealth hazard if introduced into a public or consumer potable water system. Such 
fluids may include, but are not limited to: process waters; chemicals in fluid form; acids 
and alkalis; oils, gases; etc.  
 
Industrial piping system--Consumer's. The term "consumer's industrial piping system" 
means any system used by the consumer for transmission of or to confine or store any 
fluid, solid or gaseous substance other than an approved water supply. Such a system 
would include all pipes, conduits, tanks, receptacles, fixtures, equipment, and 
appurtenances used to produce, convey, or store substances which are or may be polluted 
or contaminated  
 
Isolation - The act of confining a localized hazard within a consumer's water system by 
installing approved backflow prevention assemblies. Disclaimer: Town of Warrenton may 
make recommendations, upon facility inspection, as to the usages of isolation 
devices/assemblies, but does not assume or have responsibility whatsoever for such 
installations.  
 
Point of delivery - Generally at the property line of the customer, adjacent to the public 
street where the Town of Warrenton mains are located, or at a point on the customer's 
property where the meter is located. The customer shall be responsible for all water piping 
and control devices located on the customer's side of the point of delivery.  
 
Pollution - An impairment of the quality of the water to a degree which does not create an 
actual hazard to the public health but which does adversely and unreasonably affect the 
aesthetic qualities of such waters for domestic use.  
 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 66 

Potable water - Water from any source which has been investigated by the state 
department of environment and natural resources and which has been approved for 
human consumption.  
 
Public potable water system - Any publicly or privately owned water system operated as a 
public utility, under a current state department of environment and natural resources 
permit, to supply water for public consumption or use. This system will include all sources, 
facilities, and appurtenances between the source and the point of delivery such as valves, 
pumps, pipes, conduits, tanks, receptacles, fixtures, equipment, and appurtenances used 
to produce, convey, treat, or store potable water for public consumption or use.  
 
Reduced pressure principal backflow prevention assembly - An assembly containing 
within its structure a minimum of two independently acting, approved check valves, 
together with a hydraulically operating, mechanically independent, pressure differential 
relief valve located between the check valves and at the same time below the first check 
valve. The first check valve reduces the supply pressure a predetermined amount so that 
during normal flow and at cessation of normal flow, the pressure between the checks is 
less than the supply pressure. In case of leakage of either check valve, the pressure 
differential relief valve, by discharge to atmosphere, shall operate to maintain the pressure 
between the checks less than the supply pressure. The unit shall include tightly closing 
shutoff valves located at each end of the assembly and each assembly shall be fitted with 
properly located test cocks. The assembly is designed to protect against a health hazard 
(i.e., contaminant).  
 
Reduced pressure principal detector assembly - A specially designed assembly composed 
of a line-size approved reduced pressure principle backflow prevention assembly with a 
specific bypass water meter and a meter-sized approved reduced pressure principle 
backflow prevention assembly. The meter shall register, in U.S. gallons or cubit feet, 
accurately for only very low rates of flow and shall show a registration for all rates of flow. 
This assembly shall be used to protect against a health hazard (i.e., contaminant).  
 
Service connections - The terminal end of a service connection from the public potable 
water system, i.e., where the Town of Warrenton loses jurisdiction and sanitary control 
over the water at its point of delivery to the consumer's water system.  
 
Vacuum breaker, atmospheric type - The term "atmospheric vacuum breaker," also known 
as the "nonpressure type vacuum breaker," means a device containing a float-check, a 
check seat, and an air inlet port. The flow of water into the body causes the float to close 
the air inlet port. When the flow of water stops, the float falls and forms a check valve 
against back-siphonage and at the same time opens the air inlet port to allow air to enter 
and satisfy the vacuum. Shutoff valves downstream of AVBs are not allowed. AVB’s must 
always be installed at a minimum of 6” above the highest outlet. An atmospheric vacuum 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 67 

breaker is designed to protect against health hazards, isolation protection only, under a 
backsiphonage condition only.  
 
Vacuum breaker, pressure type - An assembly containing an independently operating 
internally loaded check valve and an independently operating loaded air inlet valve located 
on the discharge side of the check valve. The assembly is to be equipped with properly 
located test cocks and tightly closing shutoff valves attached at each end of the assembly. 
PVB’s must always be installed at a minimum of 12” above the highest outlet. This 
assembly is designed to protect against a health hazard (i.e., contaminant) under a 
backsiphonage condition only.  
 
Water purveyor - The owner or operator of a public potable water system, providing an 
approved water supply to the public.  
 
Water supply, Approved m- Any public potable water supply which has been investigated 
and approved by the permit. In determining what constitutes an approved water supply, 
the state department of environment and natural resources has reserved the final 
judgment as to its safety and potability.  
 
Water supply, auxiliary - Any water supply on or available to the premises other than the 
purveyor's approved public potable water supply. These auxiliary waters may include water 
from another purveyor's public potable water supply or any natural source such as a well, 
spring, river, stream, etc., "used water", or industrial fluids. These waters may be polluted, 
contaminated, or objectionable and constitute an unacceptable water source over which 
the water purveyor does not have sanitary control.  
 
Water supply, Unapproved - A water supply which has not been approved for human 
consumption by the state department of environment and natural resources.  
 
Water, Used - Any water supplied by a water purveyor from a public water system to a 
consumer's water system after it has passed through the point of delivery and is no longer 
under the control of the water purveyor.  
 
§ 51-165. Right of entry  
 
(a) Authorized representatives from the Town of Warrenton shall have the right to enter, 

upon presentation of proper credentials and identification, any building, structure, or 
premises during normal business hours, or at any time during the event of an 
emergency, to perform any duty imposed by this article. Those duties may include 
sampling and testing of water, or inspections and observations of all piping systems 
connected to the public water supply. Where a user has security measures in force 
which would require proper identification and clearance before entry into their 
premises, the user shall make necessary arrangements with the security guards so that 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 68 

upon presentation of suitable identification, Town of Warrenton personnel will be 
permitted to enter, without delay, for the purposes of performing their specific 
responsibilities. Refusal to allow entry for these purposes may result in discontinuance 
of water service.  

 
(b) On request, the consumer shall furnish to the commission any pertinent information 

regarding the water supply system on such property where cross connections and 
backflow are deemed possible.  

 
§ 51-166. Elimination of cross connections; degree of hazard  
 
(a) When cross connections are found to exist, the owner, his agent, occupant, or tenant 

will be notified in writing to disconnect the cross connection within the time limit 
established by the Town of Warrenton. Degree of protection required and maximum 
time allowed for compliance will be based upon the potential degree of hazard to the 
public water supply system. The maximum time limits are as follows:  

(1) Cross connections with private wells or other auxiliary water supplies--
immediate disconnection.  

(2) All facilities which pose a health hazard to the potable water system must have 
a containment assembly in the form of a reduced pressure principal backflow 
prevention assembly within 60 days.  

(3) All industrial and commercial facilities not identified as a health hazard shall be 
considered nonhealth hazard facilities. All nonhealth hazard facilities must 
install, as a minimum containment assembly, a double check valve assembly 
within 90 days  

(4) If, in the judgment of the Town of Warrenton, an imminent health hazard exists, 
water service to the building or premises where a cross connection exists may 
be terminated unless an air gap is immediately provided, or the cross 
connection is immediately eliminated.  

(5) Based upon recommendation from the Town of Warrenton, the consumer is 
responsible for installing sufficient internal isolation backflow prevention 
assemblies and/or methods (i.e., air gap, pressure vacuum breakers, reduced 
pressure principal backflow prevention assembly, double check valve 
assembly).  

(6) Water mains served by the Town of Warrenton but not maintained by the Town of 
Warrenton should be considered cross connections, with degree of hazard to be 
determined by the Town of Warrenton. Degree of protection shall be based upon 
the degree of hazard, as determined by the Town of Warrenton.  

 
(b) In the event that a Town of Warrenton cross connection control inspector does not 

have sufficient access to every portion of a private water system (e.g., classified 
research and development facilities; federal government property) to allow a complete 
evaluation of the degree of hazard associated with such private water systems, an 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 69 

approved reduced pressure principal assembly shall be required as a minimum of 
protection.  

(c) No person shall fill special use tanks or tankers containing pesticides, fertilizers, other 
toxic chemicals or their residues from the public water system except at a location 
equipped with an air gap or an approved reduced pressure principal backflow 
prevention assembly properly installed on the public water supply.  
 

§ 51-167. Installation of assemblies.  
 
(a) All backflow prevention assemblies shall be installed in accordance with the 

specifications furnished by The Town of Warrenton and/or the manufacturer's 
installation instructions and/or in the latest edition of the state building code, 
whichever is most restrictive. All assemblies installed above ground outside must be 
protected from freezing with an above ground enclosure that meets the ASSE 1060 
standard. If the assembly is installed outside and intended for commercial domestic 
water use, a heat source must be ready available at the assembly, if necessary, and 
must be freeze proof.  

  
(b) All new construction plans and specifications, when required by the state building code 

and the state department of environment and natural resources, shall be made 
available to the Town of Warrenton for review and approval, and to determine the 
degree of hazard.  

 
(c) Ownership, testing, and maintenance of the assembly shall be the responsibility of the 

customer.  
 
(d) All double check valve assemblies must be installed in accordance with detailed 

specifications provided by the Town of Warrenton. Double check valve assemblies may 
be installed in a vertical position provided they have been specifically approved by the 
manufacture and with prior approval from the Town of Warrenton Cross Connection 
Control Department provided the flow of water is in an upward direction. All double 
check valve assemblies 2 1⁄2” and larger must be installed above ground covered by an 
above ground enclosure that meets the ASSE 1060 standard if they are installed 
outside. Inside installations must meet North Carolina Plumbing Code.  

 
(e) Reduced pressure principle assemblies must be installed in a horizontal position and 

in a location in which no portion of the assembly can become submerged in any 
substance under any circumstances. The further most bottom portion of the body must 
be at a minimum of 12” above grade, no more than 4’. Pit and/or below grade 
installations are prohibited.  

 
(f) The installation of a backflow prevention assembly which is not approved must be 

replaced with an approved backflow prevention assembly.  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 70 

(g) The installer is responsible to make sure a backflow prevention assembly is working 
properly upon installation and is required to furnish the following information to the 
Town of Warrenton Cross Connection Control Department within 15 days after a 
reduced pressure principle backflow preventer (RP), double check valve assembly 
(DCVA), pressure vacuum breaker (PVB), double check detector assembly (DCDA), or 
reduced pressure principle detector assembly (RPDA) is installed:  

1. Service address where assembly is located.  
2. Owner and address, if different from service address.  
3. Description of assembly's location.  
4. Date of installation.  
5. Installer, include name, plumbing company represented, plumber's license 

number, and project permit number.  
6. Type of assembly, size of assembly.  
7. Manufacturer, model number, serial number.  
8. Test results/report.  

 
(h) When it is not possible to interrupt water service, provisions shall be made for a parallel 

installation of backflow prevention assemblies. The Town of Warrenton will not accept 
an unprotected bypass around a backflow preventer when the assembly is in need of 
testing, repair, or replacement.  
 

(i) The consumer shall, upon notification, install the appropriate containment assembly 
not to exceed the following time frame:  

Health hazard . . . 60 days  
Nonhealth hazard . . . 90 days  

 
(j) Following installation, all reduced pressure principal backflow preventers (RP), double 

check valve assemblies (DCVA), pressure vacuum breakers (PVB), double check 
detector assemblies (DCDA), or reduced pressure principle detector assemblies 
(RPDA) are required to be tested by a certified backflow prevention assembly tester 
within ten days.  
 

§ 51-168. Testing and repair of assemblies  
 
(a) Testing of backflow prevention assemblies shall be made by a certified backflow 

prevention assembly tester or may be contracted out to the Town of Warrenton cross 
connection control department at the customer's expense. Such tests are to be 
conducted upon installation and annually thereafter or at a frequency established by 
the Town of Warrenton regulations. A record of all testing and repairs is to be retained 
by the customer. Copies of the records must be provided to the Town of Warrenton 
cross connection control department within ten business days after the completion of 
any testing and/or repair work.  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 71 

(b) Any time that repairs to backflow prevention assemblies are deemed necessary, 
whether through annual or required testing or routine inspection by the owner or by the 
Town of Warrenton, these repairs must be completed within a specified time in 
accordance with the degree of hazard. In no case shall this time period exceed:  

1. (1)  Health hazard facilities . . . 14 days  
2. (2)  Non-health hazard facilities . . . 21 days  

 
(c) All backflow prevention assemblies with test cocks are required to be tested annually 

or at frequency established by the Town of Warrenton regulations. Testing requires a 
water shutdown usually lasting five to 20 minutes. For facilities that require an 
uninterrupted supply of water, and when it is not possible to provide water service from 
two separate meters, provisions shall be made for a parallel installation of backflow 
prevention assemblies.  

 
(d) All certified backflow prevention assembly testers must obtain and employ backflow 

prevention assembly test equipment which has been evaluated and/or approved by the 
Town of Warrenton. All test equipment shall be registered with the Town of Warrenton 
cross connection control department. All test equipment shall be checked for 
accuracy annually, at a minimum, calibrated, if necessary, and certified to the Town of 
Warrenton as to such accuracy/calibration, employing a calibration method 
acceptable to the Town of Warrenton. Ref. § 51-163 (e)  

 
(e) It shall be unlawful for any customer or certified tester to submit any record to the Town 

of Warrenton which is false or incomplete in any material respect. It shall be unlawful 
for any customer or certified tester to fail to submit to the Town of Warrenton any 
record which is required by this article. Such violations may result in any of the 
enforcement actions outlined in §. 51-172 Enforcement 

 
§ 51-169. Facilities requiring protection  
 
(a) Approved backflow prevention assemblies shall be installed on the service line to any 

premises that the Town of Warrenton has identified as having a potential for backflow.  
 
(b) The following types of facilities or services have been identified by the Town of 

Warrenton as having a potential for backflow of nonpotable water into the public water 
supply system. Therefore, an approved backflow prevention assembly will be required 
on all such services according to the degree of hazard present. Other types of facilities 
or services not listed below may also be required to install approved backflow 
prevention assemblies if determined necessary by the Town of Warrenton. As a 
minimum requirement, all commercial services will be required to install a double 
check valve assembly, unless otherwise listed in this subsection.  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 72 

DCVA = Double check valve assembly 
RP = Reduced pressure principal assembly DCDA = Double check detector assembly 
RPDA = Reduced pressure detector assembly  
AG = Air gap  
PVB =Pressure vacuum breaker  
 
1. Aircraft and missile plants: RP 
2. Automotive services stations, dealerships, etc. RP 
3. Automotive plants: RP  
4. Auxiliary water systems:  

a. Approved public/private water supply: DCVA  
b. Unapproved public/private water supply: AG  
c. Used water and industrial fluids: RP   

5. Bakeries:  
a. No health hazard: DCVA  
b. Health hazard: RP  

6. Beauty shops/barber shops: RP 
7. Beverage bottling plants: RP  
8. Breweries: RP  
9. Buildings--Hotels, apartment houses, public and private buildings, or other 

structures having unprotected cross connections.  
a. (Under five stories) no health hazard: DCVA  
b. (Under five stories) health hazard: RP  
c. (Over five stories) all: RP  

10. Canneries, packing houses, and rendering plants: RP  
11. Chemical plants--Manufacturing, processing, compounding or treatment: RP  
12. Chemically contaminated water systems: RP  
13. Commercial car-wash facilities: RP  
14. Commercial greenhouses: RP  
15. Commercial sales establishments (department stores, malls, etc.)  

a. No health hazard: DCVA  
b. Health hazard: RP  

16. Concrete/asphalt plants: RP  
17. Dairies and cold storage plants: RP  
18. Dye works: RP  
19. Film laboratories: RP  
20. Fire systems:  

a. Systems three-fourths inch to two inches:  
1. No health hazard: DCVA  
2. Health hazard: (booster pumps, foam, antifreeze solution, etc.): RP  

b. Systems 2 1/2 inches to ten inches or larger:  
1. No health hazard: DCDA  
2. Health hazard (booster pumps, foam, antifreeze solution, etc.): RPDA  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 73 

21. Hospitals, medical buildings, sanitariums, morgues, mortuaries, autopsy facilities, 
nursing and convalescent homes, medical clinics, and veterinary hospitals: RP  

22. Industrial facilities:  
a. No health hazard: DCVA  
b. Health hazard: RP  

23. Laundries:  
a. No health hazard: DCVA  
b. Health hazard: (i.e., dry cleaners): RP  

24. Lawn irrigation systems (split taps): RP  
25. Metal manufacturing, cleaning, processing, and fabricating plants: RP  
26. Mobile home parks:  

a. No health hazard: DCVA  
b. Health hazard: RP  

27. Oil and gas production, storage or transmission properties: RP  
28. Paper and paper products plants: RP  
29. Pest control (exterminating and fumigating): RP  
30. Plating plants: RP  
31. Power plants: RP  
32. Radioactive materials or substances plants or facilities handling: RP  
33. Restaurants:  

a. No health hazard: DCVA  
b. Health hazard: RP  

34. Restricted, classified, or other closed facilities: RP  
35. Rubber plants (natural or synthetic): RP  
36. Sand and gravel plants: RP  
37. Schools and colleges: RP  
38. Sewage and storm drain facilities: RP  
39. Swimming pools: RP  
40. Waterfront facilities and industries: RP  
 

(c) All assemblies and installations shall be subject to inspection and approval by the 
Town of Warrenton.  

 
§ 51-170. Connections with unapproved sources of supply  

 
(a) No person shall connect or cause to be connected any supply of water not approved by 

the state department of environment and natural resources to the water system 
supplied by the Town of Warrenton. Any such connections allowed by the Town of 
Warrenton must be in conformance with the backflow prevention requirements of this 
article.  

 
(b) In the event of contamination or pollution of a public or consumer potable water 

system, the consumer shall notify the Town of Warrenton immediately in order that 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 74 

appropriate measures may be taken to overcome and eliminate the contamination or 
pollution.  

 
§ 51-171. Fire protection systems  
 
(a) All connections for fire protection systems connected with the public water system, 

two inches and smaller, shall be protected with an approved double check valve 
assembly as a minimum requirement. All fire systems using toxic additives or booster 
pumps shall be protected by an approved reduced pressure principal assembly at the 
main service connection.  

 
(b) All connections for fire protection systems connected with the public water system 

greater than two inches shall be protected with an approved double check detector 
assembly as a minimum requirement. All fire protection systems using toxic or 
hazardous additives or booster pumps shall be protected by an approved reduced 
pressure principal detector assembly at the main service connection.  

 
(c) All existing backflow prevention assemblies 2 1/2 inches and larger installed on fire 

protection systems that were initially approved by the Town of Warrenton shall be 
allowed to remain on the premises, as long as they are being properly maintained, 
tested and repaired as required by this article. If, however, the existing assembly must 
be replaced once it can no longer be repaired, or in the event of proven water theft 
through an unmetered source, the consumer shall be required to install an approved 
double check detector assembly or reduced pressure principal detector assembly as 
required by § 51-169. Facilities Requiring Protection  

 
§ 51-172. Enforcement.  
 
(a) The owner, manager, supervisor, or person in charge of any installation found not to be 

in compliance with the provisions of this Article shall be notified in writing with regard 
to the corrective action to be taken. The time for compliance shall be in accordance 
with §§ 51-172 (g) (1-4)  

 
(b) The owner, manager, supervisor, or person in charge of any installation which remains 

in noncompliance after the time prescribed in the initial notification, as outlined in § § 
51-172 (g) (1-4), shall be considered in violation of this article, and may be issued a civil 
citation by the Town of Warrenton. The citation shall specify the nature of the violation 
and the provision of this article violated, and further notify the offender that the civil 
penalty for such violation is as set forth in subsection (c) of this section and is to be 
paid to the Town of Warrenton within 30 days. If the penalty prescribed in this sub§ is 
not paid within the time allowed, the Town of Warrenton may initiate a civil action in the 
nature of a debt and recover the sums set forth in sub§ (c) of this § plus the cost of the 
action.  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 75 

(c) Any offender who shall continue any violation beyond the time limit provided for in the 
aforementioned notification shall be subject to a civil penalty of up to $1,000.00 per 
violation. Each day in which a violation of any provision of this article shall occur or 
continue shall constitute a separate and distinct offense.  

 
(d) If, in the judgment of the Town of Warrenton, any owner, manager, supervisor, or 

person in charge of any installation found to be in noncompliance with the provisions of 
this article neglects his or her responsibility to correct any violation, such neglect may 
result in discontinuance of water service until compliance is achieved.  

 
(e) Failure of a customer or certified tester to submit any record required by this article, or 

the submission of falsified reports/records may result in a civil penalty of up to 
$1,000.00 per violation. If a certified backflow prevention assembly tester submits 
falsified records to the Town of Warrenton, the Town of Warrenton shall take the 
necessary actions to revoke certification to test backflow prevention assemblies within 
the potable water system for a time period not to exceed one year. The tester will then 
be required to complete an approved certification course to acquire a new certification. 
Falsification made to records/reports after becoming recertified shall result in the 
permanent revocation of backflow testing certification, in addition to a civil penalty as 
provided for in this subsection.  

 
(f) Enforcement of this program shall be administered by the Public Works Director of the 

Town of Warrenton or its authorized representative.  
 
(g) Requests for extension of time shall be made in writing to the Public Works Director of 

the Town of Warrenton or its authorized representative. All other appeals shall be made 
in accordance with the following procedures:  

(1) Adjudicatory hearings. A customer assessed a civil penalty under this § 
shall have the right to an adjudicatory hearing before a hearing officer 
designated by the Public Works Director of the Town of Warrenton upon 
making written demand, identifying the specific issues to be contended, 
to the Public Works Director of the Town of Warrenton within 30 days 
following notice of final decision to assess a civil penalty. Unless such 
demand is made within the time specified in this sub§, the decision on 
the civil penalty assessment shall be final and binding.  

 
(2) Appeal hearings. Any decision of the Town of Warrenton hearing officer 

made as a result of an adjudicatory hearing held under subsection (g)(1) 
of this § may be appealed by any party to the Town of Warrenton board of 
Commissioners upon filing a written demand within ten days of receipt 
of notice of the decision. Hearings held under this section shall be 
conducted in accordance with the Town of Warrenton hearing 
procedures. Failure to make written demand within the time specified in 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 76 

this sub§ shall bar further appeal. The Town of Warrenton shall make a 
decision on the appeal within 90 days of the date the appeal was filed 
and shall transmit a written copy of its decision by registered or certified 
mail.  

 
(3) Official record. When a final decision is issued under § 51-402 (g)(2) of 

this §, the Town of Warrenton shall prepare an official record of the case 
that includes:  

a. All notices, motions, and other like pleadings;  
b. A copy of all documentary evidence introduced;  
c. A certified transcript of all testimony taken, if testimony is 

transcribed. If testimony is taken and not transcribed, then a 
narrative summary of any testimony taken;  

d. A copy of the final decision of the Town of Warrenton.  
 

(4) Judicial review. Any customer against whom a final decision of the Town 
of Warrenton is entered, pursuant to the hearing procedure under sub§ § 
51-402 (g)(2) of this §, may appeal the order or decision by filing a written 
petition for judicial review within 30 days after receipt of notice by 
certified mail of the order or decision to the general court of justice of the 
county or of the county where the order or decision is effective, along 
with a copy to the Town of Warrenton. Within 30 days after receipt of the 
copy of the petition of judicial review, the Town of Warrenton shall 
transmit to the reviewing court the original or a certified copy of the 
official record, as outlined in subsection (g)(3) of this section.  

 
§ 51-173. Severability  
 
If any section,  subsection, sentence, or clause of this article is adjudged to be 
unconstitutional or otherwise invalid, such adjudication shall not affect the validity of the 
remaining portion of this article. It is hereby declared that this article would have been 
passed, and each section, sentence, or clause thereof, irrespective of the fact that any one 
or more sections, subsections, sentences, or clauses might be adjudged to be 
unconstitutional, for any other reason invalid. (Ordinance of 10-13-23) 
 
§§ 51-174 – 51-179  Reserved 

  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 77 

ARTICLE VII.  GREASE TRAP REQUIREMENTS 
 
§51. 180 Intent and Scope  
 
STANDARDS AND REQUIREMENTS For Food Service Establishments Section 51.091 of the 
Town Of Warrenton Sewer Use Ordinance (SUO) prohibits the discharge to the Town Of 
Warrenton any waste containing floatable oils, fat or grease. Section 51.091 of the SUO 
further states that any waste capable of causing abnormal corrosion, abnormal 
deterioration, damage to or hazard to structures or equipment to the Sewerage System, or 
humans or animals or interference with proper operation of the Town Of Warrenton 
Wastewater Treatment Plant is prohibited. Food Service Establishments shall provide 
means of preventing grease and oil discharges to the Sewerage System. Where a grease 
and oil interceptor currently exists or is required by the Town Of Warrenton, it shall be 
maintained for continuous, satisfactory and effective operation by the owner, leaseholder 
or operator at his/her expense. Grease and oil interceptors shall be of a type and capacity. 
approved by the Town of Warrenton and shall be located as to be readily accessible for 
cleaning and inspection.  
 
§51.181 Definitions  
 
For the purposes of this Article, certain words and phrases used in this Chapter are defined 
as follows:  
 
Food Service Establishment: A facility discharging kitchen or food preparation 
wastewaters such as restaurants, motel, hotels, cafeterias, delicatessen, meat cutting 
preparation, bakeries, hospitals, schools, bars, or any other facility which in the Town' s 
discretion, -would require a grease trap installation by virtue of its operation.  
 
Grease Interceptor/Grease Trap: A device utilized to effect the separation of grease and 
oils in wastewater effluent from a Food Service Establishment. Such traps or interceptors 
may be of the "outdoor" or underground type normally of a 1,000 gallon capacity or more, 
or the "under- the-counter" package units which are typically less than 100 gallon capacity. 
For purposes of this definition, the words "trap" and "interceptor'' are used 
interchangeably.  
 
Interference: The inhibition or disruption of the Wastewater treatment processes or 
operations, or acts or discharges which may cause damage to any portion of the Sewerage 
System or which contribute to a violation of any requirement of a POTW's (Publicly Owned 
Treatment Works) NPDES (National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System) Permit The 
term includes Interference with Sewage sludge use ' or disposal in accordance with State 
or Federal criteria, guidelines or regulations or any State or Federal sludge management 
plan applicable to the method of disposal· or use employed by the Sewerage System.  
 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 78 

§51.182 General Requirements  
 
(a) All Food Service Establishments shall have grease-handling facilities approved by the 

Town of Warrenton. Establishments whose grease-handling facilities or methods are 
not adequately maintained to prevent floatable oils, fat or grease from entering the 
sewerage system shall be notified in writing of any noncompliance and required to 
provide a schedule whereby corrections will be accomplished.  

 
(b) All Food Service Establishments grease-handling facilities shall be subject to review, 

evaluation, and inspection by the Town of Warrenton representative during normal 
working hours. Results of inspections will be made available to facility owner, lease-
holder or operator. The Town Of Warrenton may lend assistance and make 
recommendations for correction and improvement.  

 
(c) Food Service Establishment receiving two (2) consecutive unsatisfactory evaluations or 

inspections, may be subject to penalties or other corrective actions as provided from 
the Sewer Use Ordinance.  

 
(d) Food Service Establishments who continue to violate the Town of Warrenton Grease 

Standards/Requirements may be considered grounds for discontinuance of sewer 
service.  

 
(e) Food Service Establishments whose operations cause or allow excessive grease to 

discharge or accumulate in the Town of Warrenton collection system may be liable to 
the Town Of Warrenton for costs related to the Town of Warrenton service calls for line 
blockages, line cleanings, line and pump repairs, etc. including all labor~ materials, 
and equipment. Failure to pay all service-related charge may also be grounds for 
water/sewer service discontinuance.  

 
(f) Regularly scheduled maintenance of grease-handling facilities is required to insure 

adequate operation. In the maintaining of these grease interceptors, the owner, lease-
holder or operator shall be responsible for the proper removal and disposal of grease 
by appropriate means arid shall maintain on-site records of dates; and means of 
disposal. Records shall be maintained for a period-of three (3) years.  

 
(g) Any Food Service Establishment whose effluent discharge to the sewerage system is 

determined by the Town Of Warrenton to cause interference in the conveyance or 
operation of the sewerage system may be required to sample its grease trap discharge 
and have it analyzed for oil and grease at the expense of the owner, lease-holder or 
operator. Results of such analyses shall be reported to the Town of Warrenton.  

 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 79 

(h) All grease traps interceptors shall be designed and installed to allow for complete 
access for inspection and maintenance of the inner chamber( s) and viewing and 
sampling of effluent wastewater discharged to the sewer.  

 
(i) Food Service Establishments shall adopt procedures for handling sources of floatable 

oils, fat or grease originating -within their facility. A notice shall be permanently posted 
at a prominent place in the facility advising employees of the procedures to be 
followed.  

 
(j) Food Service Establishments shall develop and implement a Waste Minimization Plan 

pertaining to the disposal of grease, oils and food particles. The Town of Warrenton 
may render advice or make suggestions regarding the minimization of waste.  

 
§51.183 Construction Standards  
 
(a) New Facilities  

1. All new Food Service Establishments shall be required to install a grease 
interceptor, approved by the Town of Warrenton. Grease interceptors shall be 
adequately sized, with no interceptor less than 1,000 gallons total capacity unless 
otherwise approved by the Town of Warrenton.  

 
2. No new Food Service Establishments will be allowed to initiate operations until 

grease handling facilities are installed and approved by the Town of Warrenton.  
 

3. All grease interceptors, whether singular or two tanks in series, must have each 
chamber directly accessible from the surface to provide means for servicing and 
maintaining the interceptor in working and operating condition. .  

 
4. A basket, screen or other intercepting device shall prevent passage into the 

drainage system of solids Y2 inch or larger in size. The basket or device shall be 
removable for cleaning purposes.  

 
5. Where food-waste grinders are installed, the waste from those units ·shall 

discharge .directly into the building drainage system without passing through a 
grease interceptor. All other fixtures and drains receiving kitchen or food 
preparation wastewaters shall pass through a grease interceptor.  

 
(b) Existing Facilities 
 

1. All existing Food Service Establishments shall have grease-handling facilities, 
approved by the Town Of Warrenton. Food Service Establishments without any 
grease-handling facilities will be given a compliance deadline not to exceed six ( 6) 
months from date of notification to have approved and installed grease-handling 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 80 

equipment in compliance with this Standard. Failure to do so will be considered a 
violation of the Town of Warrenton Sewer Use Ordinance and may subject the 
facility to penalties and corrective actions. Said installations shall meet the same 
requirements for design as for new facilities. (See Section a) above).  
 

2. In the event an existing Food Service Establishment's grease-handling facilities are 
either under -designed or substandard in accordance with this policy, the owner(s) 
will be notified in writing of the deficiencies and requirements improvements and 
given a compliance deadline not to exceed six ( 6) months to conform with the 
requirements of this grease Standard.  

 
3. For cases in which "outdoor" type grease interceptors are infeasible to install, 

existing Food Service Establishments will be required to install adequate and 
approved "under-the- counter" grease traps for use on individual fixtures including 
dishwashers, sinks, and other potentially grease-containing drains.  

 
4. Sizing of "under-the-counter" grease trap units will be in accordance with 

recommended ratings for commercial grease traps, attached to this Standard. The 
grease retention capacity rating in pounds shall be at least two (2) times the GPM 
flow rate of the type fixture which it serves. Flow control :fittings must be provided 
to the inlet side of all "under-the-counter" units to prevent overloading of the grease 
trap and to allow for proper operation.  

 
5. Town Of Warrenton approval of .flow control devices and grease trap design must 

be obtained prior to installation.  
 

6. The location of ''under-the-counter" units must be near the source of the 
wastewater as ·physically possible.  

 
7. Wastewater from garbage grinders should not be discharged to grease 

traps/interceptors.  
 

8. In maintaining grease traps interceptors, the owner(s) shall be responsible for the 
proper removal and disposal by appropriate means of the captured material and 
shall. maintain records of the dates and means of disposal which are subject to 
review by the Town of Warrenton. (See Section 151.182(f).)  

 
9. The exclusive use of enzymes, grease solvents, emulsifiers, etc. is not considered 

acceptable grease trap maintenance practice.  
 
(c) New Food Service Establishments in Existing Buildings   



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 81 

1. Where practical, new Food Service Establishments locating in existing buildings 
will be required to comply with the grease trap Standards applicable to new 
facilities. (See Section  51.182.(a)).  

 
2. Where physically impossible to install "outdoor" units, "under-the-counter" 

units may be allowed as with existing food service establishments provided prior 
approval of unit type, size, location, etc. is approved by the Town of Warrenton. 
(See (b) 2. above).  

 
§§ 51.184 -51.189  Reserved 
  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 82 

ARTICLE VII.  WATER SHORTAGE RESPONSE PLAN 
 

§51.190  Purpose 
 
The procedures herein are written to reduce potable water demand and supplement 
existing drinking water supplies whenever existing water supply sources are inadequate to 
meet current demands for potable water. 
 
§51.191. Authorization  
 
The Town of Warrenton Administrator shall enact the following water shortage response 
provisions whenever the trigger conditions outlined in §51.194 are met. In his or her 
absence, the Public Works Director will assume this role.  
 
§51.192  Notification  
 
The following notification methods will be used to inform water system employees and 
customers of a water shortage declaration: employee e-mail announcements, notices at 
municipal buildings, notices in water bills. Required water shortage response measures 
will be communicated through The Warren Record, PSA announcements on local radio and 
cable stations. Declaration of emergency water restrictions or water rationing will be 
communicated to all customers by telephone or door hangers if necessary.  
 
§51.193  Levels of Response 
 
Responses are in the attached Kerr Lake Regional Water System Plan (RWS).  
 
§51.194  Triggers  
 
Town of Warrenton is provided water solely by purchase from Kerr Lake RWS. When Kerr 
Lake RWS declares a water shortage the town of Warrenton is required to do so as well. 
During this time Town of Warrenton Public Works Director will stay in close contact with 
Kerr Lake Water System and follow their triggers.  
 
§51.195  Return to Normal  
 
When water shortage conditions have abated and the situation is returning to normal, 
water conservation measures employed during each phase should be decreased in 
reverse order of implementation. Permanent measures directed toward long-term 
monitoring and conservation should be implemented or continued so that the community 
will be in a better position to prevent shortages and respond to recurring water shortage 
conditions.  
  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 83 

§51.196  Enforcement  
 
The provisions of the water shortage response plan will be enforced by Town of Warrenton 
personnel and local law enforcement. Violators may be reported on the Town’s phone line. 
Citations are assessed according to the following schedule depending on the number of 
prior violations and current level of water shortage.  
 

Water Shortage Level 
 

First Violation Second Violation Third Violation 

Voluntary Reductions 
 

N/A N/A N/A 

Mandatory Reductions 
(Stages 2 and 3) 

 

Warning $250 Discontinuation 
of Service 

Emergency Reductions $250 Discontinuation 
of Service 

Discontinuation 
of Service 

 

Water Rationing $500 Discontinuation 
of Service 

 

Discontinuation 
of Service 

 

 
§51.197  Public Comment 
 
Customers will have multiple opportunities to comment on the provisions of the water 
shortage response plan. First, a draft plan will be available at Town Hall and on the Town 
website www.warrenton.nc.gov for customers to view. A notice will be included in 
customer water bill notifying them of such. All subsequent revisions to the draft plan will 
be published at least 30 days prior to an adoption vote by Town of Warrenton 
Commissioners.  
 
§51.198  Variance Protocols  
 
Applications for water use variance requests are available from the Town Hall. All 
applications must be submitted to the Town Hall for review by the Town Administrator or 
his or her designee. A decision to approve or deny individual variance requests will be 
determined within two weeks of submittal after careful consideration of the following 
criteria: impact on water demand, expected duration, alternative source options, social  
and economic importance, purpose (i.e. necessary use of drinking water) and the 
prevention of structural damage.  
 
§51.199  Effectiveness  
 
The effectiveness of the Town of Warrenton water shortage response plan will be 
determined by comparing the stated water conservation goals with observed water use 
reduction data. Other factors to be considered include frequency of plan activation, any 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 84 

problem periods without activation, total number of violation citations, desired reductions 
attained and evaluation of demand reductions compared to the previous year’s seasonal 
data.  
 
§51.200  Revision  
 
The water shortage response plan will be reviewed and revised as needed to adapt to new 
circumstances affecting water supply and demand, following implementation of 
emergency restrictions, and at a minimum of every five years in conjunction with the 
updating of our Local Water Supply Plan. Further, a water shortage response planning work 
group will review procedures following each emergency or rationing stage to recommend 
any necessary improvements to the plan to Town of Warrenton’s Commissioners. The 
Town of Warrenton Public Works Director is responsible for initiating all subsequent 
revisions.  (Ordinance of February 14, 2011)



 

Attachment A  
 

Kerr Tar Regional Water System Water Shortage Response Agreement 
Henderson, Oxford, Warren County - June 2023 

Adopted by Town of Warrenton, December 11, 2023 
 

 85 

This is an agreement authorizing the declaration of Water Shortage Conditions, and 
Establishing Procedures and Measures for the Essential Conservation of Water Resources. 
Be It Agreed on behalf of the Kerr Lake Regional Water System by the City of Henderson, 
the 13of Oxford and Warren County all of North Carolina.  
 
1.  PURPOSE:  
 
The purpose of this agreement is to provide for the declaration of official phases of water 
supply shortage situations and the implementation of voluntary and mandatory water 
conservation measures in the event a shortage or water emergency is declared by the 
governing body or an appointed representative of the Kerr Lake Regional Water System. 
These measures would apply to the bulk customers, being the City of Henderson, the City 
of Oxford and Warren County. It shall be the responsibility of each of these bulk customer 
to notify its employees and customers.  
 
2. DEFINITIONS:  
 
(a) Any Water,” as the term is used in this agreement, shall mean any person using water, 

including fresh water, wastewater, or reclaimed water.  
 
(b) Customer,” as the term is used in this agreement, shall mean any person using water 

for any purpose from the Kerr Lake Regional Water Supply System and for which either 
a regular charge is made or, in this case of bulk sales, a cash charge is made at the site 
of delivery.  

 
(c) Emergency,” as the term is used in this agreement, shall mean that water supplies are 

the level necessary, to meet normal needs and that serious shortages exist in the area.  
 
(d) “Excess Use,” as the term is used in this agreement, shall mean the usage of water by a 

customer in excess of water allotment provided under the water rationing provisions 
agreement for that customer, over any applicable period.  

 
(e) “Fresh Water,” as the term is used in this agreement, shall mean water withdrawn from 

or groundwater that has not been previously used.  
 

 
(f) “Mandatory Conservation,” as the term is used in this agreement, shall mean that raw 

supplies reservoir levels are consistently below seasonal averages, and if they continue 
to may not to be adequate to meet normal needs.  

 



 

Attachment A  
 

Kerr Tar Regional Water System Water Shortage Response Agreement 
Henderson, Oxford, Warren County - June 2023 

Adopted by Town of Warrenton, December 11, 2023 
 

 86 

(g) “Rationing,” as the term is used in this agreement, shall mean procedures established 
to fortheequitabledistributionofcritically-limitedwatersupplies,inorderto balance 
demand and limited available supplies, and to assure that sufficient water is available 
to preserve public health and safety.  

 
(h) “Voluntary Conservation,” as the term is used in this agreement, shall mean that 

conditions exist which indicate the potential for serious water supply shortages.  
 
(i) “Waste of Water,’ as the term is used in this agreement, includes, but is not limited to 

(1) permitting water to escape down a gutter, ditch, or other surface drain, or (2) failure 
to repair a controllable leak of water due to defective plumbing. 

 
(j) “Water,” as the term is used in this agreement, shall mean water available to the City of  
Henderson, the City of Oxford and Warren County from the Kerr Lake Regional Water by 
virtue of its contract, for introduction into their respective water distribution systems, 
water offered for sale.  

 
 CLASS 1 ESSENTIAL WATER USES: 

1. Domestic use - Water necessary to sustain human life and the lives of 
domestic pets, and to maintain minimum standards of hygiene and 
sanitation. 

 

2. Health care facilities - Patient care and rehabilitation, including 
swimming pools used for patient care and rehabilitation. 

 
3. Public use: 

• Fire hydrants 
• Fire fighting. 
• Certain testing and drills by the fire department if performed in the 

interest of public safety and if approved by the city manager. 
• Flushing of sewers and hydrants: As needed to ensure public health 

and safety and if approved by the city manager. 
 

CLASS 2 SOCIALLY OR ECONOMICALLY IMPORTANT USES OF WATER: 
 

All Domestic Uses Other Than Those Included in Classes 1 and 3:  
• Home water use including kitchen, bathroom and laundry use.  
• Minimal watering of vegetable gardens.  
• Watering of trees where necessary to preserve them.  

 
Commercial, Agricultural, Industrial and Institutional Uses  



 

Attachment A  
 

Kerr Tar Regional Water System Water Shortage Response Agreement 
Henderson, Oxford, Warren County - June 2023 

Adopted by Town of Warrenton, December 11, 2023 
 

 87 

• Outdoor commercial watering (public or private) using conservation 
measures the extent that sources of water other than fresh water are not 
available to use. 

•  Irrigation for commercial vegetable gardens and fruit orchards or the 
maintenance of livestock. 

• Watering by commercial nurseries at a minimum level necessary to maintain 
stock.  

• Water use by arboretums and public gardens of national, State, or regional 
significance where necessary to preserve specimens. 

• Use of fresh water at minimum rate necessary to implement vegetation 
following earth moving, where such vegetation is required by law or 
regulation.  

• Watering of golf course greens. 
• Filling and Operation of Swimming Pools:  

1. Residential pools which serve more than 25 dwelling units.  
2. Pools used by health care facilities for patient care and rehabilitation.  
3. Municipal pools.  

• Commercial car and truck washes. 
• Commercial Laundromats. 
• Restaurants, clubs, and Eating Places.  
• Air Conditioning:  

1. Refilling for start up at the beginning of the cooling season.  
2. Make-up of water during the cooling season.  
3. Refilling specifically approved by health officials and the municipal  

governing body, where the system has been drained for health 
protection or repair purposes.  

• Schools, Churches, Motels/Hotels and Similar Commercial 
Establishments.  

 
CLASS 3 NON-ESSENTIAL USES OF WATER:  

 

Ornamental Purposes:  
• Fountains, reflecting pools, and artificial waterfalls.  

Outdoor Non-Commercial Watering (public or private):  
• Gardens, lawns, parks, golf course (except greens), playing fields and 

other recreational areas. 
• Filling and operation of recreational swimming pools which serve fewer 

than 25 dwellings.  
• Non-commercial washing of motor vehicles. 
• Serving water in restaurants, clubs, or eating places except by specific 

request. 



 

Attachment A  
 

Kerr Tar Regional Water System Water Shortage Response Agreement 
Henderson, Oxford, Warren County - June 2023 

Adopted by Town of Warrenton, December 11, 2023 
 

 88 

• Air Conditioning: refilling cooling towers after draining except as 
specified in Class 1.  

 
Public use: 

• Fire hydrants: Any purpose, including use of sprinkler caps and testing fire 

apparatus and for fire department drills, except as listed class 1.  
• Flushing of sewers and hydrants except as listed in Class 1. 

 
3. Declaration Of Voluntary Conservation:  
 
Whenever the governing body of the Kerr Lake Regional Water System, finds the water level 
in Kerr Lake is nearing elevation 294, it shall declare that Voluntary Conservation 
conditions exist, and that the Director of the Kerr Lake Regional Water System shall, on a 
daily basis, monitor the lake level and the water use demand.  
 
In addition, the Kerr Lake Regional Water System shall call upon its bulk customers to 
employ voluntary water conservation measures within 48 hours of receiving notice (see 
Addendum) to limit water use (especially Class 3 uses) and eliminate the waste of water. It 
shall be the responsibility of each of the bulk customers to employ voluntary water 
conservation measures on their water customers. The goal for water reduction shall be 
5%.  
 
4. Declaration of Mandatory Conservation:  
 
Whenever the governing body of the Kerr Lake Regional Water System finds the water level 
in Kerr Lake is nearing elevation 289, it shall declare that Mandatory Conservation 
conditions exist. This implies that lake level is nearing a level where insufficient water can 
enter the raw water intake.  
 
The Kerr Lake Regional Water System shall continue to encourage voluntary water 
conservation measures for the bulk customers of the Kerr Lake Regional Water System as 
defined under the Voluntary Conservation declaration, and shall further require mandatory 
measures be put in place, such as a ban be imposed on all Class 3 uses for the duration of 
the shortage. The goal for water reduction shall be 10%. Official notice shall be given to the 
City of Henderson, the City of Oxford, and Warren County.  
 
5. Declaration of A Water Shortage Emergency:  
 
Whenever the governing body of the Kerr Lake Regional Water System finds that water level 
in Kerr Lake has dropped to elevation 284 or below, and/or that a serious shortage exists 
due to other reasons it shall declare that a water shortage Emergency exists. It would be 



 

Attachment A  
 

Kerr Tar Regional Water System Water Shortage Response Agreement 
Henderson, Oxford, Warren County - June 2023 

Adopted by Town of Warrenton, December 11, 2023 
 

 89 

the recommendation of the Regional Water System that the City of Henderson, the City of 
Oxford and Warren County identify all Class 1, Essential Uses, in specific, and make them 
targets for voluntary conservation initiatives.  
 
The Kerr Lake Regional Water System shall require mandatory measures be put in place, 
such as a ban be imposed on all Class 2 and Class 3 uses for the duration of the shortage. 
The goal for water reduction shall be 40%. These restrictions should be continued until the 
emergency is declared ended.  
 
Official notice shall be given to the City of Henderson, the City of Oxford and Warren 
County of the emergency situation. It shall be the responsibility of each separate bulk 
water user, the City of Henderson, the City of Oxford and Warren County, to employ water 
restrictions on their water customers.  
 
6. Declaration of Rationing:  
 
Whenever the governing body of the Kerr Lake Regional Water System finds that water level 
in Kerr Lake has dropped to elevation 280, declared a Water Shortage Emergency, and 
finds a need to provide for the equitable distribution of critically-limited water supplies, in 
order to balance demand on limited available supplies, and to assure that sufficient water 
is available to preserve public health and safety, it shall call for mandatory rationing by all 
three (3) of the members and their water users until the emergency is declared ended.  
 
It shall be the responsibility of each of the three (3) members to employ water restrictions 
on their water customers.  
 
During this emergency situation, the amount of water to each member could be reduced 
by fifty percent (50%) or more. This amount shall be determined by the governing body of 
the Kerr Lake Regional Water System. Official notice shall be given to the City of 
Henderson, City of Oxford and Warren County.  
 
6a. Objectives of Rationing:  
 
It is imperative that water customers achieve an immediate further reduction in water use 
in order to extend existing water supplies and at the same time, assure that sufficient 
water is available to preserve the public health and sanitation and to provide fire protection 
service.  
 
Hospitals and health care facilities should comply with all restriction imposed on 
residential and non- residential water customers as may be applicable to each individual 



 

Attachment A  
 

Kerr Tar Regional Water System Water Shortage Response Agreement 
Henderson, Oxford, Warren County - June 2023 

Adopted by Town of Warrenton, December 11, 2023 
 

 90 

institution, to the extent compliance will not endanger the health of the patients or 
residents of the institution.  
 
6b. Enforcement of Water Rationing  
 
Each of three (3) members has primary responsibility for monitoring of compliance with the 
water- rationing measures. There are no enforcement provisions associated with this 
agreement.  
 
7. Enforcement  
 
In order to effectuate compliance with this plan, enforcement of water conservation 
restrictions shall be the responsibility of each of the three (3) bulk customers. Each 
customer shall employ measures not limited to written notices, administrative and civil 
penalties, and service disruption.  
 
8. Variance Protocol  
 
Kerr Lake Regional Water System understands that water restrictions can cause economic 
hardships on certain portions of their water customers: additionally, the restriction could 
be infeasible for others that have implemented water use reduction strategies into their 
daily practices prior to drought conditions being in place. Each of the three (3) bulk 
customers has the authority to consider variances for those showing proof of economic 
hardship, public health care facilities, or those that have previously implemented and 
documented water use reduction strategies such that achieving further water reduction 
goals may not be achievable. Each of the three (3) bulk customer shall adopt a protocol for 
accepting and ruling on a variance request. A copy of each variance request and decisions 
shall be forwarded to the governing body of the Kerr Lake Regional water System for record 
keeping.  
 
9. Effectiveness  
 
The effectiveness of the Kerr Lake Regional Water System WSRP will be determined by 
comparing the stated water conservation goals with observed water use reduction data for 
each of the three (3) bulk customers. Data will be compared against the previous non-
water restrictions year’s data to determine effectiveness of its actions. Tracking will be 
conducted using a spreadsheet, updated monthly, which compares water use against the 
baseline time period seasonal data. Other factors to be considered include use of a 
shortage water rate structure, frequency of plan activation, notification procedures, any 
problem periods without activation, and total number of enforcement actions.  
 



 

Attachment A  
 

Kerr Tar Regional Water System Water Shortage Response Agreement 
Henderson, Oxford, Warren County - June 2023 

Adopted by Town of Warrenton, December 11, 2023 
 

 91 

10. Revision Protocol  
 
This WSRP will be reviewed and revised as needed to adapt to new circumstances 
affecting water supply and demand, following implementation of emergency restrictions, 
and at a minimum of every five years in conjunction with the update in of the Local Water 
Supply Plans of each of the three (3) bulk customers. Further, the governing body of the 
Kerr Lake Regional Water System will review procedures following each emergency or 
rationing stage to recommend any necessary improvements to the plan. Each of the three 
(3) bulk customers shall also conduct a review of their plan and actions on this cycle and 
provide comments or suggestions to the Kerr Lake Regional Water System. If revisions are 
not recommended following a review, a memo will be filed documenting the effectiveness 
of the WSRP. The governing body of the Kerr Lake Regional Water System is responsible for 
initiating all subsequent revisions.  
  



 

Attachment A  
 

Kerr Tar Regional Water System Water Shortage Response Agreement 
Henderson, Oxford, Warren County - June 2023 

Adopted by Town of Warrenton, December 11, 2023 
 

 92 

CONSERVATION MEASURES 
Direct users to adopt the following conservation measures: 
 
INDOOR RESIDENTAL USE: 
CONSERVATION FOR VOLUNTARY AND MANDATORY CONSERVATION PHASES: 

• Use dishwashers only when they are full. Washing dishes by hand (don’t let the tap 
run!) Saves about 25 gallons.  

• Adjust water level on clothes washing machines, if possible. Use full load only, if 
not adjustable.  

• Turn off faucets while brushing teeth, etc. Saves about 5 gallons per day.  
• Reduce water used per flush by installing toilet tank displacement inserts. A plastic 

jug may often be used as an alternative. DO NOT USE BRICKS – they disintegrate 
when soaked and the resulting grit hinders closing of the flap valve.  

• Do not use the toilet as a trash can.  
• Use sink and tub stoppers to avoid wasting water.  
• Keep a bottle of chilled water in the refrigerator for drinking.  
• Find and fix leaks in faucets and water-using appliances. Faucets can usually be 

fixed cheaply and quickly by replacing washers.  
• Adapt plumbing with flow restricting or other water-saving devices. These are 

usually inexpensive and easy to install. See attached list of devices. (Need list.)  
• Learn to read your water meter so you can judge how much water you use and what 

difference conservation makes.  
• Take shorter showers and shallow baths. Saves about 25 gallons.  
• Reduce the number of toilet flushes per day. Each flush uses about 5 gallons (2-3 if 

you have water saving toilets).  
• Don’t use a garbage disposal.  
• Use non-phosphate detergent and save laundry water for lawns and plants.  

  



 

Attachment A  
 

Kerr Tar Regional Water System Water Shortage Response Agreement 
Henderson, Oxford, Warren County - June 2023 

Adopted by Town of Warrenton, December 11, 2023 
 

 93 

CONSERVATION FOR EMERGENCY CONSERVATION OR RATIONING PHASE (In addition to 
measures listed above).  

• Turn off shower while soaping up.  
• Use disposable eating utensils.  

 
OUTDOOR RESIDENTIAL USE 
CONSERVATION FOR NORMAL CONDITIONS AND VOLUNTARY CONSERVATION PHASE: 
Lawns:  

• Water before 10:00 a.m. to prevent evaporation that occurs during the hottest part 
of the day. Morning is better than evening, when the dampness encourages growth 
of fungus.  

• Water only when lawn shows signs of wilt. Grass that springs back when stepped on 
does not need water.  

• Water thoroughly, not frequently: long enough to soak roots. A light sprinkling 
evaporates quickly and encourages shallow root systems. Water slowly to avoid 
runoff.  

• Don’t let the sprinkler run any longer than necessary. In an hour, 600 gallons can be 
wasted.  

• Allow maximum of one inch of water per week on your lawn. To measure, place 
cake tins outside to collect rain and water from sprinklers.  

• Use pistol-grip nozzles on hoses to avoid waste when watering flowers and shrubs.  
• Aerate lawns by punching holes 6 inches apart. This allows water to reach roots 

rather than run off surfaces.  
• Position sprinklers to water the lawn, not the pavement.  
• Avoid watering on windy days when the wind not only blows water off target, but 

also causes excess evaporation.  
• Keep sprinkler heads clean to prevent uneven watering.  
• Adjust hose to simulate gentle rain. Sprinklers that produce a fine mist waste water 

through evaporation.  
• Know how to turn off an automatic sprinkler system in case of rain.  
• Use an alarm clock or stove timer to remind you to shut off sprinklers that don’t 

have timers.  
 
Vegetables and Flower Gardens:  

• Water deeply, slowly and weekly. Most vegetables require moisture to a depth of 6 
to 8 inches.  

• Keep soil loose so water can penetrate easily.  
• Keep weeds out to reduce competition for water.  
• Put the water where you want it and avoid evaporation by using soil-soakers or slow 

running hoses, not sprinklers.  
 



 

Attachment A  
 

Kerr Tar Regional Water System Water Shortage Response Agreement 
Henderson, Oxford, Warren County - June 2023 

Adopted by Town of Warrenton, December 11, 2023 
 

 94 

Trees and Shrubs:  
• Water deeply using a soil-soaker or drip-irrigation.  
• Water only when needed. Check the depth of soil dryness by digging with a trowel.  
• Mulch to reduce evaporation. A 2” to 3” layer of wood chips, pine needles, grass 

clippings, or straw keeps the soil cool in summer.  
• Dig troughs around plants to catch and retain water.  
• Water trees growing in full sun more often than those in shade.  
• Do not use sprinklers. Apply water directly at base.  
• Do not fertilize during the summer. Fertilizing increases a plant’s need for water.  
• Postpone planting until fall or spring when there is generally less need for water.  
• Install trickle-drip irrigation systems close to the roots of your plants. By dripping 

water slowly, the system doesn’t spray water in to the air. Use soil probes for large 
trees.  

• Water when cloudy, at night, or even when a light rain is falling.  
 
 
OUTDOOR RESIDENTIAL USE CONSERVATION FOR VOLUNTARY CONSERVATION PHASE 
(in addition to measures listed above).  

• Do not allow children to play with hose or sprinklers.  
• Limit car washing.  
• Be ready to catch rainfall that occurs. Place containers under drain sprouts.  
• Use leftover household water if available.  
• Consider delaying the seeding or sodding of new lawns.  
• Determine the amount of water being used outdoors by comparing water bills for 

summer and winter.  
  



 

Attachment A  
 

Kerr Tar Regional Water System Water Shortage Response Agreement 
Henderson, Oxford, Warren County - June 2023 

Adopted by Town of Warrenton, December 11, 2023 
 

 95 

CONSERVATION FOR MANDATORY CONSERVATION PHASE (In addition to measures 
listed above).  

• Vegetable gardens and food trees should be given minimal amounts of water on an 
individual basis only.  

• Do not water lawns and inedible plants.  
• Do not use sprinklers.  

Most outdoor watering is prohibited under Emergency Conservation conditions.  
 
HOSPITAL AND HEALTH CARE FACILITY USE:  

• Reduce laundry usage or services by changing the linens, etc. only when necessary 
to preserve the health of patients or residents.  

• Use disposable food service items.  
• Eliminate, postpone, or reduce, as they may be appropriate, elective surgical 

procedures during the period of emergency.  
 
INDUSTRIAL USE  

• Identify and repair all leaky fixtures and water-using equipment. Give special 
attention to equipment connected directly to waterlines, such as processing 
machines, steam-using machines, washing machines, water-cooled air 
conditioners, and furnaces.  

• Assure that valves and solenoids that control water flows are shut off completely 
when the water- using cycle is not engaged.  

• Adjust water-using equipment to use the minimum amount of water required to 
achieve its stated purpose.  

• Shorten rinse cycles for laundry machines as much as possible; implement lower 
water levels wherever possible.  

• For processing, cooling, and other uses, either re-use water or use water from 
sources that would not adversely affect public water supplies.  

• Advise employees, students, patients, customers, and other users not to flush 
toilets after every use. Install toilet tank displacement inserts; place flow restrictors 
in showerheads and faucets; close down automatic flushes overnight.  

• Install automatic flushing valves to use as little water as possible or to cycle at 
longer intervals.  

• Place water-saving posters and literature where employees, students, patients, 
customers’, etc. will have access to them.  

• Check meters on a frequent basis to determine consumptive patterns.  
• Review usage patterns to see where other savings can be made.  

 
 



Draft #5 

 1 

 
CHAPTER 51 WATER AND SEWER 

 
I.GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
 

II.CONNECTIONS, METERS AND EXTENSIONS 
 

 
III. RATES AND CHARGES – WATER AND SEWER 

 

 
IV.FIRE SPRINKLER SYSTEM AND REQUIRED FIRE HYDRANTS   Existing ordinance, 
renumbered 
 

 
V. SEWER USE  (NC Model Sewer Use Ordinance replacing current out-of-date version.   

 
 

VI. CROSS CONNECTION CONTROL AND BACKFLOW PREVENTION  – Existing 2023 
ordinance inserted  

 
VII.GREASE TRAP ORDINANCE  - Existing ordinance inserted 
 
VIII.WATER SHORTAGE RESPONSE PLAN –Existing 2011 local ordinance including 
penalty provisions with Attachment A, the 2023 Water Shortage Response provisions 
readopted by the town December 2023 

 
 

 
 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 2 

ARTICLE I.  GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
§51.001 Scope of Provisions  
 
All pertinent provisions of this chapter are hereby made a part of the terms and conditions 
whereby the town furnishes water or sewer service to any person, or whereby the town 
makes any sewer or water connections or performs any work of any kind in connection with 
the furnishing of sewer or water service. (’63 Code, Ch. Q, Art. I, §1)  
 
§51.002   Incorporation of Agreement between Warren County and the Town for 
Operation and Maintenance of Water Lines  
 
The most recent agreement between the Town and Warren County dated February 4, 2002 
as adopted or hereafter amended, providing for operation and maintenance of water lines 
by the Town to serve specified areas of Warren County is hereby  incorporated by reference 
and made a part of this chapter as if fully set forth herein.    
 
§51.003 Laterals to Be Laid Only to Inside of Curb  
 
Water or sewer laterals laid as a part of any water or sewer main improvement shall be laid 
only to the inside of the curb unless in the resolution ordering the improvement the Board 
specifically directs otherwise.  (’63 Code, Ch. Q, Art. I, §2)  
 
§51.004 Extension of Laterals  
 
After laterals are laid from water or sewer mains to the inside of the curb, no such lateral 
shall be extended to the property line until the owner or occupant of the property to be 
served thereby applies therefore.  (’63 Code, Ch. Q, Art. I, §3)  
 
§ 51.005  Maintenance of System by Consumer 
 
The consumer of water and sewer service furnished by the town  shall maintain and keep 
in good repair all connections and pipes connected to the  town system.  
 
§51.006  Injury to Utility Lines and Fixtures Prohibited 
 
No person shall obstruct, break, remove or otherwise injure any portion of the public water 
or sewer system, manhole, flush-tanks or any part of the storm water collection system.   
(’63 Code, Ch. Q, Art. I, §14)  
 
§51.007 Prohibited Discharges into Sewers  
 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 3 

No person shall pour, throw or discharge any substance, either solid or liquid, into any 
sanitary or storm sewer at any manhole or at any opening therein other than a sewer 
connection; nor shall any person discharge into any sanitary or storm sewer any substance 
likely to obstruct or to cause undue injury to the same or any substance of such high 
causticity or of a sufficiently acid nature to interfere materially with the equipment used in 
connection therewith.   (’63 Code, Ch. Q, Art. I, §14)  
 
§51.008  Right of Entry. 
 
Authorized employees of the town bearing proper credentials and identification shall be 
permitted to enter upon all properties for the purposes of reading the water meter, 
inspection, observation, measurement, sampling, testing, disconnecting or connecting 
water in accordance with the provisions of this chapter. 
 
§51.009_ Limitation of liability.   
 
(A) It is expressly stipulated by and between the town and consumers of water that no 

claims shall be made against the town on account of the bursting or breaking of any 
main or service pipe, or any attachments to the town’s water system. 
 

(B) The town and its employees shall incur no liability  for turning off a customer’s water 
when provided for according to the procedures set out in this Chapter.   

 
§ 51. 010  Penalty for Ordinance Violation   

(A) Where another penalty is stated herein, a violation of any provision of this chapter may 
also  subject  the violator to a civil penalty in the amount of one hundred dollars ($100)  

(1) Written notice of the violation shall be served in person or sent by certified mail and 
shall require payment within thirty (30) days to the town clerk.   

 
(2) In the event of failure to pay within the time specified on the citation, a civil 

penalty shall be recovered by the town in a civil action in the nature of a debt.  
 
(B) Any action to recover a civil penalty may be joined in an action for appropriate equitable 

relief, including injunctions and orders of abatement and including an action to recover 
damages owing to the town by reason of expenses incurred by the town in abating, 
correcting, limiting and otherwise dealing with the harmful effects of the offending 
action.  
 

(C) As provided in this chapter, a customer is subject to disconnection of water service for 
failure to comply with provisions for deposit and payment for service.   

 
§§ 51.011-51.019  Reserved   



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 4 

ARTICLE II.  CONNECTIONS, METERS AND EXTENSIONS 
 
§51.020 Connection of Property to Water and Sewer within Corporate Limits Required  

 
(A) Developed Property, Connection Required - As provided in G.S. 160A-317, all owners of 

developed  property within the corporate limits shall connect their premises to a water  
line or sewer collection line  where such line is installed and ready for use.  
 

(B) New Lines, Connection Required  - Upon completion of any extension of a water main 
or sewer collection line within the town, the town shall send official written notice to 
owners of abutting property of the requirement to connect  to the system.  Owners shall 
thereafter make application for connection within 30 days of such notice.     

 
(C) Sewer Connection Exception, Capacity, Topography, Cost  - As  provided in G.S.160A-

317(a)(1), a property owner of developed property shall be exempt from the 
requirement to connect to the sanitary sewer line if the town has inadequate capacity 
to treat proposed new wastewater.  Also, a  property owner shall be exempt if the grade 
is such that a pump or other measures are  required to move wastewater to the sanitary 
sewer line, making the connection cost  greater than the costs of installing an on-site 
wastewater (septic) system, as determined by the professional standards set forth in 
the statute.   

(D) Water Connection Exceptions 
1. As provided in G.S. 160A-317 (a)(2) a property owner shall be exempt from this 

requirement if installing a larger meter and corresponding larger piping 
connection, or imposing an increased fee, is required to achieve adequate water 
pressure.  

 
2. Notwithstanding the above, as provided in G.S. 87-97.2, the town may not 

mandate connection to the water system if the owner has a functioning well that 
complies with the requirements of said statue including having a well permit for 
that property, and the well is compliant with county health department 
requirements and is in  use.   

 
§51.021  Connection to Be Made Only Upon Application  
 
No connection shall be made from a property to any sewer or water lateral except after the 
written application therefore has been approved by the Director of Public Works.  (’63 
Code, Ch. Q, Art. I, §6)  
 

§51.022  Application for New Connection 
 
(A) The owner shall complete the town’s tap application which  requires the name of the 

owner of the lot; the name of the street on which such lot is situated; the number of the 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 5 

house, if there is one on the lot, or, if not, a description of the location of the lot; the 
number and kind of connections desired, and any other information required by the 
town.  The application  shall be accompanied by proof of ownership. Every such 
application shall be signed by the person making the application.    

 
(B) Upon approval of any application for a sewer or water connection and payment by the 

customer of  costs billed to the customer ,  the town shall, do the excavating, lay the 
pipe, install a meter where necessary, make the connection to the main, fill the 
excavation and replace the surface of the street.    

 
§51.023  Separate Connection and Meter;  Options for Multi-Occupancy Property   
 
(A) Every house or building abutting any water or sewer main and requiring a water or 

sewer connection shall be separately and independently connected and metered, with 
exceptions allowed as provided below 

 
(B) Multi-Family Developments (condominiums, apartments with 3 or more units) - The 

developer shall have the option of installing individual meters for each unit, or providing 
for the installation of a master meter for each building with the landlord billed for actual 
water consumption plus the  availability rate user fee for each unit.  All such meters will 
be connected to public water lines on public easements. 
 

(C) Multi-Family Developments with 3 or fewer units – The developer shall provide one 
meter per unit 

 
(D) Townhome Developments  - The developer shall install individual meters per unit, 

consistent with the individual ownership of each unit and lot beneath the unit. 
 
(E) Manufactured Home Parks -The owner shall provide individual meters for each lot. 
 
(F) Office/commercial multi-occupancy - The developer shall have the option of installing 

individual meters for each unit, or installing a master meter for each building with the 
landlord billed for actual water consumption plus the  availability rate  user fee for each 
unit.  

 
§51.024  Connections Outside the Town  
 
(A) Individual Parcels - A property owner residing outside the Town limits within the Town’s 

Water District on a street or road where public water and/or  sewer lines abut the 
property and are ready for use  may submit an application for connection as provided in 
§51.022 to the Public Works Director.   All extensions shall comply with the Town’s and 
state design standards.  Upon submission of the application and approval of plans by 
the Town’s Public Work’s Director, the Town shall accept the  lines for maintenance.   



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 6 

 

(B) Subdivisions and PUDs - Developers of subdivisions and planned unit developments 
(PUDs) outside of town shall submit a petition for annexation at the time they apply for 
connection to town water and sewer.  Annexation by the Board of Commissioners is a 
requirement for extension of town water and sewer.  The Public Works Director shall 
approve all plans and specification s, and the development shall comply with 
applicable  development regulations and the Subdivision Ordinance before it is referred 
to the Board for action. .  
 

§51.025  Maintenance of Meters by Town 
 
(A) Whether inside or outside the corporate limits,  meters, meter boxes, pipes and other 

equipment supplied by the Town and paid for by the customer  in installing any water or 
sewer connections shall be and remain the property of the town. (’63 Code, Ch. Q, Art. 
I, §11) d    

 
(B) All meters attached to an active account shall be kept in good repair and working order 

by the town.          
 

§51.026 Tampering with or Obstruction of Meters Unlawful 
 
(A) It shall be unlawful for any person, not having authority to do so, to open any water 

hydrant or tamper with any meter or utility service furnished by the town to consumers, 
to obstruct the Town’s continuous access to any water meter, or to in any way molest, 
damage or trespass upon any equipment or premises belonging to the town connected 
with any utility service. Violators are subject to being charged with a Class 1 
misdemeanor with a fine of one hundred dollars ($100), or any other penalty provided 
for in G.S. 14-151.  

 
(B) The Town shall charge a Reset Fee set by the Board of Commissioners, plus repair and 

labor costs for reconnection of any meter, hydrant, or utility where damage or trespass 
has diverted, prevented or otherwise interfered with the provision of service.   (Ord. 
passed 1-09-2023)    

 
§51.027 Extension of Water Lines  
 
Water lines extended within or outside the town limits shall meet the following standards. 
 
(A) Size requirements.  

 

Service Connection Size 3⁄4 in. with 5⁄8 in. meter 
Minimum size line – Dead end or cul-de-sac not More than 
250 ft. long, nor more than 500 ft. from hydrant-maximum 
service – 10 residents  

4 in.  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 7 

Minimum size Main-Maximum length to dead end 1,000 ft. – 
Maximum length if fed from two Directions by 6 in. or larger 
main 1,600 ft.  

6 in.  

Main line size – Over 1,000 ft. not loped or feeding  
More than 3 6-inch or smaller lines  8 in.  

Trunk size  12 in. 
 
(B) Fire hydrants. Fire hydrants are required at all intersections and at distances of not 

more than 500 ft. in built-up areas, and not more than 1,000 ft. on other lines.  
 

(C) Valves. Valves may be at the intersections of mains or at spacing of not more than 1,000 ft.  
 

§51.028  Extension  of Sewer Lines - Policies        Any further sewer line extensions will be 
sized to serve the ultimate drainage area that they are in. Any future interceptors on 
Possum Quarter Branch or Horse Branch should be designed to serve as much of the 
industrial area north of the town along SR 1305 and east along SR 1325 as they can reach. 
(’63 Code, Ch. Q, Art. III,    
 
§51.029  Sewer Connections in Subdivisions    
 
(A) Each lot in a subdivision shall be provided with a connection to a public sanitary sewer 

system at the subdivider’s expense if the proposed development meets the distance 
thresholds according to the number of lots as outlined in the Subdivision Ordinance. 
Distance shall be measured from the closest point of the property to an existing gravity 
sewer main.   

 
(B) This requirement applies only when a gravity connection is possible or when there is a 

lift station for a new subdivision paid for by that subdivision and when the town  has 
sufficient capacity to serve the development. 

 
 
§§51.030-51.039  Reserve  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 8 

ARTICLE III.  RATES AND CHARGES – WATER AND SEWER 
 
§51.040 Charges for Utility Service; Tap Fees  
 
(A) User fee. Every customer’s bill will include a separate user fee for water service and  for 

sewer service, as applicable.  Such fee for each utility shall be a flat fee established by 
the Town Board of Commissioners from time to time.   
 
Revenues from user fees shall be applied to maintenance and repair of the systems.   
 
The user fee shall be the minimum charge for any water/sewer account, should there 
be no use of the service during a billing period.   
 

(B) Schedule of water and sewer  rates . Water and sewer rates based on usage will be 
determined, approved and published by the Town Board of Commissioners on a yearly 
basis. This will be accomplished during the budgeting process and will be adopted for 
the year or until amended  

 
(C) Tap fee. Water and sewer tap fees will be determined, approved and published by the 

Town Board of Commissioners on a yearly basis. This will be accomplished during the 
budgeting process and will be adopted for the year or until amended.  

 
§51.041  Service for Consumers Outside of Town  
 
Water and/or sewer shall be furnished to consumers outside the  town based on the user 
fee assessed for each connection and at  metered rates and under  terms and conditions  
established by the Board of Commissioners for outside customers  
 
§51.042   Customers Discharging Only Part of Their Water into Sewer System  
  
(A) Water customers of the town who discharge only a part, but not all, of the water 

furnished them through the town water system, may, if they so elect, install at their own 
expense meters, approved as to construction and installation by the Director of Public 
Works, to measure the amount of water that is used by them but is not emptied into the 
town sewer system,  and the sewage service charge shall be based only upon the 
amount of water purchased by such customers and emptied into the town sewer 
system, as determined by such meters. 
 

(B)  In cases in which such users do not elect to install such meters, an account holder 
may submit a request to the Public Works Office for a sewer adjustment to offset the 
sewer cost associated with increased water usage from pool filling, outdoor watering, 
or plumbing leaks. The criteria for a sewer adjustment and process for approval, if 
eligible, are provided for in the Town’s Public Works Utility Policies.   

 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 9 

§51.043 Opening A Utility Account; Deposit  
 
(A) Applications for a water account are available from the utility counter at Town Hall and 

online.  All applicants must be at least 18 years of age; must provide proof of identify;  
proof of ownership or occupancy (executed lease or rental agreement); and other 
information established by town policies.   

. 
(B) When any customer makes application for a  water account, the customer  will be 

required to make a deposit as hereinafter set out to guarantee payment of the monthly 
water bill. A deposit must be paid before service activation. 
 
For customers with multiple accounts , the deposit may be waived for additional 
accounts  if the customer has one account in good standing secured by a deposit.   
 
 

(C) Applications which are incomplete, which are made by applicants with an outstanding 
balance on another account, or  which apply to property with an unpaid balance from a 
previous owner, or which are not accompanied by the required deposit will be rejected 
until outstanding balances or discrepancies are resolved.   

 
 §51.044 Meter Reading on Accounts; Bills     
 
(A) Meters on accounts shall be read monthly, and Town of Warrenton bills therefor shall 

be payable on or before the 15th day of the month or the next business day if the 15th 
falls on a weekend or a holiday. 
 

(B) Bills for water use shall be based on the actual reading in 1,000 gallons increments of  
water used.  As provided in §51.040, should the meter accurately register no water use 
during the month, the bill shall be the water/sewer user fee. 

 
(C) If there is a defective meter and  the amount of water used is not registered,  the bill 

rendered shall be for the average amount  used by the premises served by such meter 
during the most recent preceding three months of normal regular use.   

 
§51.045  Billing in Multi-Occupancy Buildings 
 
(A) In office buildings with one main entrance and one employee bathroom facility, the 

landlord will be charged for the amount of water used plus 30% of the regular user fee 
for each business in the building.  
 

(B) In office buildings that have individual entrances  for each business and one water 
meter, the landlord will be billed  the amount of the user fee, plus consumption for 
each separate business. 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 10 

 
§51.046   Delinquent Water Accounts, Disconnection of Service, Closure of Account 
 
(A) Payment date – Payment for water bills shall be due  on the 15th of the month or the next 

business day if that date falls on a weekend.  Payment shall be considered delinquent if 
not received by the close of business on  the due date.    As of the 20th of the month, or 
the next business day if on a weekend, a late penalty set by the Board of 
Commissioners  will be applied to the account if payment is not received by close of 
business on that date.  . 
 

(B) Disconnection - Thereafter, if the bill is not paid within five (5) days, disconnection of 
service shall be initiated as early as the 26th of the month.  

 
When service has been disconnected, the Town will charge a disconnect fee to the 
account holder.   

 
(C) Closure of Account and Deposit - Upon disconnection and closure of an account, 

funds deposited for that account shall be applied to the deficit.  If the full outstanding 
balance is satisfied, any remainder of the deposit will be refunded to the customer.   

 
(D) Forced Closing of an Account - Utility accounts that remain unpaid for 60 days will 

result in forced closure of the account by the Town. To restore services under the same 
account holder, any outstanding balance must be paid in full, after which the account 
may be reestablished in accordance with new account procedures.  

 
§51.047  Restoration of Water Service 
 
All outstanding charges, including a disconnect fee for any account where service has 
been disconnected, must be paid before service is restored. 
 
§51.048  Request for Account Closure 
  
When a customer requests account closure, the customer shall , upon payment for all 
water use due, be entitled to the return of the deposit, or any balance thereof. 
 
§§ 51.049 – 51.059  Reserved 
  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 11 

ARTICLE IV.  FIRE SPRINKLER SYSTEM AND REQUIRED FIRE HYDRANTS 
 
§51.060 Rates for Connection of Private Sprinkler System To City Or County Mains  
 
Private fire protection by connecting a private sprinkler system to the mains of the city or 
county will be furnished at the following rates; provided, that plans are submitted to and 
approved by the director of the water distribution system in writing prior to the connection 
with the mains of the city or county.  

(A) For each 10,000 sq. ft. of floor space located inside the limits of the town, a 
charge shall be made of $3 monthly, with a minimum charge of $3 monthly.  
 

(B) For each 10,000 sq. ft. of floor space on property located outside the limits of 
the town, a charge of $6 shall be made monthly, with a minimum charge of $6 
monthly.  

 
(C) If the sprinkler system shall be served by an additional source of water which 

supplements that of the town or county waterworks, the above charges shall be 
reduced by one half.  

 
(D) If the property protected shall be larger than 200,000 sq. ft., the rate of charge 

per 10,000 sq. ft. on the area between 200,000 sq. ft. and 1,000,000 sq. ft. shall 
be $1.50 inside the limits of the town and $3 outside the limits of the town.  

 
(E) If the property protected is more than 1,000,000 sq. ft., the rate charged shall be 

$.075 ($35) per 10,000 sq. ft. of floor space protected (in excess of 1,000,000 sq. 
ft.) if inside the corporate limits and $1.50 if outside.  

 
(F) If a hydrant is required by town or country fire protection standards or is desired 

to serve a community, a private building or business fire protection on the 
property, it shall only be available in locations where the main is of sufficient 
size to furnish the required water. Approval for installing the hydrant may be 
obtained by applying to the town or county utility operations department 
agreeing to pay all installation costs. The location and construction/design 
standard . . .    Sentence to be completed.  It is not complete in the current Code.   

 
§51.061 No Meters Required for Certain Fire Lines. –  
 
The provisions of §51.060 Rates for Connection of Private Sprinkler System to City  Mains  
 shall not be applicable to, and no meters shall be required for, a private fire line, provided 
each and all of the following standards, requirements, and criteria are fully and 
continuously complied with:  
 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 12 

(a) The fire line shall be separate from any other service lines (from the town or county 
main throughout to its terminus) and shall only serve fire hydrants and sprinkler 
systems used for fire-fighting purposes only. All connections to the line for fire hydrants 
or sprinkler systems shall be approved in advance by the utility operations director, or 
his designee. The line shall be used for no other connections and for no other purposes, 
and it shall be illegal for anyone to make any other connection to the fire line or to tap 
the line for any other purpose other than fire- fighting at any point from the line’s 
connection to the town or county main until its terminus; any such illegal activity shall 
be deemed a continuous offense and each day that such illegal tap, connection, or use 
exists shall constitute a separate offense and shall be punishable as a separate 
misdemeanor.  
 

(b) The separate fire line shall contain a double detector check valve at the property line 
(constructed at property owner’s expense) and the separate fire line shall be 
constructed throughout of ductile iron or PVC (AWA C900, class water main pipe) from 
the town or county main through its terminus (including all appurtenances to the line 
and whether located on private or public property and whether located inside a private 
structure or outside of the same).  

 
(c) No hoses or pipes shall be connected to the fire hydrants to draw water from the same 

except for fire-fighting purposes, unless otherwise specifically authorized by the utility 
operations director (or his designee) for line flushing purposes.  
 

(d) By placing an unmetered fire line on the property, the developer and all property 
owners so served shall thereby grant to the town and the county a perpetual easement 
to come onto any private property (including inside any private structures or buildings) 
served by the fire lane for any purpose permitted under this section. The town or 
county, and any of its duly authorized agents, shall have the right to inspect the line and 
all appurtenances thereto (including all sprinkler systems, whether located inside or 
outside of private structures or building) at any time without notice to verify that the line 
is properly maintained and to verify that no illegal taps or connections have been made 
to the same to check for possible leaks.  

 
(e) Whenever any hydrant or sprinkler system on the unmetered fire line shall be used for 

testing or flushing or any purpose except emergency fire-fighting, the utility operations 
director shall be given 24 hours prior notice and he or his designee shall be present 
whenever the hydrant or sprinkler system is so used or tested.  

 
(f) The owner of the property on which the fire line is located agrees to promptly repair any 

leaks discovered in said fire line within ten consecutive calendar days after notice of 
the leaks; if the leaks are not promptly repaired, then the town or county shall have the 
right to take any such actions which it may deem expedient to uncover and expose the 
line so as to discover the location of the leak or suspected leak and repair the leak. The 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 13 

property owner shall reimburse the town or county for all of its costs, expenses and 
damages incurred in so uncovering the line and repairing the line 30 days after being 
billed for the line by the town or county, and shall hold the town or county (and its 
officers and agents) harmless for any liability by reason of the town’s or county’s 
actions under this section.  

 
(g) In addition to any other remedies available, the town or county reserves the right to cut 

off the water to any private unmetered fire line in the event all of the standards, 
requirements, and criteria set forth herein are not continuously met with respect 
thereto, the property owner agrees to hold the town or county (and its officers and 
agents) harmless from any liability or damages if the town or county so acts.  

 
(h) This section shall be applicable to all unmetered fire lines constructed from and after 

the date of the original passage of this section on July 1, 1996 provided, however, that 
any metered fire line constructed prior to the date of this can have the meter removed 
upon approval of the utility operations director (or his designee) and provided all the 
standards, requirements, and criteria herein set forth are continuously met thereafter.   
(Ord. passed 7-1-96)  

 
§§51.062 – 51.74  Reserved 
 
 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 14 

ARTICLE V.  SEWER USE 
 

DIVISION 1 - GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
§ 51.75.  Purpose and Policy 
 
(a) This ordinance sets forth uniform requirements as provided in North Carolina’s 2011 

Model Pretreatment Ordinance for direct and indirect contributors into the wastewater 
collection and treatment system for the Town of Warrenton, hereafter referred to as the 
Town, and enables the Town to comply with all applicable State and Federal laws, 
including the Clean Water Act (33 United States Code §1251 et seq.) and the General 
Pretreatment Regulations (40 CFR, Part 403).  

 
(b) The objectives of this ordinance are: 

1. To prevent the introduction of pollutants into the municipal wastewater system 
which will interfere with the operation of the system or contaminate the resulting 
sludge; 

2. To prevent the introduction of pollutants into the municipal wastewater system 
which will pass through the system, inadequately treated, into any waters of the 
State or otherwise be incompatible with the system; 

3. To promote reuse and recycling of industrial wastewater and sludges from the 
municipal system; 

4. To protect both municipal personnel who may be affected by sewage, sludge, and 
effluent in the course of their employment as well as protecting the general 
public;  

5. To provide for equitable distribution of the cost of operation, maintenance and 
improvement of the municipal wastewater system; and   

6. To ensure that the municipality complies with its NPDES or Non-discharge Permit 
conditions, sludge use and disposal requirements and any other Federal or State 
laws to which the municipal wastewater system is subject.  

 
(c) This ordinance provides for the regulation of direct and indirect contributors to the 

municipal wastewater system, through the issuance of permits to certain non-
domestic users and through enforcement of general requirements for the other users, 
authorizes monitoring and enforcement activities, requires user reporting and provides 
for the setting of fees for the equitable distribution of costs resulting from the program 
established herein.   

 
(d) This ordinance shall apply to users of the municipal wastewater system, as authorized 

by N.C.G.S. 160A-312.  The Town shall designate an administrator of the Publicly 
Owned Treatment Works or POTW and pretreatment program hereafter referred to as 
the Public Works Director.  Except as otherwise provided herein, the Public Works 
Director shall administer, implement, and enforce the provisions of this ordinance.  Any 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 15 

powers granted to or imposed upon the Director may be delegated by the Director to 
other Town personnel.   

 
(e) By discharging wastewater into the municipal wastewater system, governmental, 

private, or industrial users located outside the Town limits agree to comply with the 
terms and conditions established in this Ordinance, as well as any permits, 
enforcement actions, or orders issued hereunder. 

 
§ 51.76. -   Definitions And Abbreviations 
 
(a) Unless the context specifically indicates otherwise, the following terms and phrases, as 

used in this ordinance, shall have the meanings hereinafter designated: 
(1) Act or "the Act".  The Federal Water Pollution Control Act, also known as the 

Clean Water Act, as amended, 33 U.S.C. §1251, et seq. 
 

(2) Approval Authority.  The Director of the Division of Water Resources of the 
North Carolina Department of Environment and Natural Resources or his 
designee. 

 
(3) Authorized Representative of the Industrial User. 

(i) If the industrial user is a corporation, authorized representative shall 
mean: 
a. the president, secretary, or a vice-president of the corporation in 

charge of a principal business function, or any other person who 
performs similar policy or decision-making functions for the 
corporation, or 

b. the manager of one or more manufacturing, production, or operation 
facilities, provided, the manager is authorized to make management 
decisions which govern the operation of the regulated facility 
including having the explicit or implicit duty of making major capital 
investment recommendations, and initiate and direct 
comprehensive measures to assure long-term environmental 
compliance with environmental laws and regulations; can ensure 
that the necessary systems are established or actions taken to 
gather complete and accurate information for control mechanism 
requirements; and where authority to sign documents has been 
assigned or delegated to the manager in accordance with corporate 
procedures. 

(ii) If the industrial user is a partnership or sole proprietorship, an authorized 
representative shall mean a general partner or the proprietor, respectively. 

(iii) If the industrial user is a Federal, State or local government facility, an 
authorized representative shall mean a director or highest official 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 16 

appointed or designated to oversee the operation and performance of the 
activities of the government facility, or their designee. 

(iv) The individuals described in paragraphs i-iii above may designate another 
authorized representative if the authorization is in writing, the 
authorization specifies the individual or position responsible for the 
overall operation of the facility from which the discharge originates or 
having overall responsibility for environmental matters for the company, 
and the written authorization is submitted to the Town.  

(v) If the designation of an authorized representative is no longer accurate 
because a different individual or position has responsibility for the overall 
operation of the facility, or overall responsibility for environmental 
matters for the company, a new authorization satisfying the requirements 
of this § must be submitted to the Public Works Director prior to or 
together with any reports to be signed by an authorized representative.    

 
(4) Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD).  The quantity of oxygen utilized in the 

biochemical oxidation of organic matter under standard laboratory 
procedures for five (5) days at 20º centigrade, usually expressed as a 
concentration (e.g. mg/l). 

 
(5) Building Sewer.  A sewer conveying wastewater from the premises of a user 

to the POTW. 
 

(6) Bypass.  The intentional diversion of waste streams from any portion of a 
user's treatment facility. 
 

(7) Categorical Standards.  National Categorical Pretreatment Standards or 
Pretreatment Standards as defined by the U.S. EPA.  

 
(8) Control Authority.  Refers to the Town of Warrenton based on the Town’s 

approved Pretreatment Program under the provisions of 40 CFR 403.11. 
 

(9) Division.  The North Carolina Division of Water Resources. 
 

(10) Environmental Protection Agency, or EPA. The U.S. Environmental 
Protection Agency, or where appropriate the term may also be used as a 
designation for the Administrator or other duly authorized official of said 
agency. 
 

(11) Grab Sample.  A sample which is taken from a waste stream on a one-
time basis without regard to the flow in the waste stream and over a period of 
time not to exceed 15 minutes. 

 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 17 

(12) Holding Tank Waste.  Any waste from holding tanks, including but not 
limited to such holding tanks as vessels, chemical toilets, campers, trailers, 
septic tanks, and vacuum-pump tank trucks. 

 
(13) Indirect Discharge or Discharge.  The discharge or the introduction 

from any nondomestic source regulated under § 307(b), (c), or (d) of the Act, 
(33 U.S.C. 1317), into the POTW (including holding tank waste discharged 
into the system). 
 

(14) Industrial User or User.  Any industrial user of the Town’s wastewater 
system or any person/entity that is a source of indirect discharge. 

 
(15) Pretreatment standard or Categorical Standard. Any regulation containing 

pollutant discharge limits promulgated by the EPA in accordance with §s 307(b) 

and (c) of the Act (33 U.S.C. § 1317) which applies to a specific category of 

industrial users, and which appears in 40 CFR Interference. The inhibition, or 

disruption of the POTW, collection system, treatment processes, operations, or 

its sludge process, use, or disposal, which causes or contributes to a violation 

of any requirement of the control authority's NPDES, collection system, or Non-

discharge permit or prevents sewage sludge use or disposal in compliance with 

specified applicable State and Federal statutes, regulations, or permits. The 

term includes prevention of sewage sludge use or disposal by the POTW in 

accordance with § 405 of the Act, (33 U.S.C. 1345) or any criteria, guidelines, or 

regulations developed pursuant to the Solid Waste Disposal Act (SWDA)(42 

U.S.C. § 6901, et seq.), the Clean Air Act, the Toxic Substances Control Act, the 

Marine Protection Research and Sanctuary Act (MPRSA) or more stringent state 

criteria (including those contained in any State sludge management plan 

prepared pursuant to Title IV of SWDA) applicable to the method of disposal or 

use employed by the POTW. 
 

(16) Medical Waste.  Isolation wastes, infectious agents, human blood 
and blood products, pathological wastes, sharps, body parts, contaminated 
bedding, surgical wastes, potentially contaminated laboratory wastes, and 
dialysis wastes.  
 

(17) National Categorical Pretreatment Standard or Categorical Standard.  
Any regulation containing pollutant discharge limits promulgated by the EPA 
in accordance with §s 307(b) and (c) of the Act (33 U.S.C. §1317) which 
applies to a specific category of industrial users, and which appears in 40 
CFR Chapter 1, Subchapter N, Parts 405-471. 
  

(18) National Prohibitive Discharge Standard or Prohibitive Discharge 
Standard.  Absolute prohibitions against the discharge of certain 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 18 

substances; these prohibitions appear in § 51.121 of this ordinance and are 
developed under the authority of § 307(b) of the Act and 40 CFR, § 403.5. 
 

(19) New Source. 
(i) Any building, structure, facility, or installation from which there may be 

a discharge of pollutants, the construction of which commenced after 
the publication of proposed categorical pretreatment standards under 
§ 307(c) of the Act which will be applicable to such source if such 
standards are thereafter promulgated in accordance with § 307(c), 
provided that: 

a. the building, structure, facility, or installation is constructed at a 
site at which no other source is located; or 

b. the building, structure, facility, or installation totally replaces 
the process or production equipment that causes the discharge 
of pollutants at an existing source; or 

c. the production or wastewater generating processes of the 
building, structure, facility, or installation are substantially 
independent of an existing source at the same site. In 
determining whether these are substantially independent, 
factors such as the extent to which the new facility is integrated 
with the existing plant, and the extent to which the new facility is 
engaged in the same general type of activity as the existing 
source, should be considered. 

ii. Construction on a site at which an existing source is located results in 
a modification rather than a new source if the construction does not 
create a new building, structure, facility, or installation meeting the 
criteria of § (i) b. or c. above but otherwise alters, replaces, or adds to 
existing process or production equipment. 

iii. For purposes of this definition, construction of a new source has 
commenced if the owner or operator has: 
a. Begun, or caused to begin, as part of a continuous on-site 

construction program:   
1. Any placement, assembly, or installation of facilities or 

equipment; or 
2. Significant site preparation work including clearing, 

excavation, or removal of existing buildings, structures or 
facilities which is necessary for the placement, assembly, 
or installation of new source facilities or equipment; or 

b. Entered into a binding contractual obligation for the purchase of 
facilities or equipment which are intended to be used in its 
operation within a reasonable time.  Options to purchase or 
contracts which can be terminated or modified without 
substantial loss, and contracts for feasibility, engineering, and 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 19 

design studies do not constitute a contractual obligation under 
this definition. 

 
(20) Noncontact Cooling Water. Water used for cooling which does not 

come into direct contact with any raw material, intermediate product, waste 
product, or finished product. 
 

(21) National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System, or NPDES, Permit.  A 
permit issued pursuant to § 402 of the Act (33 U.S.C §1342), or pusurant to 
N.C.G.S. 143-215.1 by the State under delatation from EPA. 
 

(22) Non-discharge Permit. A permit issued by the State pursuant to 
N.C.G.S. 143-215.1.(d) for a waste which is not discharged directly to surface 
waters of the state or for a wastewater treatment works which does not 
discharge directly to surface waters of the State.   

 
(23) Pass Through.  A discharge which exits the POTW into waters of the 

State in quantities or concentrations which, alone or with discharges from 
other sources, causes a violation, including an increase in the magnitude or 
duration of a violation, of the Control Authority’s NPDES, collection system, 
or Non-discharge Permit.  

 
(24) Person.  Any individual, partnership, co-partnership, firm, company, 

corporation, association, joint stock company, trust, estate, governmental 
entity or any other legal entity, or their legal representatives, heirs, agents or 
assigns.  This definition includes all Federal, State, and local government 
entities.  
 

(25) pH.  A measure of the acidity or alkalinity of a substance, expressed as 
standard units, and calculated as the logarithm (base 10) of the reciprocal of 
the concentration of hydrogen ions expressed in grams per liter of solution. 
 

(26) Pollutant.  Any "waste" as defined in N.C.G.S. 143-213(18) and dredged 
spoil, solid waste, incinerator residue, sewage, garbage, sewage sludge, 
munitions, medical wastes, chemical wastes, biological materials, 
radioactive materials, heat, wrecked or discarded equipment, rock, sand, 
cellar dirt and industrial, municipal, and agricultural waste and certain 
characteristics of wastewater (e.g., pH, temperature, TSS, turbidity, color, 
BOD, COD, toxiTown, or odor) discharged into water. 

 
(27) POTW Director or Public Works Director or “Director”.  The Town 

administrator designated with the responsibility for the pretreatment program 
and enforcement of this Sewer Use Ordinance. 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 20 

 
(28) POTW Treatment Plant.  That portion of the POTW designed to provide 

treatment to wastewater.   
 

(29) Pretreatment or Treatment.  The reduction of the amount of pollutants, 
the elimination of pollutants, or the alteration of the nature of pollutant 
properties in wastewater prior to or in lieu of discharging or otherwise 
introducing such pollution into a POTW.  The reduction or alteration can be 
obtained by physical, chemical or biological processes, or process changes 
or other means, except by diluting the concentration of the pollutants unless 
allowed by an applicable pretreatment standard. 

 
(30) Pretreatment Program.  The program for the control of pollutants 

introduced into the POTW from non-domestic sources which was developed 
by the Town in compliance with 40 CFR 403.8 and approved by the Approval 
Authority as authorized by N.C.G.S. 143-215.3(a)(14) in accordance with 40 
CFR 403.11. 
 

(31) Pretreatment Requirements.  Any substantive or procedural 
requirement related to pretreatment, other than a pretreatment standard.  

 
(32) Pretreatment Standards. Any prohibited discharge standard, 

categorical standard,  or local limit which applies to an industrial user. 
 
(33) Publicly Owned Treatment Works (POTW) or Municipal Wastewater 

System.  A treatment works as defined by § 212 of the Act, (33 U.S.C. §1292) 
which is owned in this instance by the Town.  This definition includes any 
devices or systems used in the collection, storage, treatment, recycling, and 
reclamation of municipal sewage or industrial wastes of a liquid nature. It also 
includes sewers, pipes, and other conveyances only if they convey 
wastewater to the POTW treatment plant. For the purposes of this ordinance, 
"POTW" shall also include any sewers that convey wastewaters to the POTW 
from persons outside the Town who are, by contract or agreement with the 
Town, or in any other way, users of the POTW of the Town. 

 
(34) Severe Property Damage.  Substantial physical damage to property, 

damage to the user's treatment facilities which causes them to become 
inoperable, or substantial and permanent loss of natural resources which can 
reasonably be expected to occur in the absence of a bypass. Severe property 
damage does not mean economic loss caused by delays in production. 

 
(35) Significant Industrial User.  Any industrial user of the wastewater 

disposal system who  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 21 

a. has an average daily process wastewater flow of 25,000 gallons or more, 
or  

b. contributes more than 5% of any design or treatment capacity (i.e., 
allowable pollutant load) of the wastewater treatment plant receiving the 
indirect discharge, or  

c. is required to meet a National categorical pretreatment standard, or  
d. is found by the Town, the Division of Water Resources or the U.S. 

Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) to have the potential for impact, 
either singly or in combination with other contributing industrial users, on 
the wastewater treatment system, the quality of sludge, the system's 
effluent quality, or compliance with any pretreatment standards or 
requirements. 
 

e. Subject to Division approval under 15A NCAC 02H .0907(b), the Control 
Authority may determine that an Industrial User meeting the criteria in 
paragraphs a. and b. above has no reasonable potential for adversely 
affecting the POTW's operation or for violating any Pretreatment 
Standards or requirement, or for contributing to violations of the POTW’s 
effluent limitations and conditions in its NPDES or non-discharge permit, 
or for limiting the POTW’s sludge disposal options, and thus is not a 
Significant Industrial User.  

f. Subject to Division approval under 15A NCAC 02H .0907(b), the Control 
Authority may determine that an Industrial User meeting the criteria in 
paragraph (C) above meets the requirements of 40 CFR Part 403.3(v)(2) 
and thus is a Non-Significant Categorical Industrial User. 
 

g. Subject to Division approval under 15A NCAC 02H .0907(b), the Control 
Authority may determine that an Industrial User meeting the criteria in 
paragraph c. above meets the requirements of 40 CFR Part 403.12(e)(3) 
and thus is a Middle Tier Significant Industrial User.  Sampling and 
inspection requirements may be cut in half as per 40 CFR Parts 403.8 
(f)(2)(v)(C).and 403.12 (e)(3). 
 

(36) Significant Noncompliance or SNC is a status of noncompliance of a 
Significant Industrial User when one or more of the following criteria are met.  
Additionally, any Industrial User which meets the criteria in Subparagraph 
(a)(35), Parts c, d, or h shall be SNC.  

a. Chronic Violations of wastewater discharge limits, defined here as 
those in which sixty-six percent or more of all the measurements 
taken for the same pollutant parameter (not including flow) during a 
six-month period exceed (by any magnitude) a numeric 
Pretreatment Standard or Requirement including instantaneous 
limits, as defined by 40 CFR Part 403.3(1); 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 22 

b. Technical Review Criteria (TRC) violations.  Defined here as those 
in which thirty-three percent or more of all of the measurements 
taken for the same pollutant parameter during a six month period 
equal or exceed the product of the numeric Pretreatment 
Standard or Requirement including instantaneous limits, as 
defined by 40 CFR Part 403.3(1) multiplied by the applicable TRC 
(TRC = 1.4 for BOD, TSS, fats, oil and grease, 1.2 for all other 
pollutants (except flow and pH)). 

c. Any other violation of a Pretreatment Standard or Requirement as 
defined by 40 CFR Part 403.3(1) (daily maximum, long-term 
average, instantaneous limit, or narrative standard) that the 
control authority determines has caused, alone or in combination 
with other discharges, interference or pass-through; or 
endangered the health of the sewage treatment plant personnel or 
the public. 

d. Any discharge of a pollutant or wastewater that has caused 
imminent endangerment to human health, welfare, or to the 
environment or has resulted in the POTW's exercise of its emergency 
authority under 40 CFR Part 403.8(f)(1)(vi)(B) and  § 51.130(e) of this 
SUO to halt or prevent such a discharge. 

e. Violations of compliance schedule milestones, contained in a 
pretreatment permit or enforcement order, for starting 
construction, completing construction, and attaining final 
compliance by 90 days or more after the schedule date. 

f. Failure to provide reports for compliance schedule, self-monitoring 
data, baseline monitoring reports, 90-day compliance reports, and 
periodic compliance reports within 30 days from the due date. 

g. Failure to accurately report noncompliance. 
h. Any other violation or group of violations that the Control Authority 

and/or POTW  determines will adversely affect the operation or 
implementation of the local pretreatment program. 

 
(37) Slug Load or Discharge.  Any discharge at a flow rate or concentration 

which has a reasonable potential to cause Interference or Pass-Through, or in 
any other way violates the POTW’s regulations, local limits, or Industrial User 
Permit conditions.  This can include but is not limited to spills and other 
accidental discharges; discharges of a non-routine, episodic nature; a non-
customary batch discharge; or any other discharges that can cause a violation 
of the prohibited discharge standards in § 51.81 of this ordinance. 

 
(38) Standard Industrial Classification (SIC).  A classification pursuant to 

the Standard Industrial Classification Manual issued by the Executive Office 
of the President, Office of Management and Budget, 1987. 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 23 

 
(39) Stormwater. Any flow occurring during or following any form of natural 

precipitation and resulting therefrom. 
 

(40) Suspended Solids.  The total suspended matter that floats on the 
surface of, or is suspended in, water, wastewater or other liquids, and which 
is removable by laboratory filtering. 

 
(41) Upset.  An exceptional incident in which there is unintentional and 

temporary noncompliance with categorical pretreatment standards because 
of factors beyond the reasonable control of the user. An upset does not 
include noncompliance to the extent caused by operational error, improperly 
designed treatment facilities, inadequate treatment facilities, lack of 
preventive maintenance, or careless or improper operation. 

 
(42) Wastewater.  The liquid and water-carried industrial or domestic 

wastes from dwellings, commercial buildings, industrial facilities, mobile 
sources, treatment facilities and institutions, together with any groundwater, 
surface water, and storm water that may be present, whether treated or 
untreated, which are contributed into or permitted to enter the POTW. 

 
(43) Wastewater Permit.  As set forth in § 51.101 of this ordinance. 

 
(44) Waters of the State.  All streams, lakes, ponds, marshes, watercourse, 

waterways, wells, springs, reservoirs, aquifers, irrigation systems, drainage 
systems and all other bodies or accumulations of water, surface or 
underground, natural or artificial, public or private, which are contained 
within, flow through, or border upon the State or any portion thereof. 

 
(b) This ordinance is gender neutral and the masculine gender shall include the feminine 

and vice-versa. 
 

(c) Shall is mandatory; may is permissive or discretionary. 
 
(d) The use of the singular shall be construed to include the plural and the plural shall 

include the singular as indicated by the context of its use. 
 
(e) The following abbreviations when used in this ordinance shall have the designated 

meanings: 
 

(1)  BOD Biochemical Oxygen Demand 
(2)  CFR Code of Federal Regulations 
(3)  COD Chemical Oxygen Demand 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 24 

(4)  EPA Environmental Protection Agency 
(5)  gpd Gallons per day 
(6)  l Liter 
(7)  mg Milligrams 
(8)  mg/l Milligrams per liter 
(9)  N.C.G.S. North Carolina General Statutes 
(10)  NPDES National Pollution Discharge Elimination 

System 
(11)  O & M Operation and Maintenance 
(12)  POTW Publicly Owned Treatment Works 
(13)  RCRA Resource Conservation and Recovery Act 
(14)  SIC Standard Industrial Classification 
(15)  SWDA Solid Waste Disposal Act 
(16)  TSS Total Suspended Solids 
(17)  TKN Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen 
(18)  U.S.C United States Code. 

 
§§ 51.77—51.79. Reserved. 
 
DIVISION 2 - GENERAL SEWER USE REQUIREMENTS  
 
§ 51.81. - Prohibited Discharge Standards 
 
(a) General Prohibitions.  No user shall contribute or cause to be contributed into the POTW, 

directly or indirectly, any pollutant or wastewater which causes interference or pass 
through. These general prohibitions apply to all users of a POTW whether or not the user 
is a significant industrial user or subject to any National, State, or local pretreatment 
standards or requirements. 
 

(b) Specific Prohibitions.  No user shall contribute or cause to be contributed into the POTW 
the following pollutants, substances, or wastewater: 

 
(1) Pollutants which create a fire or explosive hazard in the POTW, including, but 

not limited to, waste streams with a closed cup flashpoint of less than 140ºF 
(60ºC) using the test methods specified in 40 CFR 261.21.   

 
(2) Solid or viscous substances in amounts which will cause obstruction of the 

flow in the POTW resulting in interference but in no case solids greater than 
one half inch (1/2") in any dimension. 

 
(3) Petroleum oil, nonbiodegradable cutting oil, or products of mineral oil origin, 

in amounts that will cause interference or pass through. 
 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 25 

(4) Any wastewater having a pH less than 5.0 or more than 11 or wastewater 
having any other corrosive property capable of causing damage to the POTW 
or equipment. 

 
(5) Any wastewater containing pollutants, including oxygen-demanding 

pollutants, (BOD, etc) in sufficient quantity, (flow or concentration) either 
singly or by interaction with other pollutants, to cause interference with the 
POTW. 

 
(6) Any wastewater having a temperature greater than 150º F (66º C), or which 

will inhibit biological activity in the POTW treatment plant resulting in 
Interference, but in no case wastewater which causes the temperature at the 
introduction into the treatment plant to exceed 104º F (40º C).  

 
(7) Any pollutants which result in the presence of toxic gases, vapors or fumes 

within the POTW in a quantity that may cause acute worker health and safety 
problems. 

 
(8) Any noxious or malodorous liquids, gases, or solids or other wastewater 

which, either singly or by interaction with other wastes, are sufficient to 
create a public nuisance or hazard to life or are sufficient to prevent entry 
into the sewers for maintenance and repair. 

 
(9) Any substance which may cause the POTW's effluent or any other product of 

the POTW such as residues, sludges, or scums, to be unsuitable for 
reclamation and reuse or to interfere with the reclamation process. In no 
case, shall a substance discharged to the POTW cause the POTW to be in 
noncompliance with sludge use or disposal regulations or permits issued 
under § 405 of the Act; the Solid Waste Disposal Act, the Clean Air Act, the 
Toxic Substances Control Act, or State criteria applicable to the sludge 
management method being used. 

 
(10) Any wastewater which imparts color which cannot be removed by the 

treatment process, including, but not limited to, dye wastes and vegetable 
tanning solutions, which consequently imparts sufficient color to the 
treatment plant's effluent to render the waters injurious to public health or 
secondary recreation or to aquatic life and wildlife or to adversely affect the 
palatability of fish or aesthetic quality or impair the receiving waters for any 
designated uses. 

 
(11) Any wastewater containing any radioactive wastes or isotopes except 

as specifically approved by the Public Works Director in compliance with 
applicable State or Federal regulations. 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 26 

 
(13) Storm water, surface water, ground water, artesian well water, roof 

runoff, subsurface drainage, swimming pool drainage, condensate, 
deionized water, noncontact cooling water and unpolluted industrial 
wastewater, unless specifically authorized by the Public Works Director. 

 
(14) Fats, oils, or greases of animal or vegetable origin in amounts that will 

cause obstruction to the flow in the POTW collection system, harm the 
collection system, and/or result in harm and/or interference at the POTW 
treatment plant.  (See Warrenton’s Fats, Oils and Grease .Policy) 

 
(15) Any sludges, screenings or other residues from the pretreatment of 

industrial wastes. 
 

(16) Any medical wastes, except as specifically authorized by the Public 
Works Director in a wastewater discharge permit.   

 
(17) Any material containing ammonia, ammonia salts, or other chelating 

agents, which will produce metallic complexes that interfere with the 
municipal wastewater system.  

 
(18) Any material that would be identified as hazardous waste according to 

40 CFR Part 261 if not disposed of in a sewer except as may be specifically 
authorized by the Public Works Director. 

 
(19) Any wastewater causing the treatment plant effluent to violate State 

Water Quality Standards for toxic substances as described in 15A NCAC 2B 
.0200. 

 
(20) Wastewater causing, alone or in conjunction with other sources, the 

treatment plant's effluent to fail a toxiTown test. 
 

(21) Recognizable portions of the human or animal anatomy. 
 

(22) Any wastes containing detergents, surface active agents, or other 
substances which may cause excessive foaming in the municipal wastewater 
system. 

 
(23) At no time, shall two successive readings on an explosion hazard 

meter, at the point of discharge into the system (or at any point in the system) 
be more than five percent (5%) nor any single reading over ten percent (10%) 
of the lower explosive limit (LEL) of the meter.   

 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 27 

Pollutants, substances, wastewater, or other wastes prohibited by this § shall not 
be processed or stored in such a manner that they could be discharged to the 
municipal wastewater system.  All floor drains located in process or materials 
storage areas must discharge to the industrial user's pretreatment facility before 
connecting with the system. 
 
When the Public Works Director determines that a user(s) is contributing to the 
POTW, any of the above enumerated substances in such amounts which may cause 
or contribute to interference of POTW operation or pass through, the Public Works 
Director shall: 

1) advise the user(s) of the potential impact of the contribution on the POTW 
in accordance with § 51.130; and 

2) take appropriate actions in accordance with Division 4 of this Article 
(Wastewater Discharge Permit Application and Issuance) for such user to 
protect the POTW from interference or pass through. 

 
§ 51.82. - National Categorical Pretreatment Standards 
 
Users subject to categorical pretreatment standards are required to comply with 
applicable standards as set out in 40 CFR Chapter 1, Subchapter N, Parts 405-471 and 
incorporated herein. 

(a) Where a categorical pretreatment standard is expressed only in terms of 
either the mass or the concentration of a pollutant in wastewater, the Public 
Works Director may impose equivalent concentration or mass limits in 
accordance with 40 CFR 403.6(c). 

(b) When wastewater subject to a categorical pretreatment standard is mixed 
with wastewater not regulated by the same standard, the Public Works 
Director shall impose an alternate limit using the combined waste stream 
formula in 40 CFR 403.6(e). 

(c) A user may obtain a variance from a categorical pretreatment standard if the 
user can prove, pursuant to the procedural and substantive provisions in 40 
CFR 403.13, that factors relating to its discharge are fundamentally different 
from the factors considered by EPA when developing the categorical 
pretreatment standard. 

(d) A user may obtain a net gross adjustment to a categorical standard in 
accordance with 40 CFR 403.15. 

 
§ 51.83. - Local Limits 
 
An industrial waste survey is required prior to a User discharging wastewater containing in 
excess of the following average discharge limits. 
 

BOD 300 mg/l 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 28 

TSS 150 mg/l 
NH3 25 mg/l 
Arsenic 0.003 mg/l 
Cadmium 0.003 mg/l 
Chromium 0.05 mg/l (total chromium) 
Copper 0.061 mg/l 
Cyanide 0.015 mg/l 
Lead 0.049 mg/l 
Mercury 0.0003 mg/l 
Nickel 0.021 mg/l 
Silver 0.005 mg/l 
Zinc 0.175 mg/l 
 

Industrial Waste Survey information will be used to develop user-specific local limits when 
necessary to ensure that the POTW's maximum allowable headworks loading are not 
exceeded for particular pollutants of concern.  User-specific local limits for appropriate 
pollutants of concern shall be included in wastewater permits.  The Public Works Director 
may impose mass-based limits in addition to, or in place of concentration based limits. 
  
§ 51.84. - State Requirements 
 
State requirements and limitations on discharges shall apply in any case where they are 
more stringent than Federal requirements and limitations or those in this ordinance. 
 
§ 51.85. - Right of Revision 
 
The Town reserves the right to establish limitations and requirements which are more 
stringent than those required by either State or Federal regulation if deemed necessary to 
comply with the objectives presented in § 51.75 of this ordinance or the general and 
specific prohibitions in § 51.81 of this ordinance, as is allowed by 40 CFR 403.4. 
 
§ 51.86. - Dilution 
 
No user shall ever increase the use of process water or, in any way, attempt to dilute a 
discharge as a partial or complete substitute for adequate treatment to achieve 
compliance with the limitations contained in the National categorical pretreatment 
standards, unless expressly authorized by an applicable pretreatment standard, or in any 
other pollutant-specific limitation developed by the Town or State.  
 
§ 51.87. - Pretreatment of Wastewater 
 
(a) Pretreatment Facilities 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 29 

Users shall provide wastewater treatment as necessary to comply with this 
ordinance and wastewater permits issued under § 51.101 of this ordinance and 
shall achieve compliance with all National categorical pretreatment standards, 
local limits, and the prohibitions set out in § 51.81 of this ordinance within the time 
limitations as specified by EPA, the State, or the Public Works Director, whichever is 
more stringent.  Any facilities necessary for compliance shall be provided, 
operated, and maintained at the user's expense.  Detailed plans showing the 
pretreatment facilities and operating procedures shall be submitted to the Town for 
review and shall be approved by the Public Works Director before construction of 
the facility.  The review of such plans and operating procedures shall in no way 
relieve the user from the responsibility of modifying the facility as necessary to 
produce an effluent acceptable to the Town under the provisions of this ordinance.  
Any subsequent changes in the pretreatment facilities or method of operation shall 
be reported to and be approved by the Public Works Director before the user's 
initiation of the changes. 

 
(b) Additional Pretreatment Measures 

1. Whenever deemed necessary, the Public Works Director may require 
users to restrict their discharge during peak flow periods, designate that 
certain wastewater be discharged only into specific sewers, relocate 
and/or consolidate points of discharge, separate sewage wastestreams 
from industrial wastestreams, and such other conditions as may be 
necessary to protect the POTW and determine the user’s compliance with 
the requirements of this ordinance. 

2. The Public Works Director may require any person discharging into the 
POTW to install and maintain, on their property and at their expense, a 
suitable storage and flow-control facility to ensure equalization of flow.  A 
wastewater discharge permit may be issued solely for flow equalization. 

3. Grease, oil, and sand interceptors shall be provided when, in the opinion 
of the Public Works Director, they are necessary for the proper handling of 
wastewater containing excessive amounts of grease and oil, or sand; 
except that such interceptors shall not be required for residential users.  
All interception units shall be of type and capacity approved by the Public 
Works Director and shall be so located to be easily accessible for cleaning 
and inspection.  Such interceptors shall be inspected, cleaned, and 
repaired regularly, as needed, by the user at their expense. 
 
Users with the potential to discharge flammable substances may be 
required to install and maintain an approved combustible gas detection 
meter.  
 

§ 51.88. - Accidental Discharge/Slug Control Plans  
 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 30 

(a) The Public Works Director shall evaluate whether each significant industrial user needs a 
plan or other action to control and prevent slug discharges and accidental discharges as 
defined in § 51.76(a)(37).  All SIUs must be evaluated within one year of being designated an 
SIU.  The Public Works Director may require any user to develop, submit for approval, and 
implement such a plan or other specific action.  Alternatively, the Public Works Director may 
develop such a plan for any user.   

 
(b) All SIUs are required to notify the POTW immediately of any changes at its facility 

affecting the potential for spills and other accidental discharge, discharge of a non-
routine, episodic nature, a non-customary batch discharge, or a slug load.  Also see 
§s 51.109 and 51.110. 

 
(c) An accidental discharge/slug control plan shall address, at a minimum, the 

following: 
(1) Description of discharge practices, including non-routine batch 

discharges; 
(2) Description of stored chemicals; 
(3) Procedures for immediately notifying the Public Works Director of any 

accidental or slug discharge, as required by § 51.110 of this ordinance; 
and 

(4) Procedures to prevent adverse impact from any accidental or slug 
discharge.  Such procedures include, but are not limited to, inspection 
and maintenance of storage areas, handling and transfer of materials, 
loading and unloading operations, control of plant site runoff, worker 
training, building of containment structures or equipment, measures for 
containing toxic organic pollutants, including solvents, and/or measures 
and equipment for emergency response. 

 
 
§§ 51.89 -- 51.94 Reserved. 
 
DIVISION 3 - FEES 
 
§ 51.95. - Purpose 
 
It is the purpose of this chapter to provide for the recovery of costs from users of the Town 
of Warrenton wastewater disposal system for the implementation of the program 
established herein.  The applicable charges or fees shall be set forth in a schedule of sewer 
use charges and fees by the Public Works Director and approved by the Board of 
Commissioners  A copy of these charges and fees will be made available from the Public 
Works Director, the Finance Department and other sources. 
 
§ 51.96. - User Charges 
 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 31 

A user charge shall be levied on all users including, but not limited to, persons, firms, 
corporations or governmental entities that discharge, cause or permit the discharge of 
sewage into the POTW. 

(a) The user charge shall reflect, at least, the cost of debt service, operation and 
maintenance (including replacement) of the POTW. 

(b) Each user shall pay its proportionate cost based on volume of flow. 
(c) The Manager of the Town shall review annually the sewage contributions of 

users, the total costs of debt service, operation and maintenance of the POTW 
and will make recommendations to the Town Board for adjustments in the 
schedule of charges and fees as necessary. 

(d) Charges for flow to the POTW not directly attributable to the users shall be 
distributed among all users of the POTW based upon the volume of flow of the 
users. 

 
§ 51.97. - Surcharges 
 
The amount of the surcharges will be based upon the volume of flow and the character and 
concentration of the constituents of the wastewater.   

(a) The volume of flow used in determining the total discharge of wastewater for 
payment of user charges and surcharges shall be based on the following: 

(1) Metered water consumption as shown in the records of meter readings 
maintained by the Town; or 

(2) If required by the Town, other flow monitoring devices, which measure 
the actual volume of wastewater discharged to the sewer, may be used.  
Such devices shall be accessible and safely located, and the measuring 
system shall be installed in accordance with plans approved by the 
Town. The metering system shall be installed and maintained at the users 
expense according to arrangements that may be made with the Town. 

(3) Where any user procures all or part of his or her water supply from 
sources other than the Town, the user shall install and maintain at his or 
her own expense a flow measuring device of a type approved by the 
Town. 

 
(b) The character and concentration of the constituents of the wastewater used in 

determining surcharges shall be determined by samples collected and analyzed 
by the Town.  Samples shall be collected in such a manner as to be 
representative of the actual discharge (following pretreatment and prior to 
blending) and shall be analyzed using procedures set forth in 40 CFR Part 136. 

 
(c) The determination of the character and concentration of the constituents of the 

wastewater discharge by the Public Works Director or his duly appointed 
representatives shall be binding as a basis for charges.  

 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 32 

§ 51.98. - Pretreatment Program Administration Charges 
 
The schedule of charges and fees adopted by the Town may include charges and fees for: 

(a) reimbursement of costs of setting up and operating the Pretreatment Program; 
(b) monitoring, inspections and surveillance procedures; 
(c) reviewing slug control plans, including accidental and/or slug load discharge 

procedures and construction plans and specifications; 
(d) permitting; 
(e) other fees as the Town may deem necessary to carry out the requirements of the 

Pretreatment Program. 
 
§ 51.99  Reserved 
 
DIVISION 4 - WASTEWATER DISCHARGE PERMIT APPLICATION AND ISSUANCE  
 
§ 51.100. - Wastewater Dischargers 
 
It shall be unlawful for any person to connect or discharge to the POTW without first 
obtaining the permission of the Town.  When requested by the Public Works Director, a 
user must submit information on the nature and characteristics of its wastewater within 
thirty (30) days of the request.  The Public Works Director is authorized to prepare a form 
for this purpose and may periodically require users to update this information. 
 
§ 51.101. - Wastewater Permits 
 
All significant industrial users shall obtain a significant industrial user permit prior to the 
commencement of discharge to the POTW.  Existing industrial users who are determined 
by the Public Works Director to be significant industrial users shall obtain a significant 
industrial user permit within 180 days of receiving notification of the POTW Director's 
determination.  Industrial users who do not fit the significant industrial user criteria may at 
the discretion of the Director of Public Works be required to obtain a wastewater discharge 
permit for non-significant industrial users. 

(a) Significant Industrial User Determination 
All persons proposing to discharge non-domestic wastewater or proposing to 
change the volume or characteristics of an existing discharge of non-domestic 
wastewater shall request from the Public Works Director a significant industrial 
user determination.  If the Public Works Director determines or suspects that the 
proposed discharge fits the significant industrial user criteria he will require that a 
significant industrial user permit application be filed. 

 
(b) Significant Industrial User Permit Application 

Users required to obtain a significant industrial user permit shall complete and file 
with the Town, an application in the form prescribed by the Public Works Director 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 33 

and accompanied by an application fee in the amount prescribed in the schedule of 
charges and fees.  Significant industrial users shall apply for a significant industrial 
user permit within 90 days after notification of the POTW Director's determination in 
§51.101(a) above.  In support of the application, the user shall submit, in units and 
terms appropriate for evaluation, the following information: 

(1) Name, address, and physical location, (if different from the address); 
(2) Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) codes for pretreatment, the 

industry as a whole, and any processes for which categorical pretreatment 
standards have been promulgated;  

(3) Analytical data on wastewater constituents and characteristics including 
but not limited to those mentioned in Division 2 of this ordinance, any of 
the priority pollutants (§ 307(a) of the Act) which the applicant knows or 
suspects are present in the discharge as determined by a reliable 
analytical laboratory, and any other pollutant of concern to the POTW; 
sampling and analysis shall be performed in accordance with procedures 
established by the EPA pursuant to § 304(g) of the Act and contained in 
40 CFR, Part 136, as amended and as required in § 51.109 and 51.110; 

(4) Time and duration of the indirect discharge; 
(5) Average daily and 30 minute peak wastewater flow rates, including daily, 

monthly and seasonal variations if any; 
(6) Site plans, floor plans, mechanical and plumbing plans and details to 

show all sewers, floor drains, sewer connections, direction of flow and 
appurtenances by the size, location and elevation; 

(7) Description of activities, facilities and plant processes on the premises 
including all materials which are or could be accidentally or intentionally 
discharged; 

(8) Where known, the nature and concentration of any pollutants in the 
discharge which are limited by any Town, State, or Federal Pretreatment 
Standards, and a statement regarding whether or not the pretreatment 
standards are being met on a consistent basis and if not, whether 
additional operation and maintenance (O&M) and/or additional 
pretreatment is required for the user to meet applicable pretreatment 
standards; 

(9) If additional pretreatment and/or O&M will be required to meet the 
pretreatment standards; the shortest schedule by which the user will 
provide such additional pretreatment.  The completion date in this 
schedule shall not be longer than the compliance date established for 
the applicable pretreatment standard.  The following conditions apply to 
this schedule: 

(i) The schedule shall contain progress increments in the form of dates 
for the commencement and completion of major events leading to the 
construction and operation of additional pretreatment required for the 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 34 

user to meet the applicable pretreatment standards.  No increment in 
the schedule shall exceed nine (9) months. 

(ii) No later than 14 days following each date in the schedule and the 
final date for compliance, the user shall submit a progress report to 
the Public Works Director including, at a minimum, whether or not it 
complied with the increment of progress, the reason for any delay, 
and if appropriate, the steps being taken by the user to return to the 
established schedule.  In no event shall more than nine (9) months 
elapse between such progress reports to the Director of Public Works 
Resources.  

(10) Each product produced by type, amount, process or processes and rate 
of production; 

(11) Type and amount of raw materials processed (average and maximum per 
day); 

(12) Number and type of employees, and hours of operation of plant and 
proposed or actual hours of operation of pretreatment system; 

(13) If subject to a categorical standard, a baseline monitoring report in 
accordance with 40 CFR 403.12(b) and 15A NCAC 2H .0908(a), as 
outlined in § 51.105 of this ordinance. 

(14)       Description of current and projected waste reduction activities in 
accordance with G.S. 143-215.1(g). 

(15) Any other information as may be deemed by the Public Works Director to 
be necessary to evaluate the permit application. 

 
(c) Application Signatories and Certification 

All wastewater discharge permit applications and user reports must be signed by 
the current authorized representative of the user on file with the Control Authority 
and/or Municipality as defined in § 51.76(a)(8) and contain the following 
certification statement: 

“I certify under penalty of law that this document and all attachments 
were prepared under my direction or supervision in accordance with a 
system designed to assure that qualified personnel properly gather 
and evaluate the information submitted.  Based on my inquiry of the 
person or persons who manage the system, or those persons directly 
responsible for gathering the information, the information submitted 
is, to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, accurate, and 
complete.  I am aware that there are significant penalties for 
submitting false information, including the possibility of fine and 
imprisonment for knowing violations.” 
 

(d) Application Review and Evaluation 
The Public Works Director will evaluate the data furnished by the user and may 
require additional information. 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 35 

(1) The Public Works Director is authorized to accept applications for the 
Town and shall refer all applications to the POTW staff for review and 
evaluation. 

(2) Within 30 days of receipt the Public Works Director shall acknowledge 
and accept the complete application; or if not complete, shall return the 
application to the applicant with a statement of what additional 
information is required. 

 
(e) Tentative Determination and Draft Permit 

(1) The POTW staff shall conduct a review of the application and an on-site 
inspection of the significant industrial user, including any pretreatment 
facilities, and shall prepare a written evaluation and tentative 
determination to issue or deny the significant industrial user permit. 

(2) If the staff's tentative determination in Paragraph (1) above is to issue the 
permit, the following additional determinations shall be made in writing: 
(i) proposed discharge limitations for those pollutants proposed to be 

limited; 
(ii) a proposed schedule of compliance, including interim dates and 

requirements, for meeting the proposed limitations; and 
(iii) a brief description of any other proposed special conditions which 

will have significant impact upon the discharge described in the 
application. 

(3) The staff shall organize the determinations made pursuant to Paragraphs 
(1) and (2) above and the general permit conditions of the Town into a 
significant industrial user permit. 

 
(f) Permit supporting documentation.  The Control Authority staff shall prepare the 

following documents for all Significant Industrial User permits. 
 
(1) An allocation table (AT) listing permit information for all Significant Industrial 

Users, including but not limited to permit limits, permit effective and expiration 
dates, and a comparison of total permitted flows and loads with Division 
approved maximum allowable loadings of the POTW, including flow, on forms 
or in a format approved by the Division.  The AT shall be updated as permits are 
issued or renewed, and as permits are modified where the permitted limits or 
other AT information is revised. 

(2) The basis, or rationale, for the pretreatment limitations, including the following: 
(i) documentation of categorical determination, including documentation of 

any calculations used in applying categorical pretreatment standards; and 
(ii) documentation of the rationale of any parameters for which monitoring has 

been waived under 40 CFR Part 403.12(e)(2). 
 

 (g) Final Action on Significant Industrial User Permit Applications 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 36 

(1) The Public Works Director shall take final action on all applications not later 
than 90 days following receipt of a complete application. 

(2) The Public Works Director is authorized to: 
(i) issue a significant industrial user permit containing such conditions as 

are necessary to effectuate the purposes of this ordinance and N.C.G.S. 
143-215.1; 

(ii) issue a significant industrial user permit containing time schedules for 
achieving compliance with applicable pretreatment standards and 
requirements; 

(iii) modify any permit upon not less than 60 days’ notice and pursuant to § 
51.101(9)(i) of this ordinance; 

(iv) revoke any permit pursuant to § 51.130 of this ordinance; 
(v) suspend a permit pursuant to § 51.130 of this Ordinance; 

(vi) deny a permit application when in the opinion of the Public Works 
Director such discharge may cause or contribute to pass-through or 
interference of the wastewater treatment plant or where necessary to 
effectuate the purposes of N.C.G.S. 143-215.1. 
 

(h) Hearings. The local government may conduct hearings in accordance with its regular 
hearing procedure. 

 
(1) Initial adjudicatory hearing. An applicant whose permit is denied, or is granted 

subject to conditions he deems unacceptable, a permittee/user assessed a civil 
penalty under § 51.131, or one issued an administrative order under § 51.130 shall 
have the right to an adjudicatory hearing before a hearing officer designated by the 
director of utilities upon making written demand, identifying the specific issues to 
be contested, to the director of utilities within thirty (30) days following receipt of 
the significant industrial user permit, civil penalty assessment, or administrative 
order. Unless such written demand is made within the time specified herein, the 
action shall be final and binding. The hearing officer shall make a final decision on 
the contested permit, penalty, or order within forty-five (45) days of the receipt of 
the written demand for a hearing. The director of utilities shall transmit a copy of 
the hearing officer's decision by registered or certified mail. 

 
a. New permits. Upon appeal, including judicial review in the general courts of 

justice, of the terms or conditions of a newly issued permit, the terms and 
conditions of the entire permit are stayed and the permit is not in effect until 
either the conclusion of judicial review or until the parties reach a mutual 
resolution. 
 

b. Renewed permits. Upon appeal, including judicial review in the general 
courts of justice, of the terms or conditions of a renewed permit, the terms 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 37 

and conditions of the existing permit remain in effect until either the 
conclusion of judicial review or until the parties reach a mutual resolution. 

 
(2) Final appeal hearing. Any decision of a hearing officer made as a result of an 

adjudicatory hearing held under § 51.140(h) above may be appealed, to the 
Board of Commissioners upon filing a written demand within ten (10) days of 
receipt of notice of the decision. Hearings held under this subdivision shall be 
conducted in accordance with the Board of Commissioners procedures for 
public hearings. Failure to make written demand within the time specified herein 
shall bar further appeal. The Board of Commissioners shall make a final 
decision on the appeal within ninety (90) days of the date the appeal was filed 
and shall transmit a written copy of its decision by registered or certified mail. 

 
(3) Official record. When a final decision is issued under § 51.101(h)(2) above, the 

Board of Commissioners shall prepare an official record of the case that 
includes: 
a. All notices, motions, and other like pleadings; 
b. A copy of all documentary evidence introduced; 
c. A certified transcript of all testimony taken, if testimony is transcribed. If 

testimony is taken and not transcribed, then a narrative summary of any 
testimony taken. 

d. A copy of the final decision of the Board of Commissioners serving the town. 
 
(4) Judicial review. Any person against whom a final order or decision of the Board 

of Commissioners is entered, pursuant to the hearing conducted § 51.101 (h)(2) 
above, may seek judicial review of the order or decision by filing a written 
petition within thirty (30) days after receipt of notice by registered or certified 
mail of the order or decision, but not thereafter, with the superior court of 
Warren County along with a copy to the town. Within thirty (30) days after receipt 
of the copy of the petition of judicial review, the Board of Commissioners shall 
transmit to the reviewing court the original or a certified copy of the official 
record.  

 
(i) Permit Modification 

(1) Modifications of permits shall be subject to the same procedural requirements 
as the issuance of permits except as listed below.  Any changes or new 
conditions in the permit shall include a reasonable time schedule for 
compliance 

(i) changes in the ownership of the discharge when no other change in the 
permit is indicated, 

(ii) a single modification of any compliance schedule not in excess of four 
months, 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 38 

(iii) modification of compliance schedules (construction schedules) in 
permits for new sources where the new source will not begin to discharge 
until control facilities are operational.   

(2) Within 9 months of the promulgation of a National categorical pretreatment 
standard, the wastewater discharge permit of users subject to such standards 
shall be revised to require compliance with such standard within the time 
frame prescribed by such standard.  Where a user, subject to a National 
categorical pretreatment standard, has not previously submitted an 
application for a wastewater discharge permit as required by § 51.101(b), the 
user shall apply for a wastewater discharge permit within 180 days after the 
promulgation of the applicable National categorical pretreatment standard. 

(3) A request for a modification by the permittee shall constitute a waiver of the 
60-day notice required by N.C.G.S. 143-215.1(b) for modifications. 

 
(j) Permit Conditions 

Wastewater Discharge Permits shall be expressly subject to all provisions of this 
Ordinance and all other ordinances, regulations, charges and fees established by 
the Town, State, or Federal authority.  The conditions of Wastewater Discharge 
Permits shall be uniformly enforced by the Town in accordance with this 
Ordinance, and applicable State and Federal regulations. 

(1) The Public Works Director shall have the authority to grant a permit with 
such conditions attached as he believes necessary to achieve the purpose 
of this ordinance and N.C.G.S. 143-215.1.  Wastewater permits shall 
contain, but are not limited to, the following: 

 
a. a statement of duration ( in no case more than five years); 
b. a statement of non-transferability; 
c. applicable effluent limits based on categorical standards or local limits 

or both; 
d. applicable monitoring, sampling, reporting, notification, and record 

keeping requirements.  These requirements shall include an 
identification of pollutants to be monitored, sampling location, sampling 
frequency, and sample type based on Federal, State and local law; 

e. requirements for notifying the POTW in the event of an accidental 
discharge or slug load as defined in § 51.76(a)(37);   

f. requirements to implement a Plan or other controls for prevention of 
accidental discharges and/or slug loads as defined in §51.76(a)(37), if 
determined by the Public Works Director to be necessary for the User  
and, 

g. requirements for immediately notifying the POTW of any changes at its 
facility affecting the potential for spills and other accidental discharges, 
or slug load as defined in § 51.76(a)(37).  Also see §51.109 and 51.110;   



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 39 

h. a statement of applicable civil and/or criminal penalties for violation of 
pretreatment standards and requirements and any applicable 
compliance scheduIn addition, permits may contain, but are not limited 
to, the following: 

 
a. Limits on the average and/or maximum rate of discharge, and/or 

requirements for flow regulation and equalization. 
b. Limits on the instantaneous, daily and/or monthly average and/or 

maximum concentration, mass, or other measure of identified 
wastewater pollutants or properties. 

c. Requirements for the installation of pretreatment technology or 
construction of appropriate containment devices, etc., designed to 
reduce, eliminate, or prevent the introduction of pollutants into the 
treatment works. 

d. Development and implementation of waste minimization plans to 
reduce the amount of pollutants discharged to the municipal 
wastewater system. 

e. The unit charge or schedule of user charges and fees for the 
management of the wastewater discharged to the system. 

f. Requirements for installation and maintenance of inspection and 
sampling facilities and equipment. 

g. Specifications for monitoring programs which may include sampling 
locations, frequency of sampling, number, types, and standards for 
tests, and reporting schedules. 

h. Requirements for immediate reporting of any instance of 
noncompliance and for automatic resampling and reporting within thirty 
(30) days where self-monitoring indicates a violation(s). 

i. Compliance schedules for meeting pretreatment standards and 
requirements. 

j. Requirements for submission of periodic self-monitoring or special 
notification reports. 

k. Requirements for maintaining and retaining plans and records relating to 
wastewater discharges as specified in § 51.117 and affording the Public 
Works Director, or his representatives, access thereto. 

l. Requirements for prior notification and approval by the Public Works 
Director of any new introduction of wastewater pollutants or of any 
significant change in the volume or character of the wastewater prior to 
introduction in the system. 

m. Requirements for the prior notification and approval by the Public Works 
Director of any change in the manufacturing and/or pretreatment 
process used by the permittee. 

n. A statement that compliance with the permit does not relieve the 
permittee of responsibility for compliance with all applicable Federal 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 40 

and State pretreatment standards, including those which become 
effective during the terms of the permit. 

o. Other conditions as deemed appropriate by the Public Works Director to 
ensure compliance with this ordinance, and State and Federal laws, 
rules, and regulations. 

 
(k) Permit Duration 

Permits shall be issued for a specified time period, not to exceed five (5) years.  
A permit may be issued for a period of less than a year or may be stated to 
expire on a specific date.   
 

(l) Permit Transfer 
Wastewater permits are issued to a specific user for a specific operation.  A 
wastewater discharge permit shall not be reassigned or transferred or sold to 
a new owner, new user, different premises, or a new or changed operation. 
 

(m) Permit Reissuance 
A significant industrial user shall apply for permit reissuance by submitting a 
complete permit application in accordance with § 51.101 a minimum of 180 days 
prior to the expiration of the existing permit. 

 
§§51.102 – 51.104. – Reserved 
 
DIVISION 5. - REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 
 
§ 51.105. - Baseline Monitoring Reports 
 
(a) Within either one hundred eighty (180) days after the effective date of a categorical 

pretreatment standard, or the final administrative decision on a category 
determination under 40 CFR 403.6(a)(4), whichever is later, existing categorical 
users currently discharging to or scheduled to discharge to the POTW shall submit to 
the Public Works Director a report which contains the information listed in paragraph 
(b), below.  At least ninety (90) days prior to commencement of their discharge, new 
sources, and sources that become categorical users subsequent to the 
promulgation of an applicable categorical standard, shall submit to the Public 
Works Director a report which contains the information listed in paragraph (b), 
below.  A new source shall report the method of pretreatment it intends to use to 
meet applicable categorical standards.  A new source also shall give estimates of its 
anticipated flow and quantity of pollutants to be discharged. 

 
(b) Users described above shall submit the information set forth below. 

(1) Identifying Information.  The name and address of the facility, including 
the name of the operator and owner. 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 41 

(2) Environmental Permits.  A list of any environmental control permits held 
by or for the facility. 

(3) Description of Operations.  A brief description of the nature, average rate 
of production, and standard industrial classifications of the operation(s) 
carried out by such user.  This description should include a schematic 
process diagram which indicates points of discharge to the POTW from 
the regulated processes. 

(4) Flow Measurement.  Information showing the measured average daily 
and maximum daily flow, in gallons per day, to the POTW from regulated 
process streams and other streams, as necessary, to allow use of the 
combined waste stream formula set out in 40 CFR 403.6(e). 

(5) Measurement of Pollutants. 
(i) The categorical pretreatment standards applicable to each 

regulated process. 
(ii) The results of sampling and analysis identifying the nature and 

concentration, and/or mass, where required by the standard or by 
the Public Works Director, of regulated pollutants in the discharge 
from each regulated process.  Instantaneous, daily maximum, and 
long-term average concentrations, or mass, where required, shall 
be reported.  The sample shall be representative of daily 
operations and shall be analyzed in accordance with procedures 
set out in § 51.114 of this ordinance. 

(iii) Sampling must be performed in accordance with procedures set 
out in § 51.115 of this ordinance and 40 CFR 403.12(b) and (g), 
including 40 CFR 403.12(g)(4). 

(6) Certification.  A statement, reviewed by the user’s current authorized 
representative as defined in § 51.76(a)(3) and certified by a qualified 
professional, indicating whether pretreatment standards are being met 
on a consistent basis, and, if not, whether additional operation and 
maintenance (O&M) and/or additional pretreatment is required to meet 
the pretreatment standards and requirements. 

(7)Schedule.  If additional pretreatment and/or O&M will be required to meet the 
pretreatment standards, the shortest schedule by which the user will 
provide such additional pretreatment and/or O&M.  The completion date in 
this schedule shall not be later than the compliance date established for 
the applicable pretreatment standard.  A compliance schedule pursuant to 
this section must meet the requirements set out in § 51.116(c ) of this 
ordinance. 

 (8) Signature and Certification.  All baseline monitoring reports must be 
signed and certified in accordance with § 51.101(c ) of this 
ordinance.aseline 

 
§ 51-106. - Compliance Schedule Progress Reports 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 42 

 
The following conditions shall apply to the compliance schedule required by § 51.105(b)(7) 
of this ordinance: 

(a) The schedule shall contain progress increments in the form of dates for the 
commencement and completion of major events leading to the construction 
and operation of additional pretreatment required for the user to meet the 
applicable pretreatment standards (such events include, but are not limited to, 
hiring an engineer, completing preliminary and final plans, executing contracts 
for major components, commencing and completing construction, and 
beginning and conducting routine operation); 

 
(b) No increment referred to above shall exceed nine (9) months; 

 
(c) The user shall submit a progress report to the Public Works Director no later 

than fourteen (14) days following each date in the schedule and the final date 
of compliance including, as a minimum, whether or not it complied with the 
increment of progress, the reason for any delay, and, if appropriate, the steps 
being taken by the user to return to the established schedule; and  

 
(d) In no event shall more than nine (9) months elapse between such progress 

reports to the Public Works Director. 
 
§ 51-107. - Reports on Compliance with Categorical Pretreatment Standard,   Deadline 
 
Within ninety (90) days following the date for final compliance with applicable categorical 
pretreatment standards, or in the case of a new source following commencement of the 
introduction of wastewater into the POTW, any user subject to such pretreatment 
standards and requirements shall submit to the Public Works Director a report containing 
the information described in § 51.105(b)(4-6) of this ordinance.  For users subject to 
equivalent mass or concentration limits established in accordance with the procedures in 
40 CFR 403.6(c), this report shall contain a reasonable measure of the user's long-term 
production rate.  For all other users subject to categorical pretreatment standards 
expressed in terms of allowable pollutant discharge per unit of production (or other 
measure of operation), this report shall include the user's actual production during the 
appropriate sampling period.  All compliance reports must be signed and certified in 
accordance with § 51.101(c) of this ordinance. 
 
§ 51.108. - Periodic Compliance Reports 
 
Municipalities may sample and analyze user discharges in lieu of requiring the users to 
conduct sampling and analysis. 

(a) All significant industrial users shall, at a frequency determined by the Public 
Works Director but in no case less than once every six months, submit a report 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 43 

indicating the nature and concentration of pollutants in the discharge which are 
limited by pretreatment standards and the applicable flows for the reporting 
period.  Sampling and analysis must be performed in accordance with 
procedures set out in § 51.114 and 51.115 of this Chapter.  All periodic 
compliance reports must be signed and certified in accordance with § 51.101(c) 
of this ordinance. 

(b) If a user subject to the reporting requirement in this § monitors any pollutant 
more frequently than required by the Public Works Director, using the 
procedures prescribed in § 51.114  and 51.115 of this ordinance, the results 
of this monitoring shall be included in the report. 

 
§ 51.109. - Reports of Changed Conditions 
 
Each user must notify the Public Works Director of any planned significant changes to the 
user's operations or system which might alter the nature, quality, or volume of its 
wastewater at least thirty (30) days before the change.  The permittee shall not begin the 
changes until receiving written approval from the Control Authority.  See § 51.110(d) for 
other reporting requirements. 

 
(a) The Public Works Director may require the user to submit such information 

as may be deemed necessary to evaluate the changed condition, including 
the submission of a wastewater discharge permit application under § 51.101 
of this ordinance. 

(b) The Public Works Director may issue a wastewater discharge permit under § 
51.101 of this ordinance or modify an existing wastewater discharge permit 
under § 51.101 of this ordinance in response to changed conditions or 
anticipated changed conditions. 

(c) For purposes of this requirement, significant changes include, but are not 
limited to, flow or pollutant increases of twenty percent (20%) or greater, and 
the discharge of any previously unreported pollutants. 

 
§ 51-110. - Reports of Potential Problems 
 
(a) In the case of any discharge, including, but not limited to, accidental discharges, 

discharges of a non-routine, episodic nature, a non-customary batch discharge, or a 
slug load as defined in § 51.76(a)(37), that may cause potential problems for the POTW, 
the user shall immediately telephone and notify the Public Works Director of the 
incident.  This notification shall include the location of the discharge, type of waste, 
concentration and volume, if known, and corrective actions taken by the user. 

 
(b) Within five (5) days following such discharge, the user shall, unless waived by the 

Public Works Director, submit a detailed written report describing the cause(s) of the 
discharge and the measures to be taken by the user to prevent similar future 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 44 

occurrences.  Such notification shall not relieve the user of any expense, loss, damage, 
or other liability which may be incurred as a result of damage to the POTW, natural 
resources, or any other damage to person or property; nor shall such notification 
relieve the user of any fines, penalties, or other liability which may be imposed 
pursuant to this ordinance. 

 
(c) A notice shall be permanently posted on the user's bulletin board or other prominent 

place advising employees whom to call in the event of a discharge described in 
paragraph (a), above.  Employers shall ensure that all employees, who may cause such 
a discharge to occur, are advised of the emergency notification procedure. 

 
(d) All SIUs are required to notify the POTW immediately of any changes at its facility 

affecting the potential for spills and other accidental discharge, discharge of a non-
routine, episodic nature, a non-customary batch discharge, or a slug load as defined in 
§ 51.76(a)(37). 

 
§ 51.111. - Reports from Unpermitted Users 
 
All users not required to obtain a wastewater discharge permit shall provide appropriate 
reports to the Public Works Director as the Public Works Director may require.  All users 
classified as Non-Significant Categorical Industrial Users under § 51.76(a)35(f) shall 
provide appropriate reports to the Public Works Director as the Public Works Director may 
require.  At a minimum, this shall include the Annual Certification of continuing to meet the 
Non-Significant Categorical Industrial User criteria as required under 40CFR403.12(q). 
 
§ 51.112 - Notice of Violation/Repeat Sampling and Reporting 
 
(a) If sampling performed by a user indicates a violation, the user must notify the Public 

Works Director within twenty-four (24) hours of becoming aware of the violation.  The 
user shall also repeat the sampling and analysis and submit the results of the repeat 
analysis to the Public Works Director within thirty (30) days after becoming aware of the 
violation.  If allowed by the Director of Public Works, the user is not required to 
resample: 

(1) if the Public Works Director monitors at the user's facility at least once a 
month;  or  

(2) if the Public Works Director samples between the user's initial sampling and 
when the user receives the results of this sampling. 
 

(b) If the Public Works Director does not require the user to perform any self-monitoring 
and the POTW sampling of the user indicates a violation, the Public Works Director 
shall repeat the sampling and obtain the results of the repeat analysis within thirty (30) 
days after becoming aware of the violations, unless one of the following occurs: 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 45 

(1) the Public Works Director monitors at the user's facility at least once a 
month;  or 

(2) the Public Works Director samples the user between their initial sampling 
and when the POTW receives the results of this initial sampling; or  

(3) the Public Works Director requires the user to perform sampling and submit 
the results to the Public Works Director within the 30 day deadline of the 
POTW becoming aware of the violation. 

 
§ 51.113. - Notification of the Discharge of Hazardous Waste 
 

The Town prohibits the discharge of any hazardous wastes without notification to and 
approval by the Public Works Director. 

 

(a) Any user who commences the discharge of hazardous waste shall notify the POTW, 
the EPA Regional Waste Management Division Director, and State hazardous waste 
authorities, in writing, of any discharge into the POTW of a substance which, if 
otherwise disposed of, would be a hazardous waste under 40 CFR Part 261.  Such 
notification must include the name of the hazardous waste as set forth in 40 CFR 
Part 261, the EPA hazardous waste number, and the type of discharge (continuous, 
batch, or other).  If the user discharges more than one hundred (100) kilograms of 
such waste per calendar month to the POTW, the notification also shall contain the 
following information to the extent such information is known and readily available 
to the user: an identification of the hazardous constituents contained in the wastes, 
an estimation of the mass and concentration of such constituents in the 
wastestream discharge during the calendar month, and an estimation of the mass 
and concentration of such constituents in the wastestream expected to be 
discharged during the following twelve (12) months.  All notifications must take 
place no later than one hundred and eighty (180) days after the discharge 
commences.  The user shall not begin the discharge until receiving written approval 
from the Town.  Any notification under this paragraph need be submitted only once 
for each hazardous waste discharge.  However, notifications of changed conditions 
must be submitted under § 51.109 of this ordinance.  The notification requirement 
in this Section does not apply to pollutants already reported by users subject to 
categorical pretreatment standards under the self-monitoring requirements of 
§§51.105, 51.107, and 51.108 of this Chapter. 

 
(b) Dischargers are exempt from the requirements of paragraph (a), above, 

during a calendar month in which they discharge no more than fifteen (15) 
kilograms of hazardous wastes, unless the wastes are acute hazardous 
wastes as specific in 40 CFR 261.30(d) and 261.33(e).  Discharge of more 
than fifteen (15) kilograms of nonacute hazardous wastes in a calendar 
month, or of any quantity of acute hazardous wastes as specified in 40 CFR 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 46 

261.30(d) and 261.33(e), requires a one-time notification.  Subsequent 
months during which the user discharges more than such quantities of any 
hazardous waste do not require additional notification. 

 
(c.) In the case of any new regulation under § 3001 of RCRA identifying additional 

characteristics of hazardous waste or listing any additional substance as a 
hazardous waste, the user must notify the Public Works Director, the EPA 
Regional Waste Management Waste Division Director, and State hazardous 
waste authorities of the discharge of such substance within ninety (90) days 
of the effective date of such regulations. 

 
(d) In the case of any notification made under this Section, the user shall certify 

that it has a program in place to reduce the volume and toxicity of hazardous 
wastes generated to the degree it has determined to be economically 
practical. 

 
(e) This provision does not create a right to discharge any substance not 

otherwise permitted to be discharged by this ordinance, a permit issued 
thereunder, or any applicable Federal or State law. 

 
§ 51.114. - Analytical Requirements 
 
All pollutant analyses, including sampling techniques, to be submitted as part of a 
wastewater discharge permit application or report shall be performed in accordance with 
the techniques prescribed in 40 CFR Part 136, unless otherwise specified in an applicable 
categorical pretreatment standard.  If 40 CFR Part 136 does not contain sampling or 
analytical techniques for the pollutant in question, sampling and analyses must be 
performed in accordance with procedures approved by EPA and the Town.  Analyses must 
be performed by a State certified lab for each parameter analyzed, if such certification 
exists for that parameter. 
 
§ 51.115. - Grab and Composite Sample Collection 
 
(a) All wastewater samples must be representative of the user's discharge.  

Wastewater monitoring and flow measurement facilities shall be properly operated, 
kept clean, and maintained in good working order at all times.  The failure of a user 
to keep its monitoring facility in good working order shall not be grounds for the user 
to claim that sample results are unrepresentative of its discharge. 

 
(b) Grab Samples must be used for pH, cyanide, total phenols, oil and grease, sulfide, 

volatile organic compounds, and any other pollutants as required by 40 CFR 136.  
The POTW shall determine the number of grabs necessary to be representative of 
the User’s discharge.  See 40 CFR 403.12(g)(5) for additional grab sample number 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 47 

requirements for BMR and 90 Day Compliance Reports.  Additionally, the Public 
Works Director may allow collection of multiple grabs during a 24-hour period 
which are composited prior to analysis as allowed under 40 CFR 136. 

 
(c) Composite Samples:  All wastewater composite samples shall be collected with a 

minimum of hourly aliquots or grabs for each hour that there is a discharge.  All 
wastewater composite samples shall be collected using flow proportional 
composite collection techniques, unless time-proportional composite sampling or 
grab sampling is authorized by the Public Works Director.  When authorizing time-
proportional composites or grabs, the samples must be representative and the 
decision to allow the alternative sampling must be documented. 

 
§ 51.116. - Timing 
 
Written reports will be deemed to have been submitted on the date postmarked.  For 
reports which are not mailed, postage prepaid, into a mail facility serviced by the United 
States Postal Service, the date of receipt of the report shall govern. 
 
§ 51.117. - Record Keeping 
 
Users subject to the reporting requirements of this ordinance shall retain, and make 
available for inspection and copying, all records of information obtained pursuant to any 
monitoring activities required by this ordinance and any additional records of information 
obtained pursuant to monitoring activities undertaken by the user independent of such 
requirements.  Records shall include the date, exact place, method, and time of sampling, 
and the name of the person(s) taking the samples; the dates analyses were performed; 
who performed the analyses; the analytical techniques or methods used; and the results 
of such analyses.  These records shall remain available for a period of at least three (3) 
years.  This period shall be automatically extended for the duration of any litigation 
concerning the user or the Town, or where the user has been specifically notified of a 
longer retention period by the Public Works Director. 
 
§ 51.118. - Electronic Reporting 
 
The Public Works Director may develop procedures for receipt of electronic reports for any 
reporting requirements of this Ordinance.  Such procedures shall comply with 40 CFR Part 
3.  These procedures shall be enforceable under Division 8 of this Ordinance. 
 
§ 51.119  Reserved 
 
DIVISION 6 - COMPLIANCE MONITORING 
 
§ 51.120. - Monitoring Facilities 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 48 

 
The Town requires the user to provide and operate at the user's own expense, monitoring 
facilities to allow inspection, sampling, and flow measurement of the building sewer 
and/or internal drainage systems. The monitoring facility should normally be situated on 
the user's premises, but the Town may, when such a location would be impractical or 
cause undue hardship on the user, allow the facility to be constructed in the public street 
or sidewalk area and located so that it will not be obstructed by landscaping or parked 
vehicles. 
 
There shall be ample room in or near such sampling manhole or facility to allow accurate 
sampling and preparation of samples for analysis.  The facility, sampling, and measuring 
equipment shall be maintained at all times in a safe and proper operating condition at the 
expense of the user. 
 
Whether constructed on public or private property, the sampling and monitoring facilities 
shall be provided in accordance with the requirements of the Town and all applicable local 
construction standards and specifications.  Construction shall be completed within 90 
days following written notification by the Town. 
 
§ 51.121. - Inspection and Sampling 
 
The Town will inspect the facilities of any user to ascertain whether the purpose of this 
ordinance is being met and all requirements are being complied with.  Persons or 
occupants of premises where wastewater is created or discharged shall allow the Town, 
approval authority and EPA or their representative ready access at all reasonable times to 
all parts of the premises for the purposes of inspection, sampling, records examination 
and copying or in the performance of any of their duties.  The Town, approval authority and 
EPA shall have the right to set up on the user's property such devices as are necessary to 
conduct sampling, inspection, compliance monitoring and/or metering operations.  Where 
a user has security measures in force which would require proper identification and 
clearance before entry into their premises, the user shall make necessary arrangements 
with their security guards so that upon presentation of suitable identification, personnel 
from the Town, approval authority and EPA will be permitted to enter, without delay, for the 
purposes of performing their specific responsibilities.  Denial of the Town’s, Approval 
Authority's, or EPA's access to the user's premises shall be a violation of this ordinance.  
Unreasonable delays may constitute denial of access. 
 
§ 51.122. - Search Warrants 
 
If the Town, approval authority, or EPA has been refused access to a building, structure, or 
property, or any part thereof, and is able to demonstrate probable cause to believe that 
there may be a violation of this ordinance, or that there is a need to inspect and/or sample 
as part of a routine inspection and sampling program of the Town designed to verify 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 49 

compliance with this ordinance or any permit or order issued hereunder, or to protect the 
overall public health, safety and welfare of the community, then the Public Works Director, 
approval authority, or EPA may seek issuance of a search warrant from a Judicial Official of 
the Court of Stokes County having jurisdiction within the Town. 
 
§§ 51.123.- 51.124 – Reserved. 
 
DIVISION 7 - CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION 
 
§ 51.125. – Confidential Information. 
 
(a) Information and data provided by an industrial user to the Public Works Director 

pursuant to this ordinance identifying the nature and frequency of a discharge, shall be 
available to the public without restriction.  All other information which may be so 
submitted by an industrial user to the Public Works Director in connection with any 
required reports shall also be available to the public unless the industrial user or other 
interested person specifically identifies the information as confidential upon 
submission and is able to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Public Works Director 
that the disclosure of such information or a particular part thereof to the general public 
would divulge methods or processes entitled to protection as trade secrets. 

 
(b) Information provided by an industrial user to the Public Works Director that is 

determined to be entitled to confidential treatment shall be made available upon 
written request to the Division of Water Quality or any state agency for uses related to 
the Pretreatment Program, the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 
(NPDES) Permit, collection system permit, stormwater permit, and/or Non-discharge 
permit, and for uses related to judicial review or enforcement proceedings involving the 
person furnishing the report. 

 
(c) Information and data received by the Division or other state agency under paragraph (b) 

above shall be subject to the processes set forth in G.S. 143-215.3C. 
 
§ 51.126. – 51.129.  Reserved. 
 
DIVISION 8 - ENFORCEMENT 
 
§ 51.130. - Administrative Remedies 
  
(a) Notification of Violation 

 
Whenever the Public Works Director finds that any industrial user has violated or is 
violating this Ordinance, wastewater permit, or any prohibition, limitation or 
requirements contained therein or any other pretreatment requirement the Public 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 50 

Works Director may serve upon such a person a written notice stating the nature of 
the violation.  Within 30 days from the date of this notice, an explanation for the 
violation and a plan for the satisfactory correction thereof shall be submitted to the 
Town by the user.  Submission of this plan does not relieve the discharger of liability 
for any violations occurring before or after receipt of the notice of violation. 
 

(b) Consent Orders 
 

The Public Works Director is hereby empowered to enter into consent orders, 
assurances of voluntary compliance, or other similar documents establishing an 
agreement with the person responsible for the noncompliance.  Such orders will 
include specific action to be taken by the discharger to correct the noncompliance 
within a show cause hearing under this § is not a prerequisite to the assessment of a 
civil penalty under § 51.131; nor is any action or inaction taken by the Public Works 
Director under this § subject to an administrative appeal under § 51.101(h). 

 
(d) Administrative Orders 

 
When the Public Works Director finds that an industrial user has violated or continues to 
violate this ordinance, permits or orders issued hereunder, or any other pretreatment 
requirement, the Public Works Director may issue an order to cease and desist all such 
violations and direct those persons in noncompliance to do any of the following: 

(1) Immediately comply with all requirements; 
(2) Comply in accordance with a compliance time schedule set forth in the order; 
(3) Take appropriate remedial or preventive action in the event of a continuing or 

threatened violation; 
(4) Disconnect unless adequate treatment facilities, devices or other related 

appurtenances are installed and properly operated within a specified time 
period. 

 
(e) Emergency Suspensions 

 
The Public Works Director may suspend the wastewater treatment service and/or 
wastewater permit when such suspension is necessary in order to stop an actual or 
threatened discharge which presents or may present an imminent or substantial 
endangerment to the health or welfare of persons or the environment, interferes with 
the POTW or causes the POTW to violate any condition of its NPDES or Non-discharge 
permit. 

 
Any user notified of a suspension of the wastewater treatment service and/or the 
wastewater permit shall immediately stop or eliminate the contribution.  A hearing will 
be held within 15 days of the notice of suspension to determine whether the 
suspension may be lifted or the user's waste discharge permit terminated.  In the event 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 51 

of a failure to comply voluntarily with the suspension order, the Public Works Director 
shall take such steps as deemed necessary including immediate severance of the 
sewer connection, to prevent or minimize damage to the POTW system or 
endangerment to any individuals.  The Public Works Director shall reinstate the 
wastewater permit and the wastewater treatment service upon proof of the elimination 
of the noncompliant discharge.  The industrial user shall submit a detailed written 
statement describing the causes of the harmful contribution and the measures taken to 
prevent any future occurrence to the Public Works Director prior to the date of the 
above-described hearing. 

 
(f) Termination of Permit or Permission to Discharge 

 
The Public Works Director may revoke a wastewater discharge permit or permission to 
discharge for good cause, including, but not limited to, the following reasons: 

(1) Failure to accurately report the wastewater constituents and 
characteristics of his discharge; 

(2) Failure to report significant changes in operations, or wastewater 
constituents and characteristics; 

(3) Refusal of reasonable access to the user's premises for the purpose of 
inspection or monitoring; or, 

(4) Violation of conditions of the permit or permission to discharge, 
conditions of this ordinance, or any applicable State and Federal 
regulations. 

 
Noncompliant industrial users will be notified of the proposed termination of their 
wastewater permit and will be offered an opportunity to show cause under § 51.130 of 
this ordinance why the proposed action should not be taken. 

 
§ 51.131. - Civil Penalties 
 
(a) Any user who is found to have failed to comply with any provision of this ordinance, or 

the orders, rules, regulations and permits issued hereunder, may be assessed a civil 
penalty up to twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000) per day per violation. 

(1) Penalties between $10,000 and $25,000 per day per violation may be assessed 
against a violator only if: 
(i) For any class of violation, only if a civil penalty has been imposed against the 

violator with in the five years preceding the violation, or 
(ii) In the case of failure to file, submit, or make available, as the case may be, 

any documents, data, or reports required by this ordinance, or the orders, 
rules, regulations and permits issued hereunder, only if the Public Works 
Director determines that the violation was intentional and a civil penalty has 
been imposed against the violator within the five years preceding the 
violation.   



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 52 

 
(b) In determining the amount of the civil penalty, the Public Works Director shall 

consider the following: 
(1) The degree and extent of the harm to the natural resources, to the public 

health, or to public or private property resulting from the violation; 
(2) The duration and gravity of the violation; 
(3) The effect on ground or surface water quantity or quality or on air quality; 
(4) The cost of rectifying the damage; 
(5) The amount of money saved by noncompliance; 
(6) Whether the violation was committed willfully or intentionally; 
(7) The prior record of the violator in complying or failing to comply with the 

pretreatment program; 
(8) The costs of enforcement to the Town. 
 

(c) Appeals of civil penalties assessed in accordance with this Section shall be as 
provided in § 51.140 Adjudicatory Hearings. 

 
§ 51.132. - Other Available Remedies 
 
Remedies, in addition to those previously mentioned in this ordinance, are available to the 
Public Works Director who may use any single one or combination against a noncompliant 
user.  Additional available remedies include, but are not limited to: 

 
(a) Criminal Violations. 

 
The District Attorney for the applicable Judicial District (District 19) may, at 
the request of the Town, prosecute noncompliant users who violate the 
provisions of N.C.G.S. 143-215.6B. [Note:  Under North Carolina law, it is a 
crime to negligently violate any term, condition, or requirement of a 
pretreatment permit, or negligently fail to apply for a pretreatment permit, 
issued by local governments (N.C.G.S. 143-215.6B(f)), to knowingly and 
willfully violate any term, condition, or requirement of a pretreatment permit, 
or knowingly and willfully fail to apply for a pretreatment permit, issued by 
local governments (N.C.G.S. 143-215.6B(g)), to knowingly violate any term, 
condition, or requirement of a pretreatment permit issued by local 
governments, or knowingly fail to apply for a pretreatment permit, knowing at 
the time that a person is placed in imminent danger of death or serious 
bodily injury, (N.C.G.S. 143-215.6B(h)), and to falsify information required 
under Article 21 of Chapter 143 of the General Statutes (N.C.G.S. 143-
215.6B(i)).] 
 

(b) Injunctive Relief 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 53 

Whenever a user is in violation of the provisions of this ordinance or an order 
or permit issued hereunder, the Public Works Director, through the Town 
Attorney, may petition Superior Court for the issuance of a restraining order 
or a preliminary and permanent injunction which restrains or compels the 
activities in question. 
 

(c) Water Supply Severance 
Whenever an industrial user is in violation of the provisions of this ordinance 
or an order or permit issued hereunder, water service to the industrial user 
may be severed and service will only recommence, at the user's expense, 
after it has satisfactorily demonstrated ability to comply. 
 

(d) Public Nuisances 
Any violation of the prohibitions or effluent limitations of this ordinance or of 
a permit or order issued hereunder, is hereby declared a public nuisance and 
shall be corrected or abated as directed by the Public Works Director.  Any 
person(s) creating a public nuisance shall be subject to the provisions of the 
appropriate ordinances of the Town governing such nuisances, including 
reimbursing the POTW for any costs incurred in removing, abating or 
remedying said nuisance. 

 
§ 51.133. - Remedies Nonexclusive 
 
The remedies provided for in this ordinance are not exclusive.  The Public Works Director 
may take any, all, or any combination of these actions against a noncompliant user.  
Enforcement of pretreatment violations will generally be in accordance with the Town of 
Warrenton’s enforcement response plan.  However, the Public Works Director may take 
other action against any user when the circumstances warrant.  Further, the Public Works 
Director is empowered to take more than one enforcement action against any 
noncompliant user. 
 
§. 51.134 Reserved 
 
DIVISION 9 - ANNUAL PUBLICATION OF SIGNIFICANT NONCOMPLIANCE  

 
§ 51.135. -  Annual publication of significant noncompliance. 
 
At least annually, the Public Works Director shall publish in the largest daily newspaper 
circulated in the service area, a list of those industrial users which were found to be in 
significant noncompliance, also referred to as reportable noncompliance in 15A NCAC 2H 
.0903(b)(34), with applicable pretreatment standards and requirements, during the 
previous 12 months. 
 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 54 

§. 51.136. – 51.139.  Reserved 
 
DIVISION 10 – AJUDICATORY HEARINGS 
 
§ 51.140. – Adjudicatory hearings. 
 
The local government may conduct hearings in accordance with its regular hearing 
procedure. 

 
(a) Initial Adjudicatory Hearing.  An applicant whose permit is denied, or is granted 

subject to conditions he deems unacceptable, a permittee/user assessed a civil 
penalty under § 51.131, or one issued an administrative order under § 51.130 
shall have the right to an adjudicatory hearing before the Town Manager or other 
appointed hearing officer upon making written demand, identifying the specific 
issues to be contested, to the Public Works Director within 30 days following 
receipt of the significant industrial user permit, civil penalty assessment, or 
administrative order.  Unless such written demand is made within the time 
specified herein, the action shall be final and binding and further appeal is 
barred. For modified permits, only those parts of the permits being modified 
may be adjudicated.  The hearing officer shall make a final decision on the 
contested permit, penalty, or order within 45 days of the receipt of the written 
demand for a hearing.  The Public Works Director shall transmit a copy of the 
hearing officer's decision by registered or certified mail as described in 
paragraph (b) below. The terms and conditions of a permit under appeal shall be 
as follows: 

(1) New Permits.  Upon appeal, including judicial review in the General 
Courts of Justice, of the terms or conditions of a newly issued permit, 
the terms and conditions of the entire permit are stayed and the 
permit is not in effect until either the conclusion of judicial review or 
until the parties reach a mutual resolution. 

(2) Renewed Permits.  Upon appeal, including judicial review in the 
General Courts of Justice, of the terms or conditions of a renewed 
permit, the terms and conditions of the existing permit remain in 
effect until either the conclusion of judicial review or until the parties 
reach a mutual resolution. 

(3)        Terminated Permits.  Upon appeal, including judicial review in the 
General Courts of Justice, of a terminated permit, no permit is in 
effect until either the conclusion of the judicial review or until the 
parties reach a mutual resolution. 

 
(b) Final Appeal Hearing.  Any decision of a hearing officer made as a result of an 

adjudicatory hearing held under paragraph (a) above may be appealed, to the 
Town Board upon filing a written demand within 10 days of receipt of notice of 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 55 

the decision.  Hearings held under this Subdivision shall be conducted in 
accordance with the Town Board’s normal procedures for public hearings.  
Failure to make written demand within the time specified herein shall bar further 
appeal.  The Town Board shall make a final decision on the appeal within 90 
days of the date the appeal was filed under paragraph (a) and shall transmit a 
written copy of its decision by registered or certified mail as described in 
paragraph (c) below  The decision is a final decision for the purposes of seeking 
judicial review. 

 
(c) Official record.  When a final decision is issued under paragraph (a) above, the 

Town Board shall prepare an official record of the case that includes: 
(1) All notices, motions, and other like pleadings; 
(2) A copy of all documentary evidence introduced; 
(3) A certified transcript of all testimony taken, if testimony is 

transcribed. If testimony is taken and not transcribed, then a narrative 
summary of any testimony taken. 

(4) A copy of the final decision of the Town Board. 
 

(d) Judicial Review.  Any person against whom a final order or decision of the  Board 
of Commissioners is entered, pursuant to the hearing conducted under 
paragraph (a) above, may seek judicial review of the order or decision by filing a 
written request for review by the Superior Court serving  Warren County within 
30 days after receipt of notice by registered or certified mail of the order or 
decision, but not thereafter, with the Superior Court serving Warren County 
along with a copy to the Town.  Within 30 days after receipt of the copy of the 
written request for review by the Court, the Board of Commissioners shall 
transmit to the reviewing court the original or a certified copy of the official 
record.  

 
Secs. 51.141 – 51.144.  Reserved 
 
DIVISION 11 - AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES TO DISCHARGE VIOLATIONS  
 
§ 51-145. -  Upset  
 
(a) An upset shall constitute an affirmative defense to an action brought for 

noncompliance with categorical pretreatment standards if the requirements of 
paragraph (b), below, are met. 

 
(b) A user who wishes to establish the affirmative defense of upset shall demonstrate, 

through properly signed, contemporaneous operating logs, or other relevant 
evidence that: 

(1) An upset occurred and the user can identify the cause(s) of the upset; 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 56 

(2) The facility was at the time being operated in a prudent and workman-like 
manner and in compliance with applicable operation and maintenance 
procedures; and 

(3) The user has submitted the following information to the Public Works 
Director within twenty-four (24) hours of becoming aware of the upset [if this 
information is provided orally, a written submission must be provided within 
five (5) days]: 

(i) A description of the indirect discharge and cause of 
noncompliance; 

(ii) The period of noncompliance, including exact dates and times 
or, if not corrected, the anticipated time the noncompliance is 
expected to continue; and 

(iii) Steps being taken and/or planned to reduce, eliminate, and 
prevent recurrence of the noncompliance. 

 
(c) In any enforcement proceeding, the user seeking to establish the occurrence of an 

upset shall have the burden of proof. 
 
(d) Users will have the opportunity for a judicial determination on any claim of upset 

only in an enforcement action brought for noncompliance with categorical 
pretreatment standards. 

 
(e) Users shall control production of all discharges to the extent necessary to maintain 

compliance with categorical pretreatment standards upon reduction, loss, or 
failure of its treatment facility until the facility is restored or an alternative method 
of treatment is provided.  This requirement applies in the situation where, among 
other things, the primary source of power of the treatment facility is reduced, lost, 
or fails. 

 
§ 51.146. - Prohibited Discharge Standards Defense 
 
A user shall have an affirmative defense to an enforcement action brought against it for 
noncompliance with the general prohibitions in § 51.81 (a) of this ordinance or the specific 
prohibitions in §§ 51.81 (b)(2), (3), and (5) – (7) and (9)-(23) of this ordinance if it can prove 
that it did not know, or have reason to know, that its discharge, alone or in conjunction with 
conjunction with discharge from other sources, would cause pass through or interference 
and that either: 

a. A local limit exists for each pollutant discharged and the user was in 
compliance with each limit directly prior to, and during, the pass through or 
interference; or 
 

b. No local limit exists, but the discharge did not change substantially in nature 
or constituents from the user's prior discharge when the Town was regularly 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 57 

in compliance with its NPDES permit, and in the case of interference, was in 
compliance with applicable sludge use or disposal requirements. 

 
§ 51.147. - Bypass 
 
(a) A user may allow any bypass to occur which does not cause pretreatment 

standards or requirements to be violated, but only if it also is for essential 
maintenance to assure efficient operation.  These bypasses are not subject to the 
provision of paragraphs (b) and (c) of this Section. 

 
(b) 

(1) If a user knows in advance of the need for a bypass, it shall submit prior 
notice to the Public Works Director, at least ten (10) days before the date 
of the bypass, if possible. 

 
(2) A user shall submit oral notice to the Public Works Director of an 

unanticipated bypass that exceeds applicable pretreatment standards 
within twenty-four (24) hours from the time it becomes aware of the 
bypass.  A written submission shall also be provided within five (5) days 
of this time the user becomes aware of the bypass.  The written 
submission shall contain a description of the bypass and its cause; the 
duration of the bypass, including exact dates and times, and, if the 
bypass has not been corrected, the anticipated time it is expected to 
continue; and steps taken or planned to reduce, eliminate, and prevent 
reoccurrence of the bypass.  The Public Works Director may waive the 
written report on a case-by-case basis if the oral report has been 
received within twenty-four (24) hours. 

(c) 
(1) Bypass is prohibited, and the Public Works Director may take an 

enforcement action against a user for a bypass, unless 
a. Bypass was unavoidable to prevent loss of life, personal injury, or 

severe property damage; 
b. There were no feasible alternatives to the bypass, such as the use 

of auxiliary treatment facilities, retention of untreated wastes, or 
maintenance during normal periods of equipment downtime.  This 
condition is not satisfied if adequate back-up equipment should 
have been installed in the exercise of reasonable engineering 
judgment to prevent a bypass which occurred during normal 
periods of equipment downtime or preventive maintenance; and  

c. The user submitted notices as required under paragraph (b) of this 
§. 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 58 

(2) The Public Works Director may approve an anticipated bypass, after considering 
its adverse effects, if the Public Works Director determines that it will meet the 
three conditions listed in paragraph (c)(1) of this §. 

 
§§51-148 – 51.159  Reserved. 

 
 
 

 

  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 59 

ARTICLE VI.  CROSS CONNECTION AND BACKFLOW PREVENTION 

§ 51-160  Purpose and Application 
 
(a)  The purpose of this cross connection control article is to define the authority of the 

Town of Warrenton as the water purveyor in the elimination of all cross connections 
within its public potable water supply.  
 

(b) This article shall apply to all users connected to the Town of Warrenton’s public 
potable water supply regardless of whether the user is located within the town limits or 
outside of the town limits.  

 
(c)  This article will comply with the Federal Safe Drinking Water Act (PL 93-523), the North 

Carolina State Administrative Code (15A NCAC 18C), and the North Carolina State 
Building Code (Volume II) as they pertain to cross connections with the public water 
supply.  

 
§ 51-162. Objectives of article  
 
The specific objectives of this cross connection control article for the Town of Warrenton 
are as follows:  

(1) To protect the public potable water supply of the Town of Warrenton against actual 
or potential contamination by isolating within the consumer's water system 
contaminants or pollutants which could, under adverse conditions, backflow 
through uncontrolled cross connections into the public water system.  

(2) To eliminate or control existing cross connections, actual or potential, between the 
consumer's potable water system and nonpotable or industrial piping system.  

(3) To provide a continuing inspection program of cross connection control which will 
systematically and effectively control all actual or potential cross connections 
which may be installed in the future.  

 
§ 51-163. Responsibilities  
 
(a) Health agency - The state department of environment and natural resources has the 

responsibility for promulgating and enforcing laws, rules, regulations, and policies to 
be followed in carrying out an effective cross connection control program. The state 
department of environment and natural resources also has the primary responsibility of 
insuring that the water purveyor operates the public potable water system free of 
actual or potential sanitary hazards, including unprotected cross connections. The 
state department of environment and natural resources has the further responsibility of 
insuring that the water purveyor provides an approved water supply at the service 
connection to the consumer's water system and, further, that he requires the 
installation, testing, and maintenance of an approved backflow prevention assembly 
on the service connection when required.  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 60 

(b) Water purveyor - Except as otherwise provided in this article, the water purveyor which 
is the Town of Warrenton’s responsibility to ensure a safe water supply begins at the 
source and includes all of the public water distribution system, including the service 
connection, and ends at the point of delivery to the consumer's water system. In 
addition, the water purveyor shall exercise reasonable vigilance to insure that the 
consumer has taken the proper steps to protect the public potable water system. To 
insure that the proper precautions are taken, the v is required to determine the degree 
of hazard or potential hazard to the public potable water system; to determine the 
degree of protection required; and to ensure proper containment protection through an 
on-going inspection program. When it is determined that a backflow prevention 
assembly is required for the protection of the public system, the v shall require the 
consumer, at the consumer's expense, to install an approved backflow prevention 
assembly at each service connection, to test immediately upon installation and 
thereafter at a frequency as determined by the water purveyor, to properly repair and 
maintain such assembly or assemblies and to keep adequate records of each test and 
subsequent maintenance and repair, including materials and/or replacement parts.  

 
(c) Plumbing inspection - The plumbing inspection departments have the responsibility to 

not only review building plans and inspect plumbing as it is installed; but, they have the 
explicit responsibility of preventing cross connections from being designed and built 
into the plumbing system within its jurisdiction. Where the review of building plans 
suggests or detects the potential for cross connections being made an integral part of 
the plumbing system, the plumbing inspector has the responsibility, under the state 
building code, for requiring that such cross connections be either eliminated or 
provided with backflow prevention equipment approved by the state building code. The 
plumbing inspector's responsibility begins at the point of delivery, downstream of the 
first installed backflow prevention assembly, and continues throughout the entire 
length of the consumer's water system. The plan inspector should inquire about the 
intended use of water at any point where it is suspected that a cross connection might 
be made or where one is actually called for by the plans. When such is discovered, it 
shall be mandatory that a suitable, approved backflow prevention assembly approved 
by the state building code be required by the plans and be properly installed. The 
primary protection assembly for containment purposes only shall have approval from 
the v, the state building code, and the state department of environment and natural 
resources.  

 
(d) Consumer - The consumer has the primary responsibility of preventing pollutants and 

contaminants from entering his potable water system or the public potable water 
system. The consumer's responsibility starts at the point of delivery from the public 
potable water system and includes all of his water system. The consumer, at his own 
expense, shall install, operate, test, and maintain approved backflow prevention 
assemblies as directed by the Town of Warrenton. The consumer shall maintain 
accurate records of tests and repairs made to backflow prevention assemblies and 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 61 

shall maintain such records for a minimum period of three years. The records shall be 
on forms approved by the Town of Warrenton and shall include the list of materials or 
replacement parts used. Following any repair, overhaul, repiping or relocation of an 
assembly, the consumer shall have it tested to insure that it is in good operating 
condition and will prevent backflow. Tests, maintenance and repairs of backflow 
prevention assemblies shall be made by a certified backflow prevention assembly 
tester.  

 
(e) Certified backflow prevention assembly testers -When employed by the consumer to 

test, repair, overhaul, or maintain backflow prevention assemblies, a backflow 
prevention assembly tester will have the following responsibilities: The tester will be 
responsible for making competent inspections and for repairing or overhauling 
backflow prevention assemblies and making reports of such repair to the consumer 
and responsible authorities on forms approved by the Town of Warrenton. The tester 
shall include the list of materials or replacement parts used. The tester shall be 
equipped with and be competent to use all the necessary tools, gauges, manometers 
and other equipment necessary to properly test, repair, and maintain backflow 
prevention assemblies. It will be the tester's responsibility to insure that original 
manufactured parts are used in the repair of or replacement of parts in a backflow 
prevention assembly. It will be the tester's further responsibility not to change the 
design, material or operational characteristics of an assembly during repair or 
maintenance without prior approval of the Town of Warrenton.  

 
A certified tester shall perform the work and be responsible for the competency and 
accuracy of all tests and reports. A certified tester shall provide a copy of all test and 
repair reports to the consumer and to the Town of Warrenton cross connection control 
department within ten business days of any completed test or repair work. A certified 
tester shall maintain such records for a minimum period of three years. All certified 
backflow prevention assembly testers must obtain and employ backflow prevention 
assembly test equipment which has been evaluated and/or approved by the Town of 
Warrenton. All test equipment shall be registered with the Town of Warrenton cross 
connection control department. All test equipment shall be checked for accuracy 
annually, at a minimum, calibrated, if necessary, and certified to the Town of 
Warrenton as to such calibration, employing an accuracy/calibration method 
acceptable to the Town of Warrenton. All certified backflow prevention assembly 
testers must become re-certified every two years through an approved backflow 
prevention certification program.  

 
§51-164. Definitions.  
 
The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the meanings 
ascribed to them in this §, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 62 

Air-gap separation - A physical separation between the free flowing discharge end of a 
potable water supply pipeline and an open or nonpressure receiving vessel. An approved 
air-gap separation shall be at least double the diameter of the supply pipe measured 
vertically above the overflow rim of the receiving vessel, in no case less than one inch (2.54 
cm).  
 
Approved – A water supply that has been approved by the state department of environment 
and natural resources; or, as used in reference to air-gap separation, a pressure vacuum 
breaker, a double check valve assembly, a double check detector assembly, a reduced 
pressure principle backflow prevention assembly, a reduced pressure principle detector 
assembly, or other backflow prevention assemblies or methods means an approval by the 
Town of Warrenton.  
 
Backflow - The undesirable reversal of flow of water or mixtures of water and other liquids, 
gases, or other substances into the distribution pipes of the consumer or public potable 
water system from any source or sources.  
 
Backflow prevention assembly, Approved - An assembly used for containment and/or 
isolation purposes that has been investigated and approved by the Town of Warrenton and 
has been shown to meet the design and performance standards of the American Society of 
Sanitary Engineers (ASSE), the American Water Works Association (AWWA), or the 
Foundation for Cross-Connection Control and Hydraulic Research of the University of 
Southern California. The approval of backflow prevention assemblies by the Town of 
Warrenton is based on a favorable report by the Foundation for Cross-Connection Control 
and Hydraulic Research of the University of Southern California, recommending such an 
approval. To be approved, an assembly must be readily accessible for in-line testing and 
maintenance. The Town of Warrenton reserves the right to evaluate any backflow 
prevention assembly though a field evaluation process for approval if necessary for a 
period of time established by the town.  
 
Backflow prevention assembly, Unapproved - An assembly that has been investigated by 
the Town of Warrenton and has been determined to be unacceptable for installation within 
the Town of Warrenton water system. Consideration for disapproval and removal from the 
"approved list" shall be based upon, but not limited to, the following criteria: (i) Due to poor 
performance standards (i.e., significant failure rate); (ii) lack of or unavailability of repair 
parts; and/or, (iii) poor service or response from assembly's factory representative.  
 
Backflow prevention assembly, Type -An assembly used to prevent backflow into a 
consumer or public potable water system. The type of assembly used should be based on 
the degree of hazard either existing or potential. The types are:  

(1) Double check valve assembly (DCVA). 
(2) Double check detector assembly (fire system) (DCDA). 
(3) Pressure vacuum breaker (PVB). 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 63 

(4) Atmospheric vacuum breaker (AVB) 
(5) Reduced pressure principle assembly (RP). 
(6) Reduced pressure principle detector assembly (fire system). (RPDA).  

 
Backflow prevention assembly tester, Certified - A person who has proven his competency 
to the satisfaction of the Town of Warrenton. Each person who is certified to make 
competent tests, or to repair, overhaul, and make reports on backflow prevention 
assemblies shall be knowledgeable of applicable laws, rules, and regulations, shall be a 
licensed plumber or have at least two years’ experience under and be employed by a state 
licensed plumber or plumbing contractor, or have equivalent qualifications acceptable to 
the Town of Warrenton, and must hold a certificate of completion from an approved 
training program in the testing and repair of backflow prevention assemblies. Backflow 
assembly testers who hold a certificate of completion from an approved training program 
shall be required to successfully complete a practical examination administered by the 
Town of Warrenton prior to conducting test and repair work on backflow prevention 
assemblies in the Town of Warrenton water system. Backflow assembly testers who hold a 
certificate of completion from a nonapproved training program shall be required to 
successfully complete a written and practical examination administered by the Town of 
Warrenton prior to conducting test and repair work on backflow prevention assemblies in 
the Town of Warrenton water system.  
 
Backflow prevention device, Approved - A device used for isolation purposes that has been 
shown to meet the design and performance standards of the American Society of Sanitary 
Engineers (ASSE) and the American Water Works Association (AWWA)  
 
Back-pressure backflow - Any elevation in the consumer water system, by pump, elevation 
of piping, or steam and/or air pressure, above the supply pressure at the point of delivery 
which would cause, or tend to cause, a reversal of the normal direction of flow.  
Back-siphonage backflow means a reversal of the normal direction of flow in the pipeline 
due to a negative pressure (vacuum) being created in the supply line with the backflow 
source subject to atmospheric pressure.  
 
Check valve, Approved – A check valve that is drip-tight in the normal direction of flow 
when the inlet pressure is at least one psi and the outlet pressure is zero. The check valve 
shall permit no leakage in a direction reverse to the normal flow. The closure element (e.g. 
clapper, poppet, or other design) shall be internally loaded to promote rapid and positive 
closure. An approved check valve is only one component of an approved backflow 
prevention assembly, i.e., pressure vacuum breaker, double check valve assembly, double 
check detector assembly, reduced pressure principal assembly, or reduced pressure 
detector assembly.  
 
Consumer - Any person, firm, or corporation using or receiving water from the Town of 
Warrenton water system.  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 64 

 
Consumer's potable water system - That portion of the privately owned potable water 
system lying between the point of delivery and point of use and/or isolation protection. This 
system will include all pipes, conduits, tanks, receptacles, fixtures, equipment, and 
appurtenances used to produce, convey, store, or use potable water.  
 
Consumer's water system - Any water system commencing at the point of delivery and 
continuing throughout the consumer's plumbing system, located on the consumer's 
premises, whether supplied by public potable water or an auxiliary water supply. The 
system or systems may be either a potable water system or an industrial piping system.  
Containment means preventing the impairment of the public potable water supply by 
installing an approved backflow prevention assembly at the service connection.  
Contamination means an impairment of the quality of the water which creates a potential 
or actual hazard to the public health through the introduction of hazardous or toxic 
substances or through the spread of disease by sewage, industrial fluids, or waste.  
 
Cross connection - Any unprotected actual or potential connection or structural 
arrangement between a public or a consumer's water system and any other source or 
system through which it is possible to introduce any contamination or pollution, other than 
the intended potable water with which the system is supplied. Bypass arrangements, 
jumper connections, removable sections, swivel or change-over devices, and other 
temporary or permanent devices through which or because of which "backflow" can or 
may occur are considered to be cross connections.  
 
Double check detector assembly - A specially designed assembly composed of a line-size 
approved double check valve assembly with a specific bypass water meter and a meter-
sized approved double check valve assembly. The meter shall register (in U.S. gallons or 
cubic feet) accurately for only very low rates of flow and shall show a registration for all 
rates of flow. This assembly shall only be used to protect against a nonhealth hazard (i.e., 
pollutant).  
 
Double check valve assembly- An assembly composed of two independently acting, 
approved check valves, including tightly closing shutoff valves attached at each end of the 
assembly and fitted with properly located test cocks. This assembly shall only be used to 
protect against a nonhealth hazard (i.e. pollutant).  
 
Hazard, Degree of – A term derived from the evaluation of conditions within a system which 
can be classified as either a "pollutional" (nonhealth) or a "contamination" (health) hazard.  
Hazard--Health. The term "health hazard" means an actual or potential threat of 
contamination of a physical, hazardous or toxic nature to the public or consumer's potable 
water system to such a degree or intensity that there would be a danger to health.  
 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 65 

Hazard, Nonhealth - An actual or potential threat to the quality of the public or the 
consumer's potable water system. A nonhealth hazard is one that, if introduced into the 
public water supply system, could be a nuisance to water customers, but would not 
adversely affect human health.  
 
Hazard, Pollutional - An actual or potential threat to the quality or the potability of the 
public or the consumer's potable water system but which would not constitute a health or 
a system hazard, as defined. The maximum degree or intensity of pollution to which the 
potable water system could be degraded under this definition would cause a nuisance or 
be aesthetically objectionable or could cause minor damage to the system or its 
appurtenances.  
 
Health agency - The state department of environment and natural resources.  
 
Industrial fluids -Any fluid or solution which may be chemically, biologically, or otherwise 
contaminated or polluted in a form or concentration such as would constitute a health or 
nonhealth hazard if introduced into a public or consumer potable water system. Such 
fluids may include, but are not limited to: process waters; chemicals in fluid form; acids 
and alkalis; oils, gases; etc.  
 
Industrial piping system--Consumer's. The term "consumer's industrial piping system" 
means any system used by the consumer for transmission of or to confine or store any 
fluid, solid or gaseous substance other than an approved water supply. Such a system 
would include all pipes, conduits, tanks, receptacles, fixtures, equipment, and 
appurtenances used to produce, convey, or store substances which are or may be polluted 
or contaminated  
 
Isolation - The act of confining a localized hazard within a consumer's water system by 
installing approved backflow prevention assemblies. Disclaimer: Town of Warrenton may 
make recommendations, upon facility inspection, as to the usages of isolation 
devices/assemblies, but does not assume or have responsibility whatsoever for such 
installations.  
 
Point of delivery - Generally at the property line of the customer, adjacent to the public 
street where the Town of Warrenton mains are located, or at a point on the customer's 
property where the meter is located. The customer shall be responsible for all water piping 
and control devices located on the customer's side of the point of delivery.  
 
Pollution - An impairment of the quality of the water to a degree which does not create an 
actual hazard to the public health but which does adversely and unreasonably affect the 
aesthetic qualities of such waters for domestic use.  
 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 66 

Potable water - Water from any source which has been investigated by the state 
department of environment and natural resources and which has been approved for 
human consumption.  
 
Public potable water system - Any publicly or privately owned water system operated as a 
public utility, under a current state department of environment and natural resources 
permit, to supply water for public consumption or use. This system will include all sources, 
facilities, and appurtenances between the source and the point of delivery such as valves, 
pumps, pipes, conduits, tanks, receptacles, fixtures, equipment, and appurtenances used 
to produce, convey, treat, or store potable water for public consumption or use.  
 
Reduced pressure principal backflow prevention assembly - An assembly containing 
within its structure a minimum of two independently acting, approved check valves, 
together with a hydraulically operating, mechanically independent, pressure differential 
relief valve located between the check valves and at the same time below the first check 
valve. The first check valve reduces the supply pressure a predetermined amount so that 
during normal flow and at cessation of normal flow, the pressure between the checks is 
less than the supply pressure. In case of leakage of either check valve, the pressure 
differential relief valve, by discharge to atmosphere, shall operate to maintain the pressure 
between the checks less than the supply pressure. The unit shall include tightly closing 
shutoff valves located at each end of the assembly and each assembly shall be fitted with 
properly located test cocks. The assembly is designed to protect against a health hazard 
(i.e., contaminant).  
 
Reduced pressure principal detector assembly - A specially designed assembly composed 
of a line-size approved reduced pressure principle backflow prevention assembly with a 
specific bypass water meter and a meter-sized approved reduced pressure principle 
backflow prevention assembly. The meter shall register, in U.S. gallons or cubit feet, 
accurately for only very low rates of flow and shall show a registration for all rates of flow. 
This assembly shall be used to protect against a health hazard (i.e., contaminant).  
 
Service connections - The terminal end of a service connection from the public potable 
water system, i.e., where the Town of Warrenton loses jurisdiction and sanitary control 
over the water at its point of delivery to the consumer's water system.  
 
Vacuum breaker, atmospheric type - The term "atmospheric vacuum breaker," also known 
as the "nonpressure type vacuum breaker," means a device containing a float-check, a 
check seat, and an air inlet port. The flow of water into the body causes the float to close 
the air inlet port. When the flow of water stops, the float falls and forms a check valve 
against back-siphonage and at the same time opens the air inlet port to allow air to enter 
and satisfy the vacuum. Shutoff valves downstream of AVBs are not allowed. AVB’s must 
always be installed at a minimum of 6” above the highest outlet. An atmospheric vacuum 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 67 

breaker is designed to protect against health hazards, isolation protection only, under a 
backsiphonage condition only.  
 
Vacuum breaker, pressure type - An assembly containing an independently operating 
internally loaded check valve and an independently operating loaded air inlet valve located 
on the discharge side of the check valve. The assembly is to be equipped with properly 
located test cocks and tightly closing shutoff valves attached at each end of the assembly. 
PVB’s must always be installed at a minimum of 12” above the highest outlet. This 
assembly is designed to protect against a health hazard (i.e., contaminant) under a 
backsiphonage condition only.  
 
Water purveyor - The owner or operator of a public potable water system, providing an 
approved water supply to the public.  
 
Water supply, Approved m- Any public potable water supply which has been investigated 
and approved by the permit. In determining what constitutes an approved water supply, 
the state department of environment and natural resources has reserved the final 
judgment as to its safety and potability.  
 
Water supply, auxiliary - Any water supply on or available to the premises other than the 
purveyor's approved public potable water supply. These auxiliary waters may include water 
from another purveyor's public potable water supply or any natural source such as a well, 
spring, river, stream, etc., "used water", or industrial fluids. These waters may be polluted, 
contaminated, or objectionable and constitute an unacceptable water source over which 
the water purveyor does not have sanitary control.  
 
Water supply, Unapproved - A water supply which has not been approved for human 
consumption by the state department of environment and natural resources.  
 
Water, Used - Any water supplied by a water purveyor from a public water system to a 
consumer's water system after it has passed through the point of delivery and is no longer 
under the control of the water purveyor.  
 
§ 51-165. Right of entry  
 
(a) Authorized representatives from the Town of Warrenton shall have the right to enter, 

upon presentation of proper credentials and identification, any building, structure, or 
premises during normal business hours, or at any time during the event of an 
emergency, to perform any duty imposed by this article. Those duties may include 
sampling and testing of water, or inspections and observations of all piping systems 
connected to the public water supply. Where a user has security measures in force 
which would require proper identification and clearance before entry into their 
premises, the user shall make necessary arrangements with the security guards so that 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 68 

upon presentation of suitable identification, Town of Warrenton personnel will be 
permitted to enter, without delay, for the purposes of performing their specific 
responsibilities. Refusal to allow entry for these purposes may result in discontinuance 
of water service.  

 
(b) On request, the consumer shall furnish to the commission any pertinent information 

regarding the water supply system on such property where cross connections and 
backflow are deemed possible.  

 
§ 51-166. Elimination of cross connections; degree of hazard  
 
(a) When cross connections are found to exist, the owner, his agent, occupant, or tenant 

will be notified in writing to disconnect the cross connection within the time limit 
established by the Town of Warrenton. Degree of protection required and maximum 
time allowed for compliance will be based upon the potential degree of hazard to the 
public water supply system. The maximum time limits are as follows:  

(1) Cross connections with private wells or other auxiliary water supplies--
immediate disconnection.  

(2) All facilities which pose a health hazard to the potable water system must have 
a containment assembly in the form of a reduced pressure principal backflow 
prevention assembly within 60 days.  

(3) All industrial and commercial facilities not identified as a health hazard shall be 
considered nonhealth hazard facilities. All nonhealth hazard facilities must 
install, as a minimum containment assembly, a double check valve assembly 
within 90 days  

(4) If, in the judgment of the Town of Warrenton, an imminent health hazard exists, 
water service to the building or premises where a cross connection exists may 
be terminated unless an air gap is immediately provided, or the cross 
connection is immediately eliminated.  

(5) Based upon recommendation from the Town of Warrenton, the consumer is 
responsible for installing sufficient internal isolation backflow prevention 
assemblies and/or methods (i.e., air gap, pressure vacuum breakers, reduced 
pressure principal backflow prevention assembly, double check valve 
assembly).  

(6) Water mains served by the Town of Warrenton but not maintained by the Town of 
Warrenton should be considered cross connections, with degree of hazard to be 
determined by the Town of Warrenton. Degree of protection shall be based upon 
the degree of hazard, as determined by the Town of Warrenton.  

 
(b) In the event that a Town of Warrenton cross connection control inspector does not 

have sufficient access to every portion of a private water system (e.g., classified 
research and development facilities; federal government property) to allow a complete 
evaluation of the degree of hazard associated with such private water systems, an 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 69 

approved reduced pressure principal assembly shall be required as a minimum of 
protection.  

(c) No person shall fill special use tanks or tankers containing pesticides, fertilizers, other 
toxic chemicals or their residues from the public water system except at a location 
equipped with an air gap or an approved reduced pressure principal backflow 
prevention assembly properly installed on the public water supply.  
 

§ 51-167. Installation of assemblies.  
 
(a) All backflow prevention assemblies shall be installed in accordance with the 

specifications furnished by The Town of Warrenton and/or the manufacturer's 
installation instructions and/or in the latest edition of the state building code, 
whichever is most restrictive. All assemblies installed above ground outside must be 
protected from freezing with an above ground enclosure that meets the ASSE 1060 
standard. If the assembly is installed outside and intended for commercial domestic 
water use, a heat source must be ready available at the assembly, if necessary, and 
must be freeze proof.  

  
(b) All new construction plans and specifications, when required by the state building code 

and the state department of environment and natural resources, shall be made 
available to the Town of Warrenton for review and approval, and to determine the 
degree of hazard.  

 
(c) Ownership, testing, and maintenance of the assembly shall be the responsibility of the 

customer.  
 
(d) All double check valve assemblies must be installed in accordance with detailed 

specifications provided by the Town of Warrenton. Double check valve assemblies may 
be installed in a vertical position provided they have been specifically approved by the 
manufacture and with prior approval from the Town of Warrenton Cross Connection 
Control Department provided the flow of water is in an upward direction. All double 
check valve assemblies 2 1⁄2” and larger must be installed above ground covered by an 
above ground enclosure that meets the ASSE 1060 standard if they are installed 
outside. Inside installations must meet North Carolina Plumbing Code.  

 
(e) Reduced pressure principle assemblies must be installed in a horizontal position and 

in a location in which no portion of the assembly can become submerged in any 
substance under any circumstances. The further most bottom portion of the body must 
be at a minimum of 12” above grade, no more than 4’. Pit and/or below grade 
installations are prohibited.  

 
(f) The installation of a backflow prevention assembly which is not approved must be 

replaced with an approved backflow prevention assembly.  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 70 

(g) The installer is responsible to make sure a backflow prevention assembly is working 
properly upon installation and is required to furnish the following information to the 
Town of Warrenton Cross Connection Control Department within 15 days after a 
reduced pressure principle backflow preventer (RP), double check valve assembly 
(DCVA), pressure vacuum breaker (PVB), double check detector assembly (DCDA), or 
reduced pressure principle detector assembly (RPDA) is installed:  

1. Service address where assembly is located.  
2. Owner and address, if different from service address.  
3. Description of assembly's location.  
4. Date of installation.  
5. Installer, include name, plumbing company represented, plumber's license 

number, and project permit number.  
6. Type of assembly, size of assembly.  
7. Manufacturer, model number, serial number.  
8. Test results/report.  

 
(h) When it is not possible to interrupt water service, provisions shall be made for a parallel 

installation of backflow prevention assemblies. The Town of Warrenton will not accept 
an unprotected bypass around a backflow preventer when the assembly is in need of 
testing, repair, or replacement.  
 

(i) The consumer shall, upon notification, install the appropriate containment assembly 
not to exceed the following time frame:  

Health hazard . . . 60 days  
Nonhealth hazard . . . 90 days  

 
(j) Following installation, all reduced pressure principal backflow preventers (RP), double 

check valve assemblies (DCVA), pressure vacuum breakers (PVB), double check 
detector assemblies (DCDA), or reduced pressure principle detector assemblies 
(RPDA) are required to be tested by a certified backflow prevention assembly tester 
within ten days.  
 

§ 51-168. Testing and repair of assemblies  
 
(a) Testing of backflow prevention assemblies shall be made by a certified backflow 

prevention assembly tester or may be contracted out to the Town of Warrenton cross 
connection control department at the customer's expense. Such tests are to be 
conducted upon installation and annually thereafter or at a frequency established by 
the Town of Warrenton regulations. A record of all testing and repairs is to be retained 
by the customer. Copies of the records must be provided to the Town of Warrenton 
cross connection control department within ten business days after the completion of 
any testing and/or repair work.  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 71 

(b) Any time that repairs to backflow prevention assemblies are deemed necessary, 
whether through annual or required testing or routine inspection by the owner or by the 
Town of Warrenton, these repairs must be completed within a specified time in 
accordance with the degree of hazard. In no case shall this time period exceed:  

1. (1)  Health hazard facilities . . . 14 days  
2. (2)  Non-health hazard facilities . . . 21 days  

 
(c) All backflow prevention assemblies with test cocks are required to be tested annually 

or at frequency established by the Town of Warrenton regulations. Testing requires a 
water shutdown usually lasting five to 20 minutes. For facilities that require an 
uninterrupted supply of water, and when it is not possible to provide water service from 
two separate meters, provisions shall be made for a parallel installation of backflow 
prevention assemblies.  

 
(d) All certified backflow prevention assembly testers must obtain and employ backflow 

prevention assembly test equipment which has been evaluated and/or approved by the 
Town of Warrenton. All test equipment shall be registered with the Town of Warrenton 
cross connection control department. All test equipment shall be checked for 
accuracy annually, at a minimum, calibrated, if necessary, and certified to the Town of 
Warrenton as to such accuracy/calibration, employing a calibration method 
acceptable to the Town of Warrenton. Ref. § 51-163 (e)  

 
(e) It shall be unlawful for any customer or certified tester to submit any record to the Town 

of Warrenton which is false or incomplete in any material respect. It shall be unlawful 
for any customer or certified tester to fail to submit to the Town of Warrenton any 
record which is required by this article. Such violations may result in any of the 
enforcement actions outlined in §. 51-172 Enforcement 

 
§ 51-169. Facilities requiring protection  
 
(a) Approved backflow prevention assemblies shall be installed on the service line to any 

premises that the Town of Warrenton has identified as having a potential for backflow.  
 
(b) The following types of facilities or services have been identified by the Town of 

Warrenton as having a potential for backflow of nonpotable water into the public water 
supply system. Therefore, an approved backflow prevention assembly will be required 
on all such services according to the degree of hazard present. Other types of facilities 
or services not listed below may also be required to install approved backflow 
prevention assemblies if determined necessary by the Town of Warrenton. As a 
minimum requirement, all commercial services will be required to install a double 
check valve assembly, unless otherwise listed in this subsection.  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 72 

DCVA = Double check valve assembly 
RP = Reduced pressure principal assembly DCDA = Double check detector assembly 
RPDA = Reduced pressure detector assembly  
AG = Air gap  
PVB =Pressure vacuum breaker  
 
1. Aircraft and missile plants: RP 
2. Automotive services stations, dealerships, etc. RP 
3. Automotive plants: RP  
4. Auxiliary water systems:  

a. Approved public/private water supply: DCVA  
b. Unapproved public/private water supply: AG  
c. Used water and industrial fluids: RP   

5. Bakeries:  
a. No health hazard: DCVA  
b. Health hazard: RP  

6. Beauty shops/barber shops: RP 
7. Beverage bottling plants: RP  
8. Breweries: RP  
9. Buildings--Hotels, apartment houses, public and private buildings, or other 

structures having unprotected cross connections.  
a. (Under five stories) no health hazard: DCVA  
b. (Under five stories) health hazard: RP  
c. (Over five stories) all: RP  

10. Canneries, packing houses, and rendering plants: RP  
11. Chemical plants--Manufacturing, processing, compounding or treatment: RP  
12. Chemically contaminated water systems: RP  
13. Commercial car-wash facilities: RP  
14. Commercial greenhouses: RP  
15. Commercial sales establishments (department stores, malls, etc.)  

a. No health hazard: DCVA  
b. Health hazard: RP  

16. Concrete/asphalt plants: RP  
17. Dairies and cold storage plants: RP  
18. Dye works: RP  
19. Film laboratories: RP  
20. Fire systems:  

a. Systems three-fourths inch to two inches:  
1. No health hazard: DCVA  
2. Health hazard: (booster pumps, foam, antifreeze solution, etc.): RP  

b. Systems 2 1/2 inches to ten inches or larger:  
1. No health hazard: DCDA  
2. Health hazard (booster pumps, foam, antifreeze solution, etc.): RPDA  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 73 

21. Hospitals, medical buildings, sanitariums, morgues, mortuaries, autopsy facilities, 
nursing and convalescent homes, medical clinics, and veterinary hospitals: RP  

22. Industrial facilities:  
a. No health hazard: DCVA  
b. Health hazard: RP  

23. Laundries:  
a. No health hazard: DCVA  
b. Health hazard: (i.e., dry cleaners): RP  

24. Lawn irrigation systems (split taps): RP  
25. Metal manufacturing, cleaning, processing, and fabricating plants: RP  
26. Mobile home parks:  

a. No health hazard: DCVA  
b. Health hazard: RP  

27. Oil and gas production, storage or transmission properties: RP  
28. Paper and paper products plants: RP  
29. Pest control (exterminating and fumigating): RP  
30. Plating plants: RP  
31. Power plants: RP  
32. Radioactive materials or substances plants or facilities handling: RP  
33. Restaurants:  

a. No health hazard: DCVA  
b. Health hazard: RP  

34. Restricted, classified, or other closed facilities: RP  
35. Rubber plants (natural or synthetic): RP  
36. Sand and gravel plants: RP  
37. Schools and colleges: RP  
38. Sewage and storm drain facilities: RP  
39. Swimming pools: RP  
40. Waterfront facilities and industries: RP  
 

(c) All assemblies and installations shall be subject to inspection and approval by the 
Town of Warrenton.  

 
§ 51-170. Connections with unapproved sources of supply  

 
(a) No person shall connect or cause to be connected any supply of water not approved by 

the state department of environment and natural resources to the water system 
supplied by the Town of Warrenton. Any such connections allowed by the Town of 
Warrenton must be in conformance with the backflow prevention requirements of this 
article.  

 
(b) In the event of contamination or pollution of a public or consumer potable water 

system, the consumer shall notify the Town of Warrenton immediately in order that 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 74 

appropriate measures may be taken to overcome and eliminate the contamination or 
pollution.  

 
§ 51-171. Fire protection systems  
 
(a) All connections for fire protection systems connected with the public water system, 

two inches and smaller, shall be protected with an approved double check valve 
assembly as a minimum requirement. All fire systems using toxic additives or booster 
pumps shall be protected by an approved reduced pressure principal assembly at the 
main service connection.  

 
(b) All connections for fire protection systems connected with the public water system 

greater than two inches shall be protected with an approved double check detector 
assembly as a minimum requirement. All fire protection systems using toxic or 
hazardous additives or booster pumps shall be protected by an approved reduced 
pressure principal detector assembly at the main service connection.  

 
(c) All existing backflow prevention assemblies 2 1/2 inches and larger installed on fire 

protection systems that were initially approved by the Town of Warrenton shall be 
allowed to remain on the premises, as long as they are being properly maintained, 
tested and repaired as required by this article. If, however, the existing assembly must 
be replaced once it can no longer be repaired, or in the event of proven water theft 
through an unmetered source, the consumer shall be required to install an approved 
double check detector assembly or reduced pressure principal detector assembly as 
required by § 51-169. Facilities Requiring Protection  

 
§ 51-172. Enforcement.  
 
(a) The owner, manager, supervisor, or person in charge of any installation found not to be 

in compliance with the provisions of this Article shall be notified in writing with regard 
to the corrective action to be taken. The time for compliance shall be in accordance 
with §§ 51-172 (g) (1-4)  

 
(b) The owner, manager, supervisor, or person in charge of any installation which remains 

in noncompliance after the time prescribed in the initial notification, as outlined in § § 
51-172 (g) (1-4), shall be considered in violation of this article, and may be issued a civil 
citation by the Town of Warrenton. The citation shall specify the nature of the violation 
and the provision of this article violated, and further notify the offender that the civil 
penalty for such violation is as set forth in subsection (c) of this section and is to be 
paid to the Town of Warrenton within 30 days. If the penalty prescribed in this sub§ is 
not paid within the time allowed, the Town of Warrenton may initiate a civil action in the 
nature of a debt and recover the sums set forth in sub§ (c) of this § plus the cost of the 
action.  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 75 

(c) Any offender who shall continue any violation beyond the time limit provided for in the 
aforementioned notification shall be subject to a civil penalty of up to $1,000.00 per 
violation. Each day in which a violation of any provision of this article shall occur or 
continue shall constitute a separate and distinct offense.  

 
(d) If, in the judgment of the Town of Warrenton, any owner, manager, supervisor, or 

person in charge of any installation found to be in noncompliance with the provisions of 
this article neglects his or her responsibility to correct any violation, such neglect may 
result in discontinuance of water service until compliance is achieved.  

 
(e) Failure of a customer or certified tester to submit any record required by this article, or 

the submission of falsified reports/records may result in a civil penalty of up to 
$1,000.00 per violation. If a certified backflow prevention assembly tester submits 
falsified records to the Town of Warrenton, the Town of Warrenton shall take the 
necessary actions to revoke certification to test backflow prevention assemblies within 
the potable water system for a time period not to exceed one year. The tester will then 
be required to complete an approved certification course to acquire a new certification. 
Falsification made to records/reports after becoming recertified shall result in the 
permanent revocation of backflow testing certification, in addition to a civil penalty as 
provided for in this subsection.  

 
(f) Enforcement of this program shall be administered by the Public Works Director of the 

Town of Warrenton or its authorized representative.  
 
(g) Requests for extension of time shall be made in writing to the Public Works Director of 

the Town of Warrenton or its authorized representative. All other appeals shall be made 
in accordance with the following procedures:  

(1) Adjudicatory hearings. A customer assessed a civil penalty under this § 
shall have the right to an adjudicatory hearing before a hearing officer 
designated by the Public Works Director of the Town of Warrenton upon 
making written demand, identifying the specific issues to be contended, 
to the Public Works Director of the Town of Warrenton within 30 days 
following notice of final decision to assess a civil penalty. Unless such 
demand is made within the time specified in this sub§, the decision on 
the civil penalty assessment shall be final and binding.  

 
(2) Appeal hearings. Any decision of the Town of Warrenton hearing officer 

made as a result of an adjudicatory hearing held under subsection (g)(1) 
of this § may be appealed by any party to the Town of Warrenton board of 
Commissioners upon filing a written demand within ten days of receipt 
of notice of the decision. Hearings held under this section shall be 
conducted in accordance with the Town of Warrenton hearing 
procedures. Failure to make written demand within the time specified in 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 76 

this sub§ shall bar further appeal. The Town of Warrenton shall make a 
decision on the appeal within 90 days of the date the appeal was filed 
and shall transmit a written copy of its decision by registered or certified 
mail.  

 
(3) Official record. When a final decision is issued under § 51-402 (g)(2) of 

this §, the Town of Warrenton shall prepare an official record of the case 
that includes:  

a. All notices, motions, and other like pleadings;  
b. A copy of all documentary evidence introduced;  
c. A certified transcript of all testimony taken, if testimony is 

transcribed. If testimony is taken and not transcribed, then a 
narrative summary of any testimony taken;  

d. A copy of the final decision of the Town of Warrenton.  
 

(4) Judicial review. Any customer against whom a final decision of the Town 
of Warrenton is entered, pursuant to the hearing procedure under sub§ § 
51-402 (g)(2) of this §, may appeal the order or decision by filing a written 
petition for judicial review within 30 days after receipt of notice by 
certified mail of the order or decision to the general court of justice of the 
county or of the county where the order or decision is effective, along 
with a copy to the Town of Warrenton. Within 30 days after receipt of the 
copy of the petition of judicial review, the Town of Warrenton shall 
transmit to the reviewing court the original or a certified copy of the 
official record, as outlined in subsection (g)(3) of this section.  

 
§ 51-173. Severability  
 
If any section,  subsection, sentence, or clause of this article is adjudged to be 
unconstitutional or otherwise invalid, such adjudication shall not affect the validity of the 
remaining portion of this article. It is hereby declared that this article would have been 
passed, and each section, sentence, or clause thereof, irrespective of the fact that any one 
or more sections, subsections, sentences, or clauses might be adjudged to be 
unconstitutional, for any other reason invalid. (Ordinance of 10-13-23) 
 
§§ 51-174 – 51-179  Reserved 

  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 77 

ARTICLE VII.  GREASE TRAP REQUIREMENTS 
 
§51. 180 Intent and Scope  
 
STANDARDS AND REQUIREMENTS For Food Service Establishments Section 51.091 of the 
Town Of Warrenton Sewer Use Ordinance (SUO) prohibits the discharge to the Town Of 
Warrenton any waste containing floatable oils, fat or grease. Section 51.091 of the SUO 
further states that any waste capable of causing abnormal corrosion, abnormal 
deterioration, damage to or hazard to structures or equipment to the Sewerage System, or 
humans or animals or interference with proper operation of the Town Of Warrenton 
Wastewater Treatment Plant is prohibited. Food Service Establishments shall provide 
means of preventing grease and oil discharges to the Sewerage System. Where a grease 
and oil interceptor currently exists or is required by the Town Of Warrenton, it shall be 
maintained for continuous, satisfactory and effective operation by the owner, leaseholder 
or operator at his/her expense. Grease and oil interceptors shall be of a type and capacity. 
approved by the Town of Warrenton and shall be located as to be readily accessible for 
cleaning and inspection.  
 
§51.181 Definitions  
 
For the purposes of this Article, certain words and phrases used in this Chapter are defined 
as follows:  
 
Food Service Establishment: A facility discharging kitchen or food preparation 
wastewaters such as restaurants, motel, hotels, cafeterias, delicatessen, meat cutting 
preparation, bakeries, hospitals, schools, bars, or any other facility which in the Town' s 
discretion, -would require a grease trap installation by virtue of its operation.  
 
Grease Interceptor/Grease Trap: A device utilized to effect the separation of grease and 
oils in wastewater effluent from a Food Service Establishment. Such traps or interceptors 
may be of the "outdoor" or underground type normally of a 1,000 gallon capacity or more, 
or the "under- the-counter" package units which are typically less than 100 gallon capacity. 
For purposes of this definition, the words "trap" and "interceptor'' are used 
interchangeably.  
 
Interference: The inhibition or disruption of the Wastewater treatment processes or 
operations, or acts or discharges which may cause damage to any portion of the Sewerage 
System or which contribute to a violation of any requirement of a POTW's (Publicly Owned 
Treatment Works) NPDES (National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System) Permit The 
term includes Interference with Sewage sludge use ' or disposal in accordance with State 
or Federal criteria, guidelines or regulations or any State or Federal sludge management 
plan applicable to the method of disposal· or use employed by the Sewerage System.  
 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 78 

§51.182 General Requirements  
 
(a) All Food Service Establishments shall have grease-handling facilities approved by the 

Town of Warrenton. Establishments whose grease-handling facilities or methods are 
not adequately maintained to prevent floatable oils, fat or grease from entering the 
sewerage system shall be notified in writing of any noncompliance and required to 
provide a schedule whereby corrections will be accomplished.  

 
(b) All Food Service Establishments grease-handling facilities shall be subject to review, 

evaluation, and inspection by the Town of Warrenton representative during normal 
working hours. Results of inspections will be made available to facility owner, lease-
holder or operator. The Town Of Warrenton may lend assistance and make 
recommendations for correction and improvement.  

 
(c) Food Service Establishment receiving two (2) consecutive unsatisfactory evaluations or 

inspections, may be subject to penalties or other corrective actions as provided from 
the Sewer Use Ordinance.  

 
(d) Food Service Establishments who continue to violate the Town of Warrenton Grease 

Standards/Requirements may be considered grounds for discontinuance of sewer 
service.  

 
(e) Food Service Establishments whose operations cause or allow excessive grease to 

discharge or accumulate in the Town of Warrenton collection system may be liable to 
the Town Of Warrenton for costs related to the Town of Warrenton service calls for line 
blockages, line cleanings, line and pump repairs, etc. including all labor~ materials, 
and equipment. Failure to pay all service-related charge may also be grounds for 
water/sewer service discontinuance.  

 
(f) Regularly scheduled maintenance of grease-handling facilities is required to insure 

adequate operation. In the maintaining of these grease interceptors, the owner, lease-
holder or operator shall be responsible for the proper removal and disposal of grease 
by appropriate means arid shall maintain on-site records of dates; and means of 
disposal. Records shall be maintained for a period-of three (3) years.  

 
(g) Any Food Service Establishment whose effluent discharge to the sewerage system is 

determined by the Town Of Warrenton to cause interference in the conveyance or 
operation of the sewerage system may be required to sample its grease trap discharge 
and have it analyzed for oil and grease at the expense of the owner, lease-holder or 
operator. Results of such analyses shall be reported to the Town of Warrenton.  

 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 79 

(h) All grease traps interceptors shall be designed and installed to allow for complete 
access for inspection and maintenance of the inner chamber( s) and viewing and 
sampling of effluent wastewater discharged to the sewer.  

 
(i) Food Service Establishments shall adopt procedures for handling sources of floatable 

oils, fat or grease originating -within their facility. A notice shall be permanently posted 
at a prominent place in the facility advising employees of the procedures to be 
followed.  

 
(j) Food Service Establishments shall develop and implement a Waste Minimization Plan 

pertaining to the disposal of grease, oils and food particles. The Town of Warrenton 
may render advice or make suggestions regarding the minimization of waste.  

 
§51.183 Construction Standards  
 
(a) New Facilities  

1. All new Food Service Establishments shall be required to install a grease 
interceptor, approved by the Town of Warrenton. Grease interceptors shall be 
adequately sized, with no interceptor less than 1,000 gallons total capacity unless 
otherwise approved by the Town of Warrenton.  

 
2. No new Food Service Establishments will be allowed to initiate operations until 

grease handling facilities are installed and approved by the Town of Warrenton.  
 

3. All grease interceptors, whether singular or two tanks in series, must have each 
chamber directly accessible from the surface to provide means for servicing and 
maintaining the interceptor in working and operating condition. .  

 
4. A basket, screen or other intercepting device shall prevent passage into the 

drainage system of solids Y2 inch or larger in size. The basket or device shall be 
removable for cleaning purposes.  

 
5. Where food-waste grinders are installed, the waste from those units ·shall 

discharge .directly into the building drainage system without passing through a 
grease interceptor. All other fixtures and drains receiving kitchen or food 
preparation wastewaters shall pass through a grease interceptor.  

 
(b) Existing Facilities 
 

1. All existing Food Service Establishments shall have grease-handling facilities, 
approved by the Town Of Warrenton. Food Service Establishments without any 
grease-handling facilities will be given a compliance deadline not to exceed six ( 6) 
months from date of notification to have approved and installed grease-handling 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 80 

equipment in compliance with this Standard. Failure to do so will be considered a 
violation of the Town of Warrenton Sewer Use Ordinance and may subject the 
facility to penalties and corrective actions. Said installations shall meet the same 
requirements for design as for new facilities. (See Section a) above).  
 

2. In the event an existing Food Service Establishment's grease-handling facilities are 
either under -designed or substandard in accordance with this policy, the owner(s) 
will be notified in writing of the deficiencies and requirements improvements and 
given a compliance deadline not to exceed six ( 6) months to conform with the 
requirements of this grease Standard.  

 
3. For cases in which "outdoor" type grease interceptors are infeasible to install, 

existing Food Service Establishments will be required to install adequate and 
approved "under-the- counter" grease traps for use on individual fixtures including 
dishwashers, sinks, and other potentially grease-containing drains.  

 
4. Sizing of "under-the-counter" grease trap units will be in accordance with 

recommended ratings for commercial grease traps, attached to this Standard. The 
grease retention capacity rating in pounds shall be at least two (2) times the GPM 
flow rate of the type fixture which it serves. Flow control :fittings must be provided 
to the inlet side of all "under-the-counter" units to prevent overloading of the grease 
trap and to allow for proper operation.  

 
5. Town Of Warrenton approval of .flow control devices and grease trap design must 

be obtained prior to installation.  
 

6. The location of ''under-the-counter" units must be near the source of the 
wastewater as ·physically possible.  

 
7. Wastewater from garbage grinders should not be discharged to grease 

traps/interceptors.  
 

8. In maintaining grease traps interceptors, the owner(s) shall be responsible for the 
proper removal and disposal by appropriate means of the captured material and 
shall. maintain records of the dates and means of disposal which are subject to 
review by the Town of Warrenton. (See Section 151.182(f).)  

 
9. The exclusive use of enzymes, grease solvents, emulsifiers, etc. is not considered 

acceptable grease trap maintenance practice.  
 
(c) New Food Service Establishments in Existing Buildings   



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 81 

1. Where practical, new Food Service Establishments locating in existing buildings 
will be required to comply with the grease trap Standards applicable to new 
facilities. (See Section  51.182.(a)).  

 
2. Where physically impossible to install "outdoor" units, "under-the-counter" 

units may be allowed as with existing food service establishments provided prior 
approval of unit type, size, location, etc. is approved by the Town of Warrenton. 
(See (b) 2. above).  

 
§§ 51.184 -51.189  Reserved 
  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 82 

ARTICLE VII.  WATER SHORTAGE RESPONSE PLAN 
 

§51.190  Purpose 
 
The procedures herein are written to reduce potable water demand and supplement 
existing drinking water supplies whenever existing water supply sources are inadequate to 
meet current demands for potable water. 
 
§51.191. Authorization  
 
The Town of Warrenton Administrator shall enact the following water shortage response 
provisions whenever the trigger conditions outlined in §51.194 are met. In his or her 
absence, the Public Works Director will assume this role.  
 
§51.192  Notification  
 
The following notification methods will be used to inform water system employees and 
customers of a water shortage declaration: employee e-mail announcements, notices at 
municipal buildings, notices in water bills. Required water shortage response measures 
will be communicated through The Warren Record, PSA announcements on local radio and 
cable stations. Declaration of emergency water restrictions or water rationing will be 
communicated to all customers by telephone or door hangers if necessary.  
 
§51.193  Levels of Response 
 
Responses are in the attached Kerr Lake Regional Water System Plan (RWS).  
 
§51.194  Triggers  
 
Town of Warrenton is provided water solely by purchase from Kerr Lake RWS. When Kerr 
Lake RWS declares a water shortage the town of Warrenton is required to do so as well. 
During this time Town of Warrenton Public Works Director will stay in close contact with 
Kerr Lake Water System and follow their triggers.  
 
§51.195  Return to Normal  
 
When water shortage conditions have abated and the situation is returning to normal, 
water conservation measures employed during each phase should be decreased in 
reverse order of implementation. Permanent measures directed toward long-term 
monitoring and conservation should be implemented or continued so that the community 
will be in a better position to prevent shortages and respond to recurring water shortage 
conditions.  
  



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 83 

§51.196  Enforcement  
 
The provisions of the water shortage response plan will be enforced by Town of Warrenton 
personnel and local law enforcement. Violators may be reported on the Town’s phone line. 
Citations are assessed according to the following schedule depending on the number of 
prior violations and current level of water shortage.  
 

Water Shortage Level 
 

First Violation Second Violation Third Violation 

Voluntary Reductions 
 

N/A N/A N/A 

Mandatory Reductions 
(Stages 2 and 3) 

 

Warning $250 Discontinuation 
of Service 

Emergency Reductions $250 Discontinuation 
of Service 

Discontinuation 
of Service 

 

Water Rationing $500 Discontinuation 
of Service 

 

Discontinuation 
of Service 

 

 
§51.197  Public Comment 
 
Customers will have multiple opportunities to comment on the provisions of the water 
shortage response plan. First, a draft plan will be available at Town Hall and on the Town 
website www.warrenton.nc.gov for customers to view. A notice will be included in 
customer water bill notifying them of such. All subsequent revisions to the draft plan will 
be published at least 30 days prior to an adoption vote by Town of Warrenton 
Commissioners.  
 
§51.198  Variance Protocols  
 
Applications for water use variance requests are available from the Town Hall. All 
applications must be submitted to the Town Hall for review by the Town Administrator or 
his or her designee. A decision to approve or deny individual variance requests will be 
determined within two weeks of submittal after careful consideration of the following 
criteria: impact on water demand, expected duration, alternative source options, social  
and economic importance, purpose (i.e. necessary use of drinking water) and the 
prevention of structural damage.  
 
§51.199  Effectiveness  
 
The effectiveness of the Town of Warrenton water shortage response plan will be 
determined by comparing the stated water conservation goals with observed water use 
reduction data. Other factors to be considered include frequency of plan activation, any 



 

CHAPTER 51 WATER ANDS SEWER SERVICES 
 

 84 

problem periods without activation, total number of violation citations, desired reductions 
attained and evaluation of demand reductions compared to the previous year’s seasonal 
data.  
 
§51.200  Revision  
 
The water shortage response plan will be reviewed and revised as needed to adapt to new 
circumstances affecting water supply and demand, following implementation of 
emergency restrictions, and at a minimum of every five years in conjunction with the 
updating of our Local Water Supply Plan. Further, a water shortage response planning work 
group will review procedures following each emergency or rationing stage to recommend 
any necessary improvements to the plan to Town of Warrenton’s Commissioners. The 
Town of Warrenton Public Works Director is responsible for initiating all subsequent 
revisions.  (Ordinance of February 14, 2011)



 

Attachment A  
 

Kerr Tar Regional Water System Water Shortage Response Agreement 
Henderson, Oxford, Warren County - June 2023 

Adopted by Town of Warrenton, December 11, 2023 
 

 85 

This is an agreement authorizing the declaration of Water Shortage Conditions, and 
Establishing Procedures and Measures for the Essential Conservation of Water Resources. 
Be It Agreed on behalf of the Kerr Lake Regional Water System by the City of Henderson, 
the 13of Oxford and Warren County all of North Carolina.  
 
1.  PURPOSE:  
 
The purpose of this agreement is to provide for the declaration of official phases of water 
supply shortage situations and the implementation of voluntary and mandatory water 
conservation measures in the event a shortage or water emergency is declared by the 
governing body or an appointed representative of the Kerr Lake Regional Water System. 
These measures would apply to the bulk customers, being the City of Henderson, the City 
of Oxford and Warren County. It shall be the responsibility of each of these bulk customer 
to notify its employees and customers.  
 
2. DEFINITIONS:  
 
(a) Any Water,” as the term is used in this agreement, shall mean any person using water, 

including fresh water, wastewater, or reclaimed water.  
 
(b) Customer,” as the term is used in this agreement, shall mean any person using water 

for any purpose from the Kerr Lake Regional Water Supply System and for which either 
a regular charge is made or, in this case of bulk sales, a cash charge is made at the site 
of delivery.  

 
(c) Emergency,” as the term is used in this agreement, shall mean that water supplies are 

the level necessary, to meet normal needs and that serious shortages exist in the area.  
 
(d) “Excess Use,” as the term is used in this agreement, shall mean the usage of water by a 

customer in excess of water allotment provided under the water rationing provisions 
agreement for that customer, over any applicable period.  

 
(e) “Fresh Water,” as the term is used in this agreement, shall mean water withdrawn from 

or groundwater that has not been previously used.  
 

 
(f) “Mandatory Conservation,” as the term is used in this agreement, shall mean that raw 

supplies reservoir levels are consistently below seasonal averages, and if they continue 
to may not to be adequate to meet normal needs.  

 



 

Attachment A  
 

Kerr Tar Regional Water System Water Shortage Response Agreement 
Henderson, Oxford, Warren County - June 2023 

Adopted by Town of Warrenton, December 11, 2023 
 

 86 

(g) “Rationing,” as the term is used in this agreement, shall mean procedures established 
to fortheequitabledistributionofcritically-limitedwatersupplies,inorderto balance 
demand and limited available supplies, and to assure that sufficient water is available 
to preserve public health and safety.  

 
(h) “Voluntary Conservation,” as the term is used in this agreement, shall mean that 

conditions exist which indicate the potential for serious water supply shortages.  
 
(i) “Waste of Water,’ as the term is used in this agreement, includes, but is not limited to 

(1) permitting water to escape down a gutter, ditch, or other surface drain, or (2) failure 
to repair a controllable leak of water due to defective plumbing. 

 
(j) “Water,” as the term is used in this agreement, shall mean water available to the City of  
Henderson, the City of Oxford and Warren County from the Kerr Lake Regional Water by 
virtue of its contract, for introduction into their respective water distribution systems, 
water offered for sale.  

 
 CLASS 1 ESSENTIAL WATER USES: 

1. Domestic use - Water necessary to sustain human life and the lives of 
domestic pets, and to maintain minimum standards of hygiene and 
sanitation. 

 

2. Health care facilities - Patient care and rehabilitation, including 
swimming pools used for patient care and rehabilitation. 

 
3. Public use: 

• Fire hydrants 
• Fire fighting. 
• Certain testing and drills by the fire department if performed in the 

interest of public safety and if approved by the city manager. 
• Flushing of sewers and hydrants: As needed to ensure public health 

and safety and if approved by the city manager. 
 

CLASS 2 SOCIALLY OR ECONOMICALLY IMPORTANT USES OF WATER: 
 

All Domestic Uses Other Than Those Included in Classes 1 and 3:  
• Home water use including kitchen, bathroom and laundry use.  
• Minimal watering of vegetable gardens.  
• Watering of trees where necessary to preserve them.  

 
Commercial, Agricultural, Industrial and Institutional Uses  



 

Attachment A  
 

Kerr Tar Regional Water System Water Shortage Response Agreement 
Henderson, Oxford, Warren County - June 2023 

Adopted by Town of Warrenton, December 11, 2023 
 

 87 

• Outdoor commercial watering (public or private) using conservation 
measures the extent that sources of water other than fresh water are not 
available to use. 

•  Irrigation for commercial vegetable gardens and fruit orchards or the 
maintenance of livestock. 

• Watering by commercial nurseries at a minimum level necessary to maintain 
stock.  

• Water use by arboretums and public gardens of national, State, or regional 
significance where necessary to preserve specimens. 

• Use of fresh water at minimum rate necessary to implement vegetation 
following earth moving, where such vegetation is required by law or 
regulation.  

• Watering of golf course greens. 
• Filling and Operation of Swimming Pools:  

1. Residential pools which serve more than 25 dwelling units.  
2. Pools used by health care facilities for patient care and rehabilitation.  
3. Municipal pools.  

• Commercial car and truck washes. 
• Commercial Laundromats. 
• Restaurants, clubs, and Eating Places.  
• Air Conditioning:  

1. Refilling for start up at the beginning of the cooling season.  
2. Make-up of water during the cooling season.  
3. Refilling specifically approved by health officials and the municipal  

governing body, where the system has been drained for health 
protection or repair purposes.  

• Schools, Churches, Motels/Hotels and Similar Commercial 
Establishments.  

 
CLASS 3 NON-ESSENTIAL USES OF WATER:  

 

Ornamental Purposes:  
• Fountains, reflecting pools, and artificial waterfalls.  

Outdoor Non-Commercial Watering (public or private):  
• Gardens, lawns, parks, golf course (except greens), playing fields and 

other recreational areas. 
• Filling and operation of recreational swimming pools which serve fewer 

than 25 dwellings.  
• Non-commercial washing of motor vehicles. 
• Serving water in restaurants, clubs, or eating places except by specific 

request. 



 

Attachment A  
 

Kerr Tar Regional Water System Water Shortage Response Agreement 
Henderson, Oxford, Warren County - June 2023 

Adopted by Town of Warrenton, December 11, 2023 
 

 88 

• Air Conditioning: refilling cooling towers after draining except as 
specified in Class 1.  

 
Public use: 

• Fire hydrants: Any purpose, including use of sprinkler caps and testing fire 

apparatus and for fire department drills, except as listed class 1. 
• Flushing of sewers and hydrants except as listed in Class 1. 

 
3. Declaration Of Voluntary Conservation:  
 
Whenever the governing body of the Kerr Lake Regional Water System, finds the water level 
in Kerr Lake is nearing elevation 294, it shall declare that Voluntary Conservation 
conditions exist, and that the Director of the Kerr Lake Regional Water System shall, on a 
daily basis, monitor the lake level and the water use demand.  
 
In addition, the Kerr Lake Regional Water System shall call upon its bulk customers to 
employ voluntary water conservation measures within 48 hours of receiving notice (see 
Addendum) to limit water use (especially Class 3 uses) and eliminate the waste of water. It 
shall be the responsibility of each of the bulk customers to employ voluntary water 
conservation measures on their water customers. The goal for water reduction shall be 
5%.  
 
4. Declaration of Mandatory Conservation:  
 
Whenever the governing body of the Kerr Lake Regional Water System finds the water level 
in Kerr Lake is nearing elevation 289, it shall declare that Mandatory Conservation 
conditions exist. This implies that lake level is nearing a level where insufficient water can 
enter the raw water intake.  
 
The Kerr Lake Regional Water System shall continue to encourage voluntary water 
conservation measures for the bulk customers of the Kerr Lake Regional Water System as 
defined under the Voluntary Conservation declaration, and shall further require mandatory 
measures be put in place, such as a ban be imposed on all Class 3 uses for the duration of 
the shortage. The goal for water reduction shall be 10%. Official notice shall be given to the 
City of Henderson, the City of Oxford, and Warren County.  
 
5. Declaration of A Water Shortage Emergency:  
 
Whenever the governing body of the Kerr Lake Regional Water System finds that water level 
in Kerr Lake has dropped to elevation 284 or below, and/or that a serious shortage exists 
due to other reasons it shall declare that a water shortage Emergency exists. It would be 



 

Attachment A  
 

Kerr Tar Regional Water System Water Shortage Response Agreement 
Henderson, Oxford, Warren County - June 2023 

Adopted by Town of Warrenton, December 11, 2023 
 

 89 

the recommendation of the Regional Water System that the City of Henderson, the City of 
Oxford and Warren County identify all Class 1, Essential Uses, in specific, and make them 
targets for voluntary conservation initiatives.  
 
The Kerr Lake Regional Water System shall require mandatory measures be put in place, 
such as a ban be imposed on all Class 2 and Class 3 uses for the duration of the shortage. 
The goal for water reduction shall be 40%. These restrictions should be continued until the 
emergency is declared ended.  
 
Official notice shall be given to the City of Henderson, the City of Oxford and Warren 
County of the emergency situation. It shall be the responsibility of each separate bulk 
water user, the City of Henderson, the City of Oxford and Warren County, to employ water 
restrictions on their water customers.  
 
6. Declaration of Rationing:  
 
Whenever the governing body of the Kerr Lake Regional Water System finds that water level 
in Kerr Lake has dropped to elevation 280, declared a Water Shortage Emergency, and 
finds a need to provide for the equitable distribution of critically-limited water supplies, in 
order to balance demand on limited available supplies, and to assure that sufficient water 
is available to preserve public health and safety, it shall call for mandatory rationing by all 
three (3) of the members and their water users until the emergency is declared ended.  
 
It shall be the responsibility of each of the three (3) members to employ water restrictions 
on their water customers.  
 
During this emergency situation, the amount of water to each member could be reduced 
by fifty percent (50%) or more. This amount shall be determined by the governing body of 
the Kerr Lake Regional Water System. Official notice shall be given to the City of 
Henderson, City of Oxford and Warren County.  
 
6a. Objectives of Rationing:  
 
It is imperative that water customers achieve an immediate further reduction in water use 
in order to extend existing water supplies and at the same time, assure that sufficient 
water is available to preserve the public health and sanitation and to provide fire protection 
service.  
 
Hospitals and health care facilities should comply with all restriction imposed on 
residential and non- residential water customers as may be applicable to each individual 



 

Attachment A  
 

Kerr Tar Regional Water System Water Shortage Response Agreement 
Henderson, Oxford, Warren County - June 2023 

Adopted by Town of Warrenton, December 11, 2023 
 

 90 

institution, to the extent compliance will not endanger the health of the patients or 
residents of the institution.  
 
6b. Enforcement of Water Rationing  
 
Each of three (3) members has primary responsibility for monitoring of compliance with the 
water- rationing measures. There are no enforcement provisions associated with this 
agreement.  
 
7. Enforcement  
 
In order to effectuate compliance with this plan, enforcement of water conservation 
restrictions shall be the responsibility of each of the three (3) bulk customers. Each 
customer shall employ measures not limited to written notices, administrative and civil 
penalties, and service disruption.  
 
8. Variance Protocol  
 
Kerr Lake Regional Water System understands that water restrictions can cause economic 
hardships on certain portions of their water customers: additionally, the restriction could 
be infeasible for others that have implemented water use reduction strategies into their 
daily practices prior to drought conditions being in place. Each of the three (3) bulk 
customers has the authority to consider variances for those showing proof of economic 
hardship, public health care facilities, or those that have previously implemented and 
documented water use reduction strategies such that achieving further water reduction 
goals may not be achievable. Each of the three (3) bulk customer shall adopt a protocol for 
accepting and ruling on a variance request. A copy of each variance request and decisions 
shall be forwarded to the governing body of the Kerr Lake Regional water System for record 
keeping.  
 
9. Effectiveness  
 
The effectiveness of the Kerr Lake Regional Water System WSRP will be determined by 
comparing the stated water conservation goals with observed water use reduction data for 
each of the three (3) bulk customers. Data will be compared against the previous non-
water restrictions year’s data to determine effectiveness of its actions. Tracking will be 
conducted using a spreadsheet, updated monthly, which compares water use against the 
baseline time period seasonal data. Other factors to be considered include use of a 
shortage water rate structure, frequency of plan activation, notification procedures, any 
problem periods without activation, and total number of enforcement actions.  
 



 

Attachment A  
 

Kerr Tar Regional Water System Water Shortage Response Agreement 
Henderson, Oxford, Warren County - June 2023 

Adopted by Town of Warrenton, December 11, 2023 
 

 91 

10. Revision Protocol  
 
This WSRP will be reviewed and revised as needed to adapt to new circumstances 
affecting water supply and demand, following implementation of emergency restrictions, 
and at a minimum of every five years in conjunction with the update in of the Local Water 
Supply Plans of each of the three (3) bulk customers. Further, the governing body of the 
Kerr Lake Regional Water System will review procedures following each emergency or 
rationing stage to recommend any necessary improvements to the plan. Each of the three 
(3) bulk customers shall also conduct a review of their plan and actions on this cycle and 
provide comments or suggestions to the Kerr Lake Regional Water System. If revisions are 
not recommended following a review, a memo will be filed documenting the effectiveness 
of the WSRP. The governing body of the Kerr Lake Regional Water System is responsible for 
initiating all subsequent revisions.  
  



 

Attachment A  
 

Kerr Tar Regional Water System Water Shortage Response Agreement 
Henderson, Oxford, Warren County - June 2023 

Adopted by Town of Warrenton, December 11, 2023 
 

 92 

CONSERVATION MEASURES 
Direct users to adopt the following conservation measures: 
 
INDOOR RESIDENTAL USE: 
CONSERVATION FOR VOLUNTARY AND MANDATORY CONSERVATION PHASES: 

• Use dishwashers only when they are full. Washing dishes by hand (don’t let the tap 
run!) Saves about 25 gallons.  

• Adjust water level on clothes washing machines, if possible. Use full load only, if 
not adjustable.  

• Turn off faucets while brushing teeth, etc. Saves about 5 gallons per day.  
• Reduce water used per flush by installing toilet tank displacement inserts. A plastic 

jug may often be used as an alternative. DO NOT USE BRICKS – they disintegrate 
when soaked and the resulting grit hinders closing of the flap valve.  

• Do not use the toilet as a trash can.  
• Use sink and tub stoppers to avoid wasting water.  
• Keep a bottle of chilled water in the refrigerator for drinking.  
• Find and fix leaks in faucets and water-using appliances. Faucets can usually be 

fixed cheaply and quickly by replacing washers.  
• Adapt plumbing with flow restricting or other water-saving devices. These are 

usually inexpensive and easy to install. See attached list of devices. (Need list.)  
• Learn to read your water meter so you can judge how much water you use and what 

difference conservation makes.  
• Take shorter showers and shallow baths. Saves about 25 gallons.  
• Reduce the number of toilet flushes per day. Each flush uses about 5 gallons (2-3 if 

you have water saving toilets).  
• Don’t use a garbage disposal.  
• Use non-phosphate detergent and save laundry water for lawns and plants.  

  



 

Attachment A  
 

Kerr Tar Regional Water System Water Shortage Response Agreement 
Henderson, Oxford, Warren County - June 2023 

Adopted by Town of Warrenton, December 11, 2023 
 

 93 

CONSERVATION FOR EMERGENCY CONSERVATION OR RATIONING PHASE (In addition to 
measures listed above).  

• Turn off shower while soaping up.  
• Use disposable eating utensils.  

 
OUTDOOR RESIDENTIAL USE 
CONSERVATION FOR NORMAL CONDITIONS AND VOLUNTARY CONSERVATION PHASE: 
Lawns:  

• Water before 10:00 a.m. to prevent evaporation that occurs during the hottest part 
of the day. Morning is better than evening, when the dampness encourages growth 
of fungus.  

• Water only when lawn shows signs of wilt. Grass that springs back when stepped on 
does not need water.  

• Water thoroughly, not frequently: long enough to soak roots. A light sprinkling 
evaporates quickly and encourages shallow root systems. Water slowly to avoid 
runoff.  

• Don’t let the sprinkler run any longer than necessary. In an hour, 600 gallons can be 
wasted.  

• Allow maximum of one inch of water per week on your lawn. To measure, place 
cake tins outside to collect rain and water from sprinklers.  

• Use pistol-grip nozzles on hoses to avoid waste when watering flowers and shrubs.  
• Aerate lawns by punching holes 6 inches apart. This allows water to reach roots 

rather than run off surfaces.  
• Position sprinklers to water the lawn, not the pavement.  
• Avoid watering on windy days when the wind not only blows water off target, but 

also causes excess evaporation.  
• Keep sprinkler heads clean to prevent uneven watering.  
• Adjust hose to simulate gentle rain. Sprinklers that produce a fine mist waste water 

through evaporation.  
• Know how to turn off an automatic sprinkler system in case of rain.  
• Use an alarm clock or stove timer to remind you to shut off sprinklers that don’t 

have timers.  
 
Vegetables and Flower Gardens:  

• Water deeply, slowly and weekly. Most vegetables require moisture to a depth of 6 
to 8 inches.  

• Keep soil loose so water can penetrate easily.  
• Keep weeds out to reduce competition for water.  
• Put the water where you want it and avoid evaporation by using soil-soakers or slow 

running hoses, not sprinklers.  
 



 

Attachment A  
 

Kerr Tar Regional Water System Water Shortage Response Agreement 
Henderson, Oxford, Warren County - June 2023 

Adopted by Town of Warrenton, December 11, 2023 
 

 94 

Trees and Shrubs:  
• Water deeply using a soil-soaker or drip-irrigation.  
• Water only when needed. Check the depth of soil dryness by digging with a trowel.  
• Mulch to reduce evaporation. A 2” to 3” layer of wood chips, pine needles, grass 

clippings, or straw keeps the soil cool in summer.  
• Dig troughs around plants to catch and retain water.  
• Water trees growing in full sun more often than those in shade.  
• Do not use sprinklers. Apply water directly at base.  
• Do not fertilize during the summer. Fertilizing increases a plant’s need for water.  
• Postpone planting until fall or spring when there is generally less need for water.  
• Install trickle-drip irrigation systems close to the roots of your plants. By dripping 

water slowly, the system doesn’t spray water in to the air. Use soil probes for large 
trees.  

• Water when cloudy, at night, or even when a light rain is falling.  
 
 
OUTDOOR RESIDENTIAL USE CONSERVATION FOR VOLUNTARY CONSERVATION PHASE 
(in addition to measures listed above).  

• Do not allow children to play with hose or sprinklers.  
• Limit car washing.  
• Be ready to catch rainfall that occurs. Place containers under drain sprouts.  
• Use leftover household water if available.  
• Consider delaying the seeding or sodding of new lawns.  
• Determine the amount of water being used outdoors by comparing water bills for 

summer and winter.  
  



 

Attachment A  
 

Kerr Tar Regional Water System Water Shortage Response Agreement 
Henderson, Oxford, Warren County - June 2023 

Adopted by Town of Warrenton, December 11, 2023 
 

 95 

CONSERVATION FOR MANDATORY CONSERVATION PHASE (In addition to measures 
listed above).  

• Vegetable gardens and food trees should be given minimal amounts of water on an 
individual basis only.  

• Do not water lawns and inedible plants.  
• Do not use sprinklers.  

Most outdoor watering is prohibited under Emergency Conservation conditions.  
 
HOSPITAL AND HEALTH CARE FACILITY USE:  

• Reduce laundry usage or services by changing the linens, etc. only when necessary 
to preserve the health of patients or residents.  

• Use disposable food service items.  
• Eliminate, postpone, or reduce, as they may be appropriate, elective surgical 

procedures during the period of emergency.  
 
INDUSTRIAL USE  

• Identify and repair all leaky fixtures and water-using equipment. Give special 
attention to equipment connected directly to waterlines, such as processing 
machines, steam-using machines, washing machines, water-cooled air 
conditioners, and furnaces.  

• Assure that valves and solenoids that control water flows are shut off completely 
when the water- using cycle is not engaged.  

• Adjust water-using equipment to use the minimum amount of water required to 
achieve its stated purpose.  

• Shorten rinse cycles for laundry machines as much as possible; implement lower 
water levels wherever possible.  

• For processing, cooling, and other uses, either re-use water or use water from 
sources that would not adversely affect public water supplies.  

• Advise employees, students, patients, customers, and other users not to flush 
toilets after every use. Install toilet tank displacement inserts; place flow restrictors 
in showerheads and faucets; close down automatic flushes overnight.  

• Install automatic flushing valves to use as little water as possible or to cycle at 
longer intervals.  

• Place water-saving posters and literature where employees, students, patients, 
customers’, etc. will have access to them.  

• Check meters on a frequent basis to determine consumptive patterns.  
• Review usage patterns to see where other savings can be made.  

 
 



     

 
P.O. Box 281 / 113 S Bragg St. 

                                 Warrenton, NC  27589-0281 
Walter M. Gardner, Jr. – Mayor             (252) 257-1122   Fax (252) 257-9219 
Robert F. Davie, Jr. - Town Administrator                                           www.warrenton.nc.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Town Appointments 

2026 
 

Town Administrator/Town Clerk/Zoning Administrator – Robert Davie 

Director of Public Works – Brandon Elliott 

Chief of Police – David Elliott 

Town Attorney – Mitch Styers 

 

Finance Officer – Meredith Valentine 

Deputy Finance Officer – Tracy Murray 

 

Kerr Tar Regional Council of Government 

Represenative – Mayor Walter Gardner 

Alternate – Robert Davie 
 

Local Firefighter’s Relief Fund Trustees 

 T. Lee Edmonds 

 Joyce Greene-Williams 
 

Tax Collector (Robert) then authorize County (Coates’ Canon) 

 

Is the municipality still required to appoint a tax collector if it contracts with the county 

to collect municipal property taxes?  

Yes. 

G.S. 105-349 requires every local government that levies property taxes to appoint a tax 

collector. It makes no exceptions for those governments that contract with other 

governments for tax collection services.  If the municipality fails to appoint a tax 

collector, then technically no one has the authority to use the collection remedies 

available under the Machinery Act (attachment, levy, foreclosure) for the municipality’s 

property taxes. 

 



ZONING BOARD 

Bobby Tippett   In Town 2027 252-432-7150 atiprealtor@yahoo.com 
Al Fleming (Chair)  In Town   2028 257-1779 alfleming220@gmail.com 
Vacant    In Town 2028 204-9293  
Monique Hinton (alternate) In Town 2028 908-675-1296 
moniquehinton@warrencountync.org 
Calvin Alston   Out of Town  2027 257-4108, 213-4040 calston61@msn.com 
Bob Neal   Out of Town 2026 432-9850 bobneal@centurylink.net 
Annette Silver (alternate) Out of Town  2026 257-2452 a.silver@warrenton.nc.gov 
 
ZONING ADMINISTRATOR 

The zoning Administrator who shall be appointed by the Town Board of Commissioners is 

duly charged with the enforcement of the provisions of this chapter. If the Zoning Administrator 

finds that any of the provisions of this chapter are being violated, the Zoning Administrator shall 

notify in writing the person responsible for such violations, indicating the mature of the 

violation and ordering the action necessary to correct it. The Zoning Administrator shall also 

take any other action authorized by this chapter to ensure compliance with or to prevent 

violation of its provisions. 

ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 

There shall be and is hereby created a Board of Adjustment (hereinafter called the Board) 

consisting of five members, including three residents of the town of and two members of the 

one-mile extraterritorial jurisdiction. The town residence members of the Board shall be 

appointed by the Town Board of Commissioners. Residents of the one-mile extraterritorial 

jurisdiction shall be appointed by the County Commissioners. Subsequent terms shall be for 

three years. If the Board of County Commissioners fail to appoint the extraterritorial members 

within 90 days after receiving a resolution from the Town Board of Commissioners requesting 

that there appointments be made, the Town Board of Commissioners may make them. The 

Board of Adjustment shall elect a chairman and vice-chairman from its regular members, who 

shall serve for one year or until re-elected or until their successors are elected.  

(Ord. passed 12-16-85) 

 

 

 

 



PLANNING BOARD 

George Humphries  In Town 2026    820-3404 h trimboss1972@gmail.com 
Dian Sourelis (Vice Chair) In Town 2026 773-848-3400 m  dian@sourelis.com 
Georgiana Weddington In Town 2027 257-4663, 646-361-8996 
Steve White     In Town 2027 252-257-1196 stvwhit10@gmail.com 
Kristy Steed   Out of Town 2026 252-204-0081 kreetiebelle@hotmail.com 
Carlos Verdaguer  Out of Town 2027 757-390-6846 
carlos.e.verdaguer@dominionenergy.com 
Cynthia Jenkins (chair) Out of Town 2026 919-260-8008 m 
cynthiajenkins1948@me.com 
 

MEMBERSHIP AND VACANCIES 

The Planning Board shall consist of seven members. Four members shall be citizens and 

residents of the town and shall be appointed by the Board of Commissioners; three members 

shall be citizens and residents of the territory surrounding the town, as described in N.C.G.S. 

§160A-362, and shall be appointed by the Board of Commissioners.  The outside 

representatives shall have equal rights, privileges, and duties with the other members of the 

Planning Board, regardless of whether the matters at issue arise within the town or within the 

extraterritorial area.  Four of the initial members shall be appointed for a term of two years, 

and three for four years. The Chairman of the Town Committee of Future Planning and Public 

Relations shall serve as an ex officio member of the Planning Board.  Vacancies occurring for 

reasons other than expiration of terms shall be filled as they occur for the period of the 

unexpired term.  Faithful attendance at the meetings of the Board is considered a prerequisite 

for the maintenance of membership on the Board. 

Within 30 days after appointment the Planning Board shall meet and elect a Chairperson 

and create and fill such offices as it may determine.  The term of the Chairperson and other 

officers shall be one year, with eligibility for re-election.  The Board shall adopt rules for 

transaction of its business and shall keep a record of its members’ attendance and of the 

resolutions, discussions, findings, and recommendations, which record shall be a public record.  

The Board shall hold at least one meeting monthly, unless the meeting is canceled by the 

Chairperson, and all of its meetings shall be open to the public.  The Board shall hold at least 

one meeting annually jointly with the Board of Commissioners.  There shall be a quorum of five 

members for the purpose of taking any official action required by this subchapter.  

(Ord. passed 10-16-72) 

 



HISTORIC DISTRICT COMMISSION 

Richard Hunter (Chair)  2026  4-year (rec. by Jacob Holt Foundation) 
rehunter@embarqmail.com 
Cynthia Jenkins  2029 4-year (rec. by Jacob Holt Foundation) 
Bobby Tippett    2026 4-year  (rec. by Preservation Warrenton)   
Kate Hazen   2029  4-year  (rec. by Preservation Warrenton) 
wvhazen@gmail.com 
Steve Milligan     2029 4-year 252-676-0572 smilligan6@yahoo.com 
Bob Shingler     2026  4-year  (at-large) kderring@nc.rr.com 
Michael Coffman  2026 1-year  (Representing Board of Commissioners) 

 

Composition:  The Commission shall consist of seven (7) members.  All the members shall 

reside within the territorial jurisdiction of the town.  Members of the Commission shall have 

demonstrated special interest, experience or education in history, architecture, archaeology or 

related fields.  Two members of the Commission shall be recommended by Preservation 

Warrenton, two members of the Commission shall be recommended by the Jacob Holt 

Foundation, two members as recommended by the Board of Commissioners from the public 

and the seventh member of the Commission shall be a member of the Board of Commissioners 

of the Town of Warrenton (herein referred to as “BOC”), although Commission members 

recommendations by Preservation Warrenton and/or the Jacob Holt Foundations as set forth 

herein need not be members of those organizations.  Upon the recommending The BOC shall 

appoint members. 

Terms of Office:  Members of the Commission shall serve terms of four years.  Terms shall 

be staggered with the initial term of members being as follows:  one (1) member for two (2) 

years, three (3) members for three (3) years and three (3) members for four (4) years.  A 

member may be reappointed for consecutive terms.  In the event that a member should need 

replacement, the replacing member shall serve the remainder of the current term and shall be 

recommended to the BOC from the appropriate organization as set forth above. 

 Officers:  The Historic Preservation Commission shall elect from among its members a 

chairman, vice-chairman and treasurer.  Officers shall be elected annually and may be re-

elected. A staff member of the Town of Warrenton may be appointed to serve as a secretary or 

an administrative advisor for the Commission. The Commission may appoint advisory bodies 

and committees as appropriate. 

Meetings:  The Commission shall hold at least one regular meeting each month, except 

when it has no business pending.  Special meetings may be called in a manner determined by 

the Commission and its rules and procedures.  All meetings shall be subject to the North 



Carolina Open Meeting laws and a public record shall be kept of the Commission’s resolutions, 

proceedings, and actions. 

REVITALIZATION COMMITTEE 

Commissioner Michael Coffman, Chairman, by appointment of Mayor  
Ex-Officio:  Town Administrator Robert Davie 
 
Rose Ponton:  919-819-4101   rosapontona@gmail.com 
Christine Dickinson:  330-388-3348  imm2003cd@yahoo.com 
Heather Sargent:  803-221-8951  heathersargent@icloud.com 
Candice White:  252-432-4839  cwagwhite@yahoo.com 
Victoria Lehman:  252-213-5172  victoria.l.lehman@gmail.com 
Jere King Johnson:  252-213-1517  jereannkingblue@gmail.com 
Cherie Nielsen:  252-213-7356  cherienielsen@warrencountync.gov 
Cynthia Jenkins:  919-260-8008  cynthiajenkins1948@me.com 
Rose Derring:  252-257-3066   kderring@nc.rr.com 
Bob Shingler:  252-257-3066   kderring@nc.rr.com 
Jake Twisdale:  919-939-3946   jacob.twisdale@gmail.com 
Jennifer Pierce:  252-213-0946  jenjord25@hotmail.com 
 
Members appointed by Board of Commissioners.  Do not have to be town resident. 
 

BEAUTIFICATION COMMITTEE 

Richard Hunter (Chair) 
Fern Boyd 
Vacant 
Vacant 
 
Appointed by Board of Commissioners.   
 

QUILTER’S LANE COMMITTEE 

The Quilter’s Lane Committee will have Commissioner Dian Sourelis as its Chair or alternatively 

selected from the following members (BOC Minutes 6/9/2025):   

• A Representative from Revitalization Committee – Charla Duncan 

• A representative from Preservation Warrenton – Victoria Lehman 
victoria.l.lehman@gmail.com 

• A representative from Friends Two – TBD 

• A representative from Heritage Quilters – Jere Ann King 



• A citizen – in town – Dian Sourelis 

• A citizen – out of town (appointed by County Commissioners) – Magnolia Clanton 
 

The committee would be tasked with: 

• Designing banners 

• Securing Ellis property for landscaping and interactive display on W. Market St. 

• Securing permission to include and develop Courthouse Square property behind Tax 
Office 

• Developing Wayfinding Signage in keeping with Branding Strategy 

• Designating building locations suitable for murals and secure permission 

• Establishing anchors with Heritage Quilters and Quilt Lizzy Training Center locations 

• Securing funding to meet and implement these goals 
 
Appointed by Board of Commissioners.   
 
 






	BOC Agenda December 2025
	Conflict of Interest Disclaimer - Citizen Comments Rules - Copy
	BOC Minutes 1st draft November 10, 2025
	2025-2027 Commissioners Committee Assignments Rev.11-20-25
	Mission and Goals
	Budget Vs Actual Nov 2025
	Check Listing Nov 2025
	11. PW November 25
	11. WWTP November 25
	November 2025 - Unaccounted for Water Percent Calculation
	Summary 

	11...Fire Hydrants In Need of Repair REVISED 12-4-25
	PD Summary 2025
	Sheet1

	Activity Log Event Summary (Cumulative Totals)
	Action Items Nov 2025 BOC Meeting
	Status of Grants Dec 2025
	Response Letter -- Dr Jerman NAACP -- 11-17-2025
	Social District Ordinance, Draft #2 with edits - festivals only
	Water Sewer Ordinance Update - Summary
	Water Sewer Ordinance Update - Clean Copy
	§ 51.005  Maintenance of System by Consumer

	WS Ordinances Draft #5 Red Letter
	Town Appointments 2026
	Committees Summaries - With Term Extensions - Approved 12-08-2025
	Duke Energy Cost Underground
	Duke Energy Rebate

